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Dr Vanguard Mkosana
Board Chairperson 

Mintek’s operating environment largely relies on robust industry 
performance that fuels demand for our products and services. 
Our activities in mineral processing need healthy production 
levels in the mining industry for steady flow of work for many 
of our Divisions. At the beginning of the financial year there 
was great optimism. An extensive diagnostic analysis was 
conducted on the state of the organisation, its capabilities 
and how it compares to its peers globally in terms of outputs, 
outcomes and impact of its research activities. The analysis 
was ably led by the Chief Executive Officer, Dr Molefi Motuku. 

On the basis of the analysis, the Board entered into a 
performance agreement with the Minister of Mineral 
Resources and Energy, Hon Gwede Mantashe, in which we 
made numerous delivery commitments. Our assessment 
of the external environment had also given us reason to be 
optimistic about the year. Gold and palladium precious metals 
prices were beginning to record significant increases. Iron ore 
prices also witnessed modest increases. Industry challenges 
that loomed ahead were those that have been experienced 
before, and were part of the cyclic nature of the industry. 

“ Our mid-term performance reviews 
in 2019 were beginning to show 
a positive impact on revenues 
generated from commercial 

activities, stemming a trend that 
has seen a steady decline over the 

last few years. ”

By the end of the year, Mintek recorded an increase in income 
generated through commercial services. This increase con-
firms that indeed, Mintek’s research and technology develop-
ment capabilities are relevant for industry needs and that the 
organisation’s strategy to return its focus to its core business is 
beginning to bear fruit. However, we also ended the year on an 

1 Board Chairperson’s Overview

It is a great 
pleasure to present the 

2019/20 Annual Integrated 
Report to our Shareholder and 

other key stakeholders on behalf of 
the Board of Mintek. Our mandate is 

to “serve the national interest through 
research, development and technology 
transfer, to promote mineral technology 

and to foster the establishment and 
expansion of industries in the field 

of minerals and products 
derived therefrom”. 
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unexpected net loss position, mainly as a result of the change 
in accounting standards that saw an unusually high depreci-
ation of our assets. While we remain optimistic, it is difficult 
to envisage a major improvement in the next financial year, 
given the negative net position in our income statements. We 
will continue to align our financial and sustainability strategies 
to prioritise interventions that will facilitate and enable industry 
growth and sustainability through innovation and technology. 
We will also ensure that the revenue mix that enables the or-
ganisation to absorb the adverse impact of unexpected events 
such as lockdown of economic activity is improved to sustain-
able levels.  

Despite ending the year on negative territory, Mintek’s vital sta-
tistics reflects an organisation able to withstand whirlwinds. 
Our balance sheet is solid, and shows a sound base of com-
mitted flow of work that Mintek will be executing in the next 
financial year. Total income has remained steady compared 
to last year, which is commendable given the uncertainties we 
faced during the year. Our consecutive accomplishment of an 
unqualified audit opinion from the Auditor-General strengthens 
our confidence in the effectiveness of Mintek’s governance 
systems and controls that are in place.

“I would like to thank the executive 
team and all employees of Mintek 

for navigating the turbulent 
waters with very little bruises.”

It is my firm belief that were it not for the joint effort of all Mintek 
staff, we could have witnessed an even worse end of year 
picture. The challenges that remain ahead will require the 
team to work even harder to turn the tide so that we are able 
to realise better performance on commitments made to the 
Shareholder. It is notable that transformation remains a chal-
lenge, and we urge the executive management team to work 
towards attaining the 46% women representation target for 
the organisation. The Minister’s commitment to transformation 
is evidenced by his appointment of a Board that is 50% fe-
male, and has set the tone for the rest of the organisation. We 
must emulate this position. 

I would also like to extend a word of gratitude to the outgo-
ing Board for their contribution in setting a vision for Mintek 
to refocus itself on science and research excellence, in line 
with the mandate of a science council. Amongst their most 
important responsibilities, the outgoing Board selected the in-
cumbent CEO, who is eminently qualified, to drive the strategy 
and execution in the next five years. The new Board took the 
baton, and will ensure that the organisation remains true to its 
mandate and objectives. 

We are also deeply grateful to the Minister for always playing a 
critical role of being the ambassador of Mintek’s products and 

services. It is a much-needed vote of confidence in the organ-
isation that can only spur Mintekkers to aim for greater levels 
of achievement. The new Board is honoured to have been en-
trusted with the task of guiding Mintek in the next few years, 
and appreciates the space it has to exercise independence in 
discharging its fiduciary responsibilities. 

We understand the significance of the tasks assigned to us, 
and we intend to ensure that the impact of the work of Mintek 
is felt by South Africa and its citizens. I trust that this Annu-
al Integrated Report gives comfort to the Shareholder and all 
stakeholders that Mintek spent the allocated funds responsibly 
and in pursuit of its mandate.

Dr Vanguard Mkosana
Board Chairperson, 

Board Chairperson of Mintek Dr Vanguard 
Mkosana, delivering a presentation on Mintek 
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1 Tjhebokakaretso ya Modulasetulo wa Lekgotla

Moya wa tikoloho ya tshebetso wa Mintek o itshetlehile hod-
ima tshebetso e matla ya indasteri ena mme hona ho thoho-
letsa tlhoko ya dihlahiswa le ditshebeletso tsa rona. Mesebetsi 
ya rona bakeng sa tshebetso ya diminerale e hloka maemo 
a atlehileng a tlhahiso ka hara indasteri ya morafo bakeng sa 
phallo e phehellang ho tswela pele butlebutle ka hara Makala 
ana a rona. Qalong ya selemo sa ditjhelete ho bile le thahasello 
le tshepo e kgolo. Sesupo se seholo sa tshenolo ya sena se 
bontshitswe ka ho hlahloba maemo a mokgatlo, bokgoni ba 
ona le kamoo e ka bapiswang le e meng ya mphato wa ona 
ka bophara ba lefatshe haholoholo mabapi le dihlahiswa, di-
phetho esita le sekgahla sa mesebetsi ya yona ya diphuputso. 
Tshekatsheko ena e ile ya etellwa pele ka bokgoni bo matla 
ke Mohlanka wa Phethahatso  , e leng Ngaka Molefi Motuku. 

Ka lebaka la tshekatsheko ena, Lekgotla le ile la etsa tumellano 
ya tlhahiso ya tshebetso le Letona la Mehlodi ya Diminerale le 
Eneji, e leng Motlotlehi Gwede Mantashe, e leng moo re ileng 
ra etsa boitlamo ka dintlha tse ngata tsa tlhahiso. Tshekat-
sheko ya rona ya tikoloho e ka ntle e ile ya re fa lebaka la 
ho kgothala bakeng sa selemo sena. Ditheko tsa dimetale tsa 
kgauta le phaladiamo di qadile ka ho ba le rekoto ya keketseho 

e bonahalang e kgolo. Ditheko tsa manya a tshepe le tsona di 
totobaditse keketseho e hlamatsehang. Diphephetso tse neng 
di bonahala di re tobile e ne e le tse bileng teng pele mme e le 
karolo ya tshebetso e tlwaelehileng e bile e le ya kamehla ya 
indasteri ena. 

“ Ditekolo tsa bohareng ba nako 
tsa selemo sa 2019 di qadile 

ka ho totobatsa sekgahla se 
tshepisang sa ditjhelete tse 
hlahiswang ke mesebetsi ya 
kgwebo, ho matlafatsa le ho 

tshehetsa mokgwa wa tshebetso 
o bonahetseng o ntse o fokola 

dilemong tse mmalwa tse fetileng. ” 

Ke thabo e 
kgolo ho fana ka Pehe-

lo ya Selemo sa 2019/20 e le 
Pehelo e Akaretsang ho Monnga 

Diabo wa rona ekasitana le baamehi 
ba bang lebitsong la Lekgotla la Mint-

ek. Mosebetsi wa rona ke ho ‘sebeletsa 
ditabatabelo tsa setjhaba ka tshebediso 

ya diphuputso, phetiso ya ntshetsopele le 
theknoloji, ho ntshetsa pele theknoloji ya 

diminerale le ho ntshetsa pele thekno-
loji ya diminerale le ho qobella hore 

ho thehwe le ho atolosa diindas-
teri tshebetsong ya diminerale 

le dihlahiswa tse tswang 
ho tsona”.
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Mafelong a selemo, Mintek e bile le rekoto e eketsehileng ya 
lekeno le hlahisitsweng ka thekiso ya dihlahiswa le ditshebelet-
so. Keketseho ena e tiisa hore efela e le nnete hore bokgoni 
ba ntshetsopele ya diphuputso le theknoloji tsa Mintek di loke-
tse ditlhoko tsa indasteri le hore mokgwa wa mokgatlo wa ho 
boela e tobana ka ho otloloha le tshebetso ya motheo di qala 
ho ba le katleho. Leha ho le jwalo, re kwetse selemo ka mae-
mo a neng a sa lebelellwa a ho se be le tahlehelo, haholoholo 
ka lebaka la diphetoho tsa maemo a diakhaonto a bileng le 
thosholeho e kgolo ya matlotlo a rona.

Le hoja re dutse re na le tshepo, ho boima ho lebella ntlafalo 
e kgolo dilemong tse tlang tsa ditjhelete, ha re tadima mae-
mo a fokolang a bonahatswang ka hara ditatemente tsa rona 
tsa lekeno. Re tla tswela pele ho sebedisa mekgwa ya rona 
ya tsa ditjhelete le tshwarello ya tshebediso ya tsona e le ho 
ntshetsa pele dithuso tse tla potlakisa le ho thusa bakeng sa 
kgolo le tshwarello ka mokgwa wa boitshimollelo le theknolo-
ji.  Re tla be re etse bonnete ba hore tshebetso ya tjhelete e 
thusang hore mokgatlo ho emela sekgahla sa maemo a thata 
a diketsahalo tse neng di sa lebellwa tse jwaloka thibelo ya 
metsamao ya batho esita le mesebetsi ya kgwebo le moruo e 
ntlafatswa ka tsela e tshwarellang.  

Le ka ntle le ho kwala selemo ka tshebetso e fokolang, di-
palopalo tsa bohlokwa tsa Mintek di totobatsa hore mokgatlo 
o na le hona ho emela maemo a thata, maemo a ditsokot-
sane tsa bophelo.  Dibuka tsa rona tsa ditjhelete di tsepame di 
hlakile mme di bontsha tsamaiso e atlehileng ya tshebetso eo 
Mintek e tla e phetha dilemong tse hlano tse tlang tsa ditjhe-
lete.  Lekeno lohle le dutse le tsitsitse hantle ha le bapiswa le 
selemo se fetileng.  Hona ke ntho e babatsehang ka hobane re 
ntse re tobane le maemo a sa tshepahaleng selemong sena. 

“ Ke rata ho leboha sehlopha sa 
phethahatso esita le basebetsi bohle 

ba Mintek ka ho phaphamala 
ka hodima maqhubu a metsi a 

dikgohola tsa mathata empa ba 
sa bontshe le hanyenyane ho ba 

le ho ameha ho itseng. ”

Ke tumelo ya ka hore haeba e ne e se ka mekutu ya ho sebe-
disana hammoho ha basebetsi bohle ba Mintek, re ka be re 
bile le qetello e mpe ka ho fetisisa ho kwala selemo. Diphep-
hetso tseo re tobaneng le tsona di tla batla hore sehlopha se 
sebetse haholwanyane e le ho matlafatsa e le hore re be le 
tshebetso e atlehileng mabapi le boitlamo boo re bo entseng 
ho Monnga Diabo wa rona.  Ke ntho e hlokomelehang hore 
diphetoho di dula e le phephetso, mme re kopa sehlopha sa 
phethahatso ho sebeletsa ho fihlella 46% ya palo ya boemedi 
ba basadi ho mokgatlo ona.  Boitlamo ba letona bakeng sa 
hlahisa diphetoho e totobatswa ke kamohelo ya Lekgotla ya 

batho ba basadi ba 50% ya mokgatlo, mme hona ho beile 
mohlala bakeng sa mokgatlo ohle. Re loketse ho ananela le ho 
latela boemo bona. 

Ke bile ke rata ho leboha Lekgotla le qetellang mosebetsi 
bakeng sa seabo sa lona sa ho theha ponelopele bakeng sa 
Mintek hore e tsepamise maikutlo ho saense le ho boipabolo 
ho tsa diphuputso, ho kgema le taelo ya lekgotla la saense.  
Hara mesebetsi yohle ya boikarabelo ya Lekgotla lena la kgale, 
lekgotla le kgethile Mohlanka e Moholo wa Phethahatso ya 
hlwahlwa, ya nang le bokgoni bo tshwanelehang, ho laola 
tshebetso ena le ho e phethahatsa ka dilemo tse hlano tse 
latelang.  Lekgotla le letjha le qadile ka ho tloha hona moo, 
mme le tla etsa bonnete ba hore lekgotla le dula le tshepahalla 
thomo le merero ya lona. 

Hape re leboha haholo Letona ka ho ba le seabo sa bohlokwa 
sa hore kamehla e be leqosa la dihlahiswa le ditshebeletso tsa 
Mintek. Ena ke yona tshepo e tiileng e hlokehang ya lekgotla 
e ka etsang hore bohle ba ha Mintek ba be le boikemisetso 
bo phahameng ba phihlello. Lekgotla le letjha le tlotlilwe ka ho 
ba le mosebetsi wa ho tataisa Mintek ka dilemo tse mmalwa, 
mme le babatsa sebaka seo le se filweng bakeng sa ho pheth-
ahatsa boikemelo ba lona ha le phetha boikarabelo ba lona ho 
tsa ditjhelete. 

Re utlwisisa bohlokwa ba mesebetsi eo re e filweng, mme re 
ikemiseditse ho etsa bonnete ba hore sekgahla sa mosebetsi 
wa Mintek se utlwahala ho Afrika Borwa esita le baahi ba yona. 
Ke na le tshepo ya hore Pehelo ena ya Selemo e Hokahaneng 
e tla thabisa Monnga Diabo esita le bohle ba amehang hore 
Mintek e sebedisitse tjhelete eo e e abetsweng ka boikarabelo 
bakeng sa ho phethahatsa thomo ya yona.

Ngaka Vanguard Mkosana
Modulasetulo wa Lekgotla, 
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1 USihlalo WeBhodi Uthinta Amabal’engwe

Kuyinjabulo 
enkulu ukwethula uM-

biko Ohlangene Wonyaka ka-
2019/20 kuMninimasheya wethu 

nakwabanye ababambiqhaza abayin-
hloko egameni leBhodi leMintek. Umgo-
mo wethu “uwukufeza izinto ezizuzisa 
izwelonke ngokusebenzisa ucwaningo, 
intuthutho nokudluliselwa kwezobuch-

wepheshe, ukuze sikhuthaze ubuch-
wepheshe bezimbiwa phansi (amamin-
erali) kanye nokuphoqelela ukumiswa 

nokwandiswa kwezimboni zom-
khakha wezimbiwa phansi 
kanye nemikhiqizo evela 

kuzo.”

Isimo sokusebenza kweMintek sincike kakhulu endleleni le 
mboni esebenza ngayo kakhulu okwenza kube nesidingo se-
mikhiqizo namasevisi ethu. Imisebenzi yethu ekusebenzeni 
ngezinto ezimbiwa phansi idinga ukuba sikhiqize into ebon-
akalayo embonini yezimayini ukuze iMinyango yethu eminingi 
ikwazi ukuhlala inomsebenzi. Lapho kuqala unyaka wezimali 
kwakunethemba elikhulu. Kwahlaziywa ngokubanzi isimo sayo 
yonke inkampane, amakhono enawo kanye nokuthi iqha-
thaniseka kanjani nozakwabo baphesheya mayelana nemikh-
iqizo, imiphumela nomthelela wemisebenzi yayo yocwaningo. 
Lolu hlaziyo lwaluholwa ngempumelelo nguMphathi Omkhulu 
(CEO), uDkt Molefi Motuku. 

Ngokusekelwe kulolu hlaziyo, iBhodi yenza isivumelwano sok-
wenza umsebenzi omuhle noNgqongqoshe Wezimbiwa Phan-
si Namandla, uMhlonishwa uGwede Mantashe, esazibopha 
kuso ngokuthi sizofeza lukhulu. Lokho esakuhlola esimweni 
sangaphandle nakho kwasinika isizathu sokuba nethemba 
ngalo nyaka. Intengo yezinsimbi eziyigugu igolide ne-palla-
dium yayiqala ukuveza imibiko enyuka kakhulu. Intengo yet-
she-nsimbi nayo yayilokhu inyuka kancane kancane. Izinselele 
zale mboni ezazibonakala ziseza kwakuyilezo esike sabheka-

na nazo, futhi zaziyingxenye yomjikelezo ovamile wale mboni. 

“ Ukubukezwa kwendlela esisebenze 
ngayo yenkathi ephakathi ngo-
2019 kwakuqala ukubonisa 

umphumela omuhle ezimalini 
ezingenile ezenziwe ezivela 

emisebenzini emikhulu eyenziwa 
yinkampani, okwadala inkambiso 

eye yabona ukwehla kancane 
kancane kule minyaka embalwa 

edlule. ”

Ngasekupheleni konyaka, iMintek yaba nokunyuka kwemali 
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engenile eyayenziwe ngokuthengiswa kwemikhiqizo nama-
sevisi. Lokhu kunyuka kuqinisekisa ukuthi ngempela, amak-
hono eMintek okuthuthukisa ezocwaningo nobuchwepheshe 
ayinzuzo ezidingweni zale mboni kanye nokuthi icebo-mgomo 
lenhlangano lokubuyisela ukugxila ebhizinisini eliyinhloko kuqa-
la ukuthela izithelo. Nokho, saphetha unyaka sisesimweni es-
ingalindelekile sokulahlekelwa yinzuzo, ngokuyinhloko ngenxa 
yoshintsho endleleni yokwenza izibalo, eyenza kwaba nezinga 
eliphezulu ngokungavamile lokwehla kwenani lempahla yethu. 

Nakuba siqhubeka sinethemba, kunzima ukulindela intuthuko 
enkulu onyakeni wezamali olandelayo, uma kubhekwa isimo 
esibi sezitatimende zethu zemali engenayo. Sizoqhubeka si-
lungelelanisa amacebo-mgomo ethu ezimali nawokusimamisa 
isimo ukuze siqale ngamalungiselelo osizo azokwenza kube 
lula futhi kube nokwanda nokusimama kule mboni ngokusun-
gula izinto ezintsha nangobuchwepheshe. Sizoqinisekisa no-
kuthi kuba nokuthuthukiswa okufinyelela emazingeni asimeme 
ezindlela zokungenisa imali okwenza ukuba inkampani ikwazi 
ukubhekana nomphumela omubi wezenzakalo ezingalindele-
kile njengokuvaleleka (lockdown) kwemisebenzi yezomnotho.   

Naphezu kokuqeda unyaka sisesimweni esibi, izibalo eziy-
inhloko zeMintek zibonisa ukuthi siyinhlangano ekwazi uku-
melana neziphepho. I-balance sheet yethu iqinile, futhi iboni-
sa isisekelo esihle somsebenzi oqhubekayo ngokuqinisekile 
ozokwenziwa yiMintek onyakeni wezimali olandelayo. Isiyon-
ke imali engenayo iye yaqhubeka ingashintshile uma iqha-
thaniswa nangonyaka odlule, okuyinto encomekayo uma kub-
hekwa izimo ezingaqinisekile esibhekane nazo kulo nyaka. 

“ Ngithanda ukubonga iqembu 
labaphathi kanye nabo bonke 

abasebenzi baseMintek 
ngokudlula kulezi zimo ezinzima 

kwaba nemihuzuko emincane 
kakhulu. ”  

Ngikholelwa ngokuqinile ukuthi ukube bekungengenxa yom-
zamo ohlangene wabo bonke abasebenzi baseMintek, be-
siyobona ukuphela konyaka okubi nakakhulu. Izinselele 
ezisengaphambili zizodinga ukuba iqembu lethu lisebenze 
kanzima nakakhulu ukuze liguqule isimo ukuze sikwazi uku-
finyelela umphumela omuhle womsebenzi esazibopheze-
la ngawo kubaNinimasheya bethu. Kuyinto ephawulekayo 
ukuthi izinguquko zisalokhu ziyinselele, futhi sinxusa iqembu 
labaphathi ukuba lisebenzele ukufinyelela emgomweni woku-
ba nabameleli besifazane abangu-46% kule nhlangano. Ukuz-
ibophezela kukaNgqongqoshe ezinguqukweni kubonakala 
ngokumisa kwakhe iBhodi elinabesifazane abangu-50%, futhi 
uyibekele isibonelo yonke inhlangano. Kumelwe sisilingise lesi 
simo.

Ngithanda nokudlulisela izwi lokubonga eBhodini eliphumayo 

ngenxa yomthelela walo ngokwenza umbono wokuba iMintek 
izigxilise kabusha ekwenzeni umsebenzi omuhle kwezesayensi 
nasocwaningweni, ngokuvumelana nomgomo womkhandlu 
wezesayensi. Phakathi kwemisebenzi yalo ebaluleke kakhulu, 
iBhodi eliphumayo lakhetha uMphathi (CEO) osesikhundle-
ni njengamanje, ofaneleka ngokuncomekayo, ukuba aqhube 
icebo-mgomo nokusetshenziswa kwalo eminyakeni emihlanu 
ezayo. IBhodi elisha lathatha isihlalo, futhi lizoqinisekisa ukuthi 
le nhlangano iyawufeza umgomo nezinjongo zayo.

Simbonga kakhulu futhi uNgqongqoshe ngokuhlale efeza in-
dima ebalulekile yokuba yinxusa lemikhiqizo namasevisi eM-
intek. Kuyinto edingeka kakhulu eyenza ithenjwe le nhlangano 
okuyinto eyenza abasebenzi baseMintek bazibekele imigomo 
yamazinga amakhulu empumelelo. IBhodi elisha liyakujabulela 
ukuthi liphathiswe umsebenzi wokuqondisa iMintek eminyake-
ni embalwa, futhi liyalazisa ithuba elinalo lokwenza imisebenzi 
yalo eliyiphathisiwe ngokukhululeka. 

Siyakuqonda ukubaluleka kwemisebenzi esiyabelwe, futhi 
siqonde ukuqiniseka ukuthi umthelela womsebenzi weMint-
ek uzwiwa yiNingizimu Afrika nezakhamuzi zayo. Ngithemba 
ukuthi lo Mbiko Ohlangene Wonyaka uyamduduza uMnini-
masheya nabo bonke ababambiqhaza, ukuthi i-Mintek yase-
benzisa izimali ezabelwe ngendlela yokuzimisela kanye nan-
genjongo yokufeza umgomo wayo.

Dkt Vanguard Mkosana
USihlalo WeBhodi,
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“Our new strategy is 
underpinned by five pillars, 
relevant applied research and 

innovation, industry establishment 
and expansion, a capable workforce, 

financial sustainability and world-
class RDI infrastructure.”

It is in driving these pillars that Mintek will maximise its impact 
in the South African economy and the triple challenge of in-
equality, poverty, and unemployment. 

We began the year by embarking on a path that would re-
turn the organisation to excellence in research, development 
and innovation, implementing a number of interventions that 
would yield meaningful results in the short term, while also 
consolidating the long term strategy. In part, the immediate in-
terventions were seeking to return Mintek to its historical glory 
of having top researchers, scientists and metallurgists in the 
country, who were critical in ensuring that the organisation was 
the best in its field of operation. 

We implemented a new Science, Engineering and Technol-
ogy (SET) Human Capital Development programme aimed 
at enhancing the quality of Mintek’s research, development 
and innovation (RDI) outputs, while also elevating the overall 
qualification profile of the SET staff. By the end of the year, 
we exceeded our target of staff with Doctoral degrees by 2% 
and the target of staff Masters’ degrees by 5%. A total of 18 
employees were awarded bursaries to pursue post graduate 
studies at doctoral and masters levels. 

The strategic decision that we took early in 2019 to align 
Mintek back to its core function has been well received by 
the organisation, the staff SET base increased from 43% to 
49% (2019 to 2020) and SET staff with MSc. and PhD in-
creased from 32% to 40% (2019 to 2020). We are seeing suc-
cess based on the scientific outputs and areas of our science 
vote proposals and research projects. We are striving towards 
establishing a SET staff dominated organisation who will en-
hance our objective of increasing scientific research outputs, 
patents, technologies transferred and Mintek footprint.

We have initiated and engaged in a robust human capital 
development programme that targets young, mid-level and 
senior researchers with the aim of attainment of a composite 
skills profile that is fit for a research and development organisa-
tion of Mintek’s calibre. It also includes the rebasing of Mintek’s 
R&D portfolio and ensuring that the investment in research and 
development made by the state yields optimum outcomes 
that have a visible and positive impact. Outputs from scientific 
research and technology development programmes started 
showing a positive change, exceeding our target for publishing 
in credible publications by 6%. 

We are particularly proud of our contribution to the national 
response to COVID-19. Towards the end of the financial year 
2019/20, Mintek made numerous notable achievements in its 

Molefi Motuku, PhD
Chief Executive Officer

2 Chief Executive Officer’s Review

The year 2019/20 marked a fundamental shift to 
Mintek’s strategy and operations as we repositioned 
the organisation to be true to its quest of being a 
global leader in innovative mineral solutions. The 
repositioning was guided by a deep organisational 
diagnostic assessment conducted in the fourth 
quarter of the previous year. The organisation 
sought to design its strategy in a way that brought 
research and technology development back to the 
core of its operations and activities. 
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entire research and technology development portfolio, with 
tangible outputs that demonstrate the advantages of a sound 
beneficiation programme of South Africa’s mineral resources. 

Operationally Mintek continued delivering on excellent scientif-
ic output and outcomes. We developed an REE refining capa-
bility, which demonstrated that a centralised REE processing 
facility is viable in South Africa. This will stimulate the creation of 
local rare earth manufacturing industry by establishing a cen-
tralised rare earth element (REE) processing facility in South 
Africa to produce separated REE at a globally competitive 
cost. We also secured commitment for a demonstration-scale 
plant from Anglo Coal, following successful implementation of 
pilot-scale water treatment plant using Mintek technology. The 
technology has been proven to treat contaminated water to 
produce water for discharge into the environment or for irriga-
tion or industrial use. 

In sustainable mining arena, Mintek is leading improving pro-
cess performance in the platinum sector. New and enhanced 
processes for the processing of fines material for the recovery 
of PGM’s and chromite has been produced. Mintek has also 
successfully formulated and disclosed the Polyamide thin film 
nanocomposite membranes for water treatment applications. 
The invention disclosed, is the formulation of a polyamide thin-
film nanocomposite membrane, for use in the desalination of 
brackish and sea water.

“I am pleased to report an 
increase in our commercial income 

in 2019/2020 compared to 
2018/2019.”

Commercial income is derived from the sale of our products 
and services and contract revenue. Its upward trend proves 
the business case for the new strategic approach adopted by 
Mintek. The financial results for the year end show a grim pic-
ture of a net loss of R54 million, which is a significant amount 
for Mintek. The loss is a result of a confluence of factors, the 
most significant being the change in accounting standards 
that resulted in a 45% increase in depreciation, amortisation 
and impairment losses. Nonetheless, Mintek remains a sol-
id organisation with an asset base of about R911 million and 
no material liabilities. In ensuring the sustainability of the or-
ganisation and its status as a going concern, the organisation 
maintained the overall employment cost at similar levels to pre-
vious years, in rand terms, whilst ensuring fair compensation 
to employees. 

Special recognition to the SET staff that have continued pro-
moting the profile of the organisation at various science and 
engineering platforms even in this challenging period in our 
industry, country and the world. Our senior staff raised Mint-
ek’s flag high on global and national platforms. We are proud 

to report that one of our section heads, Dr Desh Chetty, gave 
a series of lectures on process mineralogy at Luleå University 
of Technology (LTU) in Sweden in December 2019. In March 
2020, one of Divisional Managers, Ms Isabel Geldenhuys, was 
announced as President Elect of the esteemed Southern Afri-
can Institute of Mining Metallurgist (SAIMM). We acknowledge 
the appointment of Dr Ndabenhle Sosibo into the Executive 
Committee (EXCO) of the National Science and Technology 
Forum (NSTF). Mintek is particularly proud of the achieve-
ments notched by our senior technical experts as it affirms 
our standing as a global leader in mineral and metallurgical 
innovation that we continually strive to maintain.

Overall, we are pleased that the organisation was able to meet 
most of its targets in terms of scientific outputs as per the 
agreement between the Board and the Minister of Mineral Re-
sources.  We pride ourselves in continuing to uphold good 
governance even during this period, demonstrated through 
unqualified audit report issued by the Auditor-General. 

We are thankful for the leadership and guidance we have re-
ceived from both the outgoing Board under the leadership of 
Mr Dickson Namane Masemola, and the new Board, led by Dr 
Vanguard Mkosana.

Molefi Motuku, PhD
Chief Executive Officer

Chief Executive Officer of Mintek Dr Molefi 
Motuku, delivering a presentation on Mintek 
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“ Mokgwa wa rona o motjha 
wa tshebetso o totobatswa ke 

ditshiya tse hlano, diphuputso tse 
tshwanelehang tse sebediswang le 
botshimollelo, theho ya indasteri le 
katoloso, basebetsi ba hlwahlwa, 
botsitso ho tsa ditjhelete esita le 

maranrang a RDI a disebediswa a 
maemo a phahameng a lefatshe.”

Ka ho laola ditshiya tsena Mintek e tla kgona ho phethahatsa 
ka botlalo sekgahla sa yona moruong wa Afrika Borwa esita le 
diphephetso tse tharo tsa ho se lekane, bofutsana le tlhokeho 
ya mesebetsi. 

Re qadile selemo ka ho ikakgela tseleng e tla kgutlisetsa mok-
gatlo ho boemo ba boipabolo ho tsa diphetoho, ntshetsopele 
le boitshimollelo, ka ho sebedisa mekgwa e mengata ya thuso 
e tla hlahisa diphetho tse atlehileng ka nako e kgutshwanyane 
e bile e ntse e kenyeletsa le mokgwa wa nako e telele. Ka 
lehlakore le leng, dithuso tse potlakileng di ne di batla ho kgut-
lisetsa Mintek ho bohlwahlwa ba nalane ya yona ya ho ba le 
bafuputsi a boemo bo phahameng, boramahlale le ditsebi tsa 
ditshepe ka hara naha, ba neng ba le hlwahlwa haholo ho etsa 
bonnete ba hore mokgatlo o ne o ipabotse ho feta yohle ho ya 
ka tshebetso ya ona. 

Re sebedisitse lenaneo le letjha la Ntshetsopele ya Science, 
Engineering and Technology (SET) Human Capital Develop-
ment le reretsweng ho eketsa boleng ba diphuputso tsa Mint-
ek, diphetho tsa ntshetsopele le boitshimollelo (RDI), e bile re 

2 Tjhebokakaretso ya Mohlanka e Moholo wa
Phethahatso

Selemo sa 2019/20 se bontshitse phetoho e kgolo ya mokgwa wa tshebetso wa Mintek 
esita le mesebetsi yohle ka hore re fetotse mokgatlo hore o be le nnete takatsong ya 
ona ya ho moetapele wa lefatshe lohle mererong ya ditharollo tsa diqaka tse amang 
diminerale.  Boitlhophiso bona ba diphetoho bo bakilwe ke tshenolo e entsweng 
kotareng ya bone selemong se fetileng.  Mokgatlo o ikemiseditse ho theha mokgwa wa 
ona ka tsela e tla etsa hore diphuputso le ntshetsopele ya theknoloji di kgutlele hape 
tshebetsong le mesebetsing yohle ya tsona ya motheo. 

ntse re phahamisa nalane ya kakaretso ya maemo a baseb-
etsi ba SET. Qetellong ya selemo, re fetile moedi wa palo ya 
basebetsi ba rona ba lebeletsweng ho ba le mangolo a dikgau 
tsa Bongaka ka 2% le palo e lebeletsweng ya basebetsi ba 
nang le dikgau tsa Masters’ ka 5%. Palo kaofela ya basebetsi 
ba 18 e abetswe dibasari e le ho ntshetsa pele dithuto tsa 
kamorao ho lengolo le fumanwang kamora kgau ya thuto bo-
emong ba bongaka le boemong ba masters. 

Qeto ya mokgwa wa tshebetso eo re e nkileng qalong ya sele-
mo sa 2019 ya ho kgutlisetsa Mintek mosebetsing wa yona 
wa motheo e ile ya amohelwa hantle ke bohle ba mokgatlo, 
palo ya basebetsi ba SET e nyolohile ho tloha ho 43% ho isa 
ho 49% (2019 ho isa ho 2020) mme basebetsi ba SET ba 
nang le mangolo a MSc. le PhD e eketsehile ho tloha ho 32% 
ho isa ho 40% (2019 ho isa ho 2020). Re bona katleho e thei-
lweng ho diphetho tsa saense esita e dikarolo tse ding tsa 
rona tsa saense tsa tshepo ho tsa saense esita le diprojeke 
tsa diphuputso. Re tsitlalletse ho theha mokgatlo o nang le 
basebetsi ba bangata ba SET ba tla ntshetsa pele sepheo sa 
rona ho eketsa diphetho tsa rona tsa diphuputso tsa saense, 
ditokomane tse tshwanelehang, ditheknoloji tse ntlafaditsw-
eng le nalane ya Mintek. 

Re kgothaleditse le ho ikakgela ka setotswana lenaneong le 
hlwahlwa la ntshetsopele ya basebetsi le reretsweng bafuputsi 
ba banyenyane, boemo bo mahareng ekasitana le bafuputsi 
ba boemo bo phahameng ka sepheo sa ho fihlella nalane e 
hlwahlwa e loketseng diphuputso le ntshetsopele ya mokgatlo 
wa mofuta wa Mintek.  E bile e kenyeletsa le ho theha bot-
jha potefoliyo ya R&D ya Mintek le ho etsa bonnete ba hore 
letsete le entsweng diphuputsong le ntshetsopele e entsweng 
ke mmuso di hlahisa diphetho tse atlehileng haholo tse nang le 
sekgahla se bonahalang se atlehileng. Diphetho tsa mananeo 
a ntsetsopele ya diphuputso tsa saense le theknoloji di qadile 
ho bontsha katleho ya diphetoho e fetang tebello ya rona ka 
6% bakeng sa diphatlalatso ho diphatlalatso tse tsebahalang 
tse tshepehang. 
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Ka ho qolleha re motlotlo ka seabo sa rona ho kgoeletso ya 
naha mabapi le COVID-19. Ho ya qetellong ya selemo sa dit-
jhelete sa 2019/20, Mintek e bile le diphihlello tse ngata tse 
kgolo bakeng sa diphuputso le ntshetsopele ya yona ya the-
knoloji ka ho ba le diphetho tse tshwarehang tse bontshang 
melemo ya lenaneo la mehlodi ya diminerale tsa Afrika Borwa. 

Ho ya ka tshebetso, Mintek e tswetse pele ka tlhahiso le di-
phetho tse ipabotseng tsa saense. Re theile bokgoni ba tok-
iso ya REE, bo bontshitseng hore sesebediswa sa bohareng 
sa REE se sebetsa ka katleho mona Afrika Borwa. Hona ho 
tla tsosolosa indasteri ya lehae ya tlhahiso ka ho theha ses-
ebediswa sena sa elemente ena ya lefatshe e bohareng (REE) 
mona Afrika Borwa e le ho hlahisa REE e arohantsweng e ka 
thoko ka tefo e kgemang le tsohle tse teng ka lefatshe lohle. 
Re bile re bile le boitlamo bakeng sa polanta ya sekala sa pont-
sho se tswang ho Anglo Coal, ho latela tshebediso e atlehileng 
ya polanta ya teko ya metsi ya sekala se seholo sa pulamadi-
boho ka ho sebedisa theknoloji ya Mintek. Theknoloji ena e 
pakilwe hore e hlwekisa metsi a dubakaneng e le ho hlahisa 
metsi bakeng sa ho fepela tikoloho kapa bakeng sa ho noset-
sa kapa tshebediso ya indasteri. 

Mererong ya merafo e tshwarellang, Mintek e laola ka ho ntla-
fatsa tshebetso ka hara sektara ya platinamo. Ho hlahisitswe 
tshebetso tse ntjha le tse ntlafaditsweng bakeng sa ho thu-
misa thepa bakeng sa ho fumana PGM’s le chromite. Mintek 
e bile e theile ka katleho le ho senola mara a masesanyane 
a polyamide thin film nanocomposite bakeng sa ho hlwekisa 
metsi. Boitshimollelo bo hlahisitsweng le ho senolwa ke theho 
ya lera le lesesanyane la polyamide thin-film nanocomposite, 
bakeng sa tshebediso ya tlhwekiso ya tlhabollo ya letswai esita 
le metsi a lewatle.

“ Ke thaba ho fana ka pehelo ya 
keketseho ya lekeno la rona la 

moruo la 2019/2020 ha le bapiswa 
le la 2018/2019.”

Lekeno lena la kgwebo le fumanwa ka thekiso ya dihlahiswa tsa 
rona le ditshebeletso. Kgolo ya yona e bontsha hore kgwebo 
e ba teng ka lebaka la mokgwa ona o motjha o sebediswang 
ke Mintek. Diphetho tsa ditjhelete bakeng sa qetello ya selemo 
di hlahisa setshwantsho se nyahamisang sa tahlehelo ya R54 
miliyone, e leng tjhelete e ngata bakeng sa Mintek. Tahlehelo 
ena e bakilwe ke dintlha tse ngatanyana, tse ngata ka ho feti-
sisa e bile phetoho ya maemo a diakhaonto e bakileng hore ho 
be le keketseho ya 45% ya thosholeho, ditahlehelo tsa ditefello 
le tshenyo. Leha ho le jwalo, Mintek e dula e le mokgatlo o 
tsepameng o setletseng o nang le motheo wa o ka bang R911 
miliyone mme ho se na dikoloto tsa thepa. Bakeng sa ho tiisa 
tshwarello ya mokgatlo le boemo ba ona, mokgatlo o bolokile 
ditshenyehelo tsohle tsa ona tsa kgiro di ntse di tshwana le 
tsa dilemo tse fetileng, ka maemo a rata, empa o ntse o etsa 

bonnete ba hore ho ba le tefo e kgotsofatsang ya basebetsi. 
Kananelo e ikgethang e lebiswa ho basebetsi ba SET ba ileng 
ba nna ba tswela pele ho ntshetsa pele nalane ya mokgatlo 
maemong a fapaneng a saense le boenjenere le ka nako ena 
ya diphephetso tse ngata ka hara indasteri ya rona, naha es-
ita le lefatshe ka bophara. Basebetsi ba rona ba boemo bo 
phahameng ba phahamiseditse folakga ya Mintek maemong 
a lefatshe esita le a naha. Re motlotlo ho etsa pehelo mona e 
mong wa baetapele ba rona ba mafapha, Ngaka Desh Chet-
ty, o ile a etsa dithupello tse ngata tsa mabapi le boithuto ba 
tshebetso ya diminerale mane Luleå University of Technology 
(LTU) mane Sweden ka Tshitwe 2019. Ka Hlakubele 2020, e 
mong wa Balaodi ba Mafapha, Mofumahadi Isabel Gelden-
huys, o ile a tsebahatswa e le Mopresidente wa Mokgethwa wa 
foramo e tsebahalang ya Southern African Institute of Mining 
Metallurgist (SAIMM). Re ananela kgiro ya Ngaka Ndabenhle 
Sosibo ka hara Executive Committee (EXCO) ya National Sci-
ence and Technology Forum (NSTF). Ka ho qolleha Mintek e 
motlotlo haholo ka diphihlello tsa yona tsa ditsebi tse kgolo tsa 
botekgeniki ka ha a di paka maemo a rona jwaloka moetapele 
wa lefatshe wa diminerale le boitshimollelo ba tsa ditshepe ao 
re ntseng re tswela pele ho kgema le ona ka paballo e kgolo. 

Ka kakaretso, re thaba hore mokgatlo o ile wa kgona ho fi-
hlella ditebello tse ngata tsa ona tsa diphetho tsa saense ho 
ya ka tumellano pakeng tsa Lekgotla le Letona la Mehlodi ya 
Diminerale.  Re motlotlo ka ho tswela pele ka ho boloka le ho 
phethahatsa puso e lokileng le ka nako ena, e totobaditsweng 
ka pehelo e hlwekileng ya tlhahlobo ya dibuka tsa ditjhelete e 
fanweng ke Mohlahlobikakaretso wa dibuka. 

Re leboha boetapele le tataiso ya Lekgotla le qetelang ka 
tshebetso le laolwang ke Monghadi                               Dickson 
Namane Masemola, esita le Lekgotla le letjha le eteletsweng 
pele ke Ngaka Vanguard Mkosana.

Molefi Motuku, PhD
Mohlanka e Moholo wa Phethahatso

17
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Unyaka ka-2019/20 uye waba ngowokushintsha icebo-mgomo nokusebenza kweMintek 
njengoba besihlela kabusha inkampani ukuze inamathele emgomweni wayo wokuhola 
kukho konke emkhakhethi wezokumbiwa phansi ezisebenzisa izindlela ezintsha. 
Ukuhlela kabusha kuye kwaqondiswa ukuhlolisisa kokufunisisa izinkinga okujulile 
enkampanini okwenziwa ngekota yesine yonyaka owawandulele. Inkampani iye yahlela 
icebo-mgomo ngendlela ezokwenza ucwaningo nokuthuthukiswa kwezobuchwepheshe 
kubuye kube yinto eyinhloko emisebenzini eyenziwayo. 

“ Icebo-mgomo lethu lisekelwe 
ezinsikeni ezinhlanu, ucwaningo 

nokusungula izinto ezintsha 
okuhlobene nesikwenzayo 

nokusebenzisekayo, ukumiswa 
kwemboni nokwandiswa 
kwezixazululo, izisebenzi 

ezinamakhono, ukusimamiswa 
kwezezimali kanye nengqalasizinda 

ephuma phambili ye-RDI.”

Ngukugxila kule zinsika okuzokwenza iMintek ikwazi ukukhu-
lisa umthelela wayo kwezomnotho eNingizimu Afrika nasekul-
weni nenkinga ekathathu yokungalingani, ubumpofu, nokung-
abikho kwemisebenzi.

Siqale unyaka ngokuqalisa indlela ezobuyisela inkampani 
esimweni sokuba phambili kwezocwaningo, ukuthuthuki-
sa nokusungula, sethula izinto eziningi ezizokwenza kube 
nemiphumela ngesikhathi esifushane, kuyilapho sihlangan-
isa ndawonye icebo-mgomo lesikhathi eside. Enye yezinto 
ezenziwe ngokushesha ukubuyisela iMintek idumela elihle 
ebinalo lokuba nabacwaningi abaphambili, ososayensi och-
wepheshe kwezokusansimbi kule lizwe, ababedingeka kakhu-
lu ekuqinisekiseni ukuthi inkampani ihamba phambili emkha-
kheni esebenza kuwo.

Siye sethula uhlelo olusha lwe-Science, Engineering and 
Technology (SET) Human Capital Development oluhloselwe 
ukuthuthukisa izinga lemiphumela yocwaningo, ukuthuthuki-

sa nokusungula [research, development and innovation (RDI)] 
eMintek, kuyilapho sikhulisa izinga lemfundo lezisebenzi ze-
SET. Ekupheleni konyaka, sidlule umgomo wezisebenzi ez-
ineziqu zeDoctrate ngo-2% nomgomo wezisebenzi ezineziqu 
ze-Masters ngo-5%. Izisebenzi ezingu-18 ziye zanikwa imi-
fundaze ukuze zithole izifundo zangemva kokuthweswa iziqu 
emazingeni e-doctrate nawe-masters.

Isinqumo esivumelana necebo-mgomo esasithatha ekuqa-
leni kuka-2019 sokuvumelanisa iMintek nomsebenzi wayo 
oyinhloko siye samukeleka kahle enkampanini, izisebenzi ezi-
ku-SET ziye zanda zisuka ku-43% zaya ku-49% (ngo-2019 
kuya ku-2020) izisebenzi eziku-SET ezine-MSc ne-PhD ziye 
zanda zisuka ku-32% zaya ku-40% (ngo-2019 kuya ku-2020). 
Sibona impumelelo ngezithelo zesayensi nasezindaweni izith-
intwa yizihlongozo zethu zesayensi ezivotelwayo, namaphro-
jekthi acwaningwayo. Silwela ukumisa inkampani elawulwa 
yizisebenzi ze-SET ezizothuthukisa umgomo wethu wokwan-
disa imiphumela yocwaningo lwesayensi, izinto ezinamalun-
gelo obunikazi, imikhiqizo emisha esunguliwe edluliselwayo 
kanye nezindawo iMintek ezifinyelelayo.

Siqalise futhi senza uhlelo olukhulu lokuthuthukiswa kwezise-
benzi olugxile entsheni, abacwaningi abasemazingeni 
aphakathi naphezulu ngenjongo yokufinyelela amakhono afan-
elekela inkampani yokucwaninga nokuthuthukisa esezingeni 
leMintek. Luhlanganisa nokumisa kabusha i-portfolio yeMint-
ek ye-R&D nokuqinisekisa ukuthi imali etshalwa ekucwanin-
geni nasekuthuthukiseni evela kuhulumeni iba nemiphumela 
ezuzisayo enemithelela ebonakalo nemihle. Imiphumela yez-
inhlelo zocwaningo lwesayensi nokuthuthukiswa kwezobuch-
wepheshe iqalile ukubonisa izinguquko ezinhle, yedlula imigo-
mo yokushicilela ezincwadini ezihlonishwayo ngo-6%.

Siyaziqhenya ngemithelela esibe nayo endleleni izwe elisabele 
ngayo ku-COVID-19. Ngasekupheleni konyaka wezimali ka-
2019/20, iMintek iye yafinyelela okuningi nokukhulu ku-port-
folio yayo iyonke yokuthuthukiswa kocwaningo nezobuch-
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wepheshe, kuye kwaba nemiphumela ephathekayo ebonisa 
izinzuzo zohlelo olusebenzayo lokuguqulwa (beneficiation) 
kwezinto ezimbiwa phansi zaseNingizimu Afrika.

Emisebenzini yayo iMintek iye yaqhubeka iba nemikhiqizo 
nemiphumela emihle kakhulu yezesayensi. Siye sasungula 
indlela yokucwengisiswa kwe-REE, okuye kwabonisa ukuthi 
isikhungo sokusebenza nge-REE sizoba yinzuzo eNingizimu 
Afrika. Lokhu kuzosiza ekusungulweni kwemboni ekuleli 
zwe yokukhiqizwa kwe-rare earth ngokumiswa kwesikhun-
go sokusebenza nge-rare earth element (REE) eNingizimu 
Afrika esizokhiqiza i-REE ehlukanisiwe ngezindleko ezisezin-
geni elifanayo nelakwamanye amazwe. Abakwa-Anglo Coal 
baye bazibophezela ekutheni sibenzele ifemu yokubonisa, 
ngemva kokuba kuye kwenziwa ifemu yokuhlola yokuhlanza 
amanzi kusetshenziswa ubuchwepheshe bakwaMintek. Lobu 
buchwepheshe buye bakwazi ukuhlanza amanzi ongcolisiwe 
ukuze kukhiqizwe amanzi angadedelwa ukuba asatshenziswe 
kwezemvelo noma ekuniseleni noma kwezezimboni.   

Kwezezimayini ezisimeme, iMintek iyahola ekuthuthukiseni in-
qubo yokusebenza emkhakheni we-platinum. Kuye kwavezwa 
izinqubo ezintsha nezithuthukisiwe zokusebenza ngemikhiqizo 
egayiwe ukuze kubuyiswe ama-PGM ne-chromite. IMintek 
ibuye yasungula ngokuphumelelayo futhi yaveza uthwethwe-
si olulula lwe-Polyamide olwakhiwa yizinto ezincane kakhulu 
lwezindlela zokuhlanza amanzi. Lendlela esunguliwe, inguk-
wenziwa kothwethwesi olulula lwe-polyamide olwakhiwa yiz-
into ezincane kakhulu, olusetshenziselwa ukukhishwa kukasa-
woti emanzini athanda ukuba nosawoti noma olwandle.

“ Ngiyajabula ukubika ukwanda 
emalini yethu engeniswe yinkampani 
ngo-2019/2020 uma kuqhathaniswa 

no-2018/2019.”

Imali engeniswa yinkampani itholakala ngokuthengiswa kwe-
mikhiqizo namasevisi ethu. Ukuqhubeka kwayo inyuka ku-
fakazela ukuphumelela kwecebo-mgomo elisha elamukelwe 
yiMintek. Imiphumela yezimali yokuphela konyaka ibonisa 
isimo esibi sokulahlekelwa yimali engu-R54 miliyoni, okuy-
inani elikhulu eMintek. Lokhu kulahlekelwa kuwumphumela 
wenhlanganisela yezici, okuyisona sici esikhulu kube ukush-
intshwa kwezimiso zethu zokubala okubangele ukwanda 
ngamaphesenti angu-45 okwehla kwamanani, ukusulwa 
kwezindleko kancane kancane kanye nokulahlekelwa ngenxa 
yokwehla kwengento yezinto. Noma kunjalo, iMintek isalokhu 
iyinhlangano eqinile enempahla yenani elimalungana no-R911 
miliyoni futhi engenazikweletu eziphathekayo. Ukuqiniseki-
sa ukuthi iyinhlangano esimeme nenesimo sokuba yibhizinisi 
eliqhubekayo, le nhlangano igcine zonke izindleko zokuqash-
wa kwabasebenzi zisemazingeni afanayo njengaseminyakeni 
edlule, ngokweRandi, kuyilapho iqinisekisa ukuthi abasebenzi 
baholelwa kahle.

Sifisa ukuqaphela ngokukhethekile abasebenzi be-SET abaye 
baqhubeka bekhangisa isimo sale nhlangano ezithangami-
ni ezihlukahlukene zesayensi nezobunjiniyela ngisho nakule 
nkathi eyinselele embonini yethu, ezweni lakithi nasemhlabeni 
wonke. Abasebenzi bethu abaphezulu baliphakamise kakhulu 
ifulegi leMintek ezithangamini zomhlaba wonke nezakuleli zwe. 
Siyaziqhenya ngokunibikela ukuthi omunye wabaholi bengx-
enye yethu, uDkt Desh Chetty, wanikeza uchungechunge 
lwezifundo mayelana nenqubo yesayensi yezinto ezimbi-
wa phansi eLuleå University of Technology (LTU) eSweden 
ngo-December 2019. Ngo-March 2020, omunye wabaPhathi 
boMnyango, uNksz Isabel Geldenhuys wamenyezelwa njen-
gomunye wabaKhethelwe ukuba uMongameli we-Southern 
African Institute of Mining Metallurgist (SAIMM) ehlonish-
wayo. Siyakwamukela ukumiswa kukaDkt Ndabenhle Sosibo 
kuyi-Executive Committee (EXCO) ye-National Science and 
Technology Forum (NSTF). IMintek iziqhenya ngokukhethekile 
ngempumelela etholwe ngongoti bethu bezobuchwepheshe 
abaphezulu ngoba kuqinisa isimo sethu njengomholi wom-
hlaba wonke ekusungulweni kwezinto ezintsha kwezimbiwa 
phansi nokucwengwa kokusansimbi, esilokhu siqhubeka sil-
wela ukukulondoloza.

Sekukonke, siyajabula ngokuthi inhlangano ikwazile ukufeza 
eminingi yemigomo yayo ngokuphathelene nemikhiqizo ye-
sayensi ngokwesivumelwano esiphakathi kweBhodi noNgq-
ongqoshe Wemithombo Yezimbiwa Phansi. Siyaziqhenya 
ngokuqhubeka sisekela ukulawula okuhle ngisho naphakathi 
kwale nkathi, okuboniswe ngumbiko omuhle wokucutshun-
gulwa kwamabhuku ezimali okhishwe nguMcubunguli Wam-
abhuku Ezimali Jikelele.

Siyabonga ngobuholi nesiqondiso esikuthole kukho kokubi-
li iBhodi eliphumayo ngaphansi kobuholi bukaMnu Dickson 
Namane Masemola, kanye neBhodi elisha, eliholwa nguDkt 
Vanguard Mkosana.

Molefi Motuku, PhD
Chief Executive Officer
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Top: The water nanotechnology unit conducts research using Fe based trimetallic 
nanoparticles for the production of reusable water

Bottom: A diverse team of Mintek employees during a strategy engagement 
workshop
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Mintek’s total income for the year 2019/2020 decreased 
slightly by a negligible 0.4% compared to last year R562 
million. The state grant portion of the total income declined 
by 7.6% from R356 million to R329 million, while the income 
that is obtained from commercial activities increased by 15.4% 
from R169 million to R195 million. The overall decline in total 
income demonstrates that Mintek’s business model makes the 
entity resilient and can withstand challenging environments.

Profitability for 2019/20 was largely affected by a number of 
factors. First, commercial income was lower than planned, al-
though it recorded an increase from last year. We attribute this 
to an industry that struggled during the year. Second, fund-
ing from the MTEF projects and for the derelict and ownerless 
mines projects was lower than planned by about R76 million 
due to delayed projects. The projects were delayed by com-
munity unrests and contractor performance, and Mintek is in 
discussions with the DMRE to resolve these issues going for-
ward. Third, the change in accounting standards meant that 
we had to depreciate funded assets by about R30 million. We 
also had significant write-offs and impairments of R22 million 
and R24 million respectively on Property, Plant and Equipment. 

Our financial position remains strong and our balance sheet 
shows an entity with a healthy R911 million in assets. There 
was a slight decrease in non-current assets from R433 mil-
lion to R411 million mainly due to impairment of R24 million 
and write-off of R22 million. We recorded asset acquisitions 
to the value of R54 million and capitalisation of assets under 
construction in prior year of R9 million. We ended the year with 
payables lower than last year due to lower commercial activ-
ities, but there was a slight increase in unspent grants due to 
the challenges at community level as outlined above. 

The costs of employment remained almost constant, without 
compromising justice and fairness in how we compensate 
employees. This year our total salary bill was R300 million, 
which is a marginal increase from R297 million last year. 

We are pleased that we were able to reduce the costs of 
employment to 49% of total expenditure (53% if exceptional 
items such as the impairment and write-off is excluded) in 
2019/20, from 53 % the previous year. We are pleased to have 
achieved and maintained a healthy balance between different 
revenue streams. R&D revenue generated 63% of our total 
commercial revenue, up from 61% in the previous year. 

Our BEE spend as a percentage of total discretionary spend 
exceeded target and ended the year at 110%. 

We will continue working towards expansion of revenue 
streams, adopt new marketing approaches and include new 
products and services such as sanitisers. We will also continue 
collaborations with industry partners and other science 
councils to develop revenue generating applications.

3.1 Financial Performance

0.4% R562
Million

Decrease

Total
Income

2019/2020

7.6% R356 to R329
Million

Decrease

State Grant

2019/2020

15.2% R169 to R195
Million

Commercial 
Activities

2019/2020

R Increase

Decrease
From

53% to 49%Total
Expenditure
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At the beginning of last year, we launched a repositioning 
programme for Mintek, placing a lot of efforts on the 
organisational strategy and our approach to research, 
development and innovation (RDI). These efforts were 
beginning to bear fruit during the course of the year, and 
would have resulted in a tangible improvement on our scientific 
outputs. Despite the challenges, we are pleased that we 
achieved meaningful milestones. 

Growing our Health Platform
For more than a decade, Mintek has invested heavily in the 
manufacturing of nano-technology based medical diagnostic 
products that included HIV point of care diagnostic test kit.  
The products have been developed at Mintek to use gold 
nano-particles as the active ingredient, and they outperform 
commercially available products in terms of shelf life and 
accuracy. We transferred the knowledge acquired in the 
development of the test kits, to expand the products to 
include rapid diagnostic COVID-19 test kit. This initiative 
is led by Mintek’s biomedical team that was instrumental 
in the development of the other diagnostic test kits. Our 
manufacturing facility is ready for production, after recently 
receiving the necessary accreditation.

Technical Articles
We exceeded the target number of technical articles that 
are published in credible journals by 6%. We had planned 
to publish 50 articles, but exceeded target and published 53 
articles. 

Patents, IP and Discoveries
We achieved the annual patent target of 4 patents, which was 
also an increase from last year’s achievement of 3 patents. 
The patents include the SmartHearthTM technology, which 
is supplementary anode for dual-electrode direct current 
furnaces; and three patents relating to our acid mine drainage 
treatment technology, SAVMINTM. 

We concluded 1 IP license agreement and 11 discoveries.

3.2 Technical Performance and Scientific Outputs

The MinDiagnostics point of care rapid diagnostics test kits for 
HIV, malaria and TB developt by Mintek

Top: Mintek’s passive biological sulphate reduction pilot plant, located 
at a coal mine site near eMalahleni in Mpumalanga Province.

Bottom: SAVMINTM Acid Mine Drainage Water treatment 
demonstration plant at Randfontein in Gauteng Province.
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Impact of these efforts is evident in improving female 
representation which has reached the 42% mark in the period 
under review. While this is a commendable milestone, Mintek 
remains committed to pursue the voluntary stretch target 
of 46%, which is higher than the female component in the 
Gauteng economically active profile of the population.

Mintek has a total of 14 employees that are classified as 
disabled, constituting 3% of total staff. This is on par with 
the target of 3% for the year. The majority (50%) of these 
employees are categorised as skilled technical, academically-
qualified, junior management and supervisors, operators and 

technical staff responsible for operating the wide range of 
technical plant and equipment of Mintek. This profile is in line 
with the nature of the work of Mintek. We are committed to 
ensuring that the work environment and the tools of work are 
adapted to support the disabled employees to perform their 
work with the minimum level of disruption. 

Mintek has a total of 74 professionals, specialists, and middle 
management-level employees, which represents 14% of the 
total workforce. At senior and top management levels, Mintek 
has 14 senior managers (3% of the total) and 4 top managers, 
forming less than a percent of the total. 

3.3 People Performance 

OCCUPATIONAL
LEVELS

MALE FEMALE
TOTAL

A C I W NSA A C I W NSA

Top Management 2 1 1 4

Senior Management 5 1 1 3 10

Professional qualified and 
experienced.

specialist
15 2 5 16 3 19 1 5 6 2 74

Senior technical,  qualified 
work, junior management, 

Supervisor
87 6 2 16 5 130 5 3 19 1 274

Semi-skilled and
discretionary

decision
80 5 1 20 1 107

Unskilled and defined 
decision making

47 1 1 49

Grand Total 236 14 7 35 8 172 7 8 28 3 518

Percentage 46% 3% 1% 7% 2% 33% 1% 2% 5% 1%

Gender Percentage 58% 42% 100%

For the review period ended 31 March 2020, the total perma-
nent employee head count at Mintek was 518. This comprised 
300 males and 218 females. The skilled technical, academi-
cally qualified, junior management and supervisor occupation-
al level account for 53% of the total staff complement from the 

previous year. This is the occupational level that Mintek will 
leverage for growth into senior management levels. The semi-
skilled occupational level is at 21%. Female representation 
at Mintek remains a key focus of the recruitment and gender 
transformation efforts. 
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Organisational Demographics
Mintek’s most critical resource is its 518 employees that en-
sure that the organisation continually strives towards the at-
tainment of goals in pursuit of its mandate. For the review peri-
od ended 31 March 2020, the total permanent employee head 
count at Mintek was 518. This comprised 300 males and 218 
females. Of the total, 43% are in the Science, Engineering and 
Technology space (SET), which is the core business of Mintek. 
It is this group that is jointly responsible for the attainment of 
Mintek’s scientific outputs outlined above, and continues to 
place the organisation’s technologies, products and services 
on the global map. The SET representation at Mintek remains 
a key focus of the recruitment and transformation efforts.

Training and Development
The Human Capital Development (HCD) programmes includes 
initiatives that support the development of human capital 
to enable Mintek in meeting its current and future skills 
requirements.  The cluster consists of bursary programmes 
for full-time and part-time studies, a work-integrated learning 
programme, various Science, Technology, Engineering & 
Mathematics promotion programmes, and various internship 
programmes.

In order to create an enabling environment where both 
economic growth may continue and allow for effective 
transformation, the skills profile of South Africa must change 
and begin to match the demographics of the country, while 
meeting growth needs and maintaining standards.  Effective 
transformation and retention of critically skilled people will only 
be achieved through a focussed approach with programmes 
that form part of a clear and driven strategy that addresses all 
levels of the problem.  The success of the HCD programme is 
dependent on state grant funding. The ultimate objective is to 
ensure a steady stream of technically competent staff to meet 
Mintek’s current and future skills requirements.

The main programmes of the unit are as follows:
• Science, Technology, Engineering and Mathematics 

promotion activities to encourage learners taking 
Mathematics and Science at school and studying further 
in Science, Engineering or Technology at university

• Work-based learning/In-Service Training for National 
Diploma students

• Undergraduate and Postgraduate Bursary programmes 
for full-time Science and Engineering students

• Graduate and postgraduate Internship programmes 
in partnership with the Department of Science and 
Innovation, the Mining Qualifications Authority and the 
National Research Foundation

• Facilitating access to various R&D grant and infrastructure 
funding opportunities from government for Mintek’s 
operating divisions

Training Partnerships
Mintek implemented a number of programmes in partnership 
with different organisations. These included the DSI/NRF 
Internship programme, an annual programme facilitated by 
the Department of Science and Innovation (DSI) through the 
National Research Foundation (NRF). Under this programme 
Mintek hosted 3 interns. The DSI-NRF professional 
Development programme (PDP) is a critical initiative, 
addressing the declining numbers of students registering for 
full-time postgraduate studies. The programme entails hosting 
full-time Masters and Doctoral students at Mintek on a fixed-
term basis so that the students conduct their research using 
Mintek equipment and resources. There were 5 fellows in the 
programme during the year. 

Employees Breakdown

74

14

14%

3%

Professionals
Specialists
& Middle Management-Level

Senior Managers

of the Total Workforce

of the Total Workforce

518 Total Staff

218 Female

300 Male

48% SET
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3.3 People Performance

PROGRAMME
NUMBER OF
PARTICIPANT

DST/NRF Internship 3

DST/NRF Post-Doctoral Programme 5

MQA Work Integrated Learning 25

MQA Higher Education & Training Internship 35

SAASTA 1

Total for 2019/2020 69

Target 2019/2020 60

Work Integrated Learning (WIL) is another critical HCD 
programme that aims to give practical learning to S4 
students from Universities of Technology. The programme 
is implemented in partnership with the Mining Qualifications 
Authority (MQA). It assists graduates to gain work experience 
and thus contributes to improving their chances to secure jobs. 
The target audience of this programme is mainly unemployed 
graduates who have completed either a National Diploma, 
BTech or BSc at a University.  MQA provides grant funding to 
Mintek, who in turn, pays a stipend to the interns while they are 
undergoing work based training for the 24 month placement 
period.  In the same way that other interns are offered various 

soft-skills and technical training, the HET group also obtains 
similar opportunities. The current group of 35 are benefiting 
from the MQA grant funding provided for the 2019/2020 year 
that Mintek has taken up in full. Mintek has received a new 
allocation of 32 interns to be recruited for period of 2019/2020. 

Mintek also partners with the South African Agency for Science 
and Technology Advancement’s (SAASTA) to host ICT interns. 
During this period, there was 1 intern enrolled on the SAASTA 
programme. 

Number of Participants in Internship Programmes

Investing in Mintek’s People
A total of R 981 703, 77 which represented 1.43% of payroll was spent on training programmes provided to employees for the 
year. Of this, 84.72% (R 831 703.77) was on technical skills that are core to Mintek’s business, while R 150 000.00 was on soft 
skills.

MSc/MEng 
Degrees

Specialised 
Engineering 
Masters – Innovation 
Management

PhDs

16

14
SET

Mintek’s SET Bursars 
2019/2020
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Top: Batch stirred reactors for bioleach test-work for sulphide mineral recovery. 

Bottom: Algae raceway for growing algae in Biotechnology Division.
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Mintek is a science council established by an act of Parlia-
ment, the Mineral Technology Act No. 30 of 1989. In terms of 
the Act, the object of Mintek is to meet a national imperative 
“to promote mineral technology; and to foster the establish-
ment and expansion of industries in the field of minerals and 
products derived therefrom” through research, development 
and technology transfer. 

In pursuit of this mandate, Mintek’s strategy is founded on five 
pillars. The first pillar focuses on relevant applied research as 
well as high-impact scientific outputs and outcomes. The sec-
ond pillar on fostering industry growth and development brings 
our attention to an area of our mandate that has tended to 
stay in the blind spot in the recent past, and we aim to foster 
industry establishment and expansion of existing industries in 
the minerals sector. The third pillar is of a capable workforce. 
It is central to all programmes and activities as it recognizes 
people as the most important asset of Mintek that enables us 
to deliver on the other four pillars. The fourth pillar of financial 
sustainability is both an enabler for the attainment of all our 
goals, and a goal that, if not attained, would compromise the 
impact of our R&D activities. The fifth and last pillar focuses 
our attention on infrastructure and building a Mintek campus 
of the future that will enable the organisation to meet its scien-
tific research goals. 

In addition to our own programmes, Mintek enters into strate-
gic partnerships with industry, academic institutions, research 
institutions, government, state owned entities and communi-
ties.

Mintek is an 86-year old research and technology develop-
ment organisation with a long history of excellence in mineral 
processing and metallurgical innovation. Its state of the art re-
search and technology development infrastructure is located in 
one expansive campus, enabling our clients to find multi-disci-
plinary solutions in one entity. The infrastructure enables Mint-
ek to offer bespoke metallurgical technology and processes. 
It also means Mintek can provide a range of services from 
routine services like chemical or mineralogical analysis, to 
non-routine services like process optimisation and evaluation. 
Mintek also offers comprehensive metallurgical feasibility study 
services to companies evaluating the opportunity to develop 
new mineral deposits. 

The organization has a total staff complement of 518 perma-
nent employees and a 113 contractors including trainees who 
are mainly brought in for work integrated learning and intern-
ships, as well as fixed-term contract employees. 

4.1 Introduction

Vision
The vision of Mintek is to be a leading partner in innovative mineral solutions.

Mission
The mission of Mintek is to lead research, development and innovation utilising minerals to drive sustainable industry development 
and inclusive economic growth.

Values

We focus on outputs, 
results deliverables, 

and recognise the excellence 
when it is there. 

But we understand that not all 
staff produce final outputs  and we 

appreciate their inputs.  
We differentiate and recognise 

contributions

We focus on continuous
improvement and out of the box 

thinking. We also emphasise 
a focus on value for money 
in creativity and ensure that 

innovators understand and respect 
the right to recourse.

integrity

creativity

teamwork results 
orientation

respect & 
dignity

We value the rights and 
dignity of others, both individuals 

and the community. We appreciate 
diversity, we listen and hear 

others and welcome 
alternative points of view. 
We debate the issue and 

not the person.

We focus on outputs, results 
deliverables, and recognise the 

excellence when it is there. But we 
understand that not all staff produce 
final outputs and we appreciate their 
inputs. We differentiate and recognise 

contributions.

We are proactive, interventionist, 
involved, integrated and work 

together towards a common vi-
sion. We are not too restrictive in 
terms of roles and responsibilities 
and we give ownership of value 
chain to members of the team 

where this is earned.

We Speak freely, with respect, 
but not afraid of reprisal. We are 

also accountable for our own 
actions we do what we say we 
will do, when we say we will do 
it. We have professional integrity 

and trust is a consequence.
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How we Operate
In pursuit of its mandate and to attain its strategic intent, Mintek’s operations are centred around the following strategic pillars:

1

2

3

4

5

Conduct 
relevant,
applied

research and 
technological in-

novation by pursuing 
a focussed approach to 
research and technology
development that empha-

sises high-impact
scientific outputs and 

outcomes;

Develop 
and maintain 
world-class

Research, Develop-
ment and Innovation

(RDI) infrastructure that 
supports Mintek’s research, 

technology innovation and the 
development of products and 

services that encourage indus-
try growth and expansion.

Ensure financial 
sustainability and se-
curing Mintek’s future by 
achieving a solid research

portfolio that is funded 
through both private
and public sources and 

commercialising
Mintek’s technolo-

gies;

Develop a capable 
workforce that has the

requisite skills, expertise and 
capabilities to drive and support 

rigorous scientific research and tech-
nological development in pursuit of

Mintek’s mandate of conducting research and 
fostering industry development and expan-
sion. The workforce profile will reflect the 

demographic profile of South Africa;

Fostering the
establishment of new 

industries and expan-
sion of existing ones, as 
well as addressing the 

challenges facing nascent, 
emerging, mature and
declining industries;
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4.2 Mintek Value Chain

Mintek’s scope of research, operations, products and services is indicated below. 

EXPLORATION

Mintek’s work in the area 
of exploration includes:

 Geochemical
   sample analysis; 

 Mineral/ore 
   characterisation; 

 Certified Reference  
   Materials (CRMs); and    

 Artisanal and Small- 
   Scale Mining (ASSM). 

MINING

In the mining space, 
Mintek focuses on:

 ASSM Technology; 

 ASSM training assistance; 

 Mining inputs economic  
   studies; and

 Urban mining.

CONCENTRATION

In the comminution, flotation 
and physical separation 
parts of the value chain, 
Mintek’s work includes:

 Flowsheet design and
    optimisation and piloting;

 Plant audits;

 Control and optimisation  
   strategies;

 Bulk sample
   preparation; and

 Gravity, magnetic,
   electrostatic, flotation and
   mineral density separation.

M
in

te
k 
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e 
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n
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PYROMETALLURGY

With respect to 
pyrometallurgy, Mintek’s 

work includes:

 Pelletisation and
   briquetting; Preheating
   and pre-reduction;

 DC arc process
   development and piloting;

 Modelling and simulation;

 Submerged-arc furnace
   (SAF) control strategy;

 Fluidised bed and 
   controller technologies;

 Refractories performance
   investigations; 

 High temperature solid
   state and phase equilibrium
   investigations; and

 Ore, slag, matte and alloy  
   characterisation.

HYDROMETALLURGY &  
BIOTECHNOLOGY

In hydrometallurgy and 
biotechnology, Mintek’s 

work includes:

 Atmospheric and pressure
    leaching;

 Bioleaching (refractory 
   gold and base metals);

 Solvent extraction 
   and ion exchange

 Electrowinning;

 Process simulation;

 Reagent development
   and evaluation;

 Gold recovery by CIP/RIP;

 Activated carbon
   regeneration;

 Uranium processing
   expertise U3O8 recovery; 

 Leach circuit control; and

 Rare Earths Element (REE).

REFINING & VALUE 
ADDITION

In the latter part of the 
value chain, Mintek’s 

scope includes:

 Gold refining and
   value-added  products/
   chemicals; New industrial
   applications for gold: 
   catalysis,nanotechnology
   & biomedical;

 Pyrometallurgical refining
   of inc (PWG to SHG) and
   off-grade ferro-alloy fines;

 Titanium chlorination
   technology;

 “Smart” materials 
    and sensors;

 PGM-based superalloys;

 Low-nickel stainless alloys;

 Jewellery fabrication; 
   Gold and platinum
   jewellery alloys; and

 Identification of
   downstream  
   metal-based industries.

GENERAL

Mintek also has resident 
expertise in the following:  

 Engineering,design, 
   manufacturing, installation
   and commissioning; and

 Project management
   services and Regional
   mineral-based studies.
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Mintek operates on a global scale, although it is geographically located in the single campus. During the reporting period, our 
products and services reached a total of 44 countries across the globe, including South Africa. 

4.3 Mintek Global Footprint

Gold PGMs Ferrous  Metals Equipment &
Technology Base Metals

Evaluation and
design of recovery
circuits for refractory
and non-refractory
mineralisation.

Diagnostic leaching
and comparative
testwork on various
comminution,
concentration and
recovery options.

Cyanide speciation
monitoring,
online cyanide
measurement and
control, cyanide
destruction.
Assistance with
ICMI gap or full
certification audits.

MinfurnTM technology
for granular activated
carbon regeneration.

MinataurTM

all-hydrometallurgical
gold refining process

New industrial uses
for gold - catalysis,
biomedicine, and
nanotechnology.

Design and
optimisation
of integrated
comminution,
flotation and smelting
circuits.

Design and
optimisation of base
metal recovery and
PGM refining circuits.

ConRoast smelting
technology for
high-chromium
low-sulphur PGM
materials.

Catalyst development
for automotive, fuel
cell, and industrial
applications.

Novel PGM-containing
alloys, and
powder metallurgical
processes.

Iron ore beneficiation.

DC arc smelting
processes for
chromite, ilmenite,
nickel laterites,
magnetite,
magnesium metal
production, and
metal recovery from
slags and dusts.

Materials
characterisation
(physical, mechanical
and corrosion
properties), and
failure investigations.

MinfurnTM

regeneration
furnace for activated
carbon in the gold
processing, water
treatment, and food
industries.

MINATAURTM gold
refining process.

DC arc furnaces.

AtomijetTM atomiser
for base and
precious metals.

SAVMINTM process
for acid mine
drainage purification.

Bioleaching of
copper, nickel,
cobalt, zinc and
polymetallic
concentrates.

Heap bioleaching
of low-grade
chalcopyrite-bearing
materials.

Integrated circuit
design for metal
recovery and
purification
by leaching/
heap leaching,
precipitation, ion
exchange, and SX/
EW.
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Industrial Minerals  
& Diamonds

Process Control 
Strategies Uranium Rare Earth 

Elements
Economic & 

Regional Studies

Physical beneficiation
- comminution,
flotation, gravity,
dense media,
electrostatic and
magnetic separation,
and optical sorting.

Kimberlite indicator
mineral investigations.
Alluvial diamond
provenance studies.

Advanced process
control and
optimisation strategies
for milling, flotation,
and leaching circuits,
and submerged-arc
furnaces.

Online cyanide
measurement and
control.

Heap leach operator
guidance software
and in-heap
instrumentation.

Ambient, pressure
and heap leaching,
solvent extraction,
fixed bed and
countercurrent
(NIMCIX) ion
exchange, resinin-
pulp, and ADU
precipitation.

Mintek is registered
as a uranium testwork
facility with South
Africa’s National
Nuclear Regulator
(NNR) and the
Department of Mineral
Resources.

Physical beneficiation
– comminution,
flotation, gravity, and
magnetic separation,
sensor based sorting.

Concentrate cracking
and refining flowsheet
development and
optimisation.

Regional commodity-
based mineral
economic studies.

Resource-based
technology strategies.

Sustainable mineral
development studies.
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Top: The new Mintek Board members are on a tour of the Analytical Services 
Laboratories.

Bottom: The Electron Microprobe in the Mineralogy Division is used for the 
analysis of mineral composition. 
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Mintek’s research programmes are critical in enabling the 
organisation to fulfill its mandate.  Our approach to research 
and technology development places emphasis on high-impact 
scientific outputs and outcomes that will make a difference 
to industry. Commodities that are of strategic importance to 
South Africa’s mining industry and will yield maxim impact 
in shaping its future, receive priority. In this section of this 
Integrated Annual Report, we present a selection of such 
programmes that were implemented during the financial year 
2019/20 and best represent Mintek’s capabilities.  

Certification of the Rapid Diagnostic Test 
Kits Manufacturing Facility
Mintek’s Cleanroom Manufacturing Facility achieved a major 
milestone during the year, setting the organisation on a path 
to being a key player in the Rapid Diagnostic Test (RDT) in the 
market. After a rigorous and lengthy application process, RDT 
kits Cleanroom Manufacturing Facility was granted a 5-year 
license to manufacture the kits from the 19th September 2019 
– 19th September 2024 by the South African Health Prod-
ucts Regulatory Authority (SAHPRA) to manufacture Medi-

cal Devices for Class C and Class D IVDs (i.e. License No. 
00001217MD). 

In addition, the facility acquired an ISO 13485:2016 accredi-
tation that is valid from September 2020 – August 2023. With 
the acquisition of these two certifications, Mintek is now ready 
to be a manufacturer of RDT kits for a whole range of products 
that are already in the development pipeline. Mintek is now po-
sitioned to contribute meaningfully to health the priority needs 
of the country.  

The RDT kits are a product of high-end nanotechnology-in-
spired application of the beneficiation of gold. This technology 
is used in the development and manufacture of point-of-care 
(PoC) test kit products for the detection of human and ani-
mal diseases that plague South Africa and the broader African 
continent. The product range being developed include test 
kits for HIV, TB, malaria, rift valley fever (RVF), (and in future, 
COVID-19 test kits that are currently under development). By 
producing the kits in South Africa, Mintek will be contributing 
directly to the reduction the current over reliance on import 
goods in the diagnostic test kits space, whilst using home-
grown technology to beneficiation gold.

Fuel Cells Research Programme: Progress 
towards Commercialisation 
Demonstration of HySA/Catalysis catalyst products has gone 
forward in several Department of Science and Innovation (DSI) 
fuel cell demonstration projects. Originally several demonstra-
tion sites were selected around the country but due to the 
COVID2019 pandemic DSI elected to deploy seven fuel cell 
systems as primary power at a field hospital located at One 
Military Hospital in Pretoria. 

Many local and international partners were involved including 
DSI, DPWI, DoD, Bambili Energy, PowerCell Sweden, Horizon 
Fuel Cell Technologies (Singapore), Element 1 Corporation 
(USA), Air Products South Africa, Protea Chemicals and Sasol. 
Ultimately the membrane electrode assemblies (MEA) used in 
the fuel cell systems were fabricated by HyPlat (a HySA/Ca-
talysis spin out company located at UCT) using HySA fuel cell 
catalysts developed and manufactured at Mintek. 

The demonstration of HySA technologies will provide field trial 
data on the performance of the catalysts and MEAs that will 
ultimately aid in the successful commercialisation of the HySA 
technologies. Post the demonstration at One Military Hospital 
the fuel cell systems are expected to be redeployed to their 
originally intended sites. 

The fuel cell catalysts used in these demonstrations were tak-
en from our latest generation of manufactured catalysts that 
included materials with advanced graphitized carbons for 

5.1 Research and Development

Top: Rapid diagnostic test kits manufacturing facility 

Bottom: HySA Catalysis Electrocatalysis products
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increased catalyst durability. However, development of even 
more advanced and durable catalysts, with stabilized platinum 
catalyst particles and platinum alloy particles, and their scale 
up to commercial manufacturing is continuing. Such materials 
will give Mintek a competitive edge in commercialising fuel cells 
going forward. In another development Mintek has begun to 
investigate the manufacturing of fuel cell technologies across 
the fuel cell value chain of catalysts, MEA, fuel cell stacks and 
fuel cell systems. Greater opportunity for commercialisation of 
Mintek’s fuel cell technologies is to be sought.

Rare Earth Elements (REE) Programme 
Mintek has initiated the establishment of a steering committee, 
bringing all stakeholders in South Africa together to facilitate 
the development of the concept of a centralized REE 
processing facility (SACREF) in South Africa. This includes 
potential producers, processing operators, investors (IDC), 
regulators and downstream industry partners such as magnet 
manufacturers.  

An additional technical component was the completion of the 
pilot campaign for the PyEarth™ technology during 2019/20. 
This is the last block in the REE processing flowsheet and the 
significance of this success is that it makes the processing of 
Zandkopsdrift, the largest single REE resource in South Africa, 
viable.  

Since investment into a South African REE industry hinges on 
a credible business plan, Mintek submitted an application for 
funding to the tune R240M for consideration during the Medium 
Term Expenditure Framework (MTEF) budget allocation 
process. The application is for an integrated demonstration 
of the REE processing technology. The pilot campaign that 
was completed provided robust techno economic data for the 
compilation of a business plan. 

All of these efforts are an attempt to position South Africa’s 
REE industry so that it can fully exploit opportunities presented 
globally. The US, EU and Japan have all publically expressed 
concern over China’s dominance of the strategic rare earth 
element (REE) industry.  As a result of this, international 
mining companies, REE trading companies and governmental 
agencies are all pursuing REE mining opportunities as a 
strategic and commercial alternative to Chinese production. 
South Africa has REE deposits, but none are large enough to 
support a world class processing and separation plant. 

Future success for the South African industry will hinge on 
the concept of a centralised processing facility that would 
enable the production of saleable products so that even small 
projects may become viable. Mintek has therefore developed a 
robust process for treating REE from a variety of sources over 
the last ten years.  This may be critical in the race to be the 
next large producer since all other countries with an interest 
in developing a REE production capability will have to treat a 
number of smaller REE deposits in order to have sufficient feed 
for a world-class operation.

Hot clinkers inside a TBRC

Greening of Coal – Beneficiation of Waste 
Dumps
South Africa has abundance of discarded coal resources 
mainly in the form of coal fines and low grade coal from the 
process of mining and beneficiation. These resources are 
stockpiled on large surface areas of land while the slurry and 
slimes are contained in basins. The coal is not suitable for use 
in conventional smelting, power generation and gasification.

It is estimated that about 60 million tonnes of coal is discarded 
annually and a stockpile of about 2 billion tonnes has been 
accumulated between 1992 and 2008. The ineffective use of 
coal pose a significant environmental and health risk and could 
render coal beneficiation in South Africa unsustainable. 

These stockpiles contain a significant amount of carbon that 
could be utilised. These waste streams also constitute an en-
vironmental issue for CO2 emissions to the atmosphere and 
leaching of acid and metals to the waterways. These are al-
ready mined coal resources that are on the surface and easily 
accessible for secondary processing.
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Top: Delegates from Vedanta Resources are on a tour of 
Mintek facilities.

Bottom: The production of clinkers from test work, utilising 
Mintek’s gas-fired rotary furnace (commonly known as a 
TBRC)

To sustain the coal industry in South Africa in view of green 
economy and resource efficiency, a new generation gasifi-
cation technology is proposed.  The world leading Mintek’s 
developed direct current (DC) arc furnace technology is the 
foundation of this innovation, tapping on the adaptability of 
the technology to feed fine materials, operate at high tempera-
tures and the attainment of large scale of operation.

This concept uses direct current plasma furnace that can be 
scaled up, is highly efficient, able to theoretically process al-
most all grades of coal and can also potentially recover valu-
able trace metals in the coal deposits. The co-generation of 
energy or storage of syngas is the current objective, but the 
technology allows for a wide range of adaptations and flexi-
bility. 

Mintek is working in collaboration with Coaltech, and the CSIR 
on a techno-economic feasibility study. The next phase of work 
will be focussing on the feasibility study to compare the new 
technology with best available technology, and development 
work is underway to establish a pilot facility at Mintek. The DC 
gasification concept aims to generate value from discarded 
fine coal waste streams and simultaneously cleaning up the 
stockpiles of waste and thus futureproofing coal as resource 
for the country. 

High Purity Battery Materials
Electromobility and renewable energy generation have driven 
developments in battery storage in the last number of years 
and has led to an explosion in exploration and processing 
activity. One of the most important goals of automotive bat-
tery manufacturers is the development of technologies that 
will bring the charge time of batteries to levels comparable to 
the refueling of a car with an internal combustion engine. De-
velopments in grid scale storage systems such as redox flow 
batteries appears to target the elimination of membranes to 
avoid complications with membrane fouling. This has resulted 
huge demands placed on electrolytes and electrode materials, 
with the resultant requirements for metals of very high purity 
specifications.

One of the common themes in all chemical based (i.e. battery) 
energy storage solutions is the cost of the precursor materials.  
The actual costs vary with the technology selected, but in the 
case of the industry leading lithium ion batteries, the precursor 
chemicals for the production of the batteries constitute ap-
proximately 80% of the final manufacturing costs. Since the 
hydrometallurgy discipline is uniquely suited to the production 
of such pure precursor materials, Mintek has embarked on 
a programme to develop technologies for the production of 
battery materials meeting these specifications. 

Highlights from the programme this year include very promising 
results from novel hybrid ion exchange purification systems. 
The innovation in this approach lies in integrating the bene-
fits of both ion exchange and solvent extraction techniques, 
leading to the practical application of reagents that would not 
be possible before. A Mintek proprietary reagent for the pro-
duction of ultra-pure nickel (Nicksyn) is currently also under 
consideration by Tenova Israel for the production of ultra-pure 
nickel. Nicksyn behaves as a synergist in nickel solvent ex-
traction systems resulting in very high specificity for nickel. 

Utilising the digital process twinning approach, computer aid-
ed modelling has resulted in the rapid development of a novel 
process for the production of very pure manganese sulphate 
as an alternative to the conventional electrolytic manganese 
dioxide (EMD) process. This process avoids the difficulties as-
sociated with EMD and opens up the possibility to incorporate 
direct solar heating to reduce the electricity requirements of 
the process. Research from this programme therefore targets 
the development of novel processes for the production of the 
metals such as cobalt, nickel and manganese, to meet the 
specifications which are critical to the manufacture of complex 
electrodes for next generation batteries.
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Unlocking Iron Ore Fines
The current economic downturn, commodity price instability 
and high operational costs has resulted in significant job losses 
and plant restructuring which have forced Fe ore producers to 
re-evaluate their business strategy.  The life of mine forecast 
suggests that high grade lumpy material within South Africa 
will be depleted within the next two decades (average life 
of approximately 13-14 years) in the absence of further 
exploration and discoveries.  The beneficiation of fine Fe ore is 
expected to increase in importance in the future because most 
identified new Fe ore resources as well as existing low grade 
deposits will require liberation of the iron minerals at finer sizes. 

Mintek has worked extensively on differing iron ore deposits 
throughout South Africa (Kumba’s Sishen and Kolomela mines 
and Assmang’s Beeshoek and Khumani mines in addition to 
the Thabazimbi, Moonlight and Manngwe deposits to name 
a few) of which a thorough understanding and know-how 
regarding mineralogical composition and upgradeability is well 
understood. The development of technology however to treat 
fine and ultra-fine material is limited, research around this area 
has been a focus of Mintek in the past year. 

The highlight has been the validation and development of an 
optimised process to treat fine low grade and reject stockpiles 
through a novel approach that uses the Ultra High Density 
Dense Media Separation (UHDDMS), which has since been 
implemented in the Northern Cape at Kumba’s Sishen site and 
Assmang’s Khumani site to produce additional saleable product 
into the market.  DMS is a well-known process in industry for 
treating coarse/lumpy material (>1mm).  The adoption of this 
method to treat fines makes use of an alternative media (water 
and gas atomized FeSi) to attain high density cut points which 
is required for upgrade purposes whilst maintaining stability 
within the plant.  Mintek has since been involved in numerous 
engagements with key stakeholders and has resulted 
in industry partnerships to research and find processing 
solutions for extracting and characterising typical Banded Iron 
Formation (BIF) lithology.  This together with existing fines has 
the potential to extend the mining operations for another two 
decades thus ensuring the growth and sustainability of Fe ore 
industries in South Africa. 

Computation and Automation
The world is still witnessing ongoing and accelerating 
advancements in the power of computers, the connectivity 
of the internet and the speed of data communication. It 
is therefore only natural that a growing proportion of our 
household and industrial needs are being satisfied by products 
and services that are automated, delivered remotely and 
facilitated by ‘intelligent’ machines. 

The minerals industry has not been the fastest adopter of 
these technologies, but has also certainly not been entirely 
left behind. The automated control and optimisation systems 
that Mintek has been providing worldwide are foreseen 
to increasingly be implemented and diagnosed remotely. 

A practice that has been gaining popularity is to devise a 
computer-calculated equivalent of a process plant on which 
testing and optimisation can be performed before making 
changes to the physical system. 

Mintek is part of an international consortium that is planning to 
introduce such systems as part of centralised data acquisition 
and operations management on a few mining operations in 
Europe. And towards the future: Mintek engineers are already 
developing algorithms whereby conditions in a furnace can be 
estimated for which computers that are sufficiently powerful 
to perform the calculations will only be built in another decade 
or two. However, once such computers become a reality, 
it will facilitate the acquisition of design data that would be 
impractical or too dangerous to attempt to obtain by physical 
experiment.

Mintek’s Rare Earth Elements processing facility
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Mintek’s Process Control Instruments a 
Top Choice for Producers
Mintek’s Cynoprobe Cyanide analyser for monitoring Cyanide 
levels in the gold leaching circuit continues to be a top choice 
for Gold producers. The Cynoprobe online cyanide analyser 
continues to receive appreciation from the Gold producers and 
consultants. Large sales orders were received for Cynoprobe 
instruments from Russia and Ecuador. The sale of Cynoprobes 
into Ecuador will add yet another country to the 35 countries 
into which Cynoprobe has already been sold. In total 6 new 
on-line Cynoprobes were sold during the year, and in addition 
a number of laboratory units were also supplied.

A batch of new sales orders for Carbon Concentration (C²) 
Meter instruments were secured from Russia and Ecuador 
during, resulting in a growing revenue trend for Mintek. The C² 
Meter is capable of accurately measuring carbon concentra-
tion in the pulp of CIL/CIP processes.

A consortium of suppliers, which Mintek is part of, is making 
waves in the rest of the continent of Africa with a compre-
hensive milling solution offering. The sale of a comprehensive 
milling solution offering to Perseus Mining Limited resulted 
from a consortium of suppliers. The consortium consists of 
Orway Mineral Consultants (OMC), a wholly owned subsidiary 
of Lycopodium, who provide a consulting service to assess 
and analyse overall plant operation, Digital Control Labs (DCL) 
who provide a recently launched MillSlicer instrument that has 
garnered a lot of interest and provides more insight into the 
operation of the mill, Process IQ who provide the IOT solution, 
and are distributors of DCL and Mintek products, and Mintek 
who provide the advanced process control solution. The con-
sortium was also able to secure additional sale of the same 
offering at one of the copper concentrators in the DRC.

Mintek, Process IQ and OMC and Digital Control Labs won 
the METS (Mining Equipment, Technology and Services) 
Ignited Australia Ltd Collaboration Award for their Mill-
Roc remote optimisation scheme at Perseus Mining Limited 
(Edikan gold concentrator) which uses Mintek’s MillStar milling 
control system as a key component alongside specialist milling 
consulting from OMC, Digital Control Lab’s MillSlicer instru-
ment, and Process IQ’s IOT platform. This collaborative effort 
was showcased at the METS Day (in Brisbane – November 
2019) to the Honourable Minister Karen Andrews (Australian 
Minister for Industry, Science and Technology).

The FloatStar Flotation Control system continues its dominance 
within the platinum-group metal industry in South Africa. The 
system is still in demand to provide stability and efficiency to 
PGM concentrators. With almost every platinum group-met-
al concentrator in South Africa operating with the FloatStar 
control system,  Mintek still managed to successfully secure a 
comprehensive flotation stabilisation and optimisation project 
with one of a few remaining concentrators in Rustenburg. This 

was a major seal of approval of Mintek’s technologies by the 
industry. A successful commissioning of the FloatStar Control 
system improved overall stability and efficiency of the flotation 
circuit by 24%, leading to a more consistent product quality 
for the concentrator.

Mintek launched a new technology, Spiral Control System, for 
spiral plants. Much interest has been received from industry 
and several Chrome spiral plants. The Spiral Control System 
employs a novel and patented method to manipulate the ma-
terial on the surface of the spiral to dynamically control grade 
(and hence recovery). 

The results of a demonstration of the system at a local chro-
mite concentrator showed that the improved concentrate 
grade control afforded to the plant by the Spiral Control Sys-
tem allows them to target a concentrate grade closer to the 
lower limit of the product specification, with a significantly low-
er risk of producing sub-standard product. In the test case 
example, lowering the concentrate grade target by 0.5 % re-
sults in approximately 1 % increase in chrome recovery. At a 
production rate of 40 tons per hour, and with a chrome price 
of $160 per ton, this amounts to an increase in revenue in ex-
cess of R1.4m per month. Ordinarily, without the Mintek Spiral 
Control System, this valuable material would normally end up 
on the tails dump and be lost forever, wasting this valuable and 
limited resource. Thus far, proposals from 4 spiral plants have 
been requested and issued. 

Controls for Furnaces
In 2019, a significant milestone for the Mintek’s furnace control 
system, FurnStar, was also accomplished. A FurnStar Minstral 
controller was successfully commissioned on Furnace 1 at 
Samancor Chrome’s Ferrometals plant. Minstrals are now 
controlling all operational furnaces at all plants across the 
Samancor Chrome Group, namely Ferrometals, Middelburg 
Ferrochrome, Tubatse Ferrochrome as well as the more 
recently acquired TC Smelters (formerly IFM) and Tubatse 
Alloy Smelter (formerly ASA Metals) plants. After more than 25 
years, the FurnStar Minstral still remains the industry standard 
for submerged-arc furnace control.

Mintek commissioned a MillStar control system on a milling 
circuit at a copper concentrator in Zambia during the first 
quarter of FY19. The MillStar control system included Solids 
Feed Controller for stabilising the feedrate to the mill and the 
Model Predictive Controller (MPC) for control of mill weight. 
The concentrator’s primary objective was the control of the 
mill weight to ensure there are no instances of overloading 
or under loading of the mill. The MillStar MPC controller was 
able to reduce instances of mill weight exceeding the upper 
limit of 290 tons to a minimum. The control of the mill weight 
also showed improvements in terms of reducing operator 
intervention when the MillStar MPC controller was running. A 
common practice was for the operators to monitor the weight 

5.2 Innovation 
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and manually switch off the feeders in order to avoid mill 
overloading – which was an onerous task. The novel control 
solution implemented at this plant resulted in a staggering 
4.4% improvement in milling throughput by means of intelligent 
control of the mill and feeder speeds.

Mintek’s cloSURETM Technology
Mintek successfully piloted a passive biological sulphate 
reduction process for acid mine drainage (AMD) at a coal mine 
site near eMalahleni.  Around 340 L/d of acidic mine water 
was treated. The technology has since been trademarked as 
cloSURETM.  

Preliminary data shows that the water could be of a suitable 
quality to irrigate a number of hardy crops grown on the 
Mpumalanga Highveld, including maize, wheat, potatoes and 
sorghum. During financial year 2020, additional funding was 
secured to recommission the pilot plant, which will allow us to 
integrate the sulphate reduction and sulphide oxidation steps 
with irrigation crop trials to show that the treated water is of 
suitable quality to irrigate a number of summer and winter 
crops. 

In addition, The Technology Innovation Agency awarded 
Mintek funding to demonstrate the process, integrated 
with irrigation trials, on a 50m3/d scale in collaboration with 
Anglo Coal, the University of Pretoria and the Moss Group. 
Agreements are currently put in place and the detailed design 
of the demonstration plant will start during FY2021.   

The use of the cloSURETM process to treat AMD and produce 
treated water that is fit for re-use in irrigated agriculture has the 
potential to create agri-industrial hubs which would promote 
entrepreneurship, and employment in local communities and 
has the potential to change the post-mining landscape of 
South Africa.

Minfurn200TM Commissioned at a Gold Mine
Activated carbon is used by all the gold mines in South Africa 
to recover gold from solution during the cyanide leaching pro-
cess. In order to enhance the efficiency and economics of gold 
adsorption, the activated carbon is regenerated and reused in 
the process. Typically most of the mines use rotary kilns for 
the thermal regeneration of activated carbon. However, rotary 
kilns are not only energy intensive, but are also associated with 
poor operational efficiencies and high carbon losses by attri-
tion. Minfurn is an alternative technology developed by Mintek 
to regenerate activated carbon for the gold mining industry.  
Minfurn uses Direct Resistive Heating (DRH) generate heat in-
side the carbon by applying electrical energy.  DRH results in 
maximum energy utilisation that makes Minfurn a highly ener-
gy efficient regeneration furnace.  To date, Minfurn units with 
smaller capacities (25 to 125 kg/h) are operational in various 
gold mines world-wide. Major installations of Minfurn includes 
Peru, Zimbabwe, Brazil, Russia, Chile, Ivory Coast and Sudan.

Mintek commissioned the first Minfurn200 in a gold mine 

in North West province of South Africa. The mine produces 
around 150,000 oz of gold per annum. Minfurn 200 is capable 
of regenerating 200kg/hour of activated carbon. The devel-
opment and commercialisation of the Minfurn200 is a notable 
achievement as the gold mine activities in SA are generally 
much large scale. Minfurn200 will benefit gold mines opera-
tions by reducing the energy consumption, improve carbon 
regeneration efficiency, reduce carbon loss by attrition and 
thereby improve operational process efficiency and thus con-
tribute to the objective of supporting and fostering the gold 
mine industry, which is faced with high operating costs. Ro-
bust design along with higher energy and operational efficien-
cy of Minfurn200 will assist the gold mines to improve their 
throughput and reduce operational cost and will thus support 
extending the life of gold operations.

Production of Clinkers in the TBRC
Mintek supported an SMME with development of a process to 
generate clinkers suitable as additive in cement manufacture 
from dumps of phosphogypsum (CaSO4.2H2O) disposed of 
as a by-product of the production of phosphoric acid. The clin-
kers produced from test work, utilising Mintek’s gas-fired rotary 
furnace (commonly known as a TBRC), were able to produce 
cement rated at 48MPA which was qualified to meet the spec-
ification grade of a Portland cement. Results from the Mintek 
test work enabled the SMME to register a patent and submit a 
R5 million application to the IDC to co-fund construction of a 
commercial-scale plant to produce 3000t/d of cement.

Operator tapping the 3.2 MVA DC arc furnance
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Orion Minerals, Story of the New Mine and 
Mintek’s Role

In the past financial year, Mintek conducted metallurgical up-
grading work required to facilitate re-opening of the Prieska 
Mine in Northern Cape. Most mining operations close down 
when they reach the end of the extractable ore body with a 
concomitant loss of jobs and community services in the area. 
In the case of the Prieska Cu/Zn Mine Orion Minerals recog-
nized that the closure in the 1970’s was an economic one due 
to poor metal prices and high development costs at the time. 
A scoping study using the knowledge of the amount of re-
source still present and historical metal extractions concluded 
that a case could be made to reopen the mine.

The operation at Prieska had run successfully making a cop-
per and zinc product for sale. As such the first objective given 
to the DRA-Mintek team was to replicate at laboratory scale 
the plant flowsheet and conditions used to ensure that the 
metallurgical assumptions being used in the economic model 
were valid. At this point it was recognized that the only the 
hypogene could be treated in this way and the supergene ore 
would require a much more complex process and as such it 
was only to be processed once the deeper ore was exhaust-
ed. Extensive work was done to confirm that the processed 
used before will work on this ore and the numbers coming out 
of this study were used to confirm that the project was viable. 
As such Orion made the decision move the project onto the 
development phase and the Prieska area is once again a hive 
of economic activity.

Phosphate Beneficiation
Population growth and the concomitant increase in food 
demand has rendered fertilizers of crucial importance for 
agriculture.  Phosphorus derived from phosphate rocks 
has been one of the fastest growing areas in industrial 
minerals.  South Africa thus imports a considerable amount 
of raw phosphate in addition to finished phosphate products.  
Reliance on import therefore makes the country vulnerable 
to disruptions in supply considering the demand for this 
commodity is expected to grow.

South Africa hosts the sixth largest reserves and contains 
various types of phosphate deposits ranging from commercially 
exploited igneous ore to smaller sedimentary deposits and 
marine sedimentary phosphates.  The operating cost of 
phosphate rock will inevitably increase as high grade rock 
deposits operating at a lower cost margin become depleted 
and mining companies have to move more overburden, 
process more lower grade ores, exploit sterile resources 
and employ increasingly expensive technology to produce 
concentrates.  While the price seemingly increases, deposits 
that were marginally economic may become viable and with 

it the search to develop processes that are cost effective 
in extracting valuable minerals.  The upgrade potential of 
various phosphate ore bodies therefore require an in-depth 
understanding of available process technologies and their 
suitability in terms of flowsheet design and optimisation.  

Mintek has historically being carrying out commercial services 
for various deposits globally and within Africa.  These 
undertakings has exponentially grown over the recent years 
with industrial minerals bringing in significant commercial 
revenue within the business.  From 2017 to date, Mintek has 
received requests to conduct flowsheet optimisation and 
feasibility studies for projects from Baobab Phosphate rock 
deposit in Senegal, ores originating from Ma’aden Phosphate 
Company, located in Saudi Arabia, ores within Africa for Gaya 
Resources,  Elandsfontein (Kropz) from Western Cape and 
many other ore bodies. 

A postgraduate study has commenced evaluating lower grade 
and complex ore bodies within Africa in order to address 
demand for this commodity. Collaboration with academic and 
international research institutions (Florida Institute of Phosphate 
Research) are currently underway to stimulate further 
research potential and expertise within Mintek. Considering 
that phosphate is a finite, non-renewable resource of which 
there is no known substitute, unlocking further resources 
and evaluation of reuse and beneficiation potential as well as 
downstream environmental impact is imperative.

5.3 Services
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Recovery of Cobalt Hydroxide
Magnesium oxide (MgO) is a common neutralizing agent in the 
copper belt for the recovery of cobalt mixed hydroxide pre-
cipitates, as it produces a higher quality precipitate compared 
to the precipitate obtained when lime is used as neutralizing 
agent. Since the high cost of the MgO reagent increases the 
operating costs of a cobalt recovery circuit, Mintek developed 
a patented process to recover MgO for re-use. During com-
mercial test campaigns for clients, it became apparent that 
the innovative solid/solid separation technology in the MgO 
recovery process can also be applied to clean up precipitates 
produced with lime neutralisation, leading to precipitates of the 
same quality as those produced by MgO neutralisation, but at 
a reduced cost. This approach is especially attractive to pro-
ducers using lime in their circuits.

During the year, the Mintek has applied this technique suc-
cessfully to material from a producer on laboratory scale and 
this has led to two commercial pilot campaigns to demon-
strate the viability of this technique at scale. The total revenue 
generated for Mintek from these campaigns over the last year 
was about five million rand and has opened up a potentially 
significant revenue stream.  A successful first implementation 
of this approach to cobalt hydroxide production, is likely to at-
tract the attention of other producers, looking to reduce costs 
while still producing high quality mixed hydroxide precipitates 
and could transform the processing of cobalt in the DRC.

Collaboration with Vedanta Zinc
Mintek teamed up with Vedanta Zinc International, a grouping 
of zinc resources located in South Africa and Namibia to syn-
ergise the beneficiation of zinc-in-concentrates of Vedanta in 
the Gamsberg region, Northern Cape. The partnership aims 
to support government’s commitment in partnering with Ve-
danta in local metal beneficiation. Mintek and Vedanta have 
reinforced their discussions in a series of meetings which has 
been taking place since 2019. These could lead to the tapping 
in of a package of technologies and process development to 
beneficiate the zinc ore deposits in the Gamsberg area, which 
could lead to the South African economic growth. Mintek has 
expertise in processing of the Gamsberg zinc concentrates.  

Mintek has in the past conducted over 24 hydrometallurgy 
studies and 80 investigations relating to the recovery of zinc 
residues, slags, ores and dusts from numerous sources in-
cluding Gamsberg since 1976 and 1987 respectively. With 
these capabilities Mintek and Vedanta can maximise value 
by tapping in a package of technologies and process devel-
opment to beneficiate the zinc ore deposits in the Gamsberg 
area. Phase 1 of the Vedanta Gamsberg Mine was officially 
opened in 2019.Current development of phase 2 of the Gams-
berg Mine project entails the proposed creation of a smelt-
er-refinery complex in Gamsberg which will create opportuni-
ties for value-adding zinc beneficiation.

Top: HySA Catalysis Electrocatalyst products - Water 
Soluble Pt Precurser and Catalyst Cake.

Bottom: Mintek’s cloSURETM BSR pilot plant at a coal mine 
near Emalahleni Mpumalanga Province.
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Mintek is managing the implementation of a programme of 
mine rehabilitation in collaboration with, and funded by the 
Department of Mineral Resources and Energy (DMRE). The 
programme continued from previous programmes with the 
conclusion of contract renewal between the parties effective 
from 1 April 2019.

5.4 Derelict & Ownerless Mine Rehabilitation

The programme is currently funded to the value of R450 mil-
lion over a period of three years, ending on 31 March 2022. 
The programme scope was expanded to include the sealing of 
derelict mine shafts and holings.

NOTABLE ACHIEVEMENTS IN THE HOLINGS CLOSURE
PROGRAMME DURING THE PAST YEAR INCLUDE:

Commencement and completion of sealing of 40 derelict holings/shafts

Continuation of work on sealing of 14 derelict holings/shafts.

Commencement of site investigation and scoping of 20 new sites.

Top: Construction of gabion wall at Streatham mine in 
Penge Limpopo Province.

Bottom: Reno-mattress construction at Streatham mine 
in Penge Limpopo Province.

SOME NOTABLE ACHIEVEMENTS IN THE ASBESTOS
REHABILITATION PROGRAMME DURING THE PAST YEAR INCLUDE:

Achieving practical completion of three (3) Stratham Valley Asbestos Mine
Rehabilitation projects in the Penge area, Limpopo.

Completion of the Steelpoort Asbestos Mine Rehabilitation project
in the Steelpoort area, in Limpopo.

Continuation of works on one asbestos mine rehabilitation project,
Uitkyk in the Ga-Mathabatha area in the Limpopo province.

Commencement of two new projects (Penge Village and Lagerdraai)
in the Limpopo province.

Commencement of the tender process for two new projects in
Limpopo province (Uitval and Dublin).
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Top: Construction of gabion wall at Streatham mine in 
Penge Limpopo Province.

Bottom: Reno-mattress construction at Streatham mine 
in Penge Limpopo Province. Top: Sealing of adits at Steelport mine Burgersfort, Limpopo Province. 

Middle: Construction of reno - mattress and earthworks in Msaule mine in Mpumalanga Province.

Bottom: Marker post for the shaft sealed in Benoni, Gauteng Province.
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Four of Mintek’s researchers were awarded doctoral qualifications in disciplines that are of critical importance to Mintek. 

6 Human Capital Development

Mintek has a long history of prioritizing human capital 
development, and implements numerous interventions to 
develop its own employees, and to contribute to the human 
capital development needs of the country, especially in science 
and metallurgy. During the course of the year, we celebrated 

6.1 Developing Research Leaders

Dr Zikhona Njenjele-Tetyana received a PhD in Medical Biology 
through the University of the Witwatersrand in 2019.  Her PhD research 
titled “Purification and Biophysical Characterization of HIV-1 Vpu 
and Identification of Novel Drug Molecules” focused on an important 
interaction that occurs between HIV and the host. This interaction 
is implicated in impeding the host’s immune system, which makes 
it an attractive novel target for therapy. Her research characterised 
this interaction and novel potential inhibitors of the interaction were 
also identified. She joined Mintek as a DST/NRF intern in 2013, and 
registered fulltime for a Master’s degree with the University of the 
Witwatersrand, which was later converted into a PhD project. 

Dr Xolisa Goso, received a PhD in Chemical Engineering from the 
University of Cape Town (UCT) for successfully completing a research 
project entitled “Phase equilibria studies and beneficiation of titaniferous 
slags”.  His research focussed on the establishment of suitable phase 
equilibria of titaniferous slags, (a waste material from the titaniferous 
magnetite smelting) which could be used as a guide during the smelting 
process for the production of a slag that can be beneficiated into titania 
products. Titania is used as the primary input in the manufacture of 
pigment used in many applications including in paints and paper.

a few notable achievement of our researchers’ achievement 
critical milestones, industry partners and associates affirming 
our research leaders, as well as collaborating with like-minded 
institutions on a few projects. These achievements are 
highlighted in this section of the report.

Her research project was conducted in collaboration between the University of the Witwatersrand and the Centre for Metal-based 
Drug Discovery (CMDD) research group in the Mintek. Dr Njenjele-Tetyana work as part of a team in the Advanced Materials 
Division’s Centre for Metal-Based Drug Discovery (CMDD).
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Dr Petrus van Staden, Senior Technical Specialist in the 
Hydrometallurgy Division, received a PhD in Chemical Engineering 
from the University of Cape Town in 2019 for a research thesis titled 
“Effect of Scale of Operation on Heap Leaching Performance”.  
The study investigated the extent to which segregation/
stratification, differences in bulk density and differences in 
irrigation geometry contribute towards the differences observed 
in leaching performance between laboratory-scale columns 
versus commercial-scale heaps. 

Dr Jeffrey Baloyi is one of the youngest employees in Mintek to 
obtain PhD in Catalysis and Medical Biochemistry from the University 
of the Witwatersrand. Baloyi’s PhD research titled, “Pillared clays as 
“green chemistry’’ catalysts for wastewater treatment” investigated 
the development of pillared clays as novel heterogeneous catalysts 
for wastewater treatment advanced oxidation processes. Mintek is 
particularly proud of the successes attained by Dr Baloyi in a short 
space of time. He is well published and has a number of journal 
articles under his belt. 
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6.2 Future Research Leaders Class 

Busiswa Dyan, one of Mintek’s young scientists, has developed prototype 
for early detection of breast cancer as part of her PhD research project 
she is studying through UNISA. The study forms part of a research 
conducted in the development of diagnostic tools for early detection of 
diseases, including TB, HIV, malaria and other diseases. In her research 
study, Dyan has identified early markers of breast cancer that can be 
used for screening breast cancer. The ultimate aim of this work is to 
develop a rapid test that is non-invasive, cost-effective and can be 
used at a point-of- testing for early screening of breast cancer. 

Michelle Van Rooyen, graduated with a Master of Engineering in 
Engineering Management – Cum Laude – from the University of Pretoria.  
Her research thesis is titled “A framework for a successful technology 
commercialisation front-end for the metallurgical industry”. She is 
currently enrolled for a PhD in Engineering Management.  Her PhD 
studies is focussing on the entire innovation process, evaluating the 
interrelationships between success factors across the innovation 
process by the application of interpretive structural modelling.  She 
works a Head of Technology Metals in the Hydrometallurgy Division.

Wesley Banda,  Engineer in the Pyrometallurgy Division was conferred 
with a Master of Science (MSc) in Metallurgical Engineering at a graduation 
ceremony at Wits University in December.  He completed his degree by 
research entitled, “Chemical wear of carbon-based refractory material 
by silicomanganese”. Having joined Mintek as a Mining Qualifications 
Authority (MQA) intern in 2014, he never looked back despite facing 
challenges of not being eligible for a Mintek part-time bursary as an 
intern. 

This is a major development in the fight against breast cancer as it is one of the most common cancers among women of all races, 
affecting approximately 27 in 100 000 women, and accounting for 16% of cancer deaths amongst women. 
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One of the initiatives implemented as part of Mintek’s reposi-
tioning is a human capital development programme specifical-
ly aimed at improving qualifications of our staff in Science, En-
gineering and Technology (SET). The new SET Human Capital 
Development programme aimed at enhancing the quality of its 
Research, Development and Innovation (RDI) outputs, incul-
cating a culture of self-development and focused researcher 
‘career ladder’ progression, and elevating the overall qualifica-
tion profile of its technical staff complement. 

In order for Mintek to meaningfully advance on its mandate 
and compete locally and globally with similar research organi-
sations, a more rigorous approach became necessary with re-
gard to the prioritisation, support and fast-tracking of the tech-
nical qualifications upgrading process. While existing studies 
undertaken by staff continued to be funded, the emphasis on 
SET Human Capital Development Programme is specifically 
on upgrading the qualifications of engineers and scientists en-
gaged in technical research to that of an NQF 9 or 10 (i.e. 
Masters and Doctoral) level. 

Employees had to submit detailed technical applications, mo-
tivating for support.  The motivation included a brief technical 
introduction, problem statement, research hypothesis, aims 
and objectives, background and significance, advancement of 
the state-of-the-art (novelty), impact of the study, study design 
and methods, resources and budgets, ethical considerations, 
and reference sections. Essentially, it mimicked a research 
proposal that the employee would submit to an institution of 
higher learning. 

It was encouraging to see the overwhelming response from 
employees that submitted applications. Their submissions 
covered the entire scope of Mintek’s core business and the full 
spectrum of technology readiness levels (TRL’s), starting with 
basic research, right through to commercialisation and tech-
nology transfer. A total of 18 employees are currently pursuing 
their studies under this programme.

Sibabalwa Mxinwa joined the Mintek Biotechnology Division in 2012 
after completing a National diploma in Chemical Engineering. He 
furthered his studies and obtained a B.Tech Chemical Engineering and 
a Graduate Diploma in Metallurgy and Materials Engineering. In 2019 
he was awarded a Master of Science in Metallurgy and Materials 
Engineering by the University of the Witwatersrand for a research 
titled “Acid Mine Drainage Treatment with Unclaimed Waste Coal”. 
The study evaluated the process of neutralising AMD with uncalcined 
waste coal discards, in order to generate a solution with water quality 
suitable for domestic, livestock drinking, irrigation and industrial use.

6.3 SET Human Capital Development Programme

Left: Mintek’s PhD SET bursars 2019/2020

Right: Mintek’s Masters Degree SET bursars 2019/2020
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MinquizTM

Mintek has a strong focus on Science, Technology, 
Engineering and Mathematics (STEM) promotion activities to 
target university students via student-focused conferences 
and on-campus events.  STEM promotion exists to promote 
both Mintek’s Undergraduate and Postgraduate Bursary 
programmes.

MinquizTM aims to encourage interest in careers in Science, 
Engineering and Technology via fun and curriculum-aligned 
Science competition that combines the rigors of an Olympiad 
with the excitement of a live quiz show.  Mintek’s drive to 
establish additional MinquizTM centres across the country will 
continue in partnership with new host institutions and corporate 
sponsors to broaden the footprint of the competition.  The 
provincial and national competitions are held annually across 
the country with the objective of promoting careers in science 
to Grade 12 students.

The 2019 Provincial MinquizTM took place on the 16 May 
2019 at 11 centres nationally and National Finals took place 
on 03-04 July 2019. 499 schools translating to 1479 learners 

6.4 SET Promotion 

The Minquiz Top Girl Learner category winners.

registered for participation at provincial competitions.  Forty 
four (44) finalists were selected to take part at the National 
Finals after they achieved the top two ranks in their categories 
in the written quiz at the provincial level. The National Finals 
under the theme of the “Fourth Industrial Revolution” gave 
the finalist an empowering experience as the delegates were 
involved in activities such as robotic workshops and various 
team building exercises. For various reasons the competition 
has experienced a drop in participation numbers in 2019 in 
comparison to the previous two years. The concerning trend 
has seen participation by registered schools drop from 288 to 
238 (17% reduction) of the schools which initially enrolled or 
showed interest. However the overall number of schools which 
originally registered or showed interest dropped from 433 in 
2018 to 251 in 2019(42% reduction of interest to participate). 
New efforts are being looked at to bring MinquizTM back to its 
glory. 

The National Competition took place on the 3rd and 4th of 
July 2019 and a total of 44 learners made it to the finals. 
Mpumalanga Province did not send any delegation to represent 
the province this year, which resulted in the decrease in the 
number of national participants.

Top: The KwaZulu-Natal Province team won 3rd place in 
Minquiz.

Bottom: The Gauteng Province team won 1st place in 
Minquiz.
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Final pilot scale operation will be demonstrated at Mintek using 
the 3 MW furnace which is the largest scale of demonstrating 
the SisAl process. Mintek’s involvement in the project entails 
constructing and operating a 3 MW pilot facility for a period 
of 21 days to produce metallurgical grade silicon. The key 
deliverables for Mintek are to demonstrate the process at the 
largest scale and providing design specifications for equipment 
manufacturing for the feasibility study. Data from Mintek pilot 
campaign will be used for designing the commercial scale 
furnace and conducting techno economics for SisAl process.

The four year-long project started in May 2020 and the pilot 
campaign at Mintek is scheduled in late 2023.

Mintek Manganese Research under PreMa 
Mintek engineers have been participating in the PreMa project 
in which Mintek is a collaborative partner.  PreMa is part of 
the Horizon2020 project which aims to demonstrate with a 
strong application focus and ambition to make production of 
the manganese alloys more resource and energy efficient. 

Mintek works with industry, government and other R&D 
institutions to research, develop, and implement new and 
improved technologies and processes in the mineral and 
metallurgical sectors. These collaborations extend both 
locally and internationally and each contributes towards the 
advancement of scientific knowledge and strengthening the 
global minerals innovation pipeline.

Collaboration for Production of Pharma-
ceuticals
Mintek partnered with Ketlaphela Pharmaceuticals, a subsidiary 
of NECSA group to produce and supply HIV rapid diagnostic 
test (RDT) kits on a commercial scale. The partnership is 
deemed important to expedite commercialisation and access 
to the market in order to realize full impact. The partnership 
follows a directive by Minister Gwede Mantashe, during the 
Budget Vote speech delivered in Parliament in July 2019, 
that in line with creating synergy and collaboration amongst 
State Owned Entities, Mintek will collaborate with Pelchem to 
manufacture pharmaceutical products through Ketlaphela. 

The collaboration is of critical importance particularly as 
these entities now report under the Department of Mineral 
Resources and Energy.  A substantial investment will go into 
Mintek’s development of high-value rapid diagnostic kits and 
a manufacturing infrastructure to supply high-value rapid 
diagnostic products on a commercial scale.  These diagnostic 
test kits include kits to rapidly diagnose for HIV/AIDS, Malaria, 
TB, the Rift Valley fever; utilises gold nano-particles as an 
active ingredient. 

Mintek Part of SisAl Horizon 2020 Consor-
tium
Horizon 2020 is the biggest EU Research and Innovation 
programme with nearly €80 billion of funding available since 
2014. In 2019 Mintek became part of Silicon Secondary 
Aluminium (SisAl) project consortium that was funded under 
Horizon2020 programme. The consortium consists of 21 
organisations that include major commercial producers of 
Silica and Alumina, universities and research organisations 
across Europe. Mintek and Dow are the only 2 non-European 
companies in the consortium. 

The SisAl process was developed by Norwegian University 
of Science and Technology (NTNU). The SisAl project aims to 
demonstrate a novel technology for production of silicon and 
alumina on a pilot plant scale. SisAl process uses secondary 
source of raw material such as dross and alumina scrap, and 
low-cost raw materials such as quartzite fines and silica sculls. 
The process will be demonstrated on various operational 
scales in Europe starting with a 600kW scale at Elkem 
(Norway) followed by 1 MW scale at RWTH Aachen university 
(Germany).  

6.5 Collaboration

Hlengiwe Mnculwane received Best Paper award at the 
National Laboratory Association South Africa Test and 
Measurement 2019 Conference.

1456 AIR Human Capital Development.indd   551456 AIR Human Capital Development.indd   55 2020-11-17   13:37:052020-11-17   13:37:05



 Annual Integrated Report   |   2019/2020    |    HUMAN CAPITAL DEVELOPMENT  Annual Integrated Report   |   2019/2020    |    HUMAN CAPITAL DEVELOPMENT Annual Integrated Report   |   2019/2020    |    HUMAN CAPITAL DEVELOPMENT56

Top: Lina Hockaday, Senior Engineer at Pyrometallurgy 
Division

Bottom: Dr Joalet Steenkamp, Chief Engineer at 
Pyrometallurgy Division

An article by Dr Joalet Steenkamp, Chief Engineer in 
Pyrometallurgy division entails the basic engineering of a 
pilot facility currently running at Mintek. The pilot facility will 
serve for testing under real conditions the new technological 
concept of PreMa: The tests will check the advantages of 
the new technology in terms of reduction of electrical energy 
consumption by 25%, CO2 emissions by 15% as well as 
provide data to assess the technical and economic viability, 
said Steenkamp.

Senior Engineer, Lina Hockaday’s article, entitled “Combat 
the dust: PreMa project”, addresses barriers to concentrating 
solar thermal energy for industrial applications. The PreMa 
project investigates the use of solar thermal energy to preheat 
manganese ores for the production of ferromanganese alloys 
in submerged arc furnaces (SAFs).

The PreMa project offers the South African researcher and 
industry consortium members an excellent opportunity to 
engage with their European counterparts on matters significant 
to manganese ferroalloy production.

NanoInformaTIX H2020 Project
The establishment of EU supported science and technology 
partnership scheme through the formation of prestigious 
consortium (NanoinformaTIX) with institutions in different 
countries and sometimes continents is intended to practically 
address joint strategic projects on topics of mutual interest 
amongst strategic partners. In 2019 Mintek, through 
nanotechnology group, was awarded a grant amount of 
€43500 by the European Commission (H2020). The partnership 
affords Mintek the invaluable access to research institutions 
and infrastructure across the globe making our research work 
a global enterprise. More focus is also placed on strengthening 
the mobility of researchers, putting in place practical measures 
to allow participation in each other’s research activities. So, 
Mintek’s involvement in this is undoubtedly a reflection its 
images to global research institutions. Furthermore, Mintek 
researchers are using this platform to expand collaboration 
and application of other EU grants.

The project aims to develop, validate and implement a 
modelling-based informatics sustainable framework for the 
toxicity testing of ENM which is both cost-effective and less 
reliant on animal testing. Here the challenge is to successfully 
establish a quantitative relationship between the engineered 
nanoparticle characteristics and the observed adverse effects. 
The developed and validated informatics tools for Nanosafety 
(NanoInformatics) will be essential for the safety assessment 
of engineered nanomaterial in each stage of their innovation. 
This approach will be also cost effective and less reliant on 
the current practice based on animal testing. This will lead to 
the adoption of a ‘Safe-by-Design’ approach where specific 
nanomaterials functionalities and hazards can be predicted. 

Mintek’s specific role is to systematically develop material and 
material models or well-established experimental techniques, 
necessary for the evaluation of exposure/hazard based on 
engineered nanomaterial physicochemical properties. As 
expected Mintek’s choice of materials for investigation is 
minerals based nanostructures (i.e. gold, silver, titanium) in line 
with its proven track record. 

INTPART Exchange Programme
Three senior researchers participated in the INTPART exchange 
program with Norway. Two of them visited the Norwegian 
University of Science and Technology (NTNU) and SINTEF for 
extended visits for two and three months respectively, while 
the third collaborated with the organizing committee for the 
next INFACON, scheduled for 2021.  Mintek also participated 
in the first PreMa meeting, held in Belgium. The partners met 
to discuss plans and the scope of work in each work package.

Mineral Processing and Beneficiation 
Training for NAM Delegates
Mintek in collaboration with the Department of Science and 
Innovation (DSI) and the Centre for Science and Technology of 
the Non-Aligned Movement and other Developing Countries 
(NAM S&T Centre) opened the fifth training Programme on 
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Stakeholders attended the launch of the R280 million Equity 
Equivalent Investment Programme by Samsung where 
Mintek will be a partner.

Delegates at the CoSAAMI 19 conference hosted by Mintek

Mineral Processing and Beneficiation for 17 delegates from 
NAM member states. The three-month programme has 
conducted and hosted by Mintek annually since 2015. 

The programme was initiated to address the skills gap in the 
minerals beneficiation value chain and to create networks and 
exposure to the NAM S&T Centre member countries to new 
developments in mineral processing and beneficiation and to 
allow the fellows to influence policies and establish structures 
in their countries to address the related challenges.
The delegates who are scientists, engineers and technologists 
were from Egypt, Botswana, Nigeria, Zambia, Zimbabwe, 
Democratic Republic of Congo, India, Guyana, Sudan, 
Tanzania, Burkina Faso, and South Africa.

The training fellowship has given the fellows an exposure to 
the basic principles and relevant development in the field of 
Minerals Processing.  It also gave them broad understanding 
of modern techniques in process operation and the impact of 
these technologies on the environment and processes which 
they could apply in the mineral sector of their home countries.

Mintek collaborates with MQA for the Ben-
efit of Communities
Mintek has been providing support to the small-scale mining 
sector through environmental management, skills development 
and transfer. In 2019 Mintek embarked on a small-scale 
mining skills training programme for communities in Limpopo 
and Mpumalanga Provinces. The training was provided 
through a discretionary funding by the Mining Qualifications 
Authority (MQA), and was aimed at assisting aspirant artisanal 
miners acquire skills in the management of their small scale 
operations. A total of 50 community members who work at the 
Mukula Stone Crushers in Thohoyandou in Limpopo Province 
attended the training. A further group of 31 unemployed 
communities in Witbank were trained in preparation of 
acquiring mining rights for mining amethyst deposits in the 
Witbank area. The curriculum included understanding legal 
requirements, elementary geology, safe mining activities to the 
basic understanding of markets and financial transactions.

Mintek’s Senior Researcher a Visiting 
Scholar in Sweden
Mintek was represented through an invited visitor scholar-
ship by Dr Desh Chetty, Head of Research in the Mineralo-
gy Division at the Technical University of Luleå in Sweden. Dr 
Chetty presented a series of lectures in Process Mineralogy 
as part of LTU’s Geometallurgy module in the EMerald Mas-
ters’ Programme in Resource Engineering. PhD students in 
the Department of Civil, Environmental and Natural Resourc-
es Engineering were engaged on their projects, with potential 
for collaboration also discussed.  The visit was sponsored by 
the European Union (EU) through Erasmus Mundus and EIT 
funding. 
 

Mintek Hosts a CoSAAMI 19 
Mintek’s Advanced Materials Division organised the 2019 
Conference of the South African Advanced Materials Initia-
tive (CoSAAMI’19) that ran from 22–25 October 2019. The 
conference is also part of the peer review mechanism for 
the Advanced Materials Initiative (AMI) programme for which 
Mintek hosts two programmes namely; Ferrous and Precious 
Materials Development Networks on behalf of the Department 
of Science and Innovation (DSI). Fourteen Mintek employees 
presented oral and poster presentations. All presented papers 
were blind-peer reviewed and published in the IOP Conference 
Series: Materials Science and Engineering, Volume 655, 22 - 
25 October 2019.

57
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6.6 Recognition by Industry Bodies 

Recipient of the TMS EPD Distinguished Lecturer Award for 2021

Southern African Institute of Mining and Metallurgy (SAIMM),
Senior Vice President Nomination

Dr Rodney Jones, Senior Technical Specialist in the Pyrometallurgy 
Division (PDD) is the recipient of The Minerals, Metals & Materials 
Society’s (TMS) Extraction and Processing Division (EPD) Distinguished 
Lecturer Award for 2021. This prestigious award recognises an 
outstanding scientific leader in the field of nonferrous extraction and 
processing metallurgy. Rodney has been cordially invited to present a 
comprehensive lecture at the TMS 2021 Annual Meeting.

Isabel Geldenhuys, Manager in the Pyrometallurgy Division (PDD) has 
been elected Senior Vice President of the Southern African Institute 
of Mining and Metallurgy (SAIMM). The nomination was made at the 
SAIMM Annual General Meeting held in August 2019. Geldenhuys is a 
long standing office bearer of SAIMM and will succeed outgoing former 
Senior Vice President Zelmia Botha. 

Rodney is a chemical engineer and metallurgist with over 35 years of pyrometallurgical experience in a wide variety of processes 
that have been taken from concept to industrial implementation. Rodney is a Past President and an Honorary Life Fellow of the 
SAIMM. 

Geldenhuys will be President-Elect from 2020 to 2021 and will serve as President in 2021/2022. She is a chemical engineer 
and a registered professional engineer with more than 20 years of pyrometallurgical experience. She has extensive experience 
in managing research and development projects, and providing commercial test work and consultancy services to industry.  Her 
speciality is in DC arc furnace technologies, and has presented papers at several international conferences. She is a fellow and 
Council member of the Southern African Institute of Mining and Metallurgy (SAIMM).
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Honorary Member of Mineralogical Association of South Africa (MINSA)

IMWSA Appoints Vice President

Dr Chetty chaired MINSA in 2008, 2015 and 2017. She was the Scientific Programme Chair for the 21st meeting of the International 
Mineralogical Association (IMA), which was hosted in South Africa in 2014, under the auspices of MINSA and the Geological 
Society of South Africa (GSSA). Dr Chetty continues the contributions made by Mintek alumni to MINSA over the years. MINSA 
was formed in 1979 as a voluntary organisation by process mineralogists from Mintek and various mining house laboratories that 
existed at the time.

Dr Deshenthree Chetty, Head of Research at the Mineralogy Division 
(MNL) has been made an Honorary Member of the Mineralogy Association 
of South Africa (MINSA) at the at the associations 40th anniversary 
event. The membership is conferred in recognition of her contribution to 
MINSA over the past 19 years.

Mpendulo Ginindza, our Head: Safety, Health, Environment and 
Quality of (SHEQ) has been appointed Vice President of The Institute 
of Waste Management of Southern Africa (IWMSA) for a two year term 
effective July 2020. At Mintek, Ginindza is responsible for ensuring 
compliance with safety, health and environmental legislations for 
greater sustainability. She is a registered professional natural scientist 
and a SHEQ professional, who also serves as member in the 
International Solid Waste (ISWA) Working Group on Governance and 
Legal issues. Amongst some of the environmental interventions she 
oversaw at Mintek is the implementation of initiatives of the National 
Environmental Management.
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State Delegation, Domestic and Interna-
tional
The Portfolio Committee on Mineral Resources and En-
ergy visited Mintek as part of a five-day oversight responsibility 
to the Department of Mineral Resources and Energy and its 
respective entities in Gauteng. The purpose of the visit was to 
gain understanding of the entities’ legislative mandates, chal-
lenges which may have material impact on the operations and 
success of the entity as well as the proposed interventions.

The Saudi Geological Survey (SGS) delegation visited 
Mintek to conduct a benchmarking exercise of the Mintek 
operating model with a view of establishing the Saudi Arabia 
Mining Centre of Excellence. The visit follows a series of bilat-
eral meetings between the Saudi Arabian Ministry and Mintek 
in 2019 and at the Investing in African Mining Indaba in Cape 
Town. As one of the institution benchmarked, the collaboration 
will enable Mintek and SGS to work together towards the es-

tablishment of a long-term relationship. It will further pave way 
for the two organisations to pursue a feasibility study into the 
establishment of the Mining Centre of Excellence.

Mintek hosted the Nigerian delegation of 15 people for a 
two-week artisanal small-scale mining workshop. The dele-
gates were regional managers of the Department of Artisanal 
and Small Scale Mining of the Ministry of Mines and Steel De-
velopment in Nigeria. The aim of the workshop was to train 
delegates on the formalisation of small-scale and artisanal 
miners, safety, health and environment management, per-
mitting modalities, cooperatives management in mining and 
stakeholder engagement.  The programme included further 
topics of interest in small scale minerals processing, safer min-
ing methods and minerals certification. It also included presen-
tations by the Department of Mineral Resources and Energy 
(DMRE), the South African Diamond and Precious Metals Reg-
ulator (SADPMR), Mine Health and Safety Council (MHSC) and 
Small Enterprise Development Agency (SEDA). 

Dr Ndabenhle Sosibo was appointed to the Executive Committee of 
the National Science and Technology Forum (NSTF). The NSTF is a 
stakeholder body for a wide range of organizations that have an interest 
in the fields of science, engineering and technology. Dr Sosibo is 
currently representation Mintek in the stakeholder body.

Appointment to NSTF EXCO

Mintek’s SET bursars 2019/2020
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Top: Delegates from Nigeria and  Mintek during a two-week 
artisanal small scale mining workshop held at Mintek.

Bottom: Members of the Portfolio Committee on Mineral 
Resources and Energy on tour of the  Mintek Exhibition during 
the oversight visit.

Top: Delegates from NECSA and Mintek  during  a meeting 
to discuss the collaboration following the pronouncement of 
Minister of Gwede Mantashe.

Bottom: Delegates from the Department of Science and 
Innovation, Mintek, NAM Fellows and the embassies of Sri 
Lanka and Zimbabwe, gathered at Mintek during the official 
opening of the 5th DST/Mintek Training Programme on Mineral 
Processing and Beneficiation.
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Top: The use of protective personal equipment and following of safety 
procedures is essential to the safety of employees at Mintek

Bottom: The Mintek water tower serves as water storage for incoming water from 
the municipality pipeline, it helps with generating pressure to supply the Mintek 
campus
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7 Sustainable Development

For a global leader in its field, it is vital for Mintek to adopt a business practice of sustainable development. Mintek has therefore 
tailored its activities, to not only meet the needs of its stakeholders, but also ensuring that its practices enhance, protect and 
sustain human and natural resources for the future. The activities vary from the wellbeing of our employees to raising awareness 
and funds for just causes.

The table below lists Mintek’s sustainability-related focus areas and summarises its progress in addressing these areas.

7.1 Performance Against Mintek’s Sustainability Focus Areas
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How Mintek performed in 2019/20 FY What Mintek is committed to

• Allocated 43 full time (42% for 
postgraduate studies) and 97 part time 
bursaries (56 for post graduate studies) 
towards enhancing science and research 
capacity in the organisation.

• Exceeded target of 5% for percentage 
staff with PhD’s, with 7% of staff having 
the qualification by end of year.

• Exceeded the target of 10% of staff with 
Masters’ degrees, and achieved 15%. 

• Provided experiential learning 
opportunities for 60 students who were 
pursuing a SET qualification during the 
year.

• Recorded 91% of staff in the designated 
group representation (towards 
achievement of EE targets). This exceeds 
the target of 90%.

• As in last year, achieved the target of 3% 
for employees with disabilities.

• Increase efforts to produce, retain and attract staff 
with PhD and MSc degrees, as is befitting a research 
institution.

• Improve SET qualifications across the organisation. 

• Continue pursuing employment equity in the 
organisation, and in particular, increase the female 
component at Mintek.

• Implement a campaign to attract senior level 
researchers with international recognition and 
standing.

• Continue to enhance the organisation’s comprehensive 
occupational and primary health management and 
wellness programmes.
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How Mintek performed in 2019/20 FY What Mintek is committed to

• The Lost Time Injury- and Health Incident 
Frequency rates at year-end were both 0 
and well below the targets of 1.0.

• There were no major environmental 
incidents reported during the year. In 
addition, there were no work-related 
fatalities during the year.

• Exceeded the target of wellness 
interventions offered to our employees by 
80%.

• Conducted medical surveillances for 
employees, bursars and trainees.

• A total of 681 audiometry tests were 
performed during the year. A total of 15 
of these tests recorded were in the PLH 
(10-19.9%) range while 29 fell within the 
PLH (5-9.9%) range. Therefore, a total of 
637 employees had normal interpretation 
results according to the SANS 10083-2013 
specifications. This represents 93.5% of 
all employees tested for hearing.

• A total of 561 spirometry tests were 
performed with all spirometry tests results 
within normal ranges and therefore no 
external referral to pulmonologists. 

• Continue to maintain a safe working environment 
for Mintek’s staff, the most important asset for the 
organisation.

• Continue efforts to have zero harm in all areas of 
safety, health and wellness.

• Continue blood donation drives, TB screening 
initiatives and awareness campaigns and weight 
maintenance programmes through amongst others, 
the boot camp sessions held at Mintek after work 
hours.

• Increase audiometry and ENT initiatives amongst 
employees to determine incidences of hearing loss 
due to noise.

• Continue to encourage employees to do physical 
exercises and quit smoking in order to improve 
spirometry.
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• Mintek produced an average external 
customer satisfaction frequency rate of 
91%, against a target of 90%. 

• In terms of IP creation and transfer, Mintek 
filed 4 patents, registered 11 discoveries 
(IPR_PFDR Act).

• Mintek produced 53 technical articles in 
credible publications, which is 6% above 
target.

• Mintek participated in conferences where 
81 presentations and posters were made. 

• To continue with value-adding process improvements, 
process performance and management programmes 
with regards to quality of Mintek’s research and 
technology development work.

• To increase training interventions and ensure that 
more employees are educated on ISO9001 changes.

• To continually work on improving external and internal 
customer satisfaction rates.

• To continue to send young scientists and engineers to 
participate at relevant conferences all over the world. 
More focus will be placed on opportunities for young, 
black female scientists and engineers.

65

1456 AIR Sustainable Development.indd   651456 AIR Sustainable Development.indd   65 2020-11-17   13:27:122020-11-17   13:27:12



 Annual Integrated Report   |   2019/2020    |    SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT Annual Integrated Report   |   2019/2020    |    SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT66

S
us

ta
in

ab
le

 D
ev

el
op

m
en

t Research is critical to what Mintek does and critical to the 
ongoing success of the institution. It is, by its very nature, an 
exploration of new ideas and new processes. Consequently, it 
may generate risks, which arise as a result of those processes, 
or by virtue of the way in which research is organised, 
conducted and managed.

Chief Investigators (CIs) and team members are experts in their 
particular field of research and are therefore expected to ensure 
that they understand the hazards and risks associated with 
their research and are competent to manage these hazards 
and risks effectively. They need to apply this knowledge to 
ensure that the research under their supervision is carried out 
in a safe manner. 

All researchers take responsibility for their own health and 
safety and ensure that they don’t compromise the health and 
safety of other employees by the things they do or fail to do. 
Mintek SHEQ structures and teams work tirelessly to ensure 
that employees, amongst others:
  
• follow Mintek’s SHEQ policy, procedures and safe sys-

tems of work;
• use protective clothing and equipment as recommended;
• risk-assess, or assist with the risk assessment of their 

work;
• attend training and put it into practice in the workplace; 
• report incidents that have resulted in, or could have result-

ed in, injury or damage;   
• assist in the investigation of accidents with the aim of in-

troducing preventative measures; 
• report unsafe conditions or actions work co-operatively 

to improve health and safety standards and performance; 
and

• work safely and efficiently.

A site emergency evacuation drill is conducted annually to test 
Mintek’s emergency protocols. Divisions also conduct SHE 
drills that are specific to the risks posed by their operations. 
Mineralogy division (MPD) successfully conducted an emer-
gency. Showing that their emergency processes and plans are 
adequate.

Mintek’s Safety, Health, Environment and Quality (SHEQ) com-
mittee is a management committee that oversees the policies 
relating to safety, health, environment and quality and their im-
plementation across Mintek.  The SHEQ committee reviews 
operational performance, anticipates potential issues and pro-
vides support in setting direction for improvements. A func-
tional safety, health, environment and quality unit provides a 
coordinated and effective specialist advisory support to the 
SHEQ committee.

Mintek has been certified by accredited independent exter-
nal auditors to meet the requirements of safety and health 
(ISO45001), environmental management (ISO 14001), and 
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How Mintek performed in 2019/20 FY What Mintek is committed to

• Supported an SMME with the development 
of a process to generate clinkers suitable 
as additive in cement manufacture from 
dumps of phosphogypsum (CaSO4.2H2O) 
disposed of as a by-product of the 
production of phosphoric acid.

• Trained 50 community members who 
work for an SMME at the Mukula Stone 
Crushers in Thohoyandou in Limpopo 
Province. The SMME operates a stone 
quarry which makes crusher aggregates 
to supply the local construction industry 
benefited from this training programme.

• Trained 31 unemployed 31 unemployed 
people in communities to help them 
prepare to acquire mining rights for mining 
amethyst deposits in the Witbank area. 

• In line with Mintek’s key strategic objectives, continue 
to develop and support economically sustainable 
rural and marginalised communities.

• Intensify training and skills development interventions 
in rural and marginalised communities.

• Sustain efforts to provide technical and marketing 
support to beneficiation centres in all provinces 
agreed on with the MQA and other funders.

• Continue its efforts with preferential procurement 
spend with Empowering Suppliers qualifying as QSEs, 
EMEs, minimum 51% black owned and minimum 
30% black women owned suppliers. 

7.2 Safety, Health and Wellbeing of our People
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An analysis of the audit conducted within AMD and IAC 
revealed gaps in risk assessments and details of risk control 
measures, planning in terms of achieving objectives and 
targets, management meetings and document control. These 
would be addressed over the next financial year. 

Four (4) Corporate SHEQ meetings were held during the 
financial year. The meetings are used for monitoring and 
reporting on progress that is made against safety and 
health targets and standards; progress on environmental 
protection, including radiation protection and nuclear material 
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management as well as training and inspections, among other 
things. The meetings also review policy, objectives, targets 
and procedures of our SHEQ system, as well as customer 
satisfaction frequency rates, both internal and external. All the 
SHEQ targets except public complaints were achieved. Two 
cases were reported from neighbours who were experiencing 
nuisance noise coming from the Mintek site. The Health 
Incident Frequency rate (HIFR) went from 0 to 0.2 at the end 
of the financial year due to an employee that got exposed to 
COVID-19 while on business travel overseas.

quality (ISO 9001). Certification was maintained after a sur-
veillance audit conducted in July 2019. Internal audits were 
conducted in various divisions throughout the organization to 
ensure that all divisions meet the requirements of the stan-

dards. The Advanced Materials division (AMD) and Information 
and Communications (IAC) division fell short of the audit target 
of 80%, as depicted in the graph below.
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The Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate (LTIFR) started at 0 on 
01 April 2019 and ended on 0.2 on 31 March 2020, against 
a target of 1.0. The few injuries that were sustained in the 
workplace were minor and were treated by the Occupational 
Health Clinic. These included two minor injuries which required 

Other key SHEQ scores that were achieved at the end of the 
financial year, and can also be seen in the graphs that follow 
include: 
• There were no major environmental incidents reported 

during the year, resulting in the Environmental Incidents 
(EI) being 0 throughout, against a target of 1.
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MINTEK’S Environmental Incidents (EI) 

(MARCH 2020)
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first aid and nine injuries that were treated and managed by 
the occupational health nurses. None of the cases required 
external referral. There was one case of Covid-19 infection 
post business travel, which resulted in a Lost- Time-Injury and 
was reported to COID.

• The number of Public Dissatisfaction Incidents (PDI) 
started at 0 on 01 April 2019 and ended at 2 on March 
2020 against a target of 1.

• The % External Client Satisfaction Frequency Rate 
(%CSFR) started the financial year on 90% and ended at 
95% at the end of the financial year. 
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Mintek continues to integrate its sustainable development 
agenda, and associated programs and standards fully in all 
activities and all functions as an essential element of man-
agement. Like most businesses, Mintek has environmental 
aspects as a result of its activities therefore adheres to the 
following licensing requirements provided by the City of Jo-
hannesburg:
• Atmospheric emissions licence;
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• Discharge of  waste water; and
• Flammable Substances storage.
All licenses have been retained throughout the financial year. 
In addition to this, Mintek also proactively monitors ground 
water and management of waste that follows the waste life-
cycle that prioritises reduction, re-use and recycling, recovery, 
and treatment before disposal. 
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7.3 Protecting the Environment

Wellness and Occupational Health
Mintek Occupational Health Services provide both occupa-
tional health and non-occupational health services. Mintek’s 
in-house Clinic plays a vital role in ensuring that the organi-
zation is within the ambit of legislation through conducting 
Occupational health screening processes such as medical 
surveillance and biological monitoring. These procedures are 
mainly conducted to protect the health and welfare of employ-
ees by ensuring that the work environment and processes do 
not have a negative impact and that there is a fit between the 
job and the job incumbent.

Occupational health services are best suited in identifying both 
occupational and non-occupational risk factors that can pose 
a challenge to the existence of Mintek. During the year, the 
OHS unit conducted 720 medical surveillance examinations 
for employees, contractors, bursars and trainees. The unit also 
conducted medical examinations that included 216 entrance 
medicals, 382 annual medicals and 122 exit medicals. A total 
of 561 spirometry tests were also performed and all tests were 
within normal ranges. In addition, a total of 681 audiometry 
tests were performed, of which 637 recorded normal read-
ings of PLH (0 – 4.9%) as per the SANS 10083-2013 spec-
ifications. There were a few anomalies that recorded above 
average PHL results, which were referred for further medical 
assessment. None of the anomalies were due to Mintek’s oc-
cupational environment. 

Mintek also continued with its Employee Assistance Pro-
gramme (EAP) that assists employees with lifestyle manage-
ment and to deal with non-occupational related challenges. 
Our belief is that lifestyle behaviour amongst people has an im-
pact on how employees conduct themselves at work. Certain 
recreational practices such as substance abuse and alcohol 
abuse, excessive smoking and poor nutrition can have an ad-
verse effect on productivity if not adequately addressed. Mint-
ek supports all wellness initiatives and recognizes the benefits 
of investing in the wellness of their employees.

Non-Occupational Health
A total of 1 246 primary health care cases were assessed and 
treated at the Mintek Clinic. The clinic has a sound referral 
system and partnerships with local health facilities for continuity 
of care. Health risk screening tests such as Tuberculosis 
screening, PAP smears, PSA and breast examinations were 
held in partnership with Sandown Clinic. In return, Mintek 
sponsored repair and calibration of their screening machines 
at their clinic. 

By the end of the financial year, a total of 384 health risk 
screenings, 75 PAP smears to screen for cervical cancer, 108 
PSA tests and 41 TB screening tests had been conducted. 
Other non-occupational healthcare programmes included 
TB and Covid-19 awareness, First-aid competition and HIV 
testing and awareness campaigns. In addition, Mintek held 
4 blood donation drives and 49 employees donated blood 
successfully. 

Programmes that are geared towards protecting the environ-
ment continued into the 2019/20 financial year. The approach 
that Mintek uses integrates the sustainable development 
agenda, into all activities and all functions as an essential el-
ement of management. Mintek also continues to responsibly 
ensure that its operations do not contribute to environmen-
tal degradation by monitoring its environmental footprint and 
implementing a wide range of measures to protect the envi-
ronment. The measures that we implement on the Mintek are 
integrated into our Risk Management processes as well as the 
comprehensive SHEQ system of Mintek. Key elements of this 
include careful management of water and energy use, as well 
as the management of waste that follows the waste lifecycle 
that prioritises reduction, re-use and recycling, recovery, and 
treatment before disposal. 

Management of Waste
Due to the nature of its work, Mintek generates all kinds of 
waste, including certain types of waste that could be hazard-

ous and could pollute the environment. Mintek strongly be-
lieves that implementing good waste management practices 
not only helps to protect the environment but is also beneficial 
to its business and enables the organization to consistently 
obtain ISO certification on a number of processes. Some of 
the benefits for Mintek includes:

• Enhancing of business reputation

• Cost savings 

• Resource recovery 

• Workplace safety 

Effective environmental protection programmes require a 
strong collaboration between the organisation and its employ-
ees, which is an approach that Mintek has also used. Employ-
ee-driven initiatives have also been found to incorporate not 
just the recycling element, but also a societal do-good contri-
bution that benefits vulnerable communities. During the course 
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Water Use Management
Mintek appreciates that South Africa is a water-scarce country, 
and that all citizens, including corporate citizens, need to play 
a major role in conserving the scarce resource. As a result, 
Mintek monitors and tracks its daily activities impact on water 
resources. Mintek uses freshwater as a basic input for dai-
ly operations and recycled water for irrigation. Test works at 
Mintek consume water and release effluents that are treated 

of the year, employees initiated a campaign to collect plastic 
bottle caps for recycling. The caps were delivered to a recy-
cling company, once they reached a certain mass, in return for 
a wheel chair that is donated to people living with disabilities 
and are unable to purchase a wheelchair without financial sup-

port. The campaign has received massive support across the 
organisation and will continue well into the new year. 

In addition, Mintek’s recyclable volumes of metal, plastic, pa-
per and cardboard during the past financial year are depicted 
in the graph below. 
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prior to being discharged into the main sewer. It is within this 
context that Mintek ensures that it recycles water as far as 
possible, and the effluent discharged from its plant does not 
contaminate natural water sources. 
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7.4 Corporate Social Responsibility 

Mintek continually strives to operate in a manner that 
accounts for the social and environmental impact created by 
the business. As such, Mintek is committed to developing 
policies that integrate responsible practices into daily business 
operation and demonstrates social purpose and clear values 
for employees and other stakeholders.

Mineral Education Trust Fund
Mintek maintained its continuous support to the Mineral Ed-
ucation Trust Fund, which was founded by the Chamber of 
Mine for the industry to consolidate its support towards ed-
ucation, teaching and research.  The purpose of the fund is 
to support institutions of higher learning to attract, retain and 
develop undergraduate teaching staff. It is also to create aca-
demic centers of excellence and foster collaboration. 

International Nelson Mandela Day
The International Nelson Mandela Day has been rooted in 
Mintek’s calendar as our employees join the global movement 
to do good in honour of the late former President Nelson 
Mandela. Mintek celebrated Mandela Day with employees 
joining the pledge-a-chair campaign which raised over 50 
chairs for Mintek’s adopted school Cosmo City Secondary. 
Mintek Employees have been consistently supporting this 
initiative, and keep challenging one another to remain active 
participants in stimulating positive social change. 

Energy Management
Energy utilisation is monitored throughout the year to ensure 
that the base electrical load is kept certain levels, both as a 
cost management exercise and an attempt to limit the use 
coal based energy source. The graph below shows that the 

utilization levels attained this year are comparable to those of 
the same period last year. While load shedding intermittently 
affected the amount of electrical energy drawn by Mintek, the 
trend remained consistent throughout the year with the excep-
tion of a campaign that was carried out between November 
and December 2019.
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Mintek prides itself in its team of Scientists, Engineers and 
Researchers that fly the organisation’s flag at both national and 
international platforms. 

Analytical Evaluation of Geological Sam-
ples Paper Scoops Award
Mintek Scientist, Hlengiwe Mnculwane won the Best Paper 
Award at the National Laboratory Association South Africa’s 
Test and Measurement 2019 International Conference that 
was held in Muldersdrift. Mnculwane’s paper was entitled 
“Analytical evaluation and analysis of geological samples and 
possible method validation” it forms part of research in one 
of the 2018/19 Science Vote projects. The paper investigates 
the suitable digestion method for geological samples and 
developing analytical methods for analysis of 51 elements 
using ICP-MS, ICP-OES, XRF and combustion techniques.

Mintek recognised at DMRE 2019 Women’s 
Month Celebration
Organised to celebrate excellence in the department and its 
SOEs, the event was aligned with the Women’s Month theme, 
“25 Years of Democracy – Growing South Africa Together for 
Women’s Emancipation”. Mintek scooped three awards at 
the DMRE Women’s Day Event held at the CSIR Convention 
Centre on 23 August 2019. The awards were won in the 
Most Transformed Board, under the most Board Women 
representation.  Nosiphiwo Mzamo won the SA Women’s 
Awards 2019 under the Category of Women Achievers – State 
Owned Entity (SOE) and the Mintek Choir received an award 
for their great music performance at the event. Nominees in 
the Women’s Achievers Award included Mintek employees, 
Dr Joalet Steenkamp, Dr Amanda Skepu and Ms Tshiamo 
Legoale.

Mintek Researcher Awarded Thuthuka Re-
search Grant
Dr Phumlani Tetyana, Scientist and Dr Asimenye Kapito, 
Senior Engineer in the Advanced Materials Division is among 
the 202 researchers who have been awarded the National 
Research Foundation (NRF) Thuthuka Research Grants for 
2020. Dr Tetyana received a grant under the Post-PhD Track 
category which caters for candidates who aspire to become 
established researchers, through strengthening their research 
capabilities. The grant is for the project titled: “Development of 
next generation rapid diagnostic test devices”. 

Journal Paper by Dr Joalet Steenkamp 
Generates Interest in the Metallurgical 
Profession
A journal paper by Mintek Chief Engineer, Dr Joalet Steen-
kamp published in the journal of the Southern African Institute 
of Mining and Metallurgy was acknowledged at the Annual 
General Meeting of SAIMM held on 15 August at the Johan-
nesburg Country Club. The paper entitled “Silicomanganese 
production of Transalloys, in the twenty-tens “is co- authored 
by Steenkamp and her team in the pyrometallurgy Division, 
was acknowledged for its significance and interest it has gen-
erated to the broad metallurgical profession for understanding 
the technology and process issues behind this type of oper-
ation. 

7.5 Mintek Achievement Awards

Top: Jubilant learners at Cosmo City secondary school 
following receipt of chairs from Mintek.

Bottom: The official handover of chairs by Mintek to Cosmo 
City Secondary School during Mandela Month.
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Corporate Governance Report
The Mintek Board of Directors (the Board) plays an essential 
role in corporate stewardship and performance. The 
Mintek Board believes that strong corporate governance 
is fundamental for the achievement of sustainable value for 
all stakeholders. Accordingly, Mintek is committed to the 
principles of integrity, accountability and openness in its 
dealings with its stakeholders. The responsibilities of the Board 
are governed by the Mineral Technology (Mintek) Act and the 
Mintek Board Charter. The Board has overall responsibility for 
reviewing Mintek’s strategic plans and performance objectives, 
operations, legislative and corporate governance, financials, 
funding and investment proposals.  The Board exercises this 
responsibility in terms of the Mintek Act and the Public Finance 
Management Act (PFMA) and other relevant requirements on 
Corporate Governance matters for South Africa. 

Other duties of the Board include setting strategy, policy and 
structure, monitoring organisational performance, legislative 
compliance and corporate governance in terms of the Mintek 
Act, the PFMA and other relevant requirements of the King IV 
Report on Corporate Governance for South Africa. The Board 
is accountable to the Shareholder Ministry, Mineral Resources 
and Energy.

The Mintek Board of Directors 
The Minister of the Department of Mineral Resources and 
Energy has the ultimate control to the composition, the 
appointment and/ or more importantly dismissing a board 
member. The number members that comprises a board is 
prescribed in the Mineral Technology Act. 

The term of the Board that was appointed on 1 June 2016 
came to an end on 31 August 2019. During the period between 
September 2019 and 31 March 2020, the Chief Executive 
Officer operated as the Accounting Authority in terms of 
Section 49(2)(b) of the PFMA. The section stipulates that if a 
public entity does not have an accounting authority, the “chief 
executive officer or the other person in charge of the public 
entity is the accounting authority for that public entity unless 
specific legislation applicable to that public entity designates 
another person as the accounting authority.” In the case of 
Mintek, the Mintek Act did not designate any other person 
and the Chief Executive Officer was deemed the Accounting 
Authority. 

Subsequent to the end of the financial year, a new Board was 
appointed by the Minister with effect from 1 June 2020 for 
a three-year term, ending on 31 May 2023. All new Mintek 
Board members have a diverse set of skills to effectively 
discharge their duties.

8.1  The Mintek Board of Directors
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Mintek Board Members
(Period: 1 April 2019 to 31 August 2019)

Director Date of 
appointment

Category Race Gender Board ARC HRC TC

Mr ND Masemola 01/06/2017 Non-Executive Black Male Chair  -  -  -

Mr MJ Rachidi 01/06/2016 Non-Executive Black Male Dep Chair Member Chair  -

Dr M Motuku 01/01/2019 Executive Black Male Member Member Member Member

Mr D Dlamini 01/06/2016 Non-Executive Black Male Member Chair  -  -

Dr S Mohlala 01/06/2016 Non-Executive Black Female Member  -  - Chair

Ms S Ngwenya 01/06/2016 Non-Executive Black Female Member Member  -  -

Ms K McClain 01/06/2016 Non-Executive Black Female Member  - Member  -

Mr D du Toit 01/06/2016 Non-Executive White Male Member  -  - Member

Mr P Mkhombo 01/06/2016 Non-Executive Black Male Member Member Member  -

Mr RA Moatshe 01/06/2016 Non-Executive Black Male Member  - Member Member

Ms T Hlongwane 01/10/2014 Independent Black Female  - Member -  -

Mr M Moalusi 01/07/2016 Independent Black Male  - Member  -  -

The members of the Mintek Board and Committees are as follows:

New Mintek Board Members
(Period: from 1 June 2020)

Director Date of 
appointment

Category Race Gender Board ARC HRC TC

Dr VM Mkosana 01/06/2020 Non-Executive Black Male Chair  -  -  -

Dr M Motuku 01/06/2020 Executive Black Male Member Member Member Member

Ms MM Phiri 01/06/2020 Non-Executive Black Female Member Chair  -  -

Ms PN Zikalala-
Mvelase

01/06/2020 Non-Executive Black Female Member Member Chair  -

Ms P Maruping 01/06/2020 Non-Executive Black Female Member  -  - Member

Prof L Zungu 01/06/2020 Non-Executive Black Female Member  - Member Member

Mr LL Makibinyane 01/06/2020 Non-Executive Black Male Member Member Member  -

Ms NF Ngcwabe 01/06/2020 Non-Executive Black Female Member Member  -  -

Mr H Motaung 01/06/2020 Non-Executive Black Male Member  -  - Chair

Mr R Heydenrich 01/06/2020 Non-Executive White Male Member  -  - Member

Dr MW Ngobeni 01/06/2020 Non-Executive Black Female Member  - Member  -

Ms M Thomani 21/06/2020 Independent Black Female  - Member  -  -

Mr M Mokupo 21/06/2020 Independent Black Male  - Member  -  -
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8.2 Non-Executive Directors

Non-Executive Directors
 (1 January 2019 to 31 July 2019)

Mr Namane Dickson Masemola Dr Sarah Mohlala

MPM; BBA; BA; PG Dip in Governance and Leadership; 
Certified in Leadership for Transformation; 

Certificate Programme in Management Development 
(Municipal Finance)

Value add to the Board
Corporate governance and public administration

PhD Chemistry; MSc; BSc Hon

Value add to the Board
Chemistry, strategy and Business analysis/intelligence

Ms Khetiwe McClain Mr Phahlani Mkhombo

BA in Fine Arts

Value add to the Board
Corporate governance, administration and 

mine rehabilitation

LLM; LLB; BProc

Value add to the Board
Corporate law, corporate governance, 

corporate finance and business restructuring

Mr Dumisani Dlamini Mr Maroale Jacob Rachidi

MCom; PGD in Bus Mngt; BTech Taxation; 
N Dip Accounting; Prof Accountant SA; 

Chartered Director (SA)

Value add to the Board
Experience in finance and auditing fields

PTC; MDP; COP

Value add to the Board
Corporate governance, administration and 

ICT governance and programming

Dr Siyabonga Simayi Ms Samke Ngwenya

PhD in Ops Mngt; MBA; BTech; N Dip; 
Pr Tech Eng

Value add to the Board
Metallurgy, operations, mining and 

environmental geology

MBA; PGD in Management; BCom

Value add to the Board
Business development, administration, 

banking and finance

Mr Daan du Toit Mr Andries Moatshe

LLM; LLB; BA

Value add to the Board
International relations and business 

administration

Masters in Environmental Management

Value add to the Board
Mine environmental management and 

industrial ecology
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New Non-Executive Directors
(1 June 2020 to 31 May 2023)

Dr Vanguard Mbuyiseli Mkosana Ms Margaret Mosibudi Phiri

PhDr; MA; Dip-HR; Senior Exec Programme for 
Southern Africa; Cert. Corporate Coaching; Cert. Public 

Management and Development

Van is Founder and Chairman of Phokophela Investment 
Holdings (Pty) Ltd. Former Director General of Department of 
Labour, erstwhile Board chairman of a number of companies 
including : Human Capital Group (Pty) Ltd, the Eastern Cape 
Rural Development Agency; ASPIRE, Mayibuye Transport 
Corporation (MTC), Zizi-Consulting (Pty) Ltd, board member of 
Proudly South African, General Secretary of the Congress of 
South African Writers (COSAW) Overall Convenor of Government 
in NEDLAC, former convenor and spokesperson for Africa 
Group in ILO. His value addition to the board is in Corporate 
Governance with emphasis on Strategy, Organisational 
Performance, Risk Control and Organisational Sustainability.

Bachelor of Commerce; 
Honours Bachelor of Accounting science; CA(SA)

Margaret is a managing director at Mohale Seoka Consulting. She 
is also a CEO of Seoka Phiri Construction and Transportation. 
She is a qualified chartered accountant, registered auditor and 
tax practitioner with over 21 years of experience in public and 
private sector. She worked at Auditor-General South Africa 
(AGSA) for twenty years. She has extensive exposure on external 
audit, including internal controls, control environment, Board 
evaluations, investigation, financial statements preparation & 
review, audit of performance information, corporate governance 
principles, IT governance and risk management. She is a 
member of South African Institute of Chartered Accountants, 
Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors, Public Sector Audit 
Committee Forum and Institute of Directors SA. 

Ms Phydelis Ntombifuthi Zikalala-Mvelase Ms Pontsho Maruping

B. Proc; LLB

Futhi Zikalala Mvelase is an admitted Attorney of the High Court 
and practices as such as an Associate Attorney at Friedrich 
Incorporated. She has served in various executive roles in both 
public and private sector, including State Diamond Trader, 
DMRE, Commission on Gender Equality, Domestic Violence 
Assistance Programme, Centre for Criminal Justice and 
being admitted as an attorney in 1991. She has also served 
in various non-executive roles that include Board of Directors 
at Airports Company South Africa (ACSA), Chairperson of the 
Human Resources, Remuneration and Nominations Committee 
at ACSA, Chairperson of the Board of JIA Piazza Park which 
operates the InterContinental Hotel O R Tambo Hotel, Committee 
Member of various other Board Committees at ACSA. She is the 
Chairperson of the Board of the Limpopo Jewellery Business 
Incubator. She is a guest lecturer at the Wits Law School, Wits 
University.  

MBA; Masters in Space Systems Engineering; BEng 
(Hons) (Management of Technology); BSc-Eng 

(Mineral processing); Dip. in Economic Geology; 
Dip. in Science Education

Pontsho Maruping is the Deputy Managing Director (Operations 
and Business Processes) at the South African Radio Astronomy 
Observatory. Her experience spans both the private and public 
sector with more than ten years at executive level. She was an 
executive at the Technology Innovation Agency (TIA) responsible 
for Innovation Funding and Pre-commercialisation Support. Her 
major career highlights include coordinating the development 
of the National Nanotechnology Strategy which was approved 
by Cabinet in 2006 and coordinating the development of the 
Health and Safety Culture Transformation Framework for the 
Mining industry.

Prof Lindiwe Zungu Mr Lefadi Lucas Makibinyane

PhD (Occupational Health)  
   

Lindiwe Zungu is the Executive Dean of Graduate Studies at 
Unisa. She has a rich tapestry of experience in the academic 
research field having published numerous scientific papers in 
peer-reviewed local and international journals. She previously 
worked for the University of Limpopo (Medunsa campus) and 
the University of Johannesburg. Zungu holds memberships of 
various local and international organisations such as Harvard 
Alumni Association (HAA Membership), as well as membership 
of various board and advisory councils.

CEng; MIChemE; MLB; B. Eng (Hons); MPD 

Lefadi Makibinyane is the Council Member of Presidential BEE 
Advisory Council. He is an accredited Charted and Professional 
Engineer with multisector exposure, technical and financial 
expertise. Makibinyane has served in various executive roles in 
both public and private sector, including IDC, Anglo American/
Lethabo Power Station, Nampak Liquid Packaging and a CEO 
of Consulting Engineers South Africa (CESA). He has over 16 
years Board experience.
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8.2 Non-Executive Directors (continued)

New Non-Executive Directors
(1 June 2020 to 31 May 2023)

Ms Ntokozo Faith Ngcwabe Mr Harold Motaung

BA Geography; BA (Hons) Geography and 
Environmental Management; LLB

Ntokozo Ngcwabe is the DDG: Mineral Policy and Promotion 
at the Department of Mineral Resources and Energy. She is 
an experienced researcher on relevant information on global 
competitiveness and attraction of new investment. Ngcwabe 
participating in the drafting and publishing of the Mineral and 
Petroleum Resources Development Act, 2002 (MPRDA). She 
representing South Africa at the United Nations Environmental 
Initiatives other several related government engagements 
overseas including the Kimberly Process Certification Scheme. 
She also served as a board member at the State Diamond 
Trader between 2009 and 2011.

 
 BSc. Mining Eng; MBA; Blasting Cert.

Harold is the former CEO and Director of Atlatsa Resources, a 
position he occupied from 01 April 2011 until July 2020. He is 
the Director of Northern Lights (Pty) Ltd. He is a Mining Engineer 
by profession with over 28 years of mining experience. Motaung 
progressed through traditional mining ranks of miner. Motaung 
was appointed on numerous boards of government associated 
institutions including the National Nuclear Reactor. He was the 
chairperson of Mintek and SAMREC Holdings, the controlling 
shareholder of Atlatsa.  

Mr Philippus Rudolf Heydenrich Dr Maropeng Ngobeni

B Eng (Chemical); M Eng (Chemical)

Rudolf Heydenrich is the CEO at Heydenrich Consulting Pty 
(Ltd). He has established himself as a leader in the fields of 
New Business Development, Research and Development, 
Technology Assessments and Technology transfer in the field of 
Energy and Chemicals technologies. He also served on a number 
of Divisional Boards, Advisory Boards and JV constructs. His 
strengths are in the strategic domain but has also demonstrated 
the ability to translate strategy into tactical plans and then 
provide the oversight on the delivery against plan.

PhD, Chemistry

Maropeng Ngobeni is a Research Scientist at Sasol Group 
Technology (Research and Technology). He is an experienced 
professional with more than 12 years’ experience in the scientific 
field. Ngobeni’s experience is mainly in catalyst development 
research for high temperature Fischer-Tropsch synthesis. He 
has knowledge in acid-base catalysis. He joined Sasol Group 
Technology as a research scientist since 2007. He holds a PhD 
Degree in Chemistry.
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Dr Molefi Motuku Mr Sakhi Simelane

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

PhD and MSc degrees in Materials Engineering, BSc in 
Mechanical Engineering, BSc Physics.

Value add to the organisation

Research and Development, Corporate Governance, 
General Management, Strategic Planning.

CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

MBA, BCom Hons (Auditing), BCom.

Value add to the organisation

Finance, Auditing, Strategic Planning and General 
Management. 

Ms Gugu Nyanda Mr Alan McKenzie

GENERAL MANAGER: CORPORATE SERVICES

MBA, BA Hons, BPaed, Dip. HRM

Value add to the organisation

Corporate Governance, Human Resources Management, 
Strategic Planning, Communications,
 Integrity & Compliance Management. 

GENERAL MANAGER: TECHNOLOGY

MSc, BSc Hons.

Value add to the organisation

Analytical Services, Pyrometallurgy, Minerals Processing, 
General Management.  

Dr Makhapa Makhafola

GENERAL MANAGER: RESEARCH & DEVELOPMENT

PhD, MSc, Post-Grad Dip in Project Mng, BSc Hons, 
Exec Dev Programme.

(resigned 25 October 2019)

Value add to the organisation

Analytical Chemistry, Advanced Materials, Quality Assurance, 
General Management.  

Executive Management Committee
The Executive Management Committee of Mintek consists of the following Executive members:

8.3 Executive Management

and development and corporate services. The principal 
duties of the Chief Executive comprises: the formulation and 
implementation of Group strategy as agreed by the Board; 
approval and monitoring of business plans, stakeholder 
relations and providing high level executive leadership. The 
team specifically deals with Mintek’s budget, structure and key 
policies of administration, and key procurement processes.

The Mintek Executive Management is responsible for the 
strategy implementation and managing the day-to-day 
affairs of Mintek and its operating divisions in accordance 
with the policies and objectives approved by the Mintek 
Board.  The Executive Management Team comprises the 
Chief Executive and three general managers responsible for 
business development, technology development, research 

Governance Framework
Corporate governance focuses on the organisational 
arrangements that have been put in place to provide a fitting 
set of checks and balances within which the stewards of the 
organisation operates. The aim is to ensure that those to 
whom the stakeholders entrust the direction and success of 
the organisation act in the best interest of these stakeholders. 
It is about accountability, transparency, responsibility and 
leading with integrity.

Corporate Governance Report
Corporate Governance is formally concerned with the 
effectiveness of the board dedicated to ensuring that the 
organisation achieves its objectives. Mintek undertakes to 
ensure that business processes, systems and controls are 
governance compliant while certifying efficiency in business. 
As a science council, Mintek plays an indispensable role 
within the South African landscape with reference to research, 
innovation, optimum service delivery, development and growth. 
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Mintek operates within the framework of an array of relevant 
legislation, these are:   

• The  Mineral Technology Act No. 30 of 1989;

• The Public Finance Management Act (PFMA), which also 
governs Mintek and finance management related matters 
perspective as a Schedule 3B Company;

• The King IV Report which aims at promoting best practice 
in corporate governance across organisations and applies 
to public enterprises that fall under the PFMA; and 

• The Governance Protocol which provides guidance to the 
public sector and its entities operating within the political-

economic sphere. While the Protocol applies to Mintek 
it does not seek to supersede the King Code, but rather 
amplify the requirements. According to The Protocol, 
Boards constitute a fundamental base of corporate 
governance, and as such, Mintek must be headed and 
controlled by an effective and efficient Board appointed in 
terms of the Mineral Technology Act. 

The below governing structure reflects the interrelated 
relationships, factors and other influences upon the institution. 
Governance structure is often used interchangeably of the 
governance of the organisation.  

8.4 Governance Framework

Mintek Organisational Structure
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Board of Directors
The duties of the Board are specified in the Mineral Technology 
Act and the PFMA. With the exception of the Chief Executive 
of Mintek, all members of the Board are non-executive. Board 
members are actively involved in and bring independent 
judgement to bear on the Board’s deliberations and decisions. 
Amongst others, the Board is also responsible to: 

• Ensure that Mintek complies with all relevant laws, 
regulations and codes of best business practise;

• Monitor and evaluate the implementation of strategies, 
policies, management performance criteria and business 
plans; ensure that procedures and practices are in place 
that protect Mintek’s assets and reputation;

• Regularly assess its performance and effectiveness as 
a whole and that of individual executives, including the 
Chief Executive Officer; and 

• Ensure that technology and systems used in Mintek 
are adequate to run the business properly and for it to 
compete through the efficient use of its assets, process 
and human resources. 

Members of the Board are appointed based on their 
knowledge, experience and business acumen, as well as 
other relevant skills. The Board is accountable to the Minister 
of Mineral Resources and Energy and as a result a shareholder 
performance agreement (the Compact) has been concluded 
between the Board and the Executive Authority. The Compact 
entails strategic objectives to be achieved and forms the basis 
for quarterly performance reporting to the Executive Authority 
on these objectives. Mintek has a Board Secretariat that is 
responsible for ensuring Board support to enhance maximum 
Board functioning. 

8.6 Board, Committees and their Functions 

The Board is supported by three committees to which it has 
delegated certain powers. These committees are selected 
according to the skills sets required for the committees to fulfil 
their functions. The three committees are the Audit and Risk 
Committee (ARC), the Human Resources Committee (HRC) 
and the Technical Committee (TC). Each of these committees 
has its own Charter.

Audit and Risk Committee (ARC)
Ensures the integrity of the financial statements and oversee 
the effectiveness of the internal financial controls and the 
external and internal audit functions. The Committee monitors 
the maintenance and safeguarding of assets and financial 
sustainability.

Human Resources Committee (HRC)
Create and monitor policies and values-based systems to 
ensure that the organisation’s operations are aligned with the 
labour laws and certain best practices relating to employees 
and ensures that the remuneration policies and strategy 
attract, retain and motivate the right workforce.  

Technical Committee (TC)
Advises on utilisation of expertise, project proposals and 
financing thereof, looking into various co-operatives and related 
strategies and the possible expansion of the organisation’s 
business within the said mandate.

8.5 Mintek Governance Structure
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The Audit and Risk Committee (ARC)
(1 April 2019 to 31 August 2019)

The ARC supports the Board in discharging its responsibilities relating to:

Committee Objectives Highlights of Activities

• Compliance with applicable laws, regulations 
and supervisory requirements;

• Reliability of reporting

• The preparation of accurate financial reporting 
and statements in compliance with all applicable 
legal requirements and accounting standards;

• Behaving responsibly towards all stakeholders;

• Effectiveness and efficiency of operations;

• Safeguarding of Mintek’s tangible and intangible 
assets (including information);

• Supporting Mintek’s business sustainability 
under normal as well as adverse operating 
conditions; and

• The operation of adequate systems and control 
processes.

• Approved the revised ARC & internal audit 
charters for 2018, the internal audit strategic 
plan for 2019/20 to 2021/22 and the Shareholder 
Agreement sections dealing with the group 
financials and risk management. 

• Approved and recommended the Mintek 
Shareholder Compact for 2019/20 for final 
approval by the Board.

• Approved Mintek Quarter 3 Report of 2018/19 
for submission to the Shareholder as delegated 
by the Board.

• Discussed and monitored risk steering committee 
activities.

• Discussed and monitored ICT steering committee 
activities. 

The Human Resources Committee (HRC)
(1 April 2019 to 31 August 2019)

The HRC is established to assist the Board, amongst others with the following:

Committee Objectives Highlights of Activities

• Reviewing and determining human resource-
related policies, including conditions of 
employment, reward, remuneration and retention 
policies;

• Consideration of the annual review 
of remuneration packages; and 

• Studying aspects of the shareholder’s compact 
that relate to human resource development, 
and reviewing performance against target.

 

• Approved and recommended the following 
documents for final approval by the Board:

- HR Performance Scorecard 2018/19  

- Code of Conduct and Business Ethics 
    policy 

- Acting Allowance Policy 

- Shareholder Compact Quarter 1 2019/20

• Tracked reports on employee relations, staff 
appointments and terminations, employee 
wellness, employment equity and human capital 
development.

ARC

HRC
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Board, Committees and their Functions 
The Board has adopted formal Terms of Reference, which 
are reflected in the Board Charter. The Board meets at least 
four times a year. Circumstances might rise and necessitate 
ad hoc meetings to deliberate on urgent, substantive matters. 
The Board reserves at least one day per year to discuss the 
strategic long-term plan of the organisation and its subsidiaries. 
Board meetings are attended by all members of Executive 
Management. Furthermore, selected members of Executive 
Management and Senior Management participate in certain 
committee meetings.

The Technical Committee (TC)  
(1 April 2019 to 31 August 2019)

The TC is established to assist the Board in discharging its duties relating to:

Committee Objectives Highlights of Activities

• Advises on utilisation of expertise, project 
proposals and financing thereof, looking into 
various co-operatives and related strategies 
and the possible expansion of Mintek business 
within the said mandate;

• Provides a forum for discussing technical issues 
for consideration by the Board in informing 
strategy development and implementation in 
Mintek; and

• Assists the Board in accomplishing its duties 
relating to the legal mandate of Mintek regarding 
its core business.

• Approved and recommended the following 
documents for final approval by the Board:

- Shareholder Compact Quarter 1 2019/20  

- TC Performance Scorecard 2018/19

• Approved planned International Trips for 
2019/20

• Tracked the corporate SHEQ activities and 
safety statistics.

• Approved the Business Plan Template: Proposed 
KPIs. 

TC
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Board and Committee Meeting Attendance
(1 April 2019 to 31 August 2019)

Name of Directors and/ or 
Committee Members Scheduled

Board ARC HRC TC

Total Numbers of Meetings 2 2 2 1

Mr Namane Dickson Masemola (Chair) 1/2 n/a n/a n/a

Mr Maroale Rachidi (Deputy Chair) 2/2 2/2 2/2 n/a

Dr Molefi Motuku (Ex-officio & CEO) 2/2 1/2 2/2 1/1

Mr Dumisani Dlamini 2/2 1/2 n/a n/a

Mr Daan du Toit 1/2 n/a n/a 0/1

Dr Sarah Mohlala 2/2 n/a n/a 1/1

Ms Samke Ngwenya 2/2 1/2 n/a n/a

Ms Khetiwe McClain 1/2 n/a 2/2 n/a

Mr Phahlani Mkhombo 2/2 2/2 2/2 n/a

Dr Siyabonga Simayi 3/4 n/a n/a 1/1

Mr Rantsadi Moatshe 1/2 n/a 1/2 n/a

Ms Tumi Hlongwane n/a 2/2 n/a n/a

Mr Mpoti Moalusi n/a 2/2 n/a n/a

 *Dr Siyabonga Simayi participated telephonically during the May 2019 meeting.

  The term of the Board came to an end 31 August 2019.
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Employment Equity Forum 
(Diversity Forum)

The Diversity Forum is established in terms of 
the Employment Equity (EE) Act, and serves the 
purpose of consultation on key organisational 

policies and plans, including EE Plan. The forum 
makes recommendations to Mintek on the 

development of the organisation’s employment 
equity and diversity policies, practices and action 
plans. It maintains an overview of diversity issues 
relating to all aspects of employees’ work, and 

receives and comments on all relevant reports in 
relation to agreed employment equity and diversity 

objectives and action plans. 

Skills Development Committee 
(SDC)

)
The Skills Development Committee evaluates 
skills development needs of the employees 

and the organisation and continually evaluates 
the implementation of identified needs. It 

also develops and implements external and 
internal skills development strategies. Monitors 

the progress of the skills development of 
the organisation. Further, it monitors the 

implementation of the Workplace Skills Planning.

8.7 Executive Management Structures 

Risk Steering Committee 
(RSC)

The Risk Steering Committee identifies the key 
strategic risks that would prevent achievement of 
Mintek’s objective; assigns ownership of specific 

identifiable risks; evaluates the significance of each 
risk; assesses Mintek’s risk appetite; identifies 

suitable responses and mitigating actions to each 
risk; ensures that the internal control system 

assists to manage the risks; and regularly reviews 
the RM policy and the Risk Implementation Plan.

Safety, Health, Environment and Quality 
(SHEQ) Committee 

The SHEQ Committee was established in line with the 
requirements of the Occupational Health and Safety Act, as 
well as the ISO14001, ISO9001 and ISO45001 International 

Standards. It provides a forum for management and em-
ployees to initiate, promote and review measures to ensure 

the health and safety of employees at work. 
A SHEQ management system has been developed and 

maintained to ensure compliance with the standards, legal 
and other obligations. The Committee reviews the SHEQ 
management system to ensure its continuing suitability, 

adequacy and effectiveness. 

EXECUTIVE M
AN

AG
EM

EN
T 

ST

RUCTURES
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8.8 Other Structures and Practices

Mintek’s remuneration strategy and practice is informed by a 
rigorous analysis of remuneration trends in the environment. 
Despite the tough competition created by mining industry 
remuneration practices, Mintek continues to strive to maintain 
a fair, robust and appropriate remuneration and rewards 
practice for our employees, which is augmented by other 
interventions that are aimed at improving staff motivation and 
retention.

The determination of Mintek’s remuneration strategy and policy 
is among the duties of the Human Resources Committee of 
the Board. The committee ensures that remuneration policy 
framework supports the strategic aims of our business and 
enables the recruitment, motivation and retention of employees 
at all levels, while complying with all relevant regulatory and 
legal requirements. 

Board Remuneration
The remuneration of the Board members is determined by the 
Minister of Finance, who issues the National Treasury’s Service 
Benefit Packages for Office-Bearers of Certain Statutory and 
Other Institutions on an annual basis. The determination 
provides for a fixed daily rate that caters for preparation and 
attendance of meetings. It is adjusted annually as the Minister 
of Finance may deem necessary. In addition, travel and 
subsistence costs are paid in line with Mintek’s Subsistence 
and Travel Policy. 

Remuneration Policy
Mintek’s Remuneration Policy applies to all Mintek employees 
appointed on a permanent, contract and casual basis. The 
policy shall provide the basis on which to determine an 
appropriate rate of pay for each job in Mintek; a rate of pay Bottom: Aerial view of the Mintek campus captured from the 

back.

8.9 Remuneration Policy and Practices

The ICT Steering Committee
The ICT Steering Committee directs, review, and approve 
ICT strategic plans, oversees major initiatives, and allocates 
necessary resources. It also ensures that ICT resources, 
strategic and operational plan align with the organisations 
directions; and reviews and approve business cases to ensure 
that ICT resources are optimised.

Code of Conduct and Business Ethics
Mintek will continue to comply with all major recommendations 
of the Code of Corporate Practices and Conduct as set out in 
the King IV Report on Corporate Governance. The Executive 
leadership and the newly appointed Board of Directors 
recognises that systems of corporate governance should 
be appraised continually to ensure that these are sound and 
constant with top-flight standards relevant to the operations of 
the organisation.
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that is fair, consistently applied across all jobs, and that is 
competitive with market trends.

This policy applies in line with Section 10(1)(b) of the 1989 
Mineral Technology Act which requires the Board to 
determine conditions of employment including the payment 
of remuneration, allowances, subsidies and other benefits 
in accordance with a system approved by the Minister. This 
function has been further delegated by the Board to the GM: 
Corporate Services in line with delegation of authority.

There were no changes to the Remuneration Policy during 
the period under review. The policy objectives remain that 
of implementing a fair and just rewards and benefits scheme 
that does not discriminate on race, gender, creed or in any 
other form of discrimination. It also advances the principles of 
fairness and equity in pay by promoting internal parity.

The quest to contain Mintek’s salary bill also continued during 
the year under review. While we ensure that Mintek employees 
are fairly rewarded, we also ensure that there is a healthy 
balance between revenue and total employee costs. As a 
consequence, the remuneration mix that has been adopted 
included a performance-based, once-off bonus that does 
not have a long-term impact on the size of the salary bill. The 
growth rate of the salary bill is kept within the inflation target 
range. 

Other financial benefits
The basket of other employee benefits is a deliberate strategy 
adopted by Mintek to mitigate the risk associated with our 
inability to compete with industry, in term of salary packages. 
The intention is to improve the quality of work life for the 
employees of Mintek, while also improving organisational 
performance. This basket includes a generous study package 
comprising a comprehensive bursary scheme that includes 
transfer payments to academic institutions, purchasing 
of study materials and books as well as leave provision for 
attending classes, preparation for exams and consultation 
with supervisors for Masters’ and Doctoral students.

89
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Top: Operators at Mintek Pyrometallurgy Division lancing a 3.2 MVA DC arc 
Furnace pilot plant during a campaign

Bottom: DC arc Furnace tapping during a pilot plant campaign
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Mintek recognises that proactive risk management is both a 
critical element of sound corporate governance and a crucial 
enabler in realising opportunities. Mintek has a well-developed 
management system that includes safety, health, environment 
and quality (SHEQ). The Board, with assistance from the ARC, 
is responsible for the governance of risk by ensuring that man-
agement maintains a sound system of risk management and 
internal controls to safeguard Mintek’s assets, and determines 
the extent and nature of the significant risks which the Board is 
willing to take in achieving Mintek’s strategic objectives.

9 Risk Management

The Risk Steering Committee (RSC) is a management com-
mittee that continually reviews the risk management process, 
internal controls, and significant risks facing the organisation 
and reports to ARC. The RSC provides the ARC with a risk 
assessment report at appropriately scheduled intervals. The 
ARC ensures that management has implemented a process 
for risk management, including an annual risk management 
plan to identify, manage and report on the risks that might pre-
vent Mintek from achieving its strategic objectives. 

Audit and Risk
Committee

reviews and recommends amendments
to the risk management policy;

ensures appropriate review of identified risks, togeth-
er with the assessment of probability and impact;

ensures appropriate review of risk action plans
for identified risks;

reviews significant transactions that are not a nor-
mal part of Mintek’s business; and

reviews and monitors related 
party transactions and
assess their propriety.
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Corporate Risk Steering Committee Meetings
Meetings are held on a quarterly basis or as required. Mintek utilises the services of insurance brokers on an annual basis to 
analyse and assess the risks associated with its assets, which are insured, together with public liability and professional indemnity, 
for the risk assessed.

ATTENDEES ROLE
NO. OF

POSSIBLE
MEETINGS

NO. OF
MEETINGS
ATTENDED

A McKenzie (Acting Chair) GM: Technology 2 2

M Motuku Chief Executive Officer 2 2

S Simelane Chief Financial Officer 2 2

G Nyanda GM: Corporate Services 2 2

M Makhafola GM: Research & Development 1 1

B Hewu Manager: EMS 2 2

H Pretorius Manager:
Finance 2 2

L Khomo Acting Manager: HR 1 1

T Hlalele Manager: HR 1 1

H Venter Head: ICT 2 2

N Mthalane Head: Internal Audit 1 1

R Manathwa Acting Head: Internal Audit 1 1

M Ginindza Head: SHEQ 1 1

C Scheepers Secretariat 1 1

L Makhetha Secretariat 1 1
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Mitigating the Top 5 Risks
Mintek’s top risks are determined by the Risk Steering Committee. The top risks include these risks and opportunities that have a 
direct potential on income, expenditure and capital as these are the key drivers of the financial risk appetite and tolerance metrics, 
negatively impact Mintek’s value chain, cause a deviation from expected outcomes and/or negatively influence reputation. Having 
identified the key strategic risks, the Risk Steering Committee considered the different ways that Mintek could respond to these 
risks, and the responses were recorded in the Risk Implementation Plan.

The options for responses include:

Avoiding
The risk by not starting the activity that 
creates exposure to the risk;1

Mitigating
The risk through improvements to the 
control environment (risk treatment may 
include methods, procedures, applications, 
management systems, and the use of 
appropriate resources that reduce the 
probability or possible severity of the risk);

2

Exploiting
The risk, where the risk exposure represents 
a potential missed or poorly-realised 
opportunity;

4

Terminating
The activity that gives rise to the intolerable 
risk; and5

Transferring
The risk exposure, usually to a third party 
better able to manage the risk, e.g. through 
insurance or outsourcing;3

Integrating
Some or all of the risk responses outlined 
above. 6

RISK DETAILS KEY RISK REDUCTION MEASURES

1 DESCRIPTION:
 Loss of commercial 

revenue.

• Ensure top quality control of all products and services
• Timely delivery of all products and services – business focused project 

managers
• Ensure competitive pricing
• Good maintenance backup and/or after sale customer care
• Adequate business planning
• Maximise alternative revenue streams
• Ensuring adequate marketing 
• Improved website needed 
• Retaining customers 
• Improving productivity without compromising quality
• Focus should be on sharing of resources as well as where it is mostly needed
• Focus on projects that Mintek can really benefit from in the short term
• Open Call research funding scheme with external review
• Focus on impactful research outputs
• Roll out of Office of Technology Transfer 

CATEGORY:
Strategic Risk

MANAGEMENT 
RESPONSE: Mitigate
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RISK DETAILS KEY RISK REDUCTION MEASURES

2 DESCRIPTION:
Operational incident 

causes injuries, 
destruction of building 
and equipment or loss 
of license to operate 
scheduled processes 

• Procedures for storing, maintaining and handling of flammable and explosive 
substances

• Training of staff 
• Three yearly fire risk assessments performed
• Hazop studies conducted 
• Bag house  and gas monitoring on stacks
• Monitoring of interlocks and emergency shutdown devices, evacuation 

procedures and airline breathing system
• Safety related inspections conducted
• Testing of systems before operation
• Implement electrical protection/tripping systems to our client 
• Installing of protection networks on contractors to protect feed transformers to 

DC drives
• Servicing and checking all oil breakers
• Infrared assessments of High Tension switchgear performed on a yearly basis by 

external company
• A possible cause of explosions could be water leaks into a furnace. Various 

interlocks (fatal alarms, etc.) installed to monitor water flows, temperature, etc.
• Totally enclosed chlorine plant
• Regular checks and continuous improvement to ensure compliance with 

regulations
• Emergency response and evacuation procedures (including site evacuation) are 

in place
• Training of staff on emergency response and evacuation procedures
• Improve internal fire equipment to supplement that of the Fire Department
• Firefighting equipment is serviced once a year and checked once a month 

CATEGORY:
Operational Risk

MANAGEMENT 
RESPONSE: Mitigate

3 DESCRIPTION: 
Failure to attract and 

retain skilled personnel

• Refocus on SET staff recruitment

• SET Human Capital Development Programme being rolled out

• Constant monitoring of best practice strategies for attraction and retention of 
skilled personnel

• Annual performance appraisals conducted on all employees to identify necessary 
skills for accelerated development

• Coaching and Mentoring program

• Succession planning

• Benchmark salary scales against industry and comparable entities

• A detailed exit interview process to determine the root cause reasons for staff 
resigning from Mintek 

• Implement a number of initiatives on social media platforms to attract young 
talent into the organisation

• Continuous benchmarking and market analysis to inform internal strategies

CATEGORY:
Strategic Risk

MANAGEMENT 
RESPONSE: Mitigate
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monitoring systems, inspections and being legally compliant 
with all facilities and systems. Addressing the skills flight and 
retention of skilled personnel, an enhanced human capital de-
velopment programmes being rolled out.

Internal Audit
Mintek’s Internal Audit (IA) is an in-house function in terms of 
51(a)(ii) of the PFMA Act No. 1 of 1999 as amended. IA is gov-
erned in terms of the Standards for the Professional Practice 
of Internal Auditing (SPPIA) as prescribed by the Institute of 
Internal Auditors. 

The IA function is an independent, impartial and consulting ac-
tivity designed to add value and improve Mintek’s operations. 
The Audit and Risk Committee approved an annual internal 
audit plan. Comprehensive reports on internal audit findings 
are presented to the executive committee and the ARC quar-
terly. The annual audit plan is risk-based and covers specific 
areas highlighted by Internal Audit and ARC. Follow-up audits 
are conducted in areas where major internal control weak-
nesses are found. 

Since the beginning of the 2019 financial year the Risk Imple-
mentation Plan has been subjected to a significant review. This 
review process is continuing and the next phase is to ensure 
that Mintek’s risk profile is aligned and benchmarked against 
similar organisations as well as its core business. In addition, 
the principles of total combined risk assurance are being as-
sessed to optimise Mintek’s approach to risk identification and 
management.

Mintek’s commercial revenue in 2020 was in excess of 15% 
higher than in 2019. This is ascribed to a greater external focus 
and an intensified effort to ensure that marketing opportunities 
are maximised locally and in the SADC region. Requests for 
commercial proposals have increased and some pilot plant 
projects have been secured and executed. However, Mintek 
envisages the constrained environment to continue, particu-
larly in South Africa given the depressed state of the economy 
as a consequence of the downgrade in investment ratings and 
the Covid-19 pandemic.

In order to minimise reputational damage due to operational 
incidents that may cause injuries, destruction of building and 
equipment and the loss of licenses to operate scheduled pro-
cesses, Mintek will continue to focus on its ongoing SHEQ 

4 DESCRIPTION: 
Changing Government 

policy and priorities

• Continuous monitoring of opportunities for funding

• Increased visibility of Mintek at National Treasury and DMRE specifically focusing 
on funding issues 

• Continuous monitoring of departmental strategic plans and other notifications

• Participation in departmental task teams and strategy sessions to remain abreast 
of policy changes and emerging priorities 

CATEGORY:
Strategic Risk

MANAGEMENT 
RESPONSE: Mitigate

5 DESCRIPTION:
Surge in operational 

costs.

• Comply to accurate and realistic budgeting and implementation thereof to 
prevent/minimize loss of profitability

• Designed ability to pass through increased costs to customers via change in 
rates/tariffs

• Pro-active management accounting and variance/trend analysis thereon

• Regular reviews of pricing policy for Mintek’s products and services undertaken

• Implementation of bi-annual review of workforce planning.

• Adequate business process analysis

• Monitor procurement/local content, assembly and fabrication

• Review fixed costs, e.g. electricity and water, and implement mitigation strategies 

CATEGORY:
Strategic Risk

MANAGEMENT 
RESPONSE: Mitigate

RISK DETAILS KEY RISK REDUCTION MEASURES
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Internal Control
Mintek maintains internal controls and systems, designed 
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the integrity and 
reliability of its financial statements, to safeguard, verify and 
maintain the accountability of assets, and to comply with 
applicable laws and regulations. Management is responsible 
for the organisation’s system of internal control, designed to 
identify, evaluate, manage and provide reasonable assurance 
against material misstatement and loss. The internal auditors 
perform independent reviews on the effectiveness of the 
internal controls as part of its annual internal audit plan. The 
ARC considered reports on controls from internal audit, the 
external auditor and risk management units.

Fraud Prevention 
Mintek takes fraud very seriously and is committed to 
a high standard of ethical conduct and adopts a zero-
tolerance approach to fraud. Mintek has adopted a fraud 
prevention plan that incorporates principles contained in the 
Public Sector Anti-Corruption Strategy and aligned to the 
Protected Disclosure Act, 2000 (Act 26 of 2000) and seeks 
to focus particularly on creating awareness and promoting 
ethical business conduct. The Fraud Prevention Committee 
activities are under review to align them with risk management 
activities. Mintek has a fraud hotline which is hosted by an 
external service provider to ensure that all stakeholders can 
report anonymously any unethical behaviour. This includes 
reports of suspected fraud, corruption, dishonest practices or 
other similar matters. The service is run totally independently 
of Mintek, and all anonymous disclosures are accepted and 
anonymity is honoured. 

Management is responsible for the development of policies 
and practices for detecting, reporting and preventing fraud 
and corruption, serious breaches of business conduct, and 
whistle-blowing procedures.

Regular reports are submitted to the ARC by management, 
along with any further documentation and information 
requested on Mintek and the Fraud Prevention Committee’s 
fraud and corruption prevention activities.
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relate to

MINTEK

Domicile, Legal Form and 
Jurisdiction

Mintek is a research institution, constituted in terms of the Mineral Technology Act No. 30 
of 1989, and operates from a Central Office situated in Randburg, South Africa.

Nature of Business and 
Principal Activities

Mintek’s mandate is to serve the national interest through research, development and 
technology transfer, to promote mineral technology and to foster the establishment and 
expansion of industries in the field of minerals and products derived therefrom.
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Chief Financial Officer Mr AS Simelane

Registered office 200 Malibongwe Drive, Randburg, 2125
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Postal address Private Bag X3015, Randburg, 2125

Bankers ABSA Limited

Auditors Auditor General (SA)
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This is the second year Mintek is reporting following the 
Generally Recognized Accounting Practices (GRAP) as per 
the requirements of directive 12 issued by the Accounting 
Standards Board (ASB). The new reporting practice (GRAP) 
will continue to affect the results of Mintek for at least 5 
years. As stated previously, the major impact of this reporting 
standards is with regard to the recognition of grant funding 
received towards capital expenditure which was previously set 
off against the cost of the grant funded asset. The result of this 
was no depreciation effect of such asset in the statement of 
financial performance.  The GRAP reporting now require that 
fully funded asset is recognized as revenue in the year it is 
received and the asset to be depreciated as per Mintek fixed 
asset policy over the life of the asset.   

This GRAP reporting had a significant effect in the statement 
of financial with the additional depreciation of R30 million in 
depreciation attributed to the funded assets. This, together 
with the impairment losses on property, plant and equipment 
of R23,7 million and the write-off of obsolete assets amounting 
to R22,3 million resulted in a net loss in the reporting period. 

Executive Summary
Mintek reported positively resilient results for the year ended 
31 March 2020, a remarkable achievement in the face of tough 
global and local trading conditions. Revenue declined slightly 
by 0.4% from R562.0 million to R561.8 million compared to a 
7% increase during the financial year 2018/2019.

In order to effectively mitigate inflationary pressures on costs, 
Mintek intensified cost containment measures however 
operating expenditure grew by 11% during the year under 
review to R615.49 million compared to 4% growth during 
the previous year as a result of impairment and write-off of 
property, plant and equipment.

Capital expenditure for the year increased to R53.6 million 
during the FY2019/2020 from R39.3 million during the financial 
year 2018/2019.

Despite operating in depressed market conditions in the 
minerals industry Mintek managed to generate positive cash 
inflows from its operations from R57.4 million during the FY 
2018/2019 to R60.6 million during FY2019/2020.

Mintek’s prudent working capital management continued 
during the financial year under review as cash and cash 
equivalents increased by 2% from R446.8 million to R453.9 
million compared to a 4% increase during the previous year.

Mintek remained highly solvent and liquid during the year under 
review. The current ratio which shows the company’s ability 
to meet its short term obligations declined slightly from 1.9:1 
during the previous year to 1.7:1 during the FY2019/2020 and 
the debt to equity ratio increased from 29% to 33%. The debt 
equity ratio of 33% for the FY019/2020 indicates that a low 
percentage of Mintek’s assets were financed by short or long 
term debt during the year under review.

Chief Financial Officer Report

 Annual Integrated Report   |   2019/2020    |    FINANCIAL REPORT
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1. Financial Performance – FY2019/2020

DESCRIPTION FY2019/2020
R’000

FY2018/2019
R’000

FY2017/2018
R’000

Revenue 561,754 562,047 527,018

Operating Expenditure (615,938) (556,601) (532,872)

Net Surplus(Deficit) (54,184) 5,446 (5,855)

Current Assets 500,198 495,875 472,284

Non-Current Assets 410,505 432,776 430,665

Total Assets 910,702 928,651 902,949

Current Liabilities (294,864) (256,155) (228,347)

Non-Current Liabilities (7,938) (10,412) (17,964)

Total Liabilities (302,803) (266,567) (246,311)

Net Assets 607,900 662,084 656,638

Cash generated from operations 60,634 57,439 18,751

Cash outflows from investing activities (53,598) (39,303) (52,039)

Liquidity – Current Ratio 1.7:1 1.9:1 2.1:1

Solvency – Debt to assets ratio 33% 29% 27%

Capital Expenditure 53,598 39,303 52,040

1.1 Revenue
Overall revenue declined by less than 10.4% from R562.8 
million during FY2018/2019 to R561.8 million  during FY2019/
2020, however government grants decreased by 8% while 
commercial revenue increased by 15%. 10% of the increase 
in commercial income is attributed to increased contract 

research revenue from the fuel cell program while the 
decrease in government grants is mainly attributed to lower 
D&O rehabilitation during the FY2919/2020 compared to the 
previous year. 

 Annual Integrated Report   |   2019/2020    |    FINANCIAL REPORT
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Revenue from government grants accounted for 59% (63%: 
FY2018/2019) of Mintek’s revenue while revenue from 
rendering of services accounted for 35% (30%: FY2018/2019). 

Interest revenue accounted for 5% (5%: FY2018/2019) 
and the smallest contributor was other income at 2% (1%: 
FY2018/2019).
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1.2  Expenditure
Overall expenditure increased by 11% from R556.6 million 
during FY2018/2019 to R615.9 million during 2019/2020. 
The increase is mainly attributed to recognition of once-off 
expenditure items relating to impairment and loss on disposal 
of assets. During the year under review Mintek considered all 
assets that were not actively used and where it was anticipated 
that they would not generate cash flows in the foreseeable 
future, these assets were written down and an impairment loss 

of R23.7 million was recognized.  Several assets were retired 
from service in the period under review and a loss on disposal 
of assets of R22.3 million was recognized. Employee costs 
contributed 49% to total expenditure during the year under 
review compared to a 54% contribution during the previous 
year. Overall cost containment measures, a decrease in 
commercial activities and a lower D&O rehabilitation during the 
year resulted in lower general expenses.
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1.3  Net Surplus/ Deficit

Mintek incurred a deficit of R54.2 million during the FY2019/ 
2020 compared to a net surplus of R5.4 million during the 
FY2018/2019. The main contributor to the net deficit is an 
increase in expenditure due to assets related exceptional 
items that were recognized during FY2019/2020.
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2. Mintek’s Financial Position

2.1 Working Capital Management
Mintek’s short term obligations were adequately covered by 
current assets at reporting date. The current ratio declined 
slightly to 1.7:1 in FY2019/2020 (1.9:1 FY2018/2019). The 
ratio indicates that Mintek’s short term obligations were 
adequately covered by current assets as at 31 March 2020.

2.2 Receivables from Exchange
 Transactions
Receivables from exchange transactions decreased from 
R37.5 million during the FY2018/2019 to R36.7 million during 
the year under review. The slight changes on these receivables 
year-on-year depict Mintek’s constant credit policy that aims 
to achieve an optimum balance between maximizing revenue 
and lowering bad debts. Strict adherence to the credit policy, 
consistency in collection of repayments from customers 
and advance payments enable this optimum balance to be 
achieved.

2.3 Inventory
A decrease in inventory from R11.6 million during the 
FY2018/2019 (R9.5 million: FY2017/2018) to R9.6 million 
during the FY2019/2020 is mainly due to less project related 
work-in-progress products that were held as inventory at the 
reporting date compared to the previous year.

2.4 Short Term Investments
Mintek holds short term fixed deposits with various reputable 
financial institutions. These funds are earmarked for financing 
Mintek operations, liabilities and capital expenditure. 

2.5 Payables from Exchange Transactions
Payables from exchange transactions decreased from R80 
million to R72 million during year under review which is mainly 
attributable to lower balances owing to suppliers at year-end.

2.6 Unspent Conditional Grants and 
 Receipts
Included in current liabilities is project related unspent 
conditional grants of R219.5 million (R167.0 million: 
FY2018/2019) where conditions are yet to be fulfilled. These 
grants are recognized as deferred income and they arise 
as a result of contracts undertaken for several government 
departments and institutions in respect of amounts received 
in cash not yet accounted for as revenue. The majority 
of the unspent funds relates the Rehabilitation of Derelict 
and Ownerless mines that is affected mainly by community 
related challenges. This situation is however improving when 
compared to the previous period.

3. Cash Flow Analysis
Mintek’s cash balances have remained above R400 million 
over the last three financial years. Cash and cash equivalents 
increased from R446.8 million during FY2018/2019 to R453.9 
million.

Improved operational performance resulted in an increase 
in net cash flows from operations from R57.4 million during 
the FY2018/2019 to R60.6 million during the FY2019/2020. 
Mintek managed to fund all of its capital expenditure from cash 
generated from the business over the two years. Cash invested 
in property, plant, equipment and intangible assets increased 
from R39.3 million during the FY2017/2019 to R53.6 million 
during the year under review. 

Fi
na

nc
ia

l 
R

ep
or

t

1456 AIR Templates S10 Fin Report_v12_DTP Z.indd   1041456 AIR Templates S10 Fin Report_v12_DTP Z.indd   104 2020-11-17   09:59:522020-11-17   09:59:52



 Annual Integrated Report   |   2019/2020    |    FINANCIAL REPORT Annual Integrated Report   |   2019/2020    |    FINANCIAL REPORT 105

Financial 
R

ep
ort

4. Property, Plant and Equipment (PPE)
The net book value of assets at reporting date decreased 
from R432.8 million during the FY2018/2019 to R410.5 million 
during the year under review. The PPE was impacted by 
recognition of an impairment loss of R23.6 million and a loss 
on sale of assets of R22.3 million.

5. Comparison of Budget and Actual
 Amounts
Overall revenue was in line with the budget with a 3% 
variance, however expenditure exceeded the budget by 8%. 
This is mainly due to assets related adjustments that include 
depreciation, re-assessment of useful lives, impairment loss 
and loss on disposal of assets. A change in accounting 
treatment from GAAP to GRAP resulted in an unbudgeted 
depreciation adjustment of R30 million. Re-assessment of 
useful lives of R16.9 million, impairment of assets of R23.9 
million and a loss on disposal of assets of R22.3 million.

6. Financial Outlook - MTEF Plan

DETAILS FY2020/2021 FY2021/2022 FY2022/2023

R’000 R’000 R’000

Revenue 568,353 592,033 610,444

Expenditure 562,451 587,892 606,751

Net Result 5,902 4,141 3,693

Cash generated from operations 100,920 57,257 54,327

Capital Expenditure 50,331 51,841 52,877
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Report Of The Audit And Risk Committee (ARC)
As required by Treasury Regulations 27.1.7 and 27.1.10(b) 
and (c) issued in terms of sections 51(1)(a)(ii) and 76(4)(d) of  

the Public Finance Management (PFMA) Act 1 of 1999, as 
amended by Act 29 of 1999.

Audit and Risk Committee Report

1. Audit and Risk Committee Members and Attendance

NAME QUALIFICATION CATEGORY ATTENDANCE

Mr D Dlamini M Com, PGD Bus Mngt, BTech Taxation, ND 
Accounting, Prof Accountant SA

Non-Executive 1/2

Mr MJ Rachidi PTC, Mngt Dev Programme, Computer 
Operations and Programming

Non-Executive 2/2

Ms S Ngwenya MBA, PGD in Mngt, BCom Non-Executive 1/2

Mr P Mkhombo LLM, LLB, BProc Non-Executive 2/2

Dr M Motuku PhD & MSc (Materials Eng), BSc (Mech Eng), BSc (Physics) Executive 1/2

Mr M Moalusi B Acc, CA(SA) Independent 1/2

Ms T Hlongwane B Com, HDE (Acc), CA(SA) Independent 2/2

New Members appointed in June 2020

NAME QUALIFICATION CATEGORY ATTENDANCE

Ms MM Phiri BCom (Accounting), BCompt Hons/CTA, CA (SA) Non-Executive n/a

Ms PN Zikalala-Mvelase B. Proc, LLB Non-Executive n/a

Mr LL Makibinyane CEng; MIChemE, MLB; B. Eng (Hons), MPD Non-Executive n/a

Ms NF Ngcwabe BA Geography, BA (Hons) Geography and 
Environmental Management, LLB

Non-Executive n/a

Dr M Motuku PhD & MSC (Materials Eng), BSc (Mech Eng), BSc (Physics) Executive n/a

Ms M Thomani Dip (Bookkeeping), BCom (Accounting), BCompt 
Hons/ CTA, PGDip (Auditing), CA (SA)

Independent n/a

Mr M Mokupo CA(L) Independent n/a

2. Audit and Risk Committee Responsibility
The Mintek ARC has to a certain extent complied with its 
responsibilities arising from section 51(1)(a)(ii) of the PFMA 
read with Treasury Regulation 27.1.8 and the charter. The 

ARC was in existence for five months during the financial year 
under review. The ARC can report that external audit; which is 
performed by the Auditor-General, is independent of Mintek.

The ARC consists of the members listed hereunder. The term 
of office of the ARC ended on 31 August 2019. The Executive 
authority appointed new members in June 2020. During the 
financial year under review, the audit and risk committee held 

two meetings, and appropriate feedback was provided to the 
Accounting Authority on matters that were within the mandate 
of the ARC for the period that the ARC was in existence.
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7. The Quality of In-year Monthly/
 Quarterly Reports Submitted in terms 
 of the PFMA
The ARC reports that, during the year under review, they were 
presented with regular management reports to enable them 
to:

i. Monitor the integrity, accuracy and reliability of the
 financial position of Mintek;
ii. Review the management accounts of Mintek to
 provide the accounting authority with an authoritative
 and credible view of the financial position of Mintek;
iii. Review the disclosure in the financial reports of
 Mintek and the context in which statements on the
 financial health of Mintek are made; and
iv. Review all material information presented together
 with the management accounts.

8. The Quality of Budgets Submitted in
    terms of the PFMA
The ARC was in existence for the first five months of the 
financial year and it reports that, during that period, it was 
presented with a budget to enable it to: 

i. Monitor and review the implementation of the
 approved budget of Mintek by the accounting
 authority.

9. Evaluation of Annual Financial
 Statements

The ARC has evaluated the group and the company’s annual 
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2020 and 
concluded that they fully comply in all material aspects with the 
requirements of the Public Finance Management Act (PFMA) 
no. 1 of 1999, as amended by Act 29 of 1999, and Standards 
of Generally Recognised Accounting Practice (SA Statements 
of GRAP).

10. Auditor General`s Report
The ARC concurs and accepts the conclusions of the AGSA 
on the Annual Financial Statements and believes that the 
audited Annual Financial Statements must be accepted and 
read together with the report of the AGSA.

Ms M Phiri (Chairperson)
Audit and Risk Committee 
2020

3. Effectiveness of Internal Control
The PFMA 51(1) (a) (i) states that the accounting authority must 
ensure that the entity has maintained an effective, efficient and 
transparent system of financial and risk management and 
internal control.

The ARC has reviewed the findings by the Internal Audit 
and External audit and agree with the findings including 
the emphasis of matters and proposed action plans by 
management to address the findings. Of importance, we note 
the findings on Accounting Authority and Audit Committee and 
confirm that on the reporting date, both vacancies were filled.

4. Governance of Risk
The PFMA 51(1)(a)(i) states that the accounting authority must 
ensure that the entity maintains an effective, efficient and 
transparent system of financial and risk management and 
internal control.

The ARC has the responsibility to ensure that a risk 
management process is in place at Mintek, and as such can 
report that Mintek has maintained an effective system of risk 
management, however this is limited to the period that the 
ARC was in existence.

5. Internal Audit
The ARC was responsible for ensuring that Mintek’s internal 
audit section was independent and had the necessary 
resources, standing and authority within Mintek to enable 
it to effectively and efficiently discharge its duties. The ARC 
considered and approved the internal audit three-year rolling 
strategic audit plan for the period 2019/2020 – 2021/2022 and 
the external quality assessment review of the Internal Audit 
Section. As indicated in paragraph 1, the ARC was in existence 
for five months during the year and this has resulted in lack 
of oversight from ARC. The internal audit plan for 2019/2020 
was not concluded timeously due to insufficient capacity in the 
Internal Audit section. Going forward more resources will be 
deployed to Internal Audit to ensure its effectiveness.

6. Whistle Blowing
The ARC received and dealt with any concerns or complaints, 
whether from within or outside of Mintek, relating to fraud, 
corruption, theft and maladministration.
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The directors are of the opinion, based on the information 
and explanations given by management, that the system 
of internal control provides reasonable assurance that the 
financial records may be relied on for the preparation of the 
financial statements and that the financial statements are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
However, any system of internal financial control can provide 
only reasonable, and not absolute, assurance against material 
misstatement or deficit.

The board has reviewed Mintek’s cash flow forecast for the 
year to 31 March 2020 and, in the light of this review and the 
current financial position, it is satisfied that Mintek has, or has 
access to, adequate resources to continue in operational 
existence for the foreseeable future.

Although the directors are primarily responsible for the financial 
affairs of the entity, they are supported by the economic 
entity’s external auditors. The Auditor-General is responsible 
for independently reviewing and reporting on Mintek’s annual 
financial statements and his report is presented with these 
financial statements.

Dr VM Mkosana
Chairman of the Board

Dr M Motuku
Chief Executive Officer
30 September 2020

Board’s Responsibilities and Approval

Board’s Responsibilities and Approval
The directors are required by the Public Finance Management 
Act (Act 1 of 1999), as amended, to maintain adequate 
accounting records and are responsible for the content and 
integrity of the annual financial statements and related financial 
information included in this report. It is the responsibility of the 
members to ensure that the annual financial statements fairly 
present the state of affairs of the entity as at the end of the 
financial year and the results of its operations and cash flows 
for the year then ended, in conformity with GRAP. The Auditor-
General was engaged to express an independent opinion on 
the annual financial statements and was given unrestricted 
access to all financial records, related data and relevant parties.

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance 
with the Standards of GRAP including any interpretations, 
guidelines and directives issued by the ASB and in the manner 
required by the Accounting Standards Directors.

The annual financial statements are based on appropriate 
accounting policies consistently applied and supported by 
reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates.

The directors acknowledges that they are ultimately responsible 
for the system of internal financial control established by 
Mintek and place considerable importance on maintaining a 
strong control environment, which includes the safeguarding 
of assets and compliance with relevant legislation. To enable 
the directors to meet these responsibilities, the directors sets 
standards for internal control aimed at reducing risk of error 
deficit in a cost effective manner. The standards include the 
proper delegation of responsibilities within a clearly defined 
framework, effective accounting and other procedures, and 
adequate segregation of duties to ensure an acceptable level 
of risk. These controls are monitored throughout Mintek and 
all employees and management are required to maintain the 
highest ethical standards in ensuring the entity’s business is 
conducted in a manner that in all reasonable circumstances 
is above reproach. The focus of risk management in the 
economic entity is on identifying, assessing, managing and 
monitoring all known forms of risk across Mintek. While 
operating risk cannot be fully eliminated, the economic 
entity endeavours to minimise it by ensuring that appropriate 
infrastructure, controls, systems and ethical behaviour are 
applied and managed within predetermined procedures and 
constraints.

The board accepts its responsibility to ensure that Mintek is 
managed in a responsible manner, considering the interest 
of all stakeholders, including the DMRE, employees, local 
communities and creditors. Responsible management entails, 
inter alia, compliance with applicable statutory and regulatory 
requirements, including risk management.
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The directors have the pleasure of presenting their report, 
which forms part of annual financial statements for the year 
ended 31 March 2020.

1. Nature of the Business
Mintek is South Africa’s national mineral research organisation 
and is one of the world’s leading technology organisations 
specialising in mineral processing, extractive metallurgy and 
related areas. Mintek works closely with the mining industry 
and other R&D institutions and provides service test work, 
process development and optimisation, consulting and 
innovative products to clients worldwide. Mintek is a state 
owned science council which reports to the Minister of Mineral 
Resources and Energy. 

2. Material Changes in the Group
There were no material changes in the group during the 
financial year 2019/2020.

3. Review of Activities and Results  

3.1  Revenue
Revenue for the year amounted to R561.8m, (2018/2019: 
R562m), representing a decline of less than 0.5% from the 
prior year. The state grant contributed 43% (2018/2019: 38%) 
to total revenue and MTEF contributed 16% (2018/2019: 
26%). Products and services contributed 21% (2018/2019: 
21%) and contract research contributed 14% (2018/2019: 
9%).  

Director’s Report for the Year Ended 31 March 2020
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3.2 Expenditure
Operating expenditure grew by 10.4% from R557m in 
2019/2020 to R616m during the year under review. The 
increase is mainly attributed to recognition of once-off 
expenditure items relating to impairment and loss on disposal 
of assets. During the year under review Mintek considered all 
assets that were not actively used and where it was anticipated 
that they would not generate cash flows in the foreseeable 
future, these assets were written down and an impairment loss 
of R23.7 million was recognised. The expenditure increase 

that are in line with inflation were achieved through robust cost 
containment initiatives and savings in employee costs. The 
main contributors to the expenditure were employee costs, 
fees for services and general expenditure. Employee costs as 
a percentage of total expenditure decreased by 4% to 49%. 
This is mainly due to decrease in staff numbers.
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3.3 Net Surplus
Mintek incurred a deficit of R54.2m during the FY2019/2020 
compared to a net surplus of R5.4m during the FY2018/2019. 
The main contributor to the net deficit was an increase in 
expenditure due to assets related exceptional items that were 
recognised during FY2019/2020.
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3.4  Financial Position

3.5  Property, Plant, Equipment and Intangible
 Assets
During the year, Mintek invested R52m in property, plant, 
equipment and intangible assets. Capital expenditure was 
mainly for plant, machinery and laboratory which is line with 
Mintek’s core business. The capital expenditure was funded 
by internal cash generations and government grant.

3.6 Equity and Liabilities
Mintek’s equity amounted to R608m, (2018/2019, R662m). 
The only long term obligation in Mintek’s statement of financial 
position related to a post - retirement medical benefit to 
certain pensioners and their dependants. The decline in the 
value of the obligation is in line with the decline in the number 
of employees that are covered on the medical scheme and 
changes in actuarial assumptions. The revaluation reserve 
mainly relates to the revaluation surplus that arose on the 
revaluation of land buildings.

4. Changes in Accounting Policy
There were no significant changes in accounting policies 
during the year under review.

5. Going Concern
Mintek annual financial statements have been prepared on 
the going concern basis. The Board has performed a formal 
review of Mintek’s ability to continue trading as a going 
concern in the foreseeable future and based on this review, 
considers that the presentation of the financial statements on 
this basis is appropriate. There are no pending or threatened 
legal or arbitration proceedings, which have had or may have a 
material effect on the financial position of the Group.

6. Events After the Reporting Date
There have been no facts or circumstances of a material 
nature that have arisen between the financial year-end and the 
date of this report.

7. Other Matters
Further information on the activities, performance and financial 
position of the Group is presented in the consolidated annual 
financial statements and notes thereto. 

There were no current material significant negotiations for 
major transactions at the reporting date.

8. Country of Incorporation
Mintek is incorporated in South Africa.

9. Registered Office and Postal Address
200 Malibongwe Drive, Randburg, 2194

Private Bag X3015
Randburg, 2125, South Africa

10. Auditors 

Auditor General of South Africa (AGSA)
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Report of the Auditor-General to Parliament on the Mintek Group

Opinion
1. I have audited the consolidated and separate 

financial statements of the Mintek Group and its 
subsidiary (the group)] set out on pages 117 to 
184, which comprise the consolidated and separate 
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2020, 
consolidated and separate statement of financial 
performance, statement of changes in net assets, 
cash flow statement and statement of comparison 
of budget and actual amounts for the year then 
ended, as well as the notes to the consolidated and 
separate financial statements, including a summary 
of significant accounting policies.  

2. In my opinion, the consolidated and separate financial 
statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
consolidated and separate financial position of the 
Mintek Group as at 31 March 2020, and its financial 
performance and cash flows for the year then ended 
in accordance with the South African Standards of 
Generally Recognised Accounting Practice (SA 
standards of GRAP) and the requirements of the 
Public Finance Management Act of South Africa, 
1999 (Act No. 1 of 1999) (PFMA) .

Basis for opinion
3. I conducted my audit in accordance with the Inter-

national Standards on Auditing (ISAs). My responsi-
bilities under those standards are further described 
in the auditor-general’s responsibilities for the audit 
of the consolidated and separate financial state-
ments section of this auditor’s report.

4. I am independent of the public entity in accordance 
with sections 290 and 291 of the Code of ethics 
for professional accountants and parts 1 and 3 of 
the International Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (including International Independence 
Standards) of the International Ethics Standards 
Board for Accountants (IESBA codes) as well 
as the ethical requirements that are relevant to 
my audit in South Africa. I have fulfilled my other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements and the IESBA codes.

5. I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
opinion.

Emphasis of matters
6. I draw attention to the matters below. My opinion is 

not modified in respect of these matters.

Material impairments – Property, plant 
and equipment

7. As disclosed in note 19 to the financial statements, 
the property, plant and equipment balance has 
been significantly impaired. The impairment losses 
originated from assets previously used in research or 
commercial activities. The allowance for impairment 
amounts to R23 562 001 (2018-19: R0) which 
represent 6% (2018-19: 0%) of the total property, 
plant and equipment. 

Restatement of corresponding figures

8. As disclosed in note 23 to the financial statements, 
the corresponding figures for 31 March 2019 were 
restated as a result of an error in the financial 
statements of the public entity at, and for the year 
ended, 31 March 2020.

Responsibilities of the accounting 
officer for the consolidated and separate 
financial statements
9. The board of directors, which constitutes the 

accounting authority is responsible for the preparation 
and fair presentation of the consolidated and 
separate financial statements in accordance with the 
SA standards of GRAP and the requirements of the 
PFMA  and for such internal control as the accounting 
authority determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of consolidated and separate financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error.

10. In preparing the consolidated and separate financial 
statements, the accounting authority is responsible 
for assessing the public entity’s ability to continue as 
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters 
relating to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless the appropriate 

Report on the audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements
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Report on the audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements

Report on the audit of the annual performance report

Introduction and scope
13. In accordance with the Public Audit Act of South 

Africa 2004 (Act No. 25 of 2004) (PAA) and the 
general notice issued in terms thereof, I have a 
responsibility to report on the usefulness and 
reliability of the reported performance information 
against predetermined objectives for the selected 
strategic objective presented in the annual 
performance report. I performed procedures to 
identify material findings but not to gather evidence 
to express assurance.

14. My procedures address the usefulness and reliability 
of the reported performance information, which 
must be based on the approved performance 
planning documents of the public entity. I have not 
evaluated the completeness and appropriateness of 
the performance indicators included in the planning 
documents. My procedures do not examine whether 
the actions taken by the public entity enabled 
service delivery. My procedures also do not extend 
to any disclosures or assertions relating to planned 
performance strategies and information in respect 
of future periods that may be included as part of the 
reported performance information. Accordingly, my 
findings do not extend to these matters. 

15. I evaluated the usefulness and reliability of the 
reported performance information in accordance 
with the criteria developed from the performance 
management and reporting framework, as defined 
in the general notice, for the following selected

15. objective presented in the annual performance 
report of the public entity for the year ended 31 
March 2020:

Objectives Pages in the annual
performance report

Objective 2 - Research 
and develop efficient 
mineral processing 
technologies and value 
added products and 
services

191-192

16. I did not identify any material findings on 
the usefulness and reliability of the reported 
performance information for the following strategic 
objective: Research and develop efficient mineral 
processing technologies and value added products 
and services

10. governance structure either intends to liquidate the 
group or to cease operations, or has no realistic 
alternative but to do so.

11. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence 
the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of these consolidated and separate financial 
statements.

12. A further description of my responsibilities for the 
audit of the consolidated and separate financial 
statements is included in the annexure to this 
auditor’s report. 

Auditor-General’s responsibilities for the 
audit of the consolidated and separate 
financial statements
11. My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance 

about whether the consolidated and separate 
financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes 
my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level 
of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with the ISAs will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists.
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Report of the Auditor-General to Parliament on the Mintek Group

Report on audit of compliance with legislation

Introduction and scope
17. In accordance with the PAA and the general notice 

issued in terms thereof, I have a responsibility 
to report material findings on the public entity’s 
compliance with specific matters in key legislation. I 
performed procedures to identify findings but not to 
gather evidence to express assurance. 

18. The material findings on compliance with specific 
matters in key legislation are as follows: 

Annual financial statements
19. The financial statements submitted for auditing were 

not prepared in accordance with the prescribed 
financial reporting framework, as required by section 
55(1)(a) of the PFMA. Material misstatements of 
related party note, statement of changes in net 
assets, and expenditure identified by the auditors in 
the submitted financial statements were corrected, 
resulting in the financial statements receiving an 
unqualified audit opinion.

Other information

20. The accounting authority is responsible for the other 
information. The other information does not include 
the consolidated and separate financial statements, 
the auditor’s report and the selected objective 
presented in the annual performance report that 
have been specifically reported in this auditor’s 
report.

21. My opinion on the financial statements and findings 
on the reported performance information and 
compliance with legislation do not cover the other 
information and I do not express an audit opinion or 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

22. In connection with my audit, my responsibility 
is to read the other information and, in doing so, 
consider whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the consolidated and separate 
financial statements and the selected objectives 
presented in the annual performance report, or 
my knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise 
appears to be materially misstated. 

23. I did not receive the other information prior to the date 
of this auditor’s report. When I do receive and read 
this information, if I conclude that there is a material 
misstatement therein, I am required to communicate 
the matter to those charged with governance and 
request that the other information be corrected. If 
the other information is not corrected, I may have to 
retract this auditor’s report and re-issue an amended 
report as appropriate. However, if it is corrected this 
will not be necessary.
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Internal control deficiencies

22. In connection with my audit, my responsibility 
is to read the other information and, in doing so, 
consider whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the consolidated and separate 
financial statements and the selected objectives 
presented in the annual performance report, or 
my knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise 
appears to be materially misstated. 

23. I did not receive the other information prior to the date 
of this auditor’s report. When I do receive and read 
this information, if I conclude that there is a material 
misstatement therein, I am required to communicate 
the matter to those charged with governance and 
request that the other information be corrected. If 
the other information is not corrected, I may have to 
retract this auditor’s report and re-issue an amended 
report as appropriate. However, if it is corrected this 
will not be necessary.

24. I considered internal control relevant to my audit of 
the consolidated and separate financial statements, 
reported performance information and compliance 
with applicable legislation; however, my objective 
was not to express any form of assurance on it. The 
matters reported below are limited to the significant 
internal control deficiencies that resulted in the 
finding on compliance with legislation included in 
this report.

25. Senior management did not ensure that adequate 
reviews are performed on the submitted financial 
statements to ensure that they are accurate and 
complete and compliant with the SA standards of 
GRAP, which resulted in material amendments to 
the annual financial statements.

Johannesburg
30 September 2020
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Annexure - Auditor-general’s responsibility for the audit

1. As part of an audit in accordance with the ISAs, 
I exercise professional judgement and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout my audit of the 
consolidated and separate financial statements and 
the procedures performed on reported performance 
information for the selected objective and on the 
public entity’s compliance with respect to the selected 
subject matters.

Financial statements
2. In addition to my responsibility for the audit of the 

consolidated and separate financial statements as 
described in this auditor’s report, I also:  

• identify and assess the risks of material misstatement 
of the consolidated and separate financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error; design and perform audit 
procedures responsive to those risks; and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for my opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for 
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations or 
the override of internal control

• obtain an understanding of internal control relevant 
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the group’s internal control

• evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by the accounting 
authority

• conclude on the appropriateness of the accounting 
authority’s use of the going concern basis of accounting 
in the preparation of the financial statements. I also 
conclude, based on the audit evidence obtained, 
whether a material uncertainty exists relating to events 
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the 
ability of the Mintek Group and its subsidiary to continue 
as a going concern. If I conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, I am required to draw attention in 
my auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the 
financial statements about the material uncertainty or, if 
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify my opinion 
on the financial statements. My conclusions are based 
on the information available to me at the date of this 
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions 
may cause a public entity to cease operating as a 
going concern

• evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content 
of the financial statements, including the disclosures, 
and determine whether the financial statements 
represent the underlying transactions and events in a 
manner that achieves fair presentation

• obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding 
the financial information of the entities or business 
activities within the group to express an opinion on the 
consolidated financial statements. I am responsible 
for the direction, supervision and performance of the 
group audit. I remain solely responsible for my audit 
opinion. 

Communication with those charged with 
governance

3. I communicate with the accounting authority regarding, 
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of 
the audit and significant audit findings, including any 
significant deficiencies in internal control that I identify 
during my audit. 

4. I also confirm to the accounting authority that I have 
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence, and communicate all relationships and 
other matters that may reasonably be thought to have 
a bearing on my independence and, where applicable, 
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards 
applied. 
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Statement of Financial Position at 31 March 2020

ECONOMIC ENTITY CONTROLLING ENTITY

FIGURES IN RAND NOTE(S) 2020 2019
Restated*

2020 2019
Restated*

ASSETS

Current Assets 500,197,601 495,874,765 500,197,601 495,874,765

Inventories 1. 9,590,698 11,577,117 9,590,698 11,577,117

Receivables from 
Exchange Transactions

2. 36,746,677 37,473,933 36,746,677 37,473,933

Cash and Cash 
Equivalents

3. 453,860,226 446,823,715 453,860,226 446,823,715

Non-Current Assets 432,776,266 432,776,366

Non-Current Assets 410,504,898 432,776,266 410,504,998 432,776,366

Property, Plant and 
Equipment

4. 405,868,935 427,832,073 405,868,935 427,832,073

Intangible Assets 5. 4,635,963 4,944,194 4,635,963 4,944,194

Non-current Investments 6. - - 100 100

Total Assets 910,702,499 928,651,031 910,702,599 928,651,131 

LIABILITIES LIABILITIES
256,155,475 256,155,475

Current Liabilities 294,864,344 256,155,475 294,864,344 256,155,475

Provisions 7. 1,315,604 1,022,670 1,315,604 1,022,670

Payables from Exchange 
Transactions

8. 71,973,133 80,155,272 71,973,133 80,155,272

Unspent Conditional 
Grants and Receipts

9. 219,499,523 167,017,044 219,499,523 167,017,044

VAT Payable 937,291 5,172,525 937,921 5,172,525

Current Portion of 
Long-term Liabilities

11. 11. 1,138,793 2,787,964 1,138,793 2,787,964

Non-Current Liabilities 7,938,312 10,412,036 47,453,355 49,927,079

Long Term Liabilities 10. - - 39,515,043 39,515,043

Employee Benefit Liabilities 11. 7,938,312 10,412,036 7,938,312 10,412,036
   

Total Liabilities 302,802,656 266,567,511 342,317,699 306,082,555

Total Assets and 
Liabilities

607,899,843 662,083,519 568,384,900 622,568,576

NET ASSETS 607,899,843 662,083,519 568,384,900 622,568,576

Reserves 12. 143,714,383 145,244,980 143,714,383 145,244,980

Accumulated Surplus 464,185,460 516,838,539 424,670,517 477,323,596

Total Net Assets 
and Liabilities

910,702,499 928,651,031 910,702,599 928,651,131
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Statement of Financial Performance at 31 March 2020

ECONOMIC ENTITY CONTROLLING ENTITY

FIGURES IN RAND NOTE(S) 2020 2019
Restated*

2020 2019
Restated*

REVENUE

Revenue from Non-
exchange Transactions

Government Grants and 
Subsidies Received

13. 329,111,667 356,309,382 329,111,667 356,309,382

Revenue from Exchange 
Transactions

Rendering of Services 14. 194,719,565 169,012,824 194,719,565 169,012,824

Rental of Facilities 
and Equipment 3,638,750 3,131,936 3,638,750 3,131,936

Interest Earned 15. 27,311,284
28,450,163282828 28,450,163 27,311,284

28,450,163 28,450,163282828 28,450,163

Discount Received 50,965 56,543 50,965 56,543

Other Revenue 16. 2,709,823 2,685,572 2,709,823 2,685,572

Gain on Foreign Exchange 4,212,150 2,400,415 4,212,150 2,400,415

Total Revenue 561,754,204 562,046,835 561,754,204 562,046,835 

EXPENDITURE

Employee Related Costs 17. 300,083,984 297,298,795 300,083,984 297,298,795

Depreciation and Amortisation 18. 29,861,397 36,912,3753 36,912,375 29,861,397 36,912,375 36,912,3753 36,912,375

Impairment Losses 19. 23,930,032 314,734 23,930,032 314,734

Bursary Costs 12,988,653 11,430,659 12,988,653 11,430,659

Finance Costs 20. 1,305,723 1,656,486 1,305,723 1,656,486

Professional Services 21. 17,860,310 13,042,656 17,860,310 13,042,656

Repairs and Maintenance 20,234,466 15,187,267 15,187,267 20,234,466 15,187,267 15,187,267 15,187,267

Rehabilitation Services 62,582,014 15,187,267 72,159,418 62,582,014 15,187,267 15,187,267 72,159,418

General Expenses 22. 127,926,676 114,574,501 127,926,676 114,574,501

Actuarial gains (3,142,989) (6,255,511) (3,142,989) (6,255,511)

Loss on Disposal of Property, 
Plant and Equipment

22,307,615 279,754 22,307,615 279,754

Total Expenditure 615,937,880 556,601,134 615,937,880 556,601,134

 

(DEFICIT)/SURPLUS 
FOR THE YEAR

(54,183,676) 5,445,701 (54,183,676) 5,445,701 
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Statement of Changes in Net Assets for the Year Ended 31 March 2020

DESCRIPTION REVALUATION 
RESERVE

TOTAL FOR
ACCUMULATED 

SURPLUS/ (DEFICIT)

TOTAL NET 
ASSETS

R R R

Economic Entity

2019

Balance at 31 March 2018 146,775,577 509,862,241 656,637,819

Surplus for the year - 5,445,701 5,445,701

Offsetting of Depreciation (1,530,597) 1,530,597 -

Balance at 31 March 2019 145,244,980 516,838,539 662,083,519

-

Deficit for the year - (54,183,676) (54,183,676)

Offsetting of Depreciation (1,530,597) 1,530,597 -

Balance at 31 March 2020 143,714,383 464,185,460 607,899,843

Controlling Entity 
2019

Balance at 31 March 2018 146,775,577 470,347,299 617,122,876

Surplus for the year - 5,445,701 5,445,701

Offsetting of Depreciation (1,530,597) 1,530,597 -

Balance at 31 March 2019 145,244,980 477,323,596 622,568,576

Deficit for the year - (54,183,676) (54,183,676)

Offsetting of Depreciation (1,530,597) 1,530,597 -

Balance at 31 March 2020 143,714,383 424,670,517 568,384,900

Details on the movement of the Funds and Reserves are set out in Note 12.
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Cash Flow Statement for the Year Ended 31 March 2020

ECONOMIC ENTITY CONTROLLING ENTITY

DESCRIPTION NOTE(S) 2020 2019
Restated*

2020 2019
Restated*

R R R R

CASH FLOWS FROM 
OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Receipts

Government Grant and Subsidies 397,140,561 349,047,200 379,140,561 349,047,200

Receipts from Rendering of Services 198,306,864 178,490,610 198,306,864 178,490,610

Interest Received 27,311,284 28,482,239 27,311,284 28,482,239

Other Receipts 9,844,260 8,104,561 9,844,260 8,104,561

Payments

Employee Related Costs (303,461,300) (303,885,932) (303,461,300) (303,885,932)

Interest Paid (5,723) 43,514 (5,723) 43,514

Suppliers Paid (122,867,427) (88,389,812) (122,867,427) (88,389,812)

Other Payments (127,633,742) (114,453,366) (127,633,742) (114,453,366)

NET CASH FLOWS FROM 
OPERATING ACTIVITIES

25. 60,634,278 57,439,015 60,634,278 57,439,015

CASH FLOWS FROM 
INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchase of Property, 
Plant and Equipment

4. (53,577,397) (37,034,390) (53,577,397) (37,034,390)

Purchase of Intangible Assets 5. (20,370) (2,268,716) (20,370) (2,268,716)

NET CASH FLOWS FROM 
INVESTING ACTIVITIES

(53,597,767)  (39,303,106) (53,597,767)  (39,303,106)

  

NET INCREASE IN CASH 
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

7,036,511 18,135,908 7,036,511 18,135,908

Cash and Cash Equivalents 
at Beginning of Period 3. 446,823,715 428,687,807 446,823,715 428,687,807

Cash and Cash Equivalents 
at End of Period 3. 453,860,226 446,823,715 453,860,226 446,823,715
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Statement of Comparison of Budget and Actual Amounts for the Year Ended 31 March 2020

DESCRIPTION FINAL BUDGET ACTUAL VARIANCE

ACTUAL 
OUTCOME AS 
% OF FINAL 

BUDGET

R R R %

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

Revenue from Non-
exchange Transactions

Government Grants and 
Subsidies Received

337,569,873 329,111,667 (8,458,206) 97.49

Revenue from Exchange 
Transactions

Rendering of Services 204,689,514 194,719,565 (9,969,948) 95.13

Rental of Facilities and Equipment 3,453,797 3,638,750 184,953 105.36

Interest Earned 30,956,817 27,311,284 (3,645,533) 88.22

Discount Received 48,000 50,965 2,965 106.18

Other Revenue 636,000 2,709,823 2,073,823 426.07

Gains on Other Operations - 4,212,150 4,212,150 0.00

Total Revenue 577,354,000 561,754,204 (15,599,797) 97.30

Expenditure

Employee Related Costs 322,193,441 300,083,984 (22,109,457) 93.14

Depreciation and Amortisation 18,155,463 29,861,397 11,705,934 164.48

Impairment Losses - 23,930,032 23,930,032 0.00

Repairs and Maintenance 10,629,546 20,234,466 9,604,920 190.36

Finance Costs 2,000,000 1,305,723 (694,277) 65.29

Bursary Costs 13,828,419 12,988,653 (839,767) 93.93

Professional Services 15,012,284 17,860,310 2,848,026 118.97

General Expenses 121,648,252 127,926,676 6,278,423 105.16

Rehabilitation Services 67,220,594 62,582,014 (4,938,580) 93.10

Gains on Other Operations - (3,142,989) (3,142,989) 0.00

Loss on Disposal of Property, 
Plant and Equipment

- 22,307,615 22,307,615 0.00

Total Expenditure 571,688,000 615,937,880 44,249,880 107.74

Surplus/(Deficit) for the Year 5,666,000 (54,183,676) (59,849,676) -
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Financial Performance: Explanation of Variances between Approved Budget and Actual

Reasons for Variances greater than 10% between Approved Budget and Actual Amount on the various items 
disclosed in the Statement of Financial Performance are explained below:

Interest Earned: Lower interest income was earned than anticipated due to lower interest 
rates and less cash reserves.

Other Revenue: Other revenue is not budgeted for in full as it relates to sundry income that 
is received through sources such as SDL Levy refund, breach of contract 
income, insurance recoveries.

Depreciation and Amortisation: The significant variation on depreciation relates to the depreciation on funded 
assets that were not budgeted for initially to the value of R30m. This is due to 
the change in accounting treatment from GAAP to GRAP. Re-assessment of 
useful lives of R17m was also not budgeted for.

Impairment Losses: During the year under review Mintek considered all assets that were not 
actively in use and where it was anticipated that they would not generate 
cashflow in the foreseeable future. Impairments were recognised on those 
assets in 2020.

Repairs and Maintenance: More maintenance costs were incurred than initially planned due to 
breakdown of equipment.

Finance Costs: Total finance costs were lower than expected due to decreased deemed 
interest cost on the long term post retirement medical aid liability.

Bursary Costs: Lower than anticipated bursary costs were incurred due to lower number of 
students.

Consumables: Unforeseen projects resulted in higher consumable consumption.

Municipal Services: Increased gas consumption lead to higher municipal charges.

General Expenses: Overall cost containment measures and lower commercial activity resulted 
in lower general expenses.

Gains on Other Operations: This relates to the actuarial gain for the PRMA and is not budgeted for as it 
cannot be estimated upfront.

Loss on Disposal of Property, 
Plant and Equipment:

Several assets were retired from service in the period under review.
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Accounting Policies to the Annual Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 March 2020

1. BASIS OF PRESENTATION
The Annual Financial Statements have been prepared on an 
Accrual Basis of accounting and are in accordance with the 
historical cost convention as the basis of measurement, unless 
specified otherwise.

The Annual Financial Statements have been prepared 
in accordance with the effective Standards of Generally 
Recognised Accounting Practices (GRAP), issued by the 
Accounting Standards Board in accordance with Section 91(1) 
of the Public Finance Management Act (Act 1 of 1999) (PFMA). 
They are presented in South African Rand.

A summary of significant accounting policies, which have been 
consistently applied in the reparation of these annual financial 
statements, are disclosed below.

In the absence of an approved and effective standard of 
GRAP, accounting policies for material transactions, events 
of conditions were developed in accordance with paragraphs 
8, 10 and 11 of GRAP 3 as read with Directive 5. These 
accounting policies are consistent with previous period.

The financials are representative to the Group and company 
and the results are reflective of this. The information contained 
within the notes are representative of Group and company 
except where indicated as such.
 
1.1  Changes in Accounting Policy and
 Comparability

Accounting Policies have been consistently applied, 
except where otherwise indicated below.

For the years ended 31 March 2019 and 31 March 
2020 the Entity has adopted the accounting framework 
as set out in paragraph 1 above. The details of any 
resulting changes in Accounting Policy and comparative 
restatements are set out below and in the relevant Notes 
to the Annual Financial Statements.

The Entity changes an Accounting Policy only if the 
change:
 (a) Is required by a Standard of GRAP; or
 (b) Results in the Annual Financial Statements
  providing more reliable and relevant information
  about the effects of transactions, other events
  or conditions on the Entity’s financial position,
  financial performance or cash flow.

1.2  Critical Judgements, Estimations
 and Assumptions

In the application of the Entity’s Accounting Policies, 

which are described below, management is required to 
make judgements, estimates and assumptions about 
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are 
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates 
and associated assumptions are based on historical 
experience and other factors that are considered to 
be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of 
which form the basis of making the judgements about 
carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not 
readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may 
differ from these estimates.
 
These estimates and underlying assumptions are 
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognised in the period in which the 
estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period 
or in the period of the revision and future periods if the 
revision affects both current and future periods.
 
The following are the critical judgements and estimations 
that management have made in the process of applying 
the Entity’s Accounting Policies and that have the most 
significant effect on the amounts recognised in Annual 
Financial Statements:
 

1.2.1 Revenue Recognition
Accounting Policy 11.2 on Revenue from Exchange 
Transactions and Accounting Policy 11.3 on Revenue 
from Non-exchange Transactions describes the 
conditions under which revenue will be recorded by the 
management of the Entity.

In making their judgement, management considered the 
detailed criteria for the recognition of revenue as set out 
in GRAP 9 (Revenue from Exchange Transactions) and 
GRAP 23 (Revenue from Non-exchange Transactions). 
As far as Revenue from Exchange and Non-exchange 
Transactions is concerned (see Basis of Preparation 
above), and, in particular, whether Mintek, when goods 
are sold, had transferred to the buyer the significant 
risks and rewards of ownership of the goods and when 
services is rendered, whether the service has been 
rendered. Also of importance is the estimation process 
involved in initially measuring revenue at the fair value 
thereof. Mintek Management is satisfied that recognition 
of the revenue in the current year is appropriate.

1.2.2  Financial Assets and Liabilities
The classification of Financial Assets and Liabilities, into 
categories, is based on judgement by management. 
Accounting Policy 6.1 on Financial Assets Classification 
and Accounting Policy 6.2 on Financial Liabilities 
Classification describe the factors and criteria considered 
by the management of the Entity in the classification of 

1456 AIR Templates S10 Fin Report_v12_DTP Z.indd   1231456 AIR Templates S10 Fin Report_v12_DTP Z.indd   123 2020-11-17   10:00:212020-11-17   10:00:21



 Annual Integrated Report   |   2019/2020    |    FINANCIAL REPORT Annual Integrated Report   |   2019/2020    |    FINANCIAL REPORT124

Fi
na

nc
ia

l 
R

ep
or

t

Accounting Policies to the Annual Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 March 2020

Financial Assets and Liabilities.

In making the above-mentioned judgement, management 
considered the definition and recognition criteria for the 
classification of Financial Instruments as set out in GRAP 
104 (Financial Instruments).

1.2.3  Impairment of Financial Assets
Accounting Policy 6.4 on Impairment of Financial Assets 
describes the process followed to determine the value 
at which Financial Assets should be impaired.  In making 
the estimation of the impairment, the management of 
Mintek considered the detailed  criteria of impairment 
of Financial Assets as set out in GRAP 104 (Financial 
Instruments) and used its judgement to select a  variety of 
methods and make assumptions that are mainly based 
on market conditions existing at the end of the reporting 
period. The management of the Entity is satisfied that 
impairment of Financial Assets recorded during the year 
is appropriate.

Impairment of Trade Receivables:
• The Entity assesses its financial assets for 

impairment at the end of each financial year. In 
determining whether an impairment loss should 
be recorded in surplus or deficit, the Entity makes 
judgements as to whether there is observable data 
indicating a measurable decrease in the estimated 
future cash flows from a financial asset.

• The Entity has implemented a policy to classify 
all debts as irrecoverable where they have been 
outstanding for more than two years (24 months). 
These amounts are then transferred to a provision 
for doubtful debts which is adjusted annually. All 
non recoveries of these amounts impaired are 
then recognised as bad debts written off in the 
following year through the statement of financial 
performance. This practice is based on the past 
patterns of history of payments by students/default 
employees after considering the period the debt has 
been outstanding for. Attempts at recovery include 
sending letters of demand and handing debts over 
to collection agencies as guided in the financial 
policy of Mintek.

1.2.4  Fair Value Estimations
As described in Accounting Policy 3.2, the Entity 
subsequently measures its Buildings and Land in terms 
of the Revaluation Model.

The valuation of assets are based on management’s 
estimation. Management considered the impact of 
valuation techniques and market information in order to 

determine the current valuations, and more specific as 
follows:
• Buildings and Land are stated at revalued 

amounts based on valuation techniques and market 
information. The actual value of these items could 
differ from those estimated.

1.2.5  Useful lives of Property, Plant and
 Equipment and Intangible Assets

As described in Accounting Policies 3.3 and 4.2, 
Mintek depreciates its Property, Plant & Equipment 
and amortises its Intangible Assets over the estimated 
useful lives of the assets, taking into account the residual 
values of the assets at the end of their useful lives, which 
is determined when the assets are available for use.

The useful lives of assets are based on management’s 
estimation. Management considered the impact of 
technology, availability of capital funding, service 
requirements and required return on assets in order to 
determine the optimum useful life expectation, where 
appropriate.

The estimation of residual values of assets is based on 
management’s judgement as to whether the assets will 
be sold or used to the end of their useful lives, and in 
what condition they will be at that time.

1.2.6  Impairment: Write-down of Property, 
 Plant & Equipment, Intangible Assets
 and Inventories

Accounting Policy 5 on Impairment of Assets, 
Accounting Policy 4.2 on Intangible Assets – Subsequent 
Measurement, Amortisation and Impairment and 
Accounting Policy 8.2 on Inventory – Subsequent 
Measurement describe the conditions under which non-
financial assets are tested for potential impairment losses 
by the management of the Entity. Significant estimates 
and judgements are made relating to impairment testing 
of Property, Plant and Equipment, impairment testing of 
Intangible Assets  and write-down of Inventories to the 
lowest of Cost and Current Replacement Cost.

In making the above-mentioned estimates and 
judgement, management considered the subsequent 
measurement criteria and indicators of potential 
impairment losses as set out in GRAP 21 (Impairment of 
Non-cash Generating Assets) and GRAP 26 (Impairment 
of Cash Generating Assets). In particular, the calculation 
of the recoverable service amount for PPE and Intangible 
Assets and the Current Replacement Cost for Inventories 
involves significant judgment by management.
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Estimated impairments during the year to Property, Plant 
and Equipment, Intangible Assets and Inventory are 
disclosed in Notes 1, 4. and 5. to the Annual Financial 
Statements, if applicable.

1.2.7 Defined Benefit Plan Liabilities
As described in Accounting Policy 13.2, Employee 
Benefits – Post-employment Benefits, the Entity obtains 
actuarial valuations of its Defined Benefit Plan Liabilities. 
The defined benefit obligations of the Entity that were 
identified are Post-retirement Health Benefit Obligations. 
The estimated liabilities are recorded in accordance with 
the requirements of GRAP 25. Details of the liabilities and 
the key assumptions made by the actuaries in estimating 
the liabilities are provided in the relevant Notes to the 
Annual Financial Statements.

1.2.8 Provisions and Contingent 
  Liabilities
Management judgement is required when recognising 
and measuring Provisions and when measuring 
Contingent Liabilities. Provisions are discounted where 
the effect of discounting is material using actuarial 
valuations.

1.2.9 Budget Information
Deviations between budget and actual amounts are 
regarded as material differences when a 10% deviation 
exists. All material differences are explained in the 
relevant Notes to the Annual Financial Statements.

1.3 Materiality
Material omissions or misstatements of items are material 
if they could, individually or collectively, influence the 
decisions or assessments of users made on the basis 
of the financial statements. Materiality depends on the 
nature or size of the omission or misstatement judged 
in the surrounding circumstances.  The nature or size of 
the information item, or a combination of both,   could be 
the determining factor.

Assessing whether an omission or misstatement could 
influence decisions of users, and so be material, requires 
consideration of the characteristics of those users. The 
Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of 
Financial Statements states that users are assumed 
to have a reasonable knowledge of government, its 
activities, accounting and a willingness to study the 
information with reasonable diligence. Therefore, the 
assessment takes into account how users with such 
attributes could reasonably be expected to be influenced 
in making and evaluating decisions.

1.4 Consolidation
Consolidated Annual Financial Statements are the 
annual financial statements of Mintek presented as 
those of a single entity.

The Consolidated Annual Financial Statements 
incorporate the annual financial statements of the Mintek 
Group and all controlled entities, including special 
purpose entities, which are controlled by Mintek.

Consolidated Annual Financial Statements are prepared 
using uniform accounting policies for like transactions 
and other events in similar circumstances.

Control exists when Mintek has the power to govern the 
financial and operating policies of another entity so as to 
obtain benefits from its activities.

The revenue and expenses of Mindev are included in 
the Consolidated Annual Financial Statements from 
the transfer date or acquisition date as defined in the 
Standards of GRAP on Transfer of Functions between 
Entities under Common Control. The revenue and 
expenses of Mindev are based on the values of the 
assets and liabilities recognised in Mintek’s annual 
financial statements at the acquisition date.

The Annual Financial Statements of Mintek and its 
subsidiary used in the preparation of the Consolidated 
Annual Financial Statements are prepared as of the 
same date.

All intra-entity transactions, balances, revenues and 
expenses are eliminated in full on consolidation.
Non-controlling interest in the net assets of the economic 
entity are identified and recognised separately from the 
controlling entity’s interest therein, and are recognised 
within net assets.

Changes in Mintek’s ownership interest in Mindev that 
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as 
transactions that affect net assets.

1.5 Presentation Currency
The Annual Financial Statements are presented in South 
African Rand, rounded off to the nearest Rand which is 
the Entity’s functional currency.

1.6 Going Concern Assumption
Management and the Board have made the assessment 
that Mintek is a going concern and the financial 
statements have been prepared on a going concern 
basis based on the expectation that the entity will 
continue to operate as a going concern for at least 12 

1456 AIR Templates S10 Fin Report_v12_DTP Z.indd   1251456 AIR Templates S10 Fin Report_v12_DTP Z.indd   125 2020-11-17   10:00:222020-11-17   10:00:22



 Annual Integrated Report   |   2019/2020    |    FINANCIAL REPORT Annual Integrated Report   |   2019/2020    |    FINANCIAL REPORT126

Fi
na

nc
ia

l 
R

ep
or

t

Accounting Policies to the Annual Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 March 2020

statements have been prepared on a going concern 
basis based on the expectation that the entity will 
continue to operate as a going concern for at least 12 
months.

1.7 Offsetting
Assets, Liabilities, Revenues and Expenses have not been 
offset except when offsetting is required or permitted by 
a Standard of GRAP.

1.8 Standards, Amendments to Standards
 and Interpretations issued but not yet
 Effective

The Entity applied the principles established in the 
following Standards of GRAP that have been issued but 
are not yet effective, in developing appropriate Accounting 
Policies dealing with the following transactions, but have 
not early adopted these Standards.

Where a standard of GRAP is approved as effective, it 
replaces the equivalent statement of International Public 
Sector Accounting Standards Board, International 
Financial Reporting Standards or Generally Accepted 
Accounting Principles. Where a standard of GRAP has 
been issued but is not yet in effect, the Entity may select 
to apply the principles established in that  standard in 
developing an appropriate Accounting Policy dealing 
with a particular section or event before applying 
paragraph 12   of the Standard of GRAP on Accounting 
Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors.

GRAP 20 Related Party Disclosures (Revised)

GRAP 32 Service Concession Arrangement 
Grantor - issued August 2013

GRAP 34 Separate Financial Statements*

GRAP 35 Consolidated Financial Statements*

GRAP 36 Investments in associates and joint 
ventures*

GRAP 37 Joint arrangements*

GRAP 38 Disclosure of interest in other entities

GRAP 108 Statutory Receivables - issued 
September 2013

GRAP 109 Accounting by Principals and Agents - 
issued July 2015

GRAP 110 Living and non-living resources

* These standards may not be applicable to the Entity but are
  included for completeness of information in capacitating the 
  Entity with information.

The ASB Directive 5, paragraph 29, sets out the 
principles for the application of the GRAP 3 guidelines 
in the determination of the GRAP Reporting Framework 
hierarchy as set out in the standard of GRAP 3 on 
Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates 
and Errors.

Management has considered all of the above-mentioned 
GRAP Standards issued but not yet effective and 
anticipates that the adoption of these standards will 
not have a significant impact on the financial position, 
financial performance or cash flows of the Entity.

2. NET ASSETS
Included in the Net Assets of the Entity are the following 
Reserves that are maintained in terms of specific requirements:

2.1 Reserves
2.1.1 Revaluation Reserve

The surplus arising from the revaluation of land and 
buildings is credited to a non-distributable reserve. The 
revaluation surplus  is realised as revalued buildings are 
depreciated, through a transfer from the Revaluation 
Reserve to the Accumulated Surplus/(Deficit).  On 
disposal, the net revaluation surplus is transferred to the 
Accumulated Surplus/(Deficit) while gains or losses on 
disposal, based on revalued amounts, are credited or 
charged to the Statement of Financial Performance.

2.2 Retained Earnings
Retained earnings comprise of rolled over funds from the 
current and prior years based on the recorded surplus 
or deficit for the period. The reserve is not cash backed.

3. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Property, plant and equipment are tangible non-current assets 
(including infrastructure assets) that are held for use in the 
production and supply of goods and services, rental to others, 
or for administrative purposes, and are expected to be used 
during more than one period.

3.1 Initial Recognition
Property, Plant and Equipment are initially recognised at 
cost.

The cost of an item of Property, Plant and Equipment is 
recognised as an asset if, and only if, it is probable that 
future economic benefits or service potential associated 
with the item will flow to the Entity, and if the cost or fair 
value of the item can be measured reliably.
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The cost of an item of Property, Plant and Equipment is 
the purchase price and other cost attributable to bring 
the asset to the location and condition necessary for it 
to be capable of operating in the manner intended by 
management. Trade discounts and rebates are deducted 
in arriving at the cost. Costs include costs incurred 
initially to acquire or construct an item of PPE and costs 
incurred subsequently to add to or replace part or. If a 
replacement cost is recognised in the carrying amount 
of an item of PPE, the carrying amount of the replaced 
part is derecognised.

Recognition of costs in the carrying amount of an item of 
property, plant and equipment ceases when the item is in 
the location and condition necessary for it to be capable 
of operating in the manner intended by management.

Where an asset is acquired by the Entity for no or nominal 
consideration (i.e. a non-exchange transaction), the cost 
is deemed to be equal to the fair value of that asset on 
the date acquired. Where an item of Property, Plant and 
Equipment is acquired in exchange for a non-monetary 
asset or monetary assets, or a combination of monetary 
and non-monetary assets, the asset acquired is initially 
measured at fair value (the cost). If the acquired item’s 
fair value was not determinable, it’s deemed cost is the 
carrying amount of the asset(s) given up.

Major inspection costs which are a condition of 
continuing use of an item of Property, Plant or Equipment 
and which meet the recognition criteria as above are 
included as a replacement in the cost of an item of 
PPE. Any remaining inspections costs from previous 
inspections are recognised. Repairs and Maintenance 
are expenses incurred through servicing equipment or 
repairing of existing assets. These expenses are not 
recognised in the carrying value of the asset, but directly 
recognised in Surplus or Deficit and measured at cost.

3.2 Subsequent Measurement
Property, Plant and Equipment, excluding Buildings 
and Land

Subsequently all Property, Plant and Equipment are 
measured at cost, less accumulated depreciation and 
accumulated impairment losses except for land and 
buildings which is carried at revalued amount being the 
fair value at the date of revaluation less any subsequent 
accumulated depreciation and subsequent impairment 
losses.

Buildings and Land

Subsequent to initial recognition Buildings and Land 
are carried at a revalued amount based on valuations, 
less any subsequent accumulated depreciation 

and subsequent accumulated impairment losses. 
Revaluations are performed by experienced valuers with 
sufficient regularity (every 5 years) such that the carrying 
amount does not differ materially from that which would 
be determined using fair value at the reporting date. 
Any accumulated depreciation at the date of revaluation 
is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the 
asset, and the net amount is restated to the revalued 
amount of the asset.

Any increase in an asset’s carrying amount, as a result of 
a revaluation, is credited directly to a revaluation surplus. 
The increase is recognised in surplus/deficit to the extent 
that it reverses a revaluation decrease of the same asset 
previously recognised in surplus/deficit. Any decrease in 
an asset’s carrying amount as a result of a revaluation, 
is recognised in surplus/deficit in the current period. The 
decrease is directly debited to revaluation surplus to the 
extent of any credit balance existing in the  revaluation 
surplus in respect of that asset. The revaluation surplus 
in equity related to a specific item of property, plant and 
equipment is transferred directly to retained earnings 
when the asset is derecognised. The revaluation surplus 
in equity related to a specific item of PPE is transferred 
directly to retained earnings as the asset is used. The 
amount transferred is equal to the difference between 
depreciation based on the revalued carrying amount and 
depreciation based on the original cost of the asset.

3.3  Depreciation
Depreciation on assets other than land is calculated on 
cost, using the Straight-line Method, to allocate their 
cost or revalued amounts to their residual values over 
the estimated useful lives of the assets. Each part of an 
item of Property, Plant and Equipment with a cost that 
is significant in relation to the total cost of the item is 
depreciated separately.

When significant components of an item of PPE have 
different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate 
items (major components) of PPE.

The depreciable amount of an asset is allocated on a 
systematic basis over its useful life. The depreciation 
rates are based on the following estimated useful lives:
The depreciation method used reflects the pattern in 
which the asset’s future economic benefits or service 
potential are expected to be consumed by Mintek. 
The depreciation method applied to an asset is 
reviewed at least at each reporting date and, if there 
has been a significant change in the expected pattern 
of consumption of the future economic benefits or 
service potential embodied in the asset, the method is 
changed to reflect the changed pattern. Such a change 
is accounted for as a change in an accounting estimate.
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Mintek assesses at each reporting date whether there 
is an indication that its expectations about the residual 
value and the  useful life of an asset have changed since 
the preceding reporting date. If any such indication exist, 
Mintek revises the expected useful life and/or residual 
value accordingly. The change is accounted for as a 
change in an accounting estimate.

The deprecaition charge for each period is recognised 
in surplus or deficit unless it is included in the carrying 
amount of another asset.

3.3 Land
Land is stated at historical cost and is not depreciated 
as it is deemed to have an indefinite useful life.

3.4 Incomplete Construction Work
Incomplete Construction Work is stated at historical 
cost. Depreciation only commences when the asset is 
available for use. Relevant information relating to assets 
under construction or development is disclosed in the 
notes to the financial statements.

3.5 Derecognition
Items of property, plant or equipment are derecognised 
when the asset is disposed of or when there are no 
future economic benefits or service potential expected 
from the use of the asset. The gain or loss arising from 
the derecognition of an item of Property, Plant and 
Equipment is included in surplus or deficit when the item 
is derecognised. Gains are not classified as revenue.

The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item 
of property, plant and equipment is included in surplus 
or deficit when the item is derecognised. The gain or 
loss arising from the derecognition of an item of PPE is 
determined as the difference between the net disposal 
proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount of the item.

4.  INTANGIBLE ASSETS

4.1 Initial Recognition
Identifiable non-monetary assets without physical 
substance are classified and recognised as Intangible 
Assets.

An intangible asset is recognised when it is probable 
that the expected future economic benefits or service 
potential that are attributable to the asset will flow to 
Mintek and the cost or fair value of the asset can be 
measured reliably.

Mintek assesses the probability of expected future 
economic benefits or service potential using reasonable 
and supportable assumptions that represent 
management’s best estimate of the set of economic 
conditions that will exist over the useful life of the asset.

For internally generated Intangible Assets, such as 
brands, publishing titles, customer lists and other items 
similar in substance are not recognised as intangible 
assets. In the Mintek environment only acquired software 
is classified as intangible assets.
Internally created goodwill is also not classified as an 
intangible asset.

Intangible Assets are initially recognised at cost.

Where an Intangible Asset is acquired by the Entity 
for no or nominal consideration (i.e. a non-exchange 
transaction), the cost is deemed to be equal to the fair 
value of that asset on the date acquired.

The cost of an Intangible Asset acquired in exchange 
for non-monetary assets or monetary assets, or a 
combination of monetary and non-monetary assets, is 
measured at the fair value of the asset given up, unless 
the fair value of the asset received is more clearly evident. 
If the acquired item could not be measured at its fair 
value, its cost is measured at the carrying amount of the 

ASSET CLASS YEARS ASSET CLASS YEARS

LAND OTHER

Improved Property Indefinite Equipment 5 - 10
Furniture and Fixtures 5 - 10

BUILDINGS IT Equipment 3 - 5
Improvements 50 Motor Vehicles 5

Plant and Machinery 5 - 10
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asset given up.  If the acquired item’s fair value was not 
determinable, its deemed cost is the carrying amount of 
the asset(s)  given up.

4.2 Subsequent Measurement, 
 Amortisation and Impairment

After initial recognition, Intangible Assets are carried 
at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any 
accumulated impairment losses.

Amortisation is charged on a Straight-line Method over 
the Intangible Assets’ useful lives. The residual value of 

Intangible Assets with finite useful lives is zero, unless 
an active market exists. Where Intangible Assets are 
deemed to have indefinite useful lives, such Intangible 
Assets are not amortised. However, such Intangible 
Assets are subject to an annual impairment test.

Reassessing the useful life of an intangible asset with a 
finite useful life after it was classified as indefinite is an 
indicator that the asset may be impaired. As a result the 
asset is tested for impairment and the remaining carrying 
amount is amortised over its useful life.

ASSET CLASS YEARS

Computer Software 3-5

4.3 Derecognition

The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an 
item of Intangible Asset is included in Surplus or Deficit 
when the item is derecognised. Gains are not classified 
as Revenue.

5. IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS
Mintek classifies all assets held with the primary objective of 
generating a commercial return as Cash Generating Assets. All  
other assets are classified as Non-cash Generating Assets. A 
cash generating asset is an asset that is used with the objective 
of generating a commercial return. Commercial return means 
that positive cash flows are expected to be significantly higher 
than  the cost of the asset.

5.1 Impairment of Cash Generating
 Assets

Impairment is a loss in the future economic benefits 
or service potential of an asset, over and above 
the systematic recognition of the loss of the asset’s 
future economic benefits or service potential through 

depreciation (amortisation).

Carrying amount is the amount at which an asset is 
recognised in the statement of financial position after 
deducting accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment losses thereon.
The Entity assesses at each reporting date whether 
there is any indication that an asset may be impaired.

If there is any indication that an asset may be impaired, 
the recoverable amount is estimated for the individual 
asset. If it is not possible to estimate the recoverable 
amount of the individual asset, the recoverable amount 
of the cash generating unit to which the asset belongs 
is determined.

The recoverable amount of an asset or a cash generating 
unit is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its 
value in use.

If the recoverable amount of an asset is less than its 
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is 
reduced to its recoverable amount. That reduction is an 
impairment loss.

An impairment loss of assets carried at cost less any 
accumulated depreciation or amortisation is recognised 
immediately in Surplus or Deficit.

An impairment loss is recognised for cash generating 
units if the recoverable amount of the unit is less than 
the carrying amount of the unit. The impairment loss is 
allocated to reduce the carrying amount of the assets of 
the unit pro-rata on the basis of the carrying amount of 
each asset in the unit.

The Entity assesses at each reporting date whether there 
is any indication that an impairment loss recognised in 
prior periods for assets may no longer exist or may have 
decreased. If any such indication exists, the recoverable 
amounts of those assets are estimated.

The increased carrying amount of an asset attributable 
to a reversal of an impairment loss does not exceed the 
carrying amount that would have been determined had 
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior 
periods.

A reversal of an impairment loss of assets carried at 
cost less accumulated depreciation or amortisation is 
recognised immediately in Surplus or Deficit.
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5.2 Impairment of Non-Cash Generating 
 Assets

The Entity assesses at each reporting date whether 
there is any indication that an asset may be impaired.
If there is any indication that an asset may be impaired, 
the recoverable service amount is estimated for the 
individual asset. If it is not possible to estimate the 
recoverable service amount of the individual asset, the 
recoverable service amount of the non- cash generating 
unit to which the asset belongs is determined.

The recoverable service amount of a non-cash 
generating asset is the higher of its fair value less costs 
to sell and its value in use.

If the recoverable service amount of an asset is less 
than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the 
asset is reduced to its recoverable service amount. That 
reduction is an impairment loss.

An impairment loss of assets carried at cost less any 
accumulated depreciation or amortisation is recognised 
immediately in Surplus or Deficit.

An impairment loss is recognised for non-cash generating 
units if the recoverable service amount of the unit is less 
than the carrying amount of the unit. The impairment 
loss is allocated to reduce the carrying amount of the 
assets of the unit pro-rata on the basis of the carrying 
amount of each asset in the unit.

The Entity assesses at each reporting date whether there 
is any indication that an impairment loss recognised in 
prior periods for assets may no longer exist or may have 
decreased.  If any such indication exists, the recoverable 
service amounts of those assets are estimated.

The increased carrying amount of an asset attributable 
to a reversal of an impairment loss does not exceed the 
carrying amount that would have been determined had 
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior 
periods.

A reversal of an impairment loss of assets carried at 
cost less accumulated depreciation or amortisation is 
recognised immediately in Surplus or Deficit.

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
A financial instrument is any contract that gives to a financial 
asset of one entity and a financial liability or residual interest of 
another entity.

Mintek has various types of Financial Instruments and these can 
be broadly categorised as Financial Assets, Financial Liabilities 
or Residual Interests in accordance with the substance of the 
contractual agreement.
 
Initial Recognition
Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities are recognised when it 
becomes party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
 
The Entity does not offset a Financial Asset and a Financial 
Liability unless a legally enforceable right to set off the 
recognised amounts currently exist and the Entity intends 
either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle 
the liability simultaneously.

Fair Value Methods and Assumptions

The fair values of Financial Instruments are determined as 
follows:

• The fair values of quoted investments are based on 
current bid prices.

• If the market for a Financial Asset is not active (and for 
unlisted securities), the Entity establishes fair value by 
using valuation techniques. These include the use of 
recent arm’s length transactions, reference to other 
instruments that are substantially the same, discounted 
cash flow analysis, and option pricing models making 
maximum use of market inputs and relying as little as 
possible on Entity-specific inputs.
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6.1 Financial Assets – Classification
The Entity has the following types of Financial Assets:

Cash includes cash-on-hand (including petty cash) 
and cash with banks (including call deposits). For the 
purposes of the Cash Flow Statement, Cash and Cash 
Equivalents comprise cash-on-hand and deposits held 
on call with banks, net of bank overdrafts.

Type of Financial Asset Classification in terms of GRAP 104

Non-current Investments Financial Assets at Amortised Cost

Receivables from Exchange Transactions Financial Assets at Amortised Cost

Bank, Cash and Cash Equivalents Financial Assets at Fair Value

6.2 Financial Liabilities – Classification

The Entity has the following types of Financial Liabilities:

Type of Financial Asset Classification in terms of GRAP 104

Long-term Liabilities Financial Liabilities at Fair Value

Payables from Exchange Transactions Financial Liabilities at Amortised Cost

Current Portion of Long-term Liabilities Financial Liabilities at Amortised Cost

6.3 Initial and Subsequent 
      Measurement 
6.3.1 Financial Assets

Financial Assets measured at Amortised 
Cost 
Financial Assets at Amortised Cost are initially measured 
at fair value plus transaction costs that are directly 
attributable to the acquisition or issue of the Financial 
Asset. Subsequently, these assets are measured at 
amortised cost using the Effective Interest Method less 
any impairment, with interest recognised on an Effective 
Yield Basis.

Trade and Other Receivables (excluding Value 
Added Taxation, Prepayments and Operating Lease 
receivables), Loans to Entity Entities and Loans that have 
fixed and determinable payments that are not quoted 
in an active market are classified as Financial Assets at 
Amortised Cost.

Financial Assets measured at Fair Value 
Financial Assets at Fair Value are initially measured at 

fair value, excluding directly attributable transaction 
costs. They are subsequently measured at fair value with 
unrealised gains or losses recognised directly in Surplus 
or Deficit.

6.3.2 Financial Liabilities 
Financial Liabilities held at Amortised Cost 
Any other Financial Liabilities are classified as Other 
Financial Liabilities (All Payables, Loans and Borrowings 
are classified as Other Liabilities) and are initially 
measured at fair value, net of transaction costs. Trade 
and Other Payables, Interest-bearing Debt including 
Finance Lease Liabilities, Non-interest-bearing Debt 
and Bank Borrowings are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the Effective Interest Rate Method.
Interest expense is recognised in the Statement of 
Financial Performance by applying the effective interest 
rate.

Prepayments are carried at cost less any accumulated 
impairment losses.
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6.4 Impairment of Financial Assets 
Financial Assets, other than those at fair value, are 
assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of 
each reporting period. Financial Assets are impaired 
where there is objective evidence of impairment of 
Financial Assets (such as the probability of insolvency 
or significant financial difficulties of the debtor). If there is 
such evidence the recoverable amount is estimated and 
an impairment loss is recognised through the use of an 
allowance account.

6.4.1 Financial Assets at Amortised Cost
A provision for impairment of Accounts Receivables 
is established when there is objective evidence that 
the Entity will not be able to collect all amounts due 
according to the original terms of receivables. The 
provision is made whereby the recoverability of accounts 
receivable is assessed individually and then collectively 
after grouping the assets in financial assets with similar 
credit risk characteristics. The amount of the provision 
is the difference between the Financial Asset’s carrying 
amount and the present value of estimated future cash 
flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate. 
Future cash flows in a group of Financial Assets that are 
collectively evaluated for impairment are estimated on 
the basis of historical loss experience for assets with 
credit risk characteristics similar to those in the group.  
Cash flows relating to short-term receivables are not 
discounted where the effect of discounting is immaterial.

The carrying amount of the Financial Asset is reduced 
by the impairment loss directly for all Financial Assets 
carried at Amortised Cost with the exception of Trade 
Debtors, where the carrying amount is reduced through 
the use of an allowance account. When  a Trade Debtor 
is considered uncollectible, it is written off against the 
allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts 
previously written off are credited against revenue. 
Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance 
account are recognised in Surplus or Deficit.

6.5 Derecognition of Financial Assets
The Entity derecognises Financial Assets only when the 
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expires 
or it transfers the Financial Asset and substantially all the 
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another 
entity, except when Mintek approves the write-off of 
Financial Assets due to non-recoverability.

If Mintek neither transfers nor retains substantially all the 
risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control 
the transferred asset, Mintek recognises its retained 
interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts 

it may have to pay. If the Entity retains substantially all the 
risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred Financial 
Asset, Mintek continues to recognise the Financial Asset 
and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the 
proceeds received.

6.6 Derecognition of Financial Liabilities
Mintek derecognises Financial Liabilities when, and only 
when, it’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or they 
expire.

Mintek recognises the difference between the carrying 
amount of the Financial Liability (or part of a Financial 
Liability) extinguished or transferred to another party and 
the consideration paid, including any non-cash assets 
transferred or liabilities assumed, in Surplus or Deficit.

7.  INVESTMENT IN CONTROLLED ENTITIES
Investments in controlled entities are consolidated in Mintek 
annual financial statements. Refer to the accounting policy on 
Consolidations (Note 1.4).

In Mintek’s separate annual financial statements, investments 
in controlled entities are carried at cost. The entity applies the 
same accounting for each category of investment.

Investments in controlled entities that are accounted for 
in accordance with the accounting policy on Financial 
Instruments in the consolidated annual financial statements, 
are accounted for in the same way in Mintek’s separate annual 
financial statements.

8. INVENTORIES

8.1 Initial Recognition
Inventories comprise current assets held-for-sale, 
current assets for consumption or distribution during 
the ordinary course of business. Inventories are initially 
recognised at cost. Cost generally refers to the purchase 
price, cost of coversion, transport costs and any other 
costs in bringing the Inventories to their current location 
and condition. Where Inventory is manufactured, 
constructed or produced, the cost includes the cost 
of labour, materials and overheads used during the 
manufacturing process.

Inventories are intially measured at cost except where 
inventories are acquired through a non-exchange 
transactions, then their costs are their fair value as at the 
date of acquisition.

Where Inventory is acquired by Mintek for no or nominal 
consideration (i.e. a non-exchange transaction), the cost 
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is deemed to be equal to the fair value of the item on the 
date acquired.

8.2 Subsequent Measurement
Subsequently inventories are measured at the lower of 
cost and net realisable value.

8.2.1 Consumable Stores and Finished
    Goods

Inventories sold are valued at the lower of cost and net 
realisable value (net amount that the Entity expects to 
realise from the sale on Inventory in the ordinary course 
of business). The cost is determined using the Weighted 
Average Method.
 
Consumable stores distributed at no charge or for a 
nominal charge and finished goods are valued at the 
lower of cost and current replacement cost (the cost the 
Entity would incur to acquire the asset on the reporting 
date). The cost is determined using the Weighted 
Average Method.

8.2.2 Other Arrangements
Redundant and slow-moving Inventories identified are 
written down from cost to current replacement cost, if 
applicable.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in 
the ordinary course of business, less estimated cost 
necessary to make the sale, exchange or distribution.

Differences arising on the measurement of such 
Inventory at the lower of cost and current replacement 
cost or net realisable value, are recognised in Surplus 
or Deficit in the year in which they arise. The amount of 
any reversal of any write-down of Inventories arising from 
an increase in current replacement cost or net realisable 
value is recognised as a reduction in the amount of 
Inventories recognised as an expense in the period in 
which the reversal occurs.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amounts of 
those inventories are recognised as an expense in the 
period in which the related revenue is recognised. If 
there is no related revenue, the expenses are recognised 
when the goods are distributed, or related services are 
rendered. The amount of any write-down of inventories 
to net realisable value or current replacement costs and 
all losses of inventories are recognised as an expense in 
the period the write-down of inventories or loss occurs. 
The amount of any reversal of write-down of inventories, 
arising from an increase in net realisable value or current 
replacement cost, are recognised as a reduction in the 

amount of inventories recognised as an expense in the 
period in which the reversal occurs.

9. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash-on-hand and 
demand deposits, and other short-term highly liquid 
investments that are readily convertible to a known 
amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk 
of changes in value. These are initially recognised at cost 
and subsequently recorded at fair value.

10. SHARE CAPITAL
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a 
residual interest in the assets of an economic entity after 
deducting all of its liabilities.

11. REVENUE RECOGNITION

11.1 General
Revenue comprises the gross inflows of economic 
benefits or service potential received and receivable by 
Mintek, which represents an increase in the net assets, 
other than increases relating to contributions from 
owners.

Revenue is derived from a variety of sources which 
include state grant, grants from other tiers of government 
and revenue from trading activities and other services 
provided.

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration 
received or receivable for the sale of goods and services 
in the ordinary course of the Entity’s activities. Revenue 
is shown net of value-added tax, returns, rebates and 
discounts.

11.2 Revenue from Exchange Transactions
An exchange transaction is one in which Mintek receives 
assets/services, or has liabilities extinguished, and 
directly gives approximately equal value (primarily in the 
form of goods, services or use of assets) to the other 
party in exchange. Fair value is the amount for which an 
asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between 
knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length 
transaction.

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration 
received or receivable for goods and services provided 
in the normal course of business, net trade discounts 
and volume rebates, and value added tax.
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11.2.1 Sale of Goods
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when all 
the following conditions have been met:
(a) The Entity has transferred to the buyer the significant
 risks and rewards of ownership of the goods;

(b) The Entity retains neither continuing managerial 
 involvement to the degree usually associated with
 ownership nor effective control over the goods sold;

(c) The amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

(d) It is probable that the economic benefits or service
 potential associated with the transaction will flow to 
 the Entity; and

(e) The costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the
 transaction can be measured reliably.

11.2.2 Services Rendered
When the outcome of a transaction involving the 
rendering of services can be estimated reliably, revenue 
associated with the transaction is recognised by 
reference to the stage of completion of the transaction 
at the reporting date. The outcome of a transaction can 
be estimated reliably when the following conditions are 
satisfied:

(a) The amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

(b) It is probable that the economic benefits or service
 potential associated with the transaction will flow to
 Mintek;

(c) The stage of completion of the transaction at
 reporting date can be measured reliably; and

(d) The costs incurred for the transaction and the costs
 to complete the transaction can be measured reliably.

When the outcome of the transaction involving the 
rendering of services cannot be estimated reliably, 
revenue is recognised only to the extent of the expenses 
recognised that are recoverable.

11.2.3 Interest, rental income and other 
 income items

Revenue arising from the use by others of entity assets 
yielding interest, royalties, rental income and other 
income is recognised

• it is probable that the economic benefits or service 
potential associated with the transaction will flow to 
Mintek; and

• The amount of the revenue can be measured 
reliably.

Interest earned on investments is recognised in Surplus 

or Deficit on the Time-proportionate Basis that takes into 
account the effective yield on the investment.

Rental income is recognised on the accrual basis 
in accordance with the substance of the relevant 
agreements.

11.3 Revenue from Non-exchange
        Transactions

Non-exchange transactions are transactions that are not 
exchange transactions. In a non-exchange transaction, 
an entity either receives value from another entity without 
directly giving approximately equal value in exchange, or 
gives value to another entity without directly receiving 
approximately equal value in exchange.

11.3.1 Government Grants and Receipts
Conditional grants, donations and funding are 
recognised as revenue to the extent that the Entity has 
complied with any of the criteria, conditions or obligations 
embodied in the agreement. An inflow of resources from 
a non-exchange transaction recognised as an asset 
is recognised as revenue, except to the extent that a 
liability is also recognised in respect of the same inflow.
Government grants that are receivable as compensation 
for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose 
of giving immediate financial support to the Entity with no 
future related costs, are recognised in Surplus or Deficit 
in the period in which they become receivable.

Revenue from a non-exchange transaction is measured 
at the amount of the increase in net assets recognised by 
Mintek. When, as a result of a non-exchange transaction, 
the entity recognises an asset, it also recognises 
revenue equivalent to the amount of the asset measured 
at its fair value as at the date of acquisition, unless it is 
also required to recognise a liability. Where a liability is 
required to be recognised it will be measured as the best 
estimate of the amount required to settle the obligation 
at the reporting date, and the amount of the increase in 
net assets, if any, recognised as revenue.

Interest earned on investments is treated in accordance 
with grant conditions. If it is payable to the funder it is 
recorded as part of the creditor and if it is the Entity’s 
interest, it is recognised as interest earned in Surplus 
or Deficit.
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11.3.2 Revenue from Recovery of
 Unauthorised, Irregular, Fruitless 
 and Wasteful Expenditure

The recovery of unauthorised, irregular, fruitless and 
wasteful expenditure is based on legislated procedures, 
including those set out in the Public Finance Management 
Act (Act No 1 of 1999) and is recognised as revenue 
when the recovery thereof from the responsible officials 
became virtually certain in a financial period subsequent 
to the period when the actual unauthorised, irregular, 
fruitless and wasteful expenditure was incurred.

12. PROVISIONS
Provisions are recognised when Mintek has a present 
obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable that an 
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits or service 
potentail will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable 
estimate can be made of the obligation.

The best estimate of the expenditure required to settle 
the present obligation is the amount that the Entity would 
rationally pay to settle the obligation at the reporting date or 
to transfer it to a third party at that time and are determined 
by judgment of Mintek management, supplemented by 
experience of similar transactions and, in some cases, reports 
from independent experts. The evidence considered includes 
any additional evidence provided by events after the reporting 
date. Uncertainties surrounding the amount to be recognised 
as a provision are dealt with by various means according to 
the circumstances. Where the provision being measured 
involves a large population of items, the obligation is estimated 
by weighting all possible outcomes by their associated 
probabilities.

Future events that may affect the amount required to settle an 
obligation are reflected in the amount of a provision where there 
is sufficient objective evidence that they will occur. Gains from 
the expected disposal of assets are not taken into account 
in measuring a provision. Provisions are not recognised for 
future operating losses. The present obligation under an 
onerous  contract is recognised and measured as a provision. 
An onerous contract is a contract in which the unavoidable 
costs of meeting the obligations under the contract exceed 
the economic benefits expected to be received under it.  The 
unavoidable costs under a contract reflect the least net cost 
of exiting from the contract, which is the lower of the cost of 
fulfilling it and any compensation  or penalties arising from failure 
to fulfil it – this unavoidable cost resulting from the contract is 
the amount of the provision to be recognised. 

Provisions are reviewed at reporting date and the amount of 
a provision is the present value of the expenditure expected 
to be required to settle the obligation. When the effect 
of discounting is material, provisions are determined by 

discounting the expected future cash flows that reflect current 
market assessments of the time value of money. The impact of 
the periodic unwinding of the discount is recognised in Surplus 
or Deficit as a finance cost as it occurs.

No obligation arises as a consequence of a sale or transfer of 
an operation until the economic entity is committed to the sale 
or transfer, that is, there is a binding agreement.

After their initial recognition contingent liabilities recognised 
in entity combinations that are recognised separately are 
subsequently measured at the higher of the amount that 
would be recognised as a provision and the amount initially 
recognised less cumulative amortisation.

13. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT LIABILITIES

13.1 Short-term Employee Benefits
The costs of all short-term employee benefits such as 
leave pay, are recognised during the period in which the 
employee renders the related service. The liability for 
leave pay is based on the total accrued leave days at 
year-end and is shown as a creditor in the Statement of 
Financial Position. The Entity recognises the expected 
cost of performance bonuses only when the Entity has 
a present legal or constructive obligation to make such 
payment and a reliable estimate can be made.

13.2 Post-employment Benefits
The Entity provides retirement benefits for its employees, 
and has a defined benefit post-employment plan.

13.2.1 Defined Contribution Plans
The Entity’s contributions to the defined contribution 
funds are established in terms of the rules governing 
those plans. Contributions are recognised in Surplus or 
Deficit in the period in which the service is rendered by the 
relevant employees. The Entity has no further payment 
obligations once the contributions have been paid. 
The contributions are recognised as employee benefit 
expense when they are due. Prepaid contributions are 
recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund 
or a reduction in the future payments is available.

13.2.2 Defined Benefit Plans
Post-retirement Health Care Benefits

The Entity has an obligation to provide Post-retirement 
Health Care Benefits to certain of its retirees. According 
to the stipulations of the benefit, qualifying employees is 
entitled to a medical aid benefit upon retirement.
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The defined benefit liability is the aggregate of the 
present value of the defined benefit obligation and 
unrecognised actuarial gains and losses, reduced by 
unrecognised past service costs. The plan is unfunded. 
The present value of the defined benefit obligation is 
calculated using the Projected Unit Credit Method, 
incorporating actuarial assumptions and a discount rate 
based on the government bond rate. Valuations of these 
obligations are carried out annually by independent 
qualified actuaries.

Actuarial gains or losses are recognised immediately in 
Surplus or Deficit.

Past-service costs are recognised immediately in 
Surplus or Deficit.

14. LEASES

14.1 The Entity as Lessee
14.1.1 Operating Leases

Mintek recognises operating lease rentals as an expense 
in Surplus or Deficit on a Straight-line Basis over the 
term of the  relevant lease. The difference between the 
amounts recognised as an expense and the contractual 
payments are recognised as an operating lease asset or 
liability. Any lease incentives are included as part of the 
net consideration agreed.

14.2 The Entity as Lessor
Rental revenue from Operating Leases is recognised on 
a Straight-line Basis over the term of the relevant lease.

15. BORROWING COSTS
Borrowing costs are interest and other expenses incurred by 
Mintek in connection with the borrowing of funds. All borrowing 
costs are treated as an expense in the period in which they are 
incurred.

16. TAXATION
Current tax for current and prior periods is, to the extent 
unpaid, recognised as a liability. If the amount already paid 
in respect of current and prior periods exceeds the amount 
due for those periods, the excess is recognised as an asset. 
Current tax liabilities/(assets) for the current and prior periods 
are measured at the amount expected to be paid to/(recovered 
from) the tax authorities, using the tax rates (and tax laws) that 
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the 
reporting period.

16.1 Income Tax
The Entity is exempt from paying Income Tax in terms 
of section 10(1) cA(i) of the Income Tax Act, No 58 of 
1962. Mindev is registered for Income Tax. Mindev’s 
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that 
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end 
of the reporting period.

16.2 Value Added Tax
The Entity accounts for Value Added Tax on the Invoice 
Basis in accordance with section15(2)(a) of the Value-
Added Tax Act (Act No 89 of 1991).

17. UNAUTHORISED EXPENDITURE
Unauthorised Expenditure is expenditure that has not been 
budgeted for, expenditure that is not in terms of the conditions 
of an allocation received from another sphere of government, 
municipality or organ of state, and expenditure in the form of 
a grant that is not permitted in terms of the Public Finance 
Management Act (Act No 1 of 1999).

All expenditure relating to Unauthorised Expenditure is 
accounted for as an expense in Surplus or Deficit in the 
year that the expenditure was incurred. The expenditure is 
classified in accordance with the nature of the expense, and 
where recovered, it is subsequently accounted for as revenue 
in Surplus or Deficit.

18. IRREGULAR EXPENDITURE
Irregular Expenditure as defined in section 1 of the PFMA is 
expenditure other than unauthorised expenditure, incurred in 
contravention of or that is not in accordance with a required 
of any applicable legislation, including the PFMA, Mintek 
Procurement Policy or National Treasury Regulations.

Irregular expenditure that was incurred and identified during 
the current financial year and which was not condoned by 
National Treasury or the relevant authority must be recorded 
appropriately in the irregular expenditure register. If liability 
for the irregular expenditure can be attributed to a person, 
a debt account must be created if such a person is liable 
in law. Immediate steps must thereafter be taken to recover 
the amount from the persons concerned. If recovery is not 
possible, the accounting officer or accounting authroity may 
write off the amount as debt impairment and disclose such 
in the relevant note to the financial statements. If the irregular 
expenditure has not been condoned and no person is liable in 
law, the expenditure related there to  must remain against the 
relevant programme/expenditure item, be disclosed as such, 
in the note to the financial statements and updated accordingly 
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in the irregular expenditure register. Irregular Expenditure 
excludes Unauthorised Expenditure. Irregular Expenditure is 
accounted for as an expense in Surplus or Deficit in the period 
it occurred and where recovered, it is subsequently accounted 
for as revenue in Surplus or Deficit.

19. FRUITLESS AND WASTEFUL 
 EXPENDITURE
Fruitless and Wasteful Expenditure is expenditure that was 
made in vain and would have been avoided had reasonable 
care been exercised.

All expenditure relating to Fruitless and wasteful expenditure 
is accounted for as expenditure in Surplus or Deficit in the 
year that the expenditure was incurred. The expenditure is 
classified in accordance with the nature of the expense, and 
where recovered,  it is subsequently accounted for as revenue 
in Surplus or Deficit.

20. MATERIAL LOSSES
The PFMA requires the disclosure of material losses incurred 
during the year under review. The disclosure is provided in 
order to comply to the legislative requirements governing 
Mintek.

21. FOREIGN CURRENCIES
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the 
functional currency of Mintek at exchange rates at the dates 
of the transactions.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies 
at the reporting date are retranslated to the functional currency 
at the exchange rate at that date. The foreign currency gain or 
loss on monetary items is the difference between amortised 
cost and fair value in the functional currency at the beginning 
of the period, adjusted for effective interest and payments 
during the period, and the amortised cost in foreign currency 
translated at the exchange rate at the end of the reporting 
period.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies that are measured at fair value are retranslated to 
the functional currency at the exchange rate at the date that 
the fair value was determined. Foreign currency differences 
arising on retranslation are recognised in the Statement of 
Financial Performance.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical 
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange 
rate at the date of the transaction.

Cash flows arising from transactions in a foreign currency 

are recorded in Rand’s by applying, to the foreign currency 
amount, the exchange rate between the Rand and the foreign 
currency at the date of the cash flow.

22. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES,
 ESTIMATES AND ERRORS
Changes in accounting policies that are effected by 
management have been applied retrospectively in accordance 
with GRAP 3 requirements, except to the extent that it is 
impracticable to determine the period-specific effects or the 
cumulative effect of the change in policy.

In such cases the Entity shall restate the opening balances of 
assets, liabilities and net assets for the earliest period for which 
retrospective restatement is practicable.

Changes in accounting estimates are applied prospectively in 
accordance with GRAP 3 requirements. Details of changes 
in estimates are disclosed in notes to the Annual Financial 
Statements where applicable.

Correction of errors is applied retrospectively in the period 
in which the error has occurred in accordance with GRAP 3 
requirements, except to the extent that it is impracticable to 
determine the period-specific effects or the cumulative effect 
of the error. In such cases Mintek shall restate the opening 
balances of assets, liabilities and net assets for the earliest 
period for which retrospective restatement is practical.

Details of Correction of Errors are disclosed in the Notes to the 
Annual Financial Statements where applicable.

23. CONTINGENT ASSETS AND CONTINGENT
 LIABILITIES
Contingent Assets and Contingent Liabilities are not 
recognised. Contingencies are disclosed in Notes to the 
Annual Financial Statements.

24. COMMITMENTS
Items are classified as commitments when Mintek has 
committed itself to future transactions that will normally result 
in the outflow of cash.

Disclosures are required in respect of unrecognised contractual 
commitments.

Commitments for which disclosure is necessary to achieve a 
fair presentation should be disclosed in a note to the financial 
statements, if both the following criteria are met:

-  Contracts should be non-cancellable or only cancellable  
 at significant cost (for example, contracts for computer or 
 building maintenance services); and
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Accounting Policies to the Annual Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 March 2020

- Contracts should relate to something other than the
 routine, steady, state business of the entity - therefore
 salary commitments relating to employement contracts or
 social security benefit commitments are excluded.
 

Commitments are future expenditure to which the Entity 
committed and that will result in the outflow of resources. 
Commitments are not recognised in the Statement of Financial 
Position as a liability or as expenditure in Surplus or Deficit, 
but are included in the disclosure Notes. A distinction is made 
between capital and current commitments.

25. RELATED PARTIES
Individuals as well as their close family members, and/or 
entities are related parties if one party has the ability, directly or 
indirectly, to control or jointly control the other party or exercise 
significant influence over the other party in making financial 
and/or operating decisions. Management is regarded as a 
related party and comprises the Board Members, Chairman, 
Executive Members, Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial 
Officer and all other managers reporting directly to the Chief 
Executive Officer or as designated by the Chief Executive 
Officer.

26. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE
Events after the reporting date that are classified as adjusting 
events have been accounted for in the Annual Financial 
Statements. The events after the reporting date that are 
classified as Non-adjusting Events after the Reporting 
Date have been disclosed in Notes to the Annual Financial 
Statements.

27. COMPARATIVE INFORMATION
When the presentation or classification of items in the Annual 
Financial Statements is amended, prior period comparative 
amounts are reclassified. The nature and reason for the 
reclassification is disclosed.
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1. INVENTORIES 2020 2019

R R

Consumable Stores 8,300,253 8,268,046

Finished Goods 1,290,445 1,038,602

Work-in-Progress - 2,270,469

Total Inventories 9,590,698 11,577,117 

Inventories in the consumable stores are held for own use while Finished Goods are sold to potential customers. Inventory is 
measured at the lower of Cost and Net Realisable Value. No write downs of Inventory to Net Realisable Value were required.
The cost of Inventories recognised as an expense during the period was R10,622,548 (FY 2018/2019:R12,501,300).
No inventories are expected to be utilised only after more than twelve months.
No Inventories have been pledged as collateral for Liabilities of the Entity.

2. RECEIVABLES FROM EXCHANGE 
    TRANSACTIONS

GROSS
BALANCES

PROVISION FOR 
IMPAIRMENT

NET BALANCES

As at 31 March 2020 R R R

Trade Debtors 15,324,443 - 15,324,443

Prepaid Expenses 4,976,515 - 4,976,515

Deposits 275,093 - 275,093

Earmarked Debtors 4,803,130 - 4,803,130

Project Work-in-Progress 10,126,439 - 10,126,439

Staff Debtors 1,470,967 229,908 1,241,059

Total Receivables from Exchange Transactions 36,976,585 229,908 36,746,677 

GROSS
BALANCES

PROVISION FOR 
IMPAIRMENT

NET BALANCES

As at 31 March 2019 R R R

Trade Debtors 15,562,933 - 15,562,933

Prepaid Expenses 2,652,377 - 2,652,377

Deposits 275,093 - 275,093

Earmarked Debtors 5,451,037 - 5,451,037

Project Work-in-Progress 12,828,952 - 12,828,952

Staff Debtors 703,539 - 703,539

Total Receivables from Exchange Transactions 37,473,933 - 37,473,933 

THE CARRYING AMOUNT OF TRADE RECEIVABLES 
ARE DENOMINATED IN THE FOLLOWING

2020 2019

R R

SA Rand 12,260,484 14,116,638

US Dollar 2,867,563 937,787

EUR 93,707 72,705

AUD 102,689 435,803

Total Receivables 15,324,443 15,562,933 
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 March 2020

Trade Debtors include outstanding debtors for local and international customers where services were rendered or products sold. 
It also includes debtors where breach of contract occurred.

Prepaid Expenses include transactions where Mintek made payment in advance for goods/services that would only be delivered/
rendered after year-end.

Deposits include funds held at the local municipality for municipal charges deposit.

Earmarked Debtors refers to monies outstanding from government debtors.

Project Work-in-Progress relates to the recognition of an asset where project work has been performed but no billing has taken 
place yet.

Staff Debtors include staff advances for travel and amounts owing by employees who are studying full time.

Trade Debtors are billed as per project proposal/purchase order and collected in terms of the standard collection procedures.

The credit risk of all new debtors are assessed considering the nature of the company and the credit required. Some credit 
applications are referred to an external company for review and their assessment is considered when the decision to grant credit 
is made. Credit limits are reviewed periodically.

The Entity did not pledge any of its Receivables as security for borrowing purposes.

2.1  AGEING OF RECEIVABLES FROM EXCHANGE TRANSACTIONS

As at 31 March 2020

CURRENT PAST DUE
TOTAL

0 - 30 DAYS 31 - 60 DAYS 61 - 90 DAYS + 90 DAYS

Trade Debtors: -

Gross Balances 10,704,089 1,385,293 230,596 3,004,464 15,324,443

Less: Provision for Impairment - - - - -

Net Balances 10,704,089 1,385,293 230,596 3,004,464 15,324,443

Prepaid Expenses:

Gross Balances 4,976,515 - - - 4,976,515

Less: Provision for Impairment - - - - -

Net Balances 4,976,515 - - - 4,976,515

Deposits:

Gross Balances 275,093 - - - 275,093

Less: Provision for Impairment - - - - -

Net Balances 275,093 - - - 275,093

Earmarked Debtors:

Gross Balances 939,100 (40,980) 110,750 3,794,260 4,803,130

Less: Provision for

Impairment - - - - -

Net Balances 939,100 (40,980) 110,750 3,794,260 4,803,130
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2.1  AGEING OF RECEIVABLES FROM EXCHANGE TRANSACTIONS

As at 31 March 2020

CURRENT PAST DUE
TOTAL

0 - 30 DAYS 31 - 60 DAYS 61 - 90 DAYS + 90 DAYS

Project Work-in-Progress: 10,126,439 - - - 10,126,439

Gross Balances

Less: Provision for Impairment - - - - -

Net Balances 10,126,439 - - - 10,126,439

Staff Debtors:

Gross Balances 124,969 225,112 45,816 1,075,070 1,470,967

Less: Provision for Impairment - - - (229,908) (229,908)

Net Balances 124,969 225,112 45,816 845,162 1,241,059

As at 31 March 2020 Receivables of R9,600,473 were past due but not impaired. 

All Receivables:

Gross Balances 26,569,420 1,569,424 387,162 7,873,794 36,399,801

Less: Provision for Impairment - - - (229,908) (229,908)

Net Balances 26,569,420 1,569,424 387,162 7,643,886 36,169,893

As at 31 March 2019

Trade Debtors:

Gross Balances 12,511,092 1,528,188 709,613 814,040 15,562,933

Less: Provision for Impairment - - - - -

Net Balances 12,511,092 1,528,188 709,613 814,040 15,562,933

Prepaid Expenses:

Gross Balances 2,652,377 - - - 2,652,377

Less: Provision for Impairment - - - - -

Net Balances 2,652,377 - - - 2,652,377

Deposits:

Gross Balances 275,093 - - - 275,093

Less: Provision for Impairment - - - - -

Net Balances 275,093 - - - 275,093

Earmarked Debtors:

Gross Balances (367,924) 3,495,769 97,082 2,226,111 5,451,037

Less: Provision for Impairment - - - - -

Net Balances (367,924) 3,495,769 97,082 2,226,111 5,451,037
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 March 2020

2.1  AGEING OF RECEIVABLES FROM EXCHANGE TRANSACTIONS

As at 31 March 2020

CURRENT PAST DUE
TOTAL

0 - 30 DAYS 31 - 60 DAYS 61 - 90 DAYS + 90 DAYS

Project Work-in-Progress:

Gross Balances 12,828,952 - - - 12,828,952

Less: Provision for Impairment - - - - -

Net Balances 12,828,952 - - - 12,828,952

Staff Debtors:

Gross Balances 136,304 35,060 101,324 430,851 703,539

Less: Provision for Impairment - - - - -

Net Balances 136,304 35,060 101,324 430,851 703,539

As at 31 March 2019 Receivables of R9,438,037 were past due but not impaired. The age analysis of these Receivables are as

CURRENT PAST DUE
TOTAL

0 - 30 DAYS 31 - 60 DAYS 61 - 90 DAYS + 90 DAYS

All Receivables:

Gross Balances 28,035,896 5,059,017 908,018 3,471,002 37,473,933

Less: Provision for Impairment - - - -

Net Balances 28,035,896 5,059,017 908,018 3,471,002 37,473,933

 2.1  AGEING OF RECEIVABLES FROM EXCHANGE TRANSACTIONS2.2  RECONCILIATION OF THE PROVISION FOR IMPAIRMENT

2020 2019

R R

Balance at beginning of year - 302,291

Impairment Losses recognised 229,908 314,734

Impairment Losses reversed - -

Amounts written off as uncollectable - (617,025)

Balance at end of year 229,908 -

In determining the recoverability of Receivables, the Entity has placed strong emphasis on verifying the indigent status of debtors. 
Provision for impairment of Receivables has been made for all debtor balances outstanding for more then 120 days where it is
unlikely that the outstanding amounts will be recovered.

The impairment recognised represents the difference between the carrying amount of these Receivables and the present value of 
the expected liquidation proceeds. The Entity does not hold any collateral over these balances.

Trade and Other Receivables which are less than 4 months past due are not considered to be impaired.
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2.3  AGEING OF RECEIVABLES FROM EXCHANGE TRANSACTIONS

2020 2019

R R

Current:

0 - 30 Days - -

Past Due: -

31 - 60 Days - -

61 - 90 Days - -

+ 90 Days 229,908 -

Total 229,908 -

2.4  DERECOGNITION OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

No Financial Assets have been transferred to other parties during the year.

3.  CASH AND EQUIVALENTS

2020 2019

R R

Current Investments 406,042,525 381,191,925

Bank Accounts 47,756,096 65,590,485

Cash and Cash Equivalents 61,605 41,305

Total Bank, Cash and Cash Equivalents 453,860,226 446,823,715

For the purposes of the Statement of Financial Position and the Cash Flow Statement, Cash and Cash Equivalents include Cash-
on-Hand, Cash in Banks and Investments in Money Market Instruments.
  
Call Deposits are investments with a maturity period of less than 12 months, available upon call, and earn interest rates varying 
from 5,00% to 10,00% (2019: 5,00% to 10,00%) per annum.

Fixed Deposits are investments with a maturity period of less than 12 months, deposited for fixed terms, and earn interest rates 
varying from 6,90% to 9,38% (2019: 6,90% to 9,38%) per annum.

Deposits of R219,499,523 (2019: R167,017,044) are ring-fenced and attributable to Unspent Conditional Grants.

An amount of R2,155,000 (2019: R2,155,000) is held as a cession by Absa Bank Limited for banking facilities. No other Cash and 
Cash Equivalents are pledged as security for financial liabilities of the Entity.

No restrictions have been imposed on the Entity in terms of the utilisation of its Cash and Cash Equivalents.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 March 2020

 4. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

 31 MARCH 2020

 RECONCILIATION OF CARRYING VALUE

Description Land Buildings Computer
Equipment

Furniture
and

Fittings

Plant,
Machinery and

Equipment

Motor Vehicles Catering, Building 
and Office 
Equipment

Total

R R R R R R R R

Carrying values at 01 April 2019 112,334,241 94,058,647 11,078,409 3,043,331 191,730,297 1,311,243 14,275,905 427,832,073

Cost 112,334,241 129,512,752 29,269,121 9,717,512 440,669,203 4,226,842 22,266,587 747,996,257

- Completed Assets 112,334,241 122,125,204 29,269,121 9,717,512 431,386,710 4,226,842 12,533,071 721,592,700

- Under Construction - 7,387,548 - - 9,282,493 - 9,733,516 26,403,557

Accumulated Depreciation: - (35,454,105) (18,190,712) (6,674,181) (248,938,905) (2,915,598) (7,990,682) (320,164,184)

Acquisitions - 107,350 5,430,669 183,530 9,697,196 613,650 1,512,951 17,545,346

Capital under Construction - Additions: - 9,398,093 - - 5,298,362 - 21,335,596 36,032,051

Depreciation: - (4,032,920) 1,015,830 281,766 (26,652,194) 32,032 (315,433) (29,670,919)

- Standard Depreciation - (4,120,145) (3,921,421) (945,351) (35,969,543) (353,955) (1,232,690) (46,543,104)

- Re-Assessment: Change in Estimate - 87,225 4,937,251 1,227,117 9,317,349 385,986 917,257 16,872,185

Carrying value of Disposals: - (1,056,686) (70,927) (119,347) (21,060,580) - (74) (22,307,615)

- Cost - (1,341,312) (1,509,608) (1,254,842) (135,790,557) - (203,986) (140,100,305)

- Accumulated Depreciation - 284,625 1,438,680 1,135,495 114,729,977 - 203,912 117,792,690

Impairment Losses - - (5,563) - (23,541,271) - (15,167) (23,562,001)

Capital under Construction - Completed - - - - (6,271,867) - (2,770,524) (9,042,392)

Transfers - - - - 6,064,031 - 2,978,360 9,042,392

Carrying values at 31 March 2020 112,334,241 98,474,483 17,448,418 3,389,279 135,263,974 1,956,925 37,001,613 405,868,935

Cost 112,334,241 137,676,883 33,190,182 8,646,199 319,666,368 4,840,492 45,118,984 661,473,349

- Completed Assets 112,334,241 120,891,243 33,190,182 8,646,199 311,357,381 4,840,492 16,820,396 608,080,133

- Under Construction - 16,785,641 - - 8,308,988 - 28,298,588 53,393,216

Accumulated Impairment Losses - - (5,563) - (23,541,271) - (15,167) (23,562,001)

Accumulated Depreciation - (39,202,400) (15,736,201) (5,256,920) (160,861,123) (2,883,567) (8,102,203) (232,042,414)
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 4. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

 31 MARCH 2020

 RECONCILIATION OF CARRYING VALUE

Description Land Buildings Computer
Equipment

Furniture
and

Fittings

Plant,
Machinery and

Equipment

Motor Vehicles Catering, Building 
and Office 
Equipment

Total

R R R R R R R R

Carrying values at 01 April 2019 112,334,241 94,058,647 11,078,409 3,043,331 191,730,297 1,311,243 14,275,905 427,832,073

Cost 112,334,241 129,512,752 29,269,121 9,717,512 440,669,203 4,226,842 22,266,587 747,996,257

- Completed Assets 112,334,241 122,125,204 29,269,121 9,717,512 431,386,710 4,226,842 12,533,071 721,592,700

- Under Construction - 7,387,548 - - 9,282,493 - 9,733,516 26,403,557

Accumulated Depreciation: - (35,454,105) (18,190,712) (6,674,181) (248,938,905) (2,915,598) (7,990,682) (320,164,184)

Acquisitions - 107,350 5,430,669 183,530 9,697,196 613,650 1,512,951 17,545,346

Capital under Construction - Additions: - 9,398,093 - - 5,298,362 - 21,335,596 36,032,051

Depreciation: - (4,032,920) 1,015,830 281,766 (26,652,194) 32,032 (315,433) (29,670,919)

- Standard Depreciation - (4,120,145) (3,921,421) (945,351) (35,969,543) (353,955) (1,232,690) (46,543,104)

- Re-Assessment: Change in Estimate - 87,225 4,937,251 1,227,117 9,317,349 385,986 917,257 16,872,185

Carrying value of Disposals: - (1,056,686) (70,927) (119,347) (21,060,580) - (74) (22,307,615)

- Cost - (1,341,312) (1,509,608) (1,254,842) (135,790,557) - (203,986) (140,100,305)

- Accumulated Depreciation - 284,625 1,438,680 1,135,495 114,729,977 - 203,912 117,792,690

Impairment Losses - - (5,563) - (23,541,271) - (15,167) (23,562,001)

Capital under Construction - Completed - - - - (6,271,867) - (2,770,524) (9,042,392)

Transfers - - - - 6,064,031 - 2,978,360 9,042,392

Carrying values at 31 March 2020 112,334,241 98,474,483 17,448,418 3,389,279 135,263,974 1,956,925 37,001,613 405,868,935

Cost 112,334,241 137,676,883 33,190,182 8,646,199 319,666,368 4,840,492 45,118,984 661,473,349

- Completed Assets 112,334,241 120,891,243 33,190,182 8,646,199 311,357,381 4,840,492 16,820,396 608,080,133

- Under Construction - 16,785,641 - - 8,308,988 - 28,298,588 53,393,216

Accumulated Impairment Losses - - (5,563) - (23,541,271) - (15,167) (23,562,001)

Accumulated Depreciation - (39,202,400) (15,736,201) (5,256,920) (160,861,123) (2,883,567) (8,102,203) (232,042,414)
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 4. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

 31 MARCH 2019

 RECONCILIATION OF CARRYING VALUE

Description Land Buildings Computer
Equipment

Furniture
and

Fittings

Plant,
Machinery and

Equipment

Motor Vehicles Catering, Building 
and Office 
Equipment

Total

R R R R R R R R

Carrying values at 01 April 2018 112,334,241 91,438,526 8,958,1295 3,822,934 190,618,116 1,498,134 19,434,722 428,104,968

Cost 112,334,241 123,833,170 26,382,217 9,528,666 448,806,816 3,970,887 26,462,537 751,318,534

- Completed Assets 112,334,241 121,714,496 26,382,217 9,528,666 432,299,143 3,970,887 12,008,308 718,237,957

- Under Construction - 2,118,674 - - 16,507,673 - 14,454,229 33,080,577

Accumulated Depreciation: - (32,394,644) (17,423,922) (5,705,731) (258,188,700) (2,472,753) (7,027,815) (323,213,566)

Acquisitions - - 4,007,544 207,861 14,328,809 255,955 536,609 19,336,779

Capital under Construction - Additions: - 5,679,582 - - 3,799,832 - 8,218,198 17,697,611

Depreciation: - (3,059,461) (318,427) (732,420) (30,841,684) (442,705) (961,784) (36,356,482)

- Standard Depreciation - (3,059,461) (2,542,199) (1,084,897) (32,786,617) (443,199) (1,134,144) (41,050,518)

- Re-Assessment: Change in Estimate - - 2,223,772 352,477 1,944,933 494 172,360 4,694,036

Carrying value of Disposals: - - (256,434) (3,216) (19,263) - (841) (279,754)

- Cost - - (953,435) (26,015) (487,217) - (11,846) (1,478,512)

- Accumulated Depreciation - - 697,001 22,798 467,954 - 11,005 1,198,758

Capital under Construction - Completed - (410,708) - - (11,025,012) - (12,938,911) (24,374,632)

Transfers - 410,708 (1,312,569) (251,828) (24,869,499) (140) (12,088) 23,703,582

- Cost - 410,708 (167,205) 7,000 (14,754,026) - - (14,503,523)

- Accumulated Depreciation - - (1,145,364) (258,828) 39,623,525 (140) (12,088) 38,207,105

Carrying values at 31 March 2019 112,334,241 94,058,647 11,078,409 3,043,331 191,730,297 1,311,243 14,275,905 427,832,073

Cost 112,334,241 129,512,752 29,269,121 9,717,512 440,669,203 4,226,842 22,266,587 747,996,257

- Completed Assets 112,334,241 122,125,204 29,269,121 9,717,512 431,386,710 4,226,842 12,533,071 721,592,700

- Under Construction - 7,387,548 - - 9,282,493 - 9,733,516 26,403,557

Accumulated Depreciation - (35,454,105) (18,190,712) (6,674,181) (248,938,905) (2,915,598) (7,990,682) (320,164,184)
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 4. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

 31 MARCH 2019

 RECONCILIATION OF CARRYING VALUE

Description Land Buildings Computer
Equipment

Furniture
and

Fittings

Plant,
Machinery and

Equipment

Motor Vehicles Catering, Building 
and Office 
Equipment

Total

R R R R R R R R

Carrying values at 01 April 2018 112,334,241 91,438,526 8,958,1295 3,822,934 190,618,116 1,498,134 19,434,722 428,104,968

Cost 112,334,241 123,833,170 26,382,217 9,528,666 448,806,816 3,970,887 26,462,537 751,318,534

- Completed Assets 112,334,241 121,714,496 26,382,217 9,528,666 432,299,143 3,970,887 12,008,308 718,237,957

- Under Construction - 2,118,674 - - 16,507,673 - 14,454,229 33,080,577

Accumulated Depreciation: - (32,394,644) (17,423,922) (5,705,731) (258,188,700) (2,472,753) (7,027,815) (323,213,566)

Acquisitions - - 4,007,544 207,861 14,328,809 255,955 536,609 19,336,779

Capital under Construction - Additions: - 5,679,582 - - 3,799,832 - 8,218,198 17,697,611

Depreciation: - (3,059,461) (318,427) (732,420) (30,841,684) (442,705) (961,784) (36,356,482)

- Standard Depreciation - (3,059,461) (2,542,199) (1,084,897) (32,786,617) (443,199) (1,134,144) (41,050,518)

- Re-Assessment: Change in Estimate - - 2,223,772 352,477 1,944,933 494 172,360 4,694,036

Carrying value of Disposals: - - (256,434) (3,216) (19,263) - (841) (279,754)

- Cost - - (953,435) (26,015) (487,217) - (11,846) (1,478,512)

- Accumulated Depreciation - - 697,001 22,798 467,954 - 11,005 1,198,758

Capital under Construction - Completed - (410,708) - - (11,025,012) - (12,938,911) (24,374,632)

Transfers - 410,708 (1,312,569) (251,828) (24,869,499) (140) (12,088) 23,703,582

- Cost - 410,708 (167,205) 7,000 (14,754,026) - - (14,503,523)

- Accumulated Depreciation - - (1,145,364) (258,828) 39,623,525 (140) (12,088) 38,207,105

Carrying values at 31 March 2019 112,334,241 94,058,647 11,078,409 3,043,331 191,730,297 1,311,243 14,275,905 427,832,073

Cost 112,334,241 129,512,752 29,269,121 9,717,512 440,669,203 4,226,842 22,266,587 747,996,257

- Completed Assets 112,334,241 122,125,204 29,269,121 9,717,512 431,386,710 4,226,842 12,533,071 721,592,700

- Under Construction - 7,387,548 - - 9,282,493 - 9,733,516 26,403,557

Accumulated Depreciation - (35,454,105) (18,190,712) (6,674,181) (248,938,905) (2,915,598) (7,990,682) (320,164,184)
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 4.  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

 The Market Values as at 31 March 2016 (previous valuation 2011) of all the properties 
that  the Entity recognises on its Statement of Financial Position are listed below:

2016 2011

JOHANNESBURG Farm Klipfontein, 203-IQ 200 Malibongwe Drive Portion 175 T14633/1970 148,430,000 131,933,021

JOHANNESBURG Farm Klipfontein, 203-IQ 200 Malibongwe Drive Portion 226 T22082/1998 27,546,000 24,949,297

JOHANNESBURG Malanshof Heights 16 Hans Schoeman Street Erf 560 Sectional title units 15, 28, 29 
and 30 of T20072/1981

1,578,760 1,351,020

177,554,760 158,233,338

 4.  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

4.1 Gross Carrying Amount of Property, Plant and Equipment that is fully 
      depreciated and still in use

As per the Asset Policy, assets with an acquisition value lower than R1,000 
is fully depreciated in the month of acquisition. There is therefore R145,091 
(2019:R151,005) of low value assets fully depreciated still in use.

4.2 Carrying Amount of Property, Plant and Equipment retired from active      
      use and not classified as a Discontinued Operation

No Property, Plant and Equipment were retired from active use and not 
classified as a Discontinued Operation during the financial year.

4.3 Assets pledged as security

The Entity did not pledge any of its Property, Plant or Equipment as security.

4.4 Impairment of Property, Plant and Equipment

Impairment losses have been recognised on Property, Plant and Equipment 
of the Entity at the reporting date. Impairment losses originated from assets 
previoulsy used in research or commercial activities but it is forecasted that 
no future economic benefit will flow from these assets in the foreseeable 
future.

4.5 Change in Estimate - Useful Life of Property, Plant and Equipment    
      reviewed

The Entity reassesses the useful life of all assets at period end. For items that 
are still in use and have future economic value, the useful lives are extended 
based on the assumptions that assets will be replaced in the next two years 
due to a capitalisation plan. The original acquisition value for these assets 
were R73,303,284 (2019: R20,548,497).
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 4.  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

 The Market Values as at 31 March 2016 (previous valuation 2011) of all the properties 
that  the Entity recognises on its Statement of Financial Position are listed below:

2016 2011

JOHANNESBURG Farm Klipfontein, 203-IQ 200 Malibongwe Drive Portion 175 T14633/1970 148,430,000 131,933,021

JOHANNESBURG Farm Klipfontein, 203-IQ 200 Malibongwe Drive Portion 226 T22082/1998 27,546,000 24,949,297

JOHANNESBURG Malanshof Heights 16 Hans Schoeman Street Erf 560 Sectional title units 15, 28, 29 
and 30 of T20072/1981

1,578,760 1,351,020

177,554,760 158,233,338

2020 2019

R R

 4.  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

4.5 Change in Estimate - Useful Life of Property, Plant and Equipment 
      reviewed (Continued)

The change in the estimated useful life of various assets of the Entity, as 
indicated in Note 24, has resulted in the following decreases in depreciation 
for the financial year:

Mintek 16,872,185 4,694,036 

Total Change in Estimate for Useful Life of Property, Plant and Equipment 16,872,185 4,694,036

The change in estimates will result in an increase of R16,872,185 in the 
depreciation expense for the Entity over the next three financial years.

4.6 Land and Buildings carried at Fair Value

The value of the land and building complexes were estimated by Resurgent 
Projects (Pty) Ltd, an independent valuator, during the financial year ending 
31 March 2016. The valuation is done every 5 years and the latest valuation 
report was issued on 18 April 2016. The key assumptions used were that 
the value of the property be based as sale of vacant land and buildings for 
rental investment using various rental income figures for different areas of the 
Mintek property. These calculated rentals were then capitalised at 13.5%.

The following assumptions were used:

Discount Rate 13.50% 13.50%
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 4.  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Had the Entity’s Land and Buildings (other than Land and Buildings included in a 
disposal group) been measured on a historical cost basis, their carrying amount 
would have been as follows:

Cost 46,141,850 38,972,848

Accumulated Depreciation 17,880,452 17,415,487

Net Carrying Value 28,261,398  21,557,361

4.7 Revaluation Surplus

The Revaluation Reserve arises on the revaluation of Land and Buildings. 
Where revalued Land or Buildings are sold, the portion of the Revaluation 
Reserve that relates to that asset, and is effectively realised, is transferred 
directly to Accumulated Surplus.

The Revaluation Surplus is reconciled as follows:

Balance at beginning of year 145,244,980 146,775,577

Depreciation offset to Income Statement (1,530,597) (1,530,597)

Balance at end of year 143,714,383 145,244,980

4.8 Work-in-Progress

The Entity has incurred expenditure on capital projects which were not 
completed at year- end. The details of the carrying amounts of expenditure 
included in each class of assets are listed below:

Buildings 16,785,541 7,387,548

Other Assets 28,298,588 9,733,516

Total Carrying Amounts of Work-in-Progress  53,393,216  26,403,557

4.9 Delayed Projects

The Entity has projects that are currently experiencing delays or were 
halted. For each project, the reason for the delay or halting of the project 
are noted. The carrying amount of those assets included in the balance of 
Property, Plant and Equipment are listed below:

Project Details Delayed or Halted

Buildings:

ASD Upgrade Phase 2 Delayed 15,733,866 7,387,549

Reason: The plans were redesigned which resulted in delays in finalising the 
tender process. The delay was further impacted by the Covid19 pandemic. The 
original completion date of October 2018 has been delayed to September 2020.

Other Equipment:

Upgrade of Chiller Plant Delayed 25,933,550 5,301,132

Reason: The plans were redesigned which resulted in delays in finalising the 
tender process. The delay was further impacted by the Covid19 pandemic. The 
original completion date of October 2018 has been delayed to October 2020.

Total Carrying Amounts of Delayed or Halted Projects  41,667,416  12,688,681
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4.10 Expenditure incurred to Repair and Maintain Property, Plant and     
        Equipment

The following specific costs included in the amount of Repairs and Maintenance were incurred by Entity during the 
reporting period:

Other Assets 20,234,466 15,187,267

- Contracted Services 11,368,157 11,777,144

- Inventory Consumed 8,866,309 3,410,123

Total Expenditure incurred to Repair and Maintain  20,234,466 15,187,267

 5.  INTANGIBLE ASSETS

At Cost less Accumulated Amortisation and Accumulated Impairment Losses 4,635,963 4,944,194

The movement in Intangible Assets is reconciled as follows:

Carrying values at 01 April 4,944,194 2,560,321

Cost 10,465,894 7,170,717

Accumulated Amortisation (5,521,700) (4,610,396)

Accumulated Impairment - -

Acquisitions 20,370 2,268,716

Amortisation: (190,478) (555,893)

- Standard Amortisation (1,246,133) (1,002,692)

- Re-Assessment: Change in Estimate 1,055,655 446,799

Impairment Losses Recognised (138,123) -

Transfers - 671,050

At Cost - 1,026,461

At Accumulated Amortisation - (355,411)

Disposals: - -

At Cost (854,972) -

At Accumulated Amortisation 854,972 -

Carrying values at 31 March 4,635,963 4,944,194

Cost 9,631,291 1,045,894

Accumulated Amortisation (4,857,205) (5,521,700)

Accumulated Impairment Losses (138,123) -

Accumulated Impairment Losses (138,123)
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 5.  INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

The amortisation expense has been included in the line item "Depreciation and 
Amortisation" in the Statement of Financial Performance (see Note 18).

All of the Entity’s Intangible Assets are held under freehold interests and no 
Intangible Assets had been pledged as security for any liabilities of the Entity.

No restrictions apply to any of the Intangible Assets of the Entity.

5.1 Significant Intangible Assets

There were no significant intangible assets identified that did not meet the 
recognition criteria as stipulated in GRAP 102 or SIC 32.

5.2 Impairment of Intangible Assets

An impairment losses of R138,123 (2019 - R0) have been recognised on 
Intangible Assets of the Entity at the reporting date.

5.3 Change in Estimate - Useful Life of Intangible Assets reviewed

The Entity reassesses the useful life of all assets at period end. For items that 
are still in use and have future economic value, the useful lives are extended 
based on the assumptions that assets will be replaced in the next two years 
due to a capitalisation plan. The original acquisition value for these assets 
were R4,733,144 (2019: R1,191,592).

The change in the estimated useful life of various assets of the Entity, as 
indicated in Note 24, has resulted in the following decreases in depreciation 
for the financial year:

Intangible asset: Amortisation reversal 1,055,655 446,799

Total Change in Estimate for Useful Life of Intangible Assets 1,055,655 446,799

The change in estimates will result in an increase of R1,055,655 in the 
amortisation expense for the Entity over the next three financial years.
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6.  NON-CURRENT INVESTMENTS

Unlisted

Investment in Controlled Entities - at cost 100 100

100 100

Total Non-current Investments 100 100

Board's valuation of Unlisted Investments

Investment in Controlled Entities 100 100

100 100

Unlisted Investments comprise the following:

(i) Investments in Controlled Entities as described below.

6.1 Investment in Controlled Entities

The Entity exercises control in the following company, which has been 
dormant for several years, where the value of the investment is considered 
to be R100 as the company does not have share capital which can be 
valued in an open market:

Mindev (Pty) Ltd:

Issued Share Capital (R) 100 100

Percentage controlled by Board (%) 100.00% 100.00%

Non-Current Liabilities 39,515,043 39,515,043

The Entity's maximum liability towards the Controlled Entity is R100.
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7.  PROVISIONS

Warrantees 1,315,604 1,022,670

Total Provisions 1,315,604 1,022,670

Warrantees arise from the Controlled Entity, Mintek, recognising its probable 
liability for meeting its obligation in terms of products and services as 
stipulated in its contracts with its customers. The provision is an estimate of 
the amount due at the reporting date.

The movement in provisions are reconciled as follows:

Current Provisions

Balance at beginning of year 1,022,670 901,535

Warranty additions 1,315,604 1,022,670

Amounts reversed during the year (1,022,670) (901,535)

Balance at end of year 1,315,604 1,022,670

8.  PAYABLES FROM EXCHANGE TRANSACTIONS

Trade Creditors 22,655,868 39,734,668

Payments Received In Advance 12,192,930 10,412,893

Accruals 16,381,001 8,168,967

Deposits 26,798 24,298

Salary Control 9,666,530 10,028,642

Staff Bonus Accrual 478,656 518,554

Staff Leave Accrual 10,571,350 11,267,249

Total Payables 71,973,133 80,155,272

Trade Creditors:

Trade Creditors are in respect of amounts due to suppliers for services rendered 
and goods supplied.

Payments Received in Advance:

Payments Received in Advance relates to billing in advance on projects 
where work is yet to be completed.

Accruals:

Accruals are recognised for known amounts owing to suppliers where 
invoices have not yet been received.

Deposits:

Deposits are in respect of amounts held for tenants that have lease 
agreements with Mintek.
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8.  PAYABLES FROM EXCHANGE TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Salary Control:

Salary control relates to amounts owing to third parties at year-end.

Staff Bonus Accrual:

Employees may elect to structure a bonus as part of their total package. This accrual 
relates to bonuses that have accrued at year-end.

Staff Leave Accrual:

The leave accrual relates to the value of vacation leave for staff at year-end.

The average credit period on purchases from Trade Creditors is 45 (2019: 55) days. 
Creditors are paid within 30 days from receipt of invoice as required by Treasury 
Regulations.

No interest is charged for the first 30 days from the date of receipt of the invoice. 
Thereafter interest is charged in accordance with the credit policies of the various 
individual creditors that the Entity deals with.

The Entity did not default on any payment of its Creditors. No terms for payment have 
been re-negotiated by the Entity.

9.  UNSPENT CONDITIONAL GRANTS AND RECEIPTS

9.1 Conditional Grants from Government

Total Unspent Conditional Grants and 
Receipts 219,499,523 167,017,044

The grants are project related where conditions are yet to be fulfulled. The Unspent 
Conditional Grants and Receipts are invested in ring-fenced investment accounts until 
utilised.

The Unspent Grants are cash backed by term deposits. The Entity complied with the 
conditions attached to all grants received to the extent of revenue recognised. No grants 
were withheld.

ECONOMIC ENTITY CONTROLLING ENTITY

2020 2019 2020 2019

R R R R

10.  LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

Mindev (Pty) Ltd - - 39,515,043 39,515,043

Total Long-term Liabilities (Neither past due) - - 39,515,043 39,515,043

10.1 Summary of Arrangements

Other Loans:

Other Loans are in respect of an amount due to Mindev, Mintek’s 
wholly owned subsidiary, and relates to the income received on the 
sale of technologies in Mindev. The funds were deposited into Mintek’s 
bank account as Mindev does not have a bank account.
These monies are held on Mindev’s behalf. There are therefore 
no fixed terms of repayment and it is interest free.
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11.   BENEFIT LIABILITIES

Post-retirement Health Care Benefits Liability

Non-current Liabilities 7,938,312 10,412,036

Current Liabilities 1,138,793 2,787,964

Carrying Value

Present Value of the defined benefit obligation - wholly unfunded 9,077,105 13,200,000

Medical cover is provided to employees through a number of different schemes. 
Post- retirement medical cover in respect of qualifying employees is recognised as an 
expense over the expected remaining service lives of the relevant employees.

Mintek has an obligation to provide medical benefits to certain pensioners and 
dependents. These liabilities have been provided for in full, calculated on an actuarial 
basis.

These liabilities are unfunded. Periodic valuation of this obligation is carried out by an 
independent actuary every year, latest on being 31 March 2020.

The most recent actuarial valuations of plan assets and the present value of the 
defined benefit obligation were carried out at 31 March 2020 by Mr S Basadien, 
Member of the Actuarial Society of South Africa. The present value of the defined 
benefit obligation, and the related current service cost and past service cost, were 
measured using the Projected Unit Credit Method.

The members of the Post-employment Health Care Benefit Plan are made up as 
follows:

In-service Members (Employees) 36 47

Continuation Members (Retirees, widowers and orphans) 9 9

Total Members 45 56

The liability in respect of past service has been estimated as follows:

In-service Members 5,500,000 9,900,000

Continuation Members 3,577,105 3,300,000

Total Liability 9,077,105 13,200,000

The Current-service Cost for the year ending 31 March 2020 is estimated to be 
R1,300,000, whereas the cost for the ensuing year is estimated to be R1,100,000 
(31 March 2019: R1,700,000 and R1,300,000 respectively).

The principal assumptions used for the purposes of the actuarial valuations 
were as follows:

Discount Rate - In-service Members 13.50% 9.80%

Discount Rate - Continuation Members 11.40% 8.90%

Health Care Cost Inflation Rate - In-service Members 8.50% 7.50%

Health Care Cost Inflation Rate - Continuation Members 8.60% 6.80%

Expected Retirement Age 60 60
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11.  EMPLOYEE BENEFIT LIABILITIES (Continued)

General:
Fixed investment held with various financial institutions is partly earmarked as 
financing for post-retirement medical aid liability. Mintek has not assigned a specific 
fund to hedge the post-retirement medical aid liability.

Movements in the present value of the Defined Benefit Obligation were as 
follows:

Balance at the beginning of the year 13,200,000 19,800,000

Interest cost 1,300,000 1,700,000

Past-service costs (213,226) (209,012)

Settlements paid (2,066,680) (1,835,477)

Actuarial losses / (gains) (3,142,989) (6,255,511)

Total Recognised Benefit Liability 9,077,105 13,200,000

The amounts recognised in the Statement of Financial Position are as 
follows:

Present value of fund obligations 9,077,105 13,200,000

Unfunded Accrued Liability 9,077,105 13,200,000

Total Benefit Liability 9,077,105 13,200,000

The amounts recognised in the Statement of Financial Performance are as follows:

Current service cost - -

Interest cost 1,300,000 1,700,000

Actuarial losses / (gains) (3,142,989) (6,255,511)

Vested past service costs (213,226) (209,012)

Total Post-retirement Benefit included in Employee Related Costs (Note 17)  (2,056,215) (4,764,523)

The effect of a 1% movement in the assumed rate of health care cost inflation is as 
follows:

Increase:

Effect on the aggregate of the current service cost and the interest cost 1,946,400 1,717,200

Effect on the defined benefit obligation 5,822,895 1,700,000

Decrease:

Effect on the aggregate of the current service cost and the interest cost (1,583,900) (1,421,900)

Effect on the defined benefit obligation 3,022,895 (1,100,000)

There are no additional contritbutions made to this benefit plan as it merely relates 
to a vested benefit that accrues to qualifiying employees that were in employ on 31 
December 1999.
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12.  RESERVES

Revaluation Reserve 143,714,383 145,244,980

Total Reserves 143,714,383 145,244,980

12.1 Revaluation Reserve

The Revaluation Reserve arises on the revaluation of Land and Buildings. Where 
revalued Land or Buildings are sold, the portion of the Revaluation Reserve 
that relates to that asset, and is effectively realised, is transferred directly to 
Accumulated Surplus. 

Reconciliation of the Revaluation Reserve:

Balance at beginning of year 145,244,980 146,775,577

Depreciation transferred to surplus (1,530,597) (1,530,597)

Balance at end of year  143,714,383 145,244,980

Refer to Statement of Changes in Net Assets for more detail and the movement on
Reserves.

13.  GOVERNMENT GRANTS AND SUBSIDIES

Operational Grants:

MTEF 90,247,319 143,446,102

SciVote 238,864,348 212,863,280

Total Government Grants and Subsidies  329,111,667 356,309,382

The prior year amount for Government Grants and Subsidies has been restated. 
Refer to Note 23.1 on “Correction of Error” for details of the restatement.

14.  RENDERING OF SERVICES

Contract Research 78,233,394 52,282,757

Products and Services 116,486,171 116,730,067

Total Rendering of Services 194,719,565 169,012,824

The amounts disclosed above for revenue for contract research and products and 
services relates to services rendered to customers and billed as planned.

15.  INTEREST EARNED

External Investments:

Bank Account 536,485 199,707

Other Deposits 26,774,799 28,282,531

27,311,284 28,482,239
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15.  INTEREST EARNED (Continued)

Outstanding Debtors:

Fair value adjustment reversed on trade receivables - (32,076)

- (32,076)

Total Interest Earned  27,311,284 28,450,163

Revenue recognised in respect of Financial Assets designated as at ‘fair value’ is 
disclosed in Note 21.

16.  OTHER REVENUE

Library Income 18,365 2,935

Sale of Scrap Material 148,445 245,676

Sundry Income 2,450,012 2,308,525

Tender Fee Income 93,001 128,436

Total Other Revenue 2,709,823 2,685,572

The amounts disclosed above for Other Revenue are in respect of services rendered 
which are billed to or paid for by the users and does is anxillary to the core business 
of Mintek.

17.  EMPLOYEE RELATED COSTS

Basic Salaries 289,667,622 285,501,249

Overtime 2,395,382 2,917,738

Social Contributions (Medical Aid, Pension, UIF, etc) 1,549,737 1,631,695

Leave Accrual 6,103,444 6,255,213

Other Employee related costs  367,800 992,900 

Total Employee Related Costs: 300,083,984 297,298,795
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18.  DEPRECIATION AND AMORTISATION

Depreciation: Property, Plant and Equipment 29,670,919 36,356,482

Amortisation: Intangible Assets 190,478 555, 893

Total Depreciation and Amortisation 29,861,397 36,912,375 

19.  IMPAIRMENT LOSSES

19.1 Impairment Losses on Fixed Assets

The following impairment losses were recognised in the year under review:

Impairment Losses Recognised: 23,700,124 -

Property, Plant and Equipment 23,562,001 -

Intangible Assets 138,123 -

19.2 Impairment Losses on Financial Assets

Impairment Losses Recognised: 229,908 314,734

Receivables from Exchange Transactions 229,908 314,734

Impairment Losses Reversed - -

Receivables from Exchange Transactions - -

229,908 314,734

Total Impairment Losses 23,930,032 314,734

Property, Plant and Equipment include assets for Land, Buildings, Leased Assets 
and Other Movable Assets.

20.  FINANCE COSTS

Supplier interest 5,723 867

Fair value adjustment on payables - (44,380)

Defined Benefit Liabilities 1,300,000 1,700,000

Total Finance Costs 1,305,723 1,656,486

21.  PROFESSIONAL SERVICES

Auditor’s Remuneration 3,672,431 1,875,653

Professional Consultancy Services 8,623,337 5,025,004

Legal Fees 5,564,542 6,142,000

Total Professional Services 17,860,310 13,042,656 
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22.  GENERAL EXPENSES

Included in General Expenses are the following: 287,005

Bank Charges 287,005 364,515

Communication Costs 962,512 510,930

Consumables 24,317,282 22,728,751

Contracted Services 935,964 1,043,832

Electricity, Water, Rates and Taxes 16,512,625 19,428,305

Facilities Management    7,824,313 9,521,414

Fuel and Oil 611,797 311,651

Health and Safety 1,869,800 2,036,307

Insurance 2,081,613 1,793,819

Licence fees - Software 7,361,974 4,957,267

Marketing Expenses 2,682,982 1,737,267

Membership and Subscription Fees 2,962,810 3,661,730

Postage and Courier Costs 360,433 658,463

Rental of Facilities and Equipment 661,871 649,651

Skills Development Levies 2,720,758 2,820,224

Technology Services 31,746,831 18,227,626

Training and Staff development 4,927,436 6,297,830

Travel and Accommodation 8,829,710 11,006,071

Vehicle Expenses 1,524,383 2,152,721

Warrantee Provision 292,934 121,135

Other General Expenses 8,451,645 4,544,993

Total General Expenses 127,926,676 114,574,501

The amounts disclosed above for Other General Expenses are in respect of costs 
incurred in the general management of the Entity and not direct attributable to a 
specific service or class of expense.
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23.  CORRECTION OF ERROR

Corrections were made on disclosures of the previous financial year. These disclosures are limited to re-classification of 
line items within the different categories of the financial statements. Details of the corrections are described below:

23.1 Reclassification of Revenue

The prior year figures of Revenue Classes have been restated to correctly classify the nature of Revenue of Mintek.

The effect of the Correction of Error is as follows:

Prior Year AFS
2018/19

Revenue

Current Year 
AFS

2018/19

Restated

Amount

Government Grants and Subsidies Received 268,441,606 356,309,382 87,867,776

Rendering of Services 256,880,600 169,012,824 (87,867,776)

Rental of Facilities and Equipment 2,946,457 3,131,936 185,479

Interest Earned 28,450,163 28,450,163 -

Discount Received 56,543 56,543 -

Recoveries Made 1,514,449 - (1,514,449)

SDL Refund 428,517 - (428,517)

Other Revenue 928,085 2,685,572 1,757,487

Gains on Other Operations 2,400,415 2,400,415 -

562,046,835 562,046,835 -

Prior year amounts of items in Revenue included in the Statement of Financial Performance have been restated as indicated 
below:

Government
Grants

Rendering
of Services

Recoveries
Made

SDL
Refund

Balance previously reported 268,441,606 256,880,600 1,514,449 428,517

MTEF Revenue - Asbestos Rehabilitation 87,867,776 (87,867,776) (1,514,449) -

Reclassify SDL Refund - - - (428,517)

Restated Balance now reported 356,309,382 169,012,824 - -

Rental
of Facilities

Other
Revenue

Gains on
Other 

Operations

Balance previously reported 2,946,457 928,085 2,400,415

Reclassify Conference Facility Rental 185,479 - -

Reclassify Recoveries from Insurance claims and SDL refund - 1,757,487 -

Restated Balance now reported 3,131,936 2,685,572 2,400,415

Government Grants and Subsidies Received:

The prior year amounts for Government Grants & Subsidies Received and Rendering of Services have been restated to 
correctly disclose MTEF Revenue for Asbestos Rehabilitation of R87,167,776 as Revenue from Non-exchange Transactions 
where it was classified as Revenue from Exchange transactions in the previous year.

Rendering of Services:

The prior year amounts for Rendering of Services and Government Grants & Subsidies Received have been restated to 
correctly disclose MTEF Revenue - Asbestos Rehabilitation as Revenue from Non-Exchange Transactions, previously included 
in Rendering of Services.
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23.  CORRECTION OF ERROR (Continued)

Recoveries Made:

The prior year amounts for Recoveries Made and SDL Refund have been reclassified to correctly disclose recoveries made, 
the SDL Refund in the amount of R428,517 previously disclosed separately.

Refund from Skills Development Levy:

The prior year amounts for Recoveries Made and Recoveries Made have been reclassified to correctly disclose recoveries 
made, the SDL Refund in the amount of R185,479 now included in Recoveries Made.

Rental of Facilities and Equipment:

The prior year amounts for Rental of Facilities & Equipment and Other Revenue have been restated to correctly disclose the 
revenue for Conference Facility Rental in the amount of R185,479 , previously recognised as Other Revenue.

Other Revenue:

The prior year amounts for Other Revenue and Rental of Facilities & Equipment have been restated to correctly disclose the 
revenue for Conference Facility Rental in the amount of R148,479, previously recognised as Other Revenue.

23.2 Reclassification of Expenditure

The prior year figures of Expenditure Classes have been restated to correctly classify the nature of Expenditure of Mintek.

The effect of the Correction of Error is as follows:

Prior Year AFS
2018/19

Expenditure

Current Year AFS
2018/19

Expenditure

Restated

Amount

Employee Related Costs 306,561,190 297,298,795 (9,262,396)

Depreciation and Amortisation 42,053,208 36,912,375 (5,140,834)

Useful Lives Adjustment (5,140,835) - 5,140,835

Impairment Losses 314,734 314,734 -

Auditors' Remuneration 1,875,653 - 1,875,653

Bursary Costs 11,430,659 11,430,659 -

Finance Costs (43,514) 1,656,486 1,700,000

Interest on Retirement Benefits 1,700,000 - (1,700,000)

Professional Services 112,067,222 13,042,656 (99,024, 565)

Repairs and Maintenance - 15,187,267 15,187,267

Rehabilitation services - 72,159,415 72,159,415

General Expenses 91,758,572 114,574,501 22,815,928

Actuarial Gains (6,255,511) (6,255,511) -

Loss on Disposal of Property, Plant and Equipment 279,754 279,754 -

556,601,134 556,601,134 -

Prior year amounts of items in Revenue included in the Statement of Financial Performance have been restated as indicated 
below:

Depreciation and Amortisation and Useful Lives Adjustment:

The prior year amounts for Depreciation & Amortisation and Useful Lives Adjustment have been restated to correctly disclose 
in the depreciation expense, the adjustment for useful lives in the amount of R5,140,835 previously disclosed as a separate line 
item.
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23.  CORRECTION OF ERROR (Continued)

Finance Costs and Interest on Retirement Benefits:

The prior year amounts for Finance Costs and Interest on Retirement Benefits have been restated to correctly disclose Interest 
Cost, the Interest Cost on Health Benefits in the amount of R1,700,000 previously disclosed as a separate line item.

Repairs and Maintenance:

The prior year amounts for Repairs and Maintenance and General Expenses have been restated to correctly disclose the 
expense for Repairs & Maintenance in the amount of R15,187,267, previously included in General Expenses.

Rehabilitation Services, Auditor’s Renumeration and Professional Services:

The prior year amounts for Professional Services, Auditors Remuneration and General Expenses have been restated to 
correctly disclose the expense for Auditors’ Remuneration of R1,875,653 as Professional Services. Further asbestos rehabilitation 
services amounting to R72,159,418 has now been disclosed separately where it was included in Professional Services in the 
prior year. Facilities management costs, Technology services and Contract services amounting to R28,792,872 have now been 
included in General expenses where it was previously included in Professional Services.

General Expenses:

The prior year amounts for General Expenses and Consumables have been restated to correctly disclose the expense for 
Consumables in the amount of R22,728,751, previously included in General Expenses.

23.3 Reclassification of Statement of Financial Position

The effect of the Correction of Error is as follows:

Prior Year AFS
2018/19

Expenditure

Current Year AFS
2018/19

Expenditure

Restated

Amount

Current Liabilities

Provisions (1,022,670) (1,022,670) -

Payables from Exchange Transactions (80,130,974) (80,155,272) (24,298)

Deposits (24,298) - 24,298

Unspent Conditional Grants and Receipts (167,017,044) (167,017,044) -

VAT Payable (5,172,525) (5,172,525) -

Current Portion of Long-term Liabilities (2,787,964) (2,787,964) -

- - -

2020 2019

R R

Opening balances and prior year amounts of items in the Statement of Financial Position have been restated as indicated 
below:

Payables: 
Exchange

Deposits

Balances published per AFS as at 31 March 2019 (80,130,974) (24,298)

Reclassify Rental Deposits Held (24,298) 24,298

Balances now published per AFS as at 31 March 2019 (80,155,272) -

Payables from Exchange Transactions and Deposits:

The opening balances of Payables from Exchange Transactions and Deposits have been restated to correctly disclose the 
amount  for Payables, deposits payable previously disclosed separately.
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24. CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

24.1 Depreciation/Amortisation Expenditure:

The residual values, estimated useful lives and depreciation methods were reviewed at  31 March 2020. For items that are still 
in use and have future economic value, useful life was extended. The useful lives were extended based on the assumptions that 
assets will be replaced in the next two years due to the capitalisation plan. The original acquisition value for these assets were 
R78,036,428 and the resultant depreciation write-back was R17,318,984 of which R16,872,185 relates to property, plant and 
equipment and R1,055,655 relates to intangible assets. The adjustments are as follows:

Decrease in Depreciation and Amortisation due to adjustments to Useful Lives of 
PPE and Intangible Assets

(17,318,984) (5,140,835)

Decrease in Depreciation of PPE and Intangble Assets (17,318,984) (5,140,835)

Depreciation as previously stated - before change in useful lives 47,180,381 42,053,210

Adjustment due to Change in Accounting Estimate (17,318,984) (5,140,835)

Depreciation as per Note 18. 29,861,397 36,912,375

The effect per asset class is reflected in notes 4 and 5 in the financial statements. The amount of the effect in future periods is 
not disclosed as it is impracticable to estimate.

25. CASH GENERATED BY OPERATIONS

(Deficit)/Surplus for the Year (54,183,676) 5,445,701

Adjustment for Non-cash Transactions included in Surplus / (Deficit):

Employee Related Costs 5,890,218 6,046,201

Depreciation and Amortisation 29,861,397 36,912,375

Impairment Losses on Capital Assets 23,700,124 -

Impairment Losses on Financial Assets 229,908 314,734

Finance Costs 1,300,000 1,700,000

General Expenses 292,934 121,135

Gains on Other Operations (3,142,989) (6,255,511)

Contributions included in Payables from Exchange Transactions (6,103,444) (6,255,213)

Adjustment for Cash Transactions not included in Surplus / (Deficit):

Exchange Receivables: Bad Debts Written-off - (617,025)

Disposal of Property, Plant and Equipment 22,307,615 279,754

Transfer of Property, Plant and Equipment - 671,050

Transfer of Intangible Assets - (671,050)

Expenditure incurred from Employee Benefit Liabilities (2,066,680) (1,835,477)

Operating surplus before working capital changes 18,085,406 35,856,673
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25. CASH GENERATED BY OPERATIONS (Continued)

Decrease/(Increase) in Inventories 1,986,419 (2,004,125)

Decrease/(Increase) in Receivables from Exchange Transactions 497,347 (4,496,059)

(Decrease) /Increase in Payables from Exchange Transactions (8,182,139) 22,279,417

Increase in Conditional Grants and Receipts 52,482,479 7,384,537

Decrease in VAT Payable (4,235,235) (1,581,429)

Cash generated by Operations 60,634,278 57,439,015

26.  NON-CASH INVESTING AND FINANCING TRANSACTIONS

The Entity did not enter into any Non-cash Investing and Financing Transactions 
during the 2019/20 financial year.

27.  UNAUTHORISED, IRREGULAR, FRUITLESS AND WASTEFUL EXPENDITURE DISALLOWED

27.1 Unauthorised Expenditure

To management's best of knowledge no Unauthorised Expenditure was incurred 
during the year under review.

27.2 Fruitless and Wasteful Expenditure

To management's best of knowledge no instances of Fruitless and Wasteful 
Expenditure were not revealed during the year under review.
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27.  UNAUTHORISED, IRREGULAR, FRUITLESS AND WASTEFUL EXPENDITURE DISALLOWED

27.3 Irregular Expenditure

Reconciliation of Irregular Expenditure:

Opening balance - -

Irregular Expenditure current year 11,740,609 17,210

Condoned or written off by Board - (8,622)

Amount recovered - (8,588)

Transfer to receivables for recovery (see Note 4) - - 

Irregular Expenditure awaiting condonement 11,740,609 - 

Incident Disciplinary Steps / Criminal Proceedings

2020: Incidents identified in the financial year include:

Irregular awards made to Lafata Chemicals - R11,300,476 
(2019: R0)

Under Investigation. To be submitted to Board for 
condonement.

Irregular award made to Power Development Services - 
R440,133 (2019: R0)

Under Investigation. To be submitted to Board for 
condonement.

2019: Irregular payment to Kingdom Caterers (11/09/2018) Investigations were concluded on 11/03/2019 and employee 
was dismissed.

28. COMMITMENTS FOR EXPENDITURE

28.1 Capital Commitments

Commitments in respect of Capital Expenditure:

Approved and Contracted for:-

Buildings 6,409,239 7,387,549

Plant, Machinery and Equipment 1,055,150 871,599

Total Capital Commitments 7,464,389  8,259,148

28.2 Commitments in respect of Operational Expenditure

Approved and Contracted for:-

Operational Expenditure 132,600,959 108,197,631

Total Capital Commitments 132,600,959 108,197,631

28.3 Operating Lease Commitments

At the reporting date the Entity has outstanding commitments under Operating Leases which fall due as follows:

28.3.1 Arrangements as Lessee:

Operating Leases relate to Property, Plant and Equipment with lease terms not longer  than 5 years, with an option to extend 
for a further period. All operating lease contracts contain market review clauses in the event that the Entity exercises its 
option to renew. The Entity does not have an option to purchase the leased asset at the expiry of the lease period.
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28. COMMITMENTS FOR EXPENDITURE (Continued)

28.3.2 Amounts payable under Operating Leases:

At the Reporting Date the Entity had outstanding commitments under Non-cancellable Operating Leases for Property, Plant 
and Equipment, which fall due as follows:

Other Equipment: 79,015 425,806

Up to 1 year 79,015 307,134

2 to 5 years - 118,672

More than 5 years - -

Total Operating Lease Arrangements 79,015 425,806
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Financial Assets Classification

Non-current Investments

Unlisted Investments Amortised cost 100 100

Receivables from Exchange Transactions

Trade Debtors Amortised cost 15,324,443 15,562,933

Prepaid Expenses Amortised cost 4,976,515 2,652,377

Deposits Amortised cost 275,093 275,093

Earmarked Funding Amortised cost 4,803,130 5,451,037

Project Work-in-Progress Amortised cost 10,126,439 12,828,952

Staff Debtors Amortised cost 1,241,059 703,539

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Fixed Deposits Fair value 406,042,525 381,191,925

Bank Balances Fair value 47,756,096 65,590,485

Cash Floats and Advances Fair value 61,605 41,305

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

Financial Assets at Amortised Cost:

Receivables from Exchange Transactions Trade Debtors 15,324,443 15,562,933

Receivables from Exchange Transactions Prepaid Expenses 4,976,515 2,652,377

Receivables from Exchange Transactions Deposits 275,093 275,093

Receivables from Exchange Transactions Earmarked Funding 4,803,130 5,451,037

Receivables from Exchange Transactions Project Work-in-Progress 10,126,439 12,828,952

Receivables from Exchange Transactions Staff Debtors 1,241,059 703,539

36,746,677 37,473,933 

Financial Assets at Fair Value:

Non-current Investments Unlisted Investments 100 100

Cash and Cash Equivalents Fixed Deposits 406,042,525 381,191,925

Cash and Cash Equivalents Bank Balances 47,756,096 65,590,485

Cash and Cash Equivalents Cash Floats and Advances 61,605 41,305

453,860,326 446,823,815 

Total Financial Assets 490,607,003 484,297,748 

 490,030,219 

2020 2019

R R

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

29.1 Classification

FINANCIAL ASSETS:

In accordance with GRAP 104.13 the Financial Assets of the Entity are classified as follows:
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Financial Assets Classification

Long-term Liabilities

Other Loans Amortised cost 39,515,043 39,515,043

Payables from Exchange Transactions

Trade Creditors Amortised cost 22,655,868 39,734,668

Payments Received In Advance Amortised cost 12,192,930 10,412,893

Accruals Amortised cost 16,381,000 8,168,967

Deposits Amortised cost 26,798 24,298

Salary Control Amortised cost 9,666,530 10,028,642

Staff Bonus Accrual Amortised cost 478,656 518,554

Staff Leave Accrual Amortised cost 10,571,350 11,267,249

Current Portion of Long-term Liabilities

Retirement benefits Amortised cost 1,138,793 2,787,964

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Financial Liabilities at Amortised Cost:

Long-term Liabilities Other Loans 39,515,043 39,515,043

Payables from Exchange Transactions Trade Creditors 22,655,868 39,734,668

Payables from Exchange Transactions Payments Received In Advance 12,192,930 10,412,893

Payables from Exchange Transactions Accruals 16,381,001 8,168,967

Payables from Exchange Transactions Deposits 26,798 24,298

Payables from Exchange Transactions Salary Control 9,666,530 10,028,642

Payables from Exchange Transactions Staff Bonus Accrual 478,656 518,554

Payables from Exchange Transactions Staff Leave Accrual 10,571,350 11,267,249

Current Portion of Long-term Liabilities Other Loans 1,138,793 2,787,964

112,626,969 122,458,279 

Total Financial Liabilities 112,626,969 122,458,279 

2020 2019

R R

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES:

In accordance with GRAP 104.13 the Financial Liabilities of the Entity are classified as follows:
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

29.1 Fair Value

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the Fair Value of each class of Financial Instrument for which it 
is practical to estimate such value:

Cash

The carrying amount approximates the Fair Value because of the short maturity of these instruments.

Long-term Investments

The investment in Mindev, a dormant company, is measured at amortised cost due to the subsidiary not being active.

Loan Receivables/Payables

Interest-bearing Borrowings and Receivables are generally at interest rates in line with those currently available in the market 
on a floating-rate basis, and therefore the Fair Value of these Financial Assets and Liabilities closely approximates their carrying 
values. Fixed interest-rate instruments are fair valued based on the present value of future principal and interest cash flows, 
discounted at the market rate of interest at the reporting date.

Trade and Other Receivables/Payables

The Fair Value of Trade and Other Payables is estimated at the present value of future cash flows.

The management of the Entity is of the opinion that the carrying value of Trade and Other Receivables recorded at amortised 
cost in the Annual Financial Statements approximate their fair values.  The Fair Value of Trade Receivables were determined after 
considering the standard terms and conditions of agreements entered into between the Entity and other parties as well as the 
current payment ratios of the Entity's debtors.

Other Financial Assets and Liabilities

The Fair Value of Other Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities is determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing 
models based on discounted cash flow analysis using prices from observable current market transactions and dealer quotes 
for similar instruments.

Long-term Liabilities

The Fair Value of Long-term Liabilities was determined after an actuarial valuation was performed at year-end which considered 
current market conditions.

Management considers the carrying amounts of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the 
Annual Financial Statements to approximate their Fair Values on 31 March 2020, as a result of the short-term maturity of these 
assets and liabilities.

The Fair Values of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities, together with the carrying amounts shown in the Statement of 
Financial Position, are as follows:
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

The Fair Values of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities, together with the carrying 
amounts shown in the Statement of Financial Position, are as follows:

31 March 2020 31 March 2019

Carrying Amount
R

Fair Value
R

Carrying Amount
R

Fair Value
R

FINANCIAL ASSETS Value

Measured at Amortised Cost: 36,746,677 36,746,677 37,473,933 37,473,933

Receivables from Exchange 
Transactions

36,746,677 36,746,677 37,473,933 37,473,933

Measured at Fair Value 453,860,326 453,860,326 446,823,815 446,823,815

Unlisted Investments 100 100 100 100

Fixed Deposits 406,042,525 406,042,525 381,191,925 381,191,925

Bank Balances 47,756,096 47,756,096 65,590,485 65,590,485

Cash Floats and Advances 61,605 61,605 41,305 41,305

 

Total Financial Assets 490,607,003 490,030,219 484,297,748 484,297,748 

 

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Measured at Amortised Cost: 112,626,969 112,626,969 122,458,279 122,458,279

Other Loans 39,515,043 39,515,043 39,515,043 39,515,043

Trade and Other Payables:

- Payables from Exchange Transactions 71,973,133 71,973,133 80,155,272 80,155,272

 

Total Financial Liabilities 112,626,969 112,626,969  122,458,279 122,458,279 

Total Financial Instruments 377,980,034 377,980,034 361,839,469 361,839,469 

 

Unrecognised Gain / (Loss) - -

No Financial Instruments of the Entity 
have been reclassified during the year.
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

29.3 Capital Risk Management

The Entity manages its capital to ensure that the Entity will be able to continue as a going concern while delivering sustainable 
goods and services to customers through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. Mintek’s overall strategy remains 
unchanged from 2019.

The capital structure of the Entity consists of debt comprising Accumulated Surplus as disclosed in the Statement of Changes 
in Net Assets.

2020 2019

R R

Gearing Ratio

The gearing ratio at the year-end was as follows:

Debt 40,653,836 42,303,007

Net Debt 40,653,836 42,303,007 

Equity 607,899,843 662,083,519

Net debt to equity ratio  6.69% 6.39%

Debt is defined as Long-term Liabilities, together with its Short-term Portion.

Equity includes all Funds and Reserves of the Entity, disclosed as Net Assets in the Statement of Financial Performance and Net 
Debt as described above.

29.4 Financial Risk Management Objectives

The Entity’s overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential 
adverse effects on the Entity’s financial performance. Risk management is carried out by management under policies approved 
by the Board. The Board of Directors sanctions a risk management policy which considers financial risk management in the 
organisation.

The Entity has limited foreign exchange risk.

Further quantitative disclosures are included throughout these Annual Financial Statements.

29.5 Significant Risks

It is the policy of the Entity to disclose information that enables the user of its Annual Financial Statements to evaluate the nature 
and extent of risks arising from Financial Instruments to which the Entity is exposed to on the reporting date.

The Entity has exposure to the following risks from its operations in Financial Instruments:
- Market Risk.
- Liquidity Risk; and
- Credit Risk;

Risks and exposures are disclosed as follows:

Market Risk

Market Risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and equity prices will affect 
the Entity’s income or the value of its holdings in Financial Instruments. The objective of market risk management is to manage 
and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return.

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity Risk is the risk that the Entity will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with its Financial Liabilities 
that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset.
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Credit Risk

Credit Risk is the risk of financial loss to the Entity if a customer or counterparty to a Financial Instrument fails to meet its 
contractual obligations and arises principally from the Entity’s receivables from customers and investment securities.

A maturity analysis for Financial Liabilities (where applicable) that shows the remaining undiscounted contractual maturities is 
disclosed in Note 29..8 to the Annual Financial Statements.

29.6 Market Risk Management

The Entity’s activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in interest rates (see Note 29.7 below). No formal policy 
exists to hedge volatilities in the interest rate market.

There has been no change to the Entity’s exposure to market risks or the manner in which it manages and measures the risk.

29.6.1 Foreign Currency Risk Management

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flow of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes 
in foreign exchange rates. The Entity undertakes certain transactions denominated in foreign currencies hence exposure to 
exchange  rate fluctuations arises. Exchange rate exposures are managed by operating a US Dollar based bank account 
within approved policy parameters and the group does not use derivatives to hedge its exposure.

29.6.2 Interest Rate Risk Management

Interest Rate Risk is defined as the risk that the fair value or future cash flows associated with a financial instrument will 
fluctuate in amount as a result of market interest changes.

Potential concentrations of interest rate risk consist mainly of variable rate deposit investments, long-term receivables, tuition 
fee debtors, other debtors, bank and cash balances.

The Entity limits its counterparty exposures from its money market investment operations by only dealing with well-established 
financial institutions of high credit standing.

Trade debtors comprise of a large number of customers, dispersed across different industries, geographical areas and 
countries. Trade debtors are presented net of a provision for impairment.

In the case of debtors whose accounts become in arrears, accounts are "handed over for collection" as applicable in terms 
of Board's Financial Policy.

Mintek is not exposed to credit interest rate risk as it has no borrowings.

The valuation of interest rate exposure and investment strategies is done on a regular basis. The risk arises from substantial 
interest- bearing assets at variable interest rates.  To minimise exposure to this risk, the Entity uses a mixture of variable and 
fixed interest  rates. Refer to Note 3. of the Annual Financial Statements.

The Entity’s exposures to interest rates on Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities are detailed in the Credit Risk Management 
section of this note.

Interest Rate Sensitivity Analysis

The sensitivity analysis has been determined based on the exposure to interest rates at the Statement of Financial Position 
date. The analysis is prepared by averaging the amount of the investment at the beginning of the financial year and the 
amount of the investment at the end of the financial year. A 100 basis point increase or decrease was used, which represents 
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest rates.  The short and long-term financial instruments 
at year-end with  variable interest rates are set out in Note 29.8 below:

Cash and Cash Equivalents:
If interest rates had been 100 basis points lower and all other variables were held constant, the Entity’s:
• Surplus for the year ended 31 March 2020 would have decreased by R3,935,456 (31 March 2019: R3,949,230). 
       This is mainly attributable to the Entity’s exposure to interest rates on its variable rate investments.
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

29.7 Liquidity Risk Management

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities and the availability of funding 
through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities and the ability to close out market. Mintek’s risk to liquidity is a result 
of the funds necessary to cover future commitments. The Entity manages liquidity risk through an on-going review of future 
commitments and available funds. Cash flow forecasts are prepared to ensure adequate utilisation and optimisation of funds.

29.8 Credit Risk Management

Credit Risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Entity. 
The Entity has a sound debt management policy and obtains sufficient collateral, where appropriate, as a means of mitigating 
the risk of financial loss from defaults. The Entity uses its own trading records to assess its major customers. The Entity’s 
exposure of its counterparties are monitored regularly.

Potential concentrations of credit rate risk consist mainly of trade debtors, variable rate deposit investments, derivative financial 
instruments, bank and cash balances.

Investments/Bank, Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Entity limits its counterparty exposures from its money market investment operations (financial assets that are neither past 
due nor impaired) by only dealing with major banks with high quality credit standing and limits exposure to any one counter-party. 
No investments with a tenure exceeding twelve months are made.

Trade and Other Receivables

Trade Receivables comprise a widespread customer base. Management evaluates credit risk relating to customers on an 
ongoing basis.  If customers are independently rated, these ratings are used.  Otherwise, if there is no independent rating, risk 
control assesses the credit quality of the customer, taking into account its financial position, past experience and other factors. 
Individual risk limits are set based on internal or external ratings in accordance with limits set by the Board. The utilisation of 
credit limits is regularly monitored.

There were no material changes in the exposure to credit risk and its objectives, policies and processes for managing and 
measuring the risk during the year under review. The Entity’s maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying 
value of each financial asset in the Statement of Financial Position, without taking into account the value of any collateral 
obtained.  The Entity has  no significant concentration of credit risk, with exposure spread over a large number of students, and 
is not concentrated in any particular sector or geographical area.

The Entity establishes an allowance for impairment that represents its estimate of anticipated losses in respect of trade receivables.

The Entity does not have any significant credit risk exposure to any single counterparty or any group of counterparties having 
similar characteristics. The Entity defines counterparties as having similar characteristics if they are related entities. The credit 
risk on liquid funds is limited because the counterparties are banks with high credit-ratings.

The table below shows the balance of the 5 major counterparties at the balance sheet date. Management is of the opinion that, 
although these parties are the 5 counterparties with highest outstanding balances, no significant credit risk exposure exists 
based on the payment history of the parties.

31 March 2020 31 March 2019

Counterparty and Location Credit 
Limit

R

Carrying 
Amount

R

Credit 
Limit

R

Carrying 
Amount

R

Afrisky Medical (Pty) Ltd South Africa 2,500,000 1,931,244 2,500,000 -

Tata Steel Limited India - 1,530,400 - -

Dwarsrivier Chrome Mine South Africa 2,300,000 977,955 2,300,000 3,271

Hindustan Znic Limited India 600,000 611,355 600,000 -

Process IQ Australia 4,000,000 554,900 4,000,000 1,465,102
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2020 2019

R R

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

The maximum credit and interest risk exposure in respect of the relevant financial 
instruments is as follows:

Receivables from Exchange Transactions 36,976,585 37,473,933

Bank, Cash and Cash Equivalents 453,860,226 446,823,715

Maximum Credit and Interest Risk Exposure 490,836,911 484,297,748

The major concentrations of credit risk that arise from the Entity’s receivables in 
relation to customer classification are as follows:

% %

Exchange Debtors:

- Trade Debtors 41.44% 41.53%

- Earmarked Funding 12.99% 14.55%

- Project Work-in-Progress 27.39% 34.23%

- Staff Debtors 3.98% 1.88%

- Other Debtors 14.20% 7.81%

Total Credit Risk  100.00% 100.00% 

Bank and Cash Balances

ABSA Bank Ltd 103,033,279 119,356,821

First National Bank 76,069,772 66,353,283

Nedbank 86,154,201 99,065,229

Investec 102,432,845 90,691,684

Stanlib 86,108,524 71,315,392

Other 61,605 41,306

Total Bank and Cash Balances 453,860,226 446,823,715 

Credit quality of Financial Assets:

The credit quality of financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired can be 
assessed by reference to external credit ratings (if available) or to historical information 
about counterparty default rates:

None of the financial assets that are fully performing, have been renegotiated in the 
last year.
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

29.9 Liquidity Risk Management

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the Board, which has built an appropriate liquidity risk management 
framework for the management of the Entity’s short, medium and long-term funding and liquidity management requirements. 
The Entity manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves, banking facilities, by continuously monitoring forecast and 
actual cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities.

Liquidity and Interest Risk Tables

The Entity ensures that it has sufficient cash on demand or access to facilities to meet expected operational expenses through 
the use of cash flow forecasts.

The following tables detail the Entity’s remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The tables have 
been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Entity can 
be required to pay.

Description Average
effective
Interest 

Rate

Total 6 Months
or less

6 - 12
Months

1 - 2
Years

2 - 5
Years

More 
than

5 Years

% R R R R R R

31 March 2020

Non-interest Bearing 0.00% 73,111,926 - - - -

Fixed Interest Rate Instruments 0.00% 39,515,043 39,515,043 - - - -

112,626,969 112,626,969 - - - -

31 March 2019

Non-interest Bearing 0.00% 82,943,236 82,943,236 - - - -

Fixed Interest Rate Instruments 0.00% 39,515,043 39,515,043 - - - -

122,458,279 122,458,279 - - - -
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Description Average
effective
Interest 

Rate

Total 6 Months
or less

6 - 12
Months

1 - 2
Years

2 - 5
Years

More 
than

5 Years

% R R R R R R

31 March 2020

Non-interest Bearing 0.00% 37,038,290 37,038,290

Variable Interest Rate 
Instruments

48.19% 47,756,096 47,756,096 - - - -

Fixed Interest Rate Instruments 0.00% 406,042,525 406,042,525 - - - -

490,836,911 490,836,911 - - - -

- - - -

31 March 2019

Non-interest Bearing 0.00% 37,515,338 37,515,338 - - - -

Variable Interest Rate 
Instruments

66.55% 65,590,485 65,590,485 - - - -

Fixed Interest Rate Instruments 0.00% 381,191,925 381,191,925 - - - -

484,297,748 484,297,748 - - - -

The Entity does not have any financing facilities. The Entity expects to meet its obligations from operating cash flows and 
proceeds of maturing financial assets and to maintain current debt to equity ratio.

29.10  Other Price Risks

The Entity is not exposed to equity price risks arising from equity investments as the Entity does not trade these investments.

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

The following table details the Entity’s expected maturity for its non-derivative financial assets. The tables below have been 
drawn up based on the undiscounted contractual maturities of the financial assets including interest that will be earned on those 
assets except where the Entity anticipates that the cash flow will occur in a different period.

1456 AIR Templates S10 Fin Report_v12_DTP Z.indd   1781456 AIR Templates S10 Fin Report_v12_DTP Z.indd   178 2020-11-17   10:01:172020-11-17   10:01:17



 Annual Integrated Report   |   2019/2020    |    FINANCIAL REPORT Annual Integrated Report   |   2019/2020    |    FINANCIAL REPORT 179

Financial 
R

ep
ort

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 March 2020

30. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

Related party transactions exist within the Group. These transactions were all concluded at arm’s length and therefore disclosed 
here only for information purposes. Details of material transactions with related parties not disclosed elsewhere in the financial 
statements are as follows:

30.1 Interest of Related Parties

Entities with whom the Entity has a relationship:

Controlling Entity: Department of Mineral Resources and Energy (DMRE)

Subsidiary: Mindev (Pty) Ltd

Board Members / Management with whom the Entity has a relationship:

The following Board Members and/or management of the Entity was active during the period under review:

Name of Related Person Designation Board Term

Masemola ND Board Member 1 June 2017 - 31 August 2019

Rachidi MJ Board Member 1 June 2016 - 31 August 2019

Dlamini D Board Member 1 June 2016 - 31 August 2019

Moatshe RA Board Member Initial Term 1: June 2016 - 31 August 2019, 
Extension from 1 June 2020 to 31 May 2023

McClain CK Board Member 1 June 2016 - 31 August 2019

Mkhombo P Board Member 1 June 2016 - 31 August 2019

Mohlala Dr S Board Member 1 June 2016 - 31 August 2019

Ngwenya S Board Member 1 June 2016 - 31 August 2019

Du Toit Dr D Board Member 1 June 2016 - 31 August 2019

Simayi Dr S Board Member 1 June 2016 - 31 August 2019

Mkosana Dr VM Board Member 1 June 2020 - 31 May 2023

Ngcwabe NF Board Member 1 June 2020 - 31 May 2023

Ngobeni MW Dr Board Member 1 June 2020 - 31 May 2023

Zungu Prof L Board Member 1 June 2020 - 31 May 2023

Heydenrich R Board Member 1 June 2020 - 31 May 2023

Maruping P Board Member 1 June 2020 - 31 May 2023

Motaung H Board Member 1 June 2020 - 31 May 2023

Zikalala-Mvelase NP Board Member 1 June 2020 - 31 May 2023

Phiri MM Board Member 1 June 2020 - 31 May 2023

Makibinyane LL Board Member 1 June 2020 - 31 May 2023

Motuku Dr M Chief Executive Officer

Makhafola Dr MA General Manager: Research and 
Development

Resigned 25 October 2019

McKenzie AD General Manager: Technology

Nyanda FG General Manager: Corporate Services

Simelane SA Chief Financial Officer

1456 AIR Templates S10 Fin Report_v12_DTP Z.indd   1791456 AIR Templates S10 Fin Report_v12_DTP Z.indd   179 2020-11-17   10:01:172020-11-17   10:01:17



 Annual Integrated Report   |   2019/2020    |    FINANCIAL REPORT Annual Integrated Report   |   2019/2020    |    FINANCIAL REPORT180

Fi
na

nc
ia

l 
R

ep
or

t

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 March 2020

30. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

30.2  Income Received from Related Parties / Services rendered to Related Parties

30.2.1  Income Received from Related Parties:

During the year funds were received and revenue recognised from the following Related Parties that are related to the 
Entity as indicated below. The balances at year-end contained in deferred income and debtors is disclosed.

Funds
Received

Revenue Deferred
Income

Outstanding
Balance

R R R R

For the Year ended 31 March 2020

Department of Mineral Resources and 
Energy - State Grant

238,864,348 238,864,348 - -

Department of Mineral Resources and 
Energy - MTEF

140,285,217 90,247,319 158,633,953 69,039

Department of Science and Innovation 71,458,389 71,339,670 55,473,062 154,794

National Research Fund 639,130 1,872,579 2,565,810 4,213,796

Mining Qualification Authority 7,456,454 5,392,147 2,755,040 286,091

Council for GeoScience 3,056,443 1,018,487 - 14,281

National Lotteries Board - 164,872 - -

CSIR 819,881 745,705 - 65,128

Technology Innovation Agency 55,000 47,826 71,657 -

Total 462,634,863 409,692,953 219,499,523 4,803,129

For the Year ended 31 March 2019

Department of Mineral Resources and 
Energy - State Grant

229,344,348 212,863,280 - -

Department of Mineral Resources and 
Energy - MTEF

136,193,044 143,446,102 108,536,021 -

Department of Science and Innovation 68,660,425 50,607,820 56,859,540 136,640

National Research Fund 1,364,783 2,348,599 280,026 2,687,198

Mining Qualification Authority 6,520,954 6,152,928 1,104,928 700,287

Council for GeoScience 381,726 1,983,643 - 1,899,464

National Lotteries Board - 947,121 164,872 -

CSIR 113,103 119,842 - 27,449

Technology Innovation Agency - - 71,657 -

Total 442,578,383 418,469,335 167,017,044 5,451,037
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30. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

30.2  Income Received from Related Parties / Services rendered to Related Parties

30.2.1  Income Received from Related Parties:

During the year funds were received and revenue recognised from the following Related Parties that are related to the 
Entity as indicated below. The balances at year-end contained in deferred income and debtors is disclosed.

30. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

30.2  Income Received from Related Parties / Services rendered to Related Parties

30.2.2 Services rendered to Related Parties:    

Apart from the revenue as disclosed above no further services were rendered to related parties.

30.3 Loans granted to Related Parties 

The Entity does not grant loans to its Board Members. Advances, together with the conditions thereof, granted to Management, 
Staff and Public are disclosed in Note 2. to the Annual Financial Statements.

As disclosed in Note 10, an amount of R39,515,043 (2019:R39,515,043) is due to Mindev (Pty) Ltd. This loan relates to income 
received on the sale of technologies in Mindev. The funds were deposited into Mintek’s bank account as Mindev does not have a 
bank account. These monies are held on Mindev’s behalf. There are therefore no fixed terms of repayment and it is interest free.

30.4 Board Members and Executive Management Remuneration

Board Member Payments:

2020 Director's Fees Expenses Total

ND Masemola 47,070 - 47,070

MJ Rachidi 51,913 - 51,913

D Dlamini 34,335 - 34,335

CK McClain 20,196 - 20,196

P Mkhombo 38,448 - 38,448

S Ngwenya 22,734 - 22,734

Dr S Simayi 20,115 - 20,115

Dr S Mohlala 26,130 - 26,130

B Hlongwane* 10,476 - 10,476 

271,417 - 271,417 

*Relates to independent committee member

2019 Director's Fees Expenses Total

ND Masemola 208,384 - 208,384

MJ Rachidi 232,104 - 232,104

D Dlamini 119,666 - 119,666

CK McClain 125,725 - 125,725

P Mkhombo 132,272 - 132,272

S Ngwenya 135,836 - 135,836

Dr S Simayi 70,146 - 70,146

Dr S Mohlala 192,274 - 192,274

B Hlongwane* 20,952 - 20,952 

1,237,359 - 1,237,359

*Relates to independent committee member

In-kind Benefits

The Board does not receive any in-kind benefits.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 March 2020

30.5 Expenditure pertaining to Related Parties

30.5.1 Purchases: 

The Entity did not buy goods from any companies which can be considered to be Related Parties that was not at arm’s 
length.

30.5.2 Other Expenditure:

The Entity did not incur any expenditure pertaining to be Related Parties.

30.6 Controlled Entities

The Group comprises of Mintek and its wholly owned subsidiary Mindev (Proprietary) Limited is engaged in the commercialisation 
of Mintek patents and technology through the identification of suitable partners. The Group, in the ordinary course of business, 
enters into various sale and purchase transactions with related parties. None of the directors, officers or major shareholders of 
the Mintek Group or, to the knowledge of Mintek, their families, had any interest, direct or indirect, in any transactions which has 
affected or will materially affect Mintek or its investment or subsidiary.

30. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

30.4 Board Members and Executive Management Remuneration

Executive Management Remuneration

2020 Annual
Remuneration

Performance Bonus 
and other Expenses

Total

R R R

Dr M Motuku 3,537,624 136,062 3,673,686

AD McKenzie 2,207,440 66,200 2,273,640

Dr MA Makhafola     (Resigned 25 October 2019) 758,675 104,464 863,139

FG Nyanda 2,122,986 41,861 2,164,847

SA Simelane 2,424,888 - 2,424,888

11,051,613 348,587 11,400,200

2019 Annual
Remuneration

Performance Bonus 
and other Expenses

Total

R R R

Dr M Motuku          (Appointed 1 January 2019) 884,406 - 884,406

AD McKenzie 2,061,773 78,351 2,140,124

Dr MA Makhafola 2,061,773 123,177 2,184,950

DM Mzisa                    (Acting to 31 July 2018) - 218,941 218,941

FG Nyanda 1,982,892 191,410 2,174,302

Dr DM Powell              (Resigned 31 July 2018) 581,762 228,230 809,992

SA Simelane 2,264,872 176,998 2,441,870

9,837,478 1,017,107 10,854,585
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 March 2020

30.5 Expenditure pertaining to Related Parties

30.5.1 Purchases: 

The Entity did not buy goods from any companies which can be considered to be Related Parties that was not at arm’s 
length.

30.5.2 Other Expenditure:

The Entity did not incur any expenditure pertaining to be Related Parties.

30.6 Controlled Entities

The Group comprises of Mintek and its wholly owned subsidiary Mindev (Proprietary) Limited is engaged in the commercialisation 
of Mintek patents and technology through the identification of suitable partners. The Group, in the ordinary course of business, 
enters into various sale and purchase transactions with related parties. None of the directors, officers or major shareholders of 
the Mintek Group or, to the knowledge of Mintek, their families, had any interest, direct or indirect, in any transactions which has 
affected or will materially affect Mintek or its investment or subsidiary.

2020 2019

R R

31. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

31.1 Guarantees: 2,155,000       2,155,000

(i) Absa Bank: 2,155,000       2,155,000

Cessions in favour of Absa Bank to meet requirements for credit card and other 
banking facilities that have been registered.

31.2 Court Proceedings:  419,000 679,915 

(i) Dispute on Employment Contracts: 419,000 679,915

The Entity has disputed employment contracts with former employees, the aggregate of which is not expected to exceed the 
amount indicated. This amount includes estimated legal costs and disbursements and does not factor the success rate of the 
individual cases. The outcome of the cases is still uncertain.

ECONOMIC ENTITY CONTROLLING ENTITY

2020 2019 2020 2019

R R R R

32. TAXATION

Reconciliation between applicable tax rate and average effective tax rate:

Applicable tax rate 28.00% 28.00% 0.00% 0.00%

No provision for Income Tax was made for Mintek during the current financial year as the company is exempted in terms of 
section 10(1)(CA)(i) of the Income Tax Act, No 58 of 1962; and Mindev is a dormant company. Tax provisions and liabilities are 
with respect to Mindev and are payable through that entity.

30. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

30.4 Board Members and Executive Management Remuneration

Executive Management Remuneration

2020 Annual
Remuneration

Performance Bonus 
and other Expenses

Total

R R R

Dr M Motuku 3,537,624 136,062 3,673,686

AD McKenzie 2,207,440 66,200 2,273,640

Dr MA Makhafola     (Resigned 25 October 2019) 758,675 104,464 863,139

FG Nyanda 2,122,986 41,861 2,164,847

SA Simelane 2,424,888 - 2,424,888

11,051,613 348,587 11,400,200

2019 Annual
Remuneration

Performance Bonus 
and other Expenses

Total

R R R

Dr M Motuku          (Appointed 1 January 2019) 884,406 - 884,406

AD McKenzie 2,061,773 78,351 2,140,124

Dr MA Makhafola 2,061,773 123,177 2,184,950

DM Mzisa                    (Acting to 31 July 2018) - 218,941 218,941

FG Nyanda 1,982,892 191,410 2,174,302

Dr DM Powell              (Resigned 31 July 2018) 581,762 228,230 809,992

SA Simelane 2,264,872 176,998 2,441,870

9,837,478 1,017,107 10,854,585
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 March 2020

33. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE

No events having financial implications requiring disclosure occurred subsequent to 31 March 2020.

34. COMPARATIVE FIGURES

The comparative figures were restated as a result of the effect of Prior Period Errors (Note 23.).

35. GOING CONCERN ASSESSMENT

Management considered the following matters relating to the Going Concern:

(i) In terms of the Shareholder’s Compact, Mintek is estimating a surplus of R5,9m for the period under review (2019/20: 
R5,7m). This budget was approved by the Executive Authority in April 2020. The approved budget supports the Generally 
Recognised Accounting Practices (GRAP) accounting framework for the compilation of the Annual Financial Statements, 
which has brought about significant changes, specifically on the depreciation of funded assets. Notwithstanding this, the 
budget still supports the ongoing execution of the Mintek mandate.

(ii) Strict cost management processes are embedded in the Entity’s operations to manage and monitor all income and 
expenditure supporting the Budget. The monitoring processes is complemented by monthly and quarterly reporting, 
highlighting the actual financial position, including the associated risks and remedial actions to be instituted.

Taking the aforementioned into account, management has prepared the Annual Financial Statements on the Going Concern Basis.
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Mindev (Pty) Ltd Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 March 2020

Mindev (Pty) Ltd (Registration number 2001/018449/07)

General Information

Country of incorporation and domicile South Africa

Directors MA Mngomezulu

SA Simelane

RL Paul

M Mphomela

GL Rapoo

Registered office 200 Malibongwe Drive
Randburg 
2194

Business address 200 Malibongwe Drive 
Randburg 
2194

Postal address Private Bag X3015
Randburg 
2125

Holding company Mintek (100% owned) incorporated in South Africa

Mindev (Pty) Ltd Statement of Financial Position for the Year Ended 31 
March 2020

Figures in Rand Note(s) 2020 2019

Assets

Non-Current Assets

Loans to shareholders 2 39,514,943 39,514,943

Equity and Liabilities

Equity

Share capital 3 100 100

Retained income 39,514,843 39,514,843

Total Equity 39,514,943 39,514,943
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Mindev (Pty) Ltd Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 March 2020

Mindev (Pty) Ltd Statement of Statement of Changes in Equity

Figures in Rand
Share 

capital
Retained 

income
Total 

equity

Balance at 01 April 2018 100 39,514,843 39,514,943

Balance at 01 April 2019 100 39,514,843 39,514,943

Balance at 31 March 2020 100 39,514,843 39,514,943

Mindev (Pty) Ltd Accounting policies

1.  Significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below.

1.1 Financial instruments

These financial assets are classified as loans and receivables.

1.2 Taxation

Current tax assets and liabilities

Current tax for current and prior periods is, to the extent unpaid, recognised as a liability. If the amount already paid in respect 
of current and prior periods exceeds the amount due for those periods, the excess is recognised as an asset.

Current tax liabilities (assets) for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be paid to (recovered 
from) the tax authorities, using the tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of 
the reporting period.

Tax expenses

Current and deferred taxes are recognised as income or an expense and included in profit or loss for the period, except to 
the extent that the tax arises from:

• a transaction or event which is recognised, in the same or a different period, to other comprehensive income, or

• a business combination.

Current tax and deferred taxes are charged or credited to other comprehensive income if the tax relates to items that are 
credited or charged, in the same or a different period, to other comprehensive income.

Current tax and deferred taxes are charged or credited directly to equity if the tax relates to items that are credited or 
charged, in the same or a different period, directly in equity.

1.3  Share capital and equity

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its 
liabilities.

Ordinary shares are recognised at par value and classified as 'share capital' in equity. Any amounts received from the issue 
of shares in excess of par value is classified as 'share premium' in equity. Dividends are recognised as a liability in the 
company in which they are declared.
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Mindev (Pty) Ltd Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 March 2020

Mindev (Pty) Ltd Notes to the Financial Statements

Figures in Rand
Retained 

income
Total 

equity

2. Loan to shareholder

Mintek

The loan is interest free and has no repayment terms. 39,514,943 39,514,943

Split between non-current and current portions

Non-current assets 39,514,943 39,514,943

Current assets - -

39,514,943 39,514,943

3. Share capital

Authorised

1,000 Ordinary shares of R1 each 1,000 1,000

Describe any changes in authorised share capital e.g. Conversion to net present 
value shares.

Issued

Ordinary 100 100

4. Related parties

The Group comprises of Mintek and its wholly owned subsidiary Mindev 
(Proprietary) Limited. Mindev is engaged in the commercialisation of Mintek 
patents and technology through the identification of suitable partners. The 
Group, in the ordinary course of business, enters into various sale and purchase 
transactions with related parties.

None of the directors, officers or the shareholder of the Mintek Group or, to the 
knowledge of Mintek, their families, had any interest, direct or indirect, in any 
transactions which has affected or will materially affect Mintek or its investment 
or subsidiary.

Relationships

Holding company Mintek

Related party balances

Loan accounts - Owing by related parties 39,514,943 39,514,943

Mintek

5. Directors’ emoluments

No emoluments were paid to the directors or any individuals holding a prescribed 
office during the year.
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Top: The Inductively Coupled Plasma Mass Spectrometry (ICP-MS) used for 
sample analysis in the Analytical Services Laboratory

Bottom: Pipetting urine specimen in the Analytical Services Division laboratory
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11 Stakeholder Perspective

STRATEGIC   
OBJECTIVE 1 Enhance Mintek’s Visibility and Credibility to all 

Stakeholders

STRATEGIC PROGRAMMES 
PER OBJECTIVE

(What elements constitute 
the Objective?)

ACTIVITY PER PROGRAMME
(What have we achieved by 31 March 2020)

PERFORMANCE 
INDICATOR
(What elements constitute 
the Objective?)

TARGET
2019/20

ACHIEVEMENT

Integrated marketing and 
communication functions  

Updating and implementing the 
marketing and communications plan

Annually updated marketing 
and communications plan 
approved and implemented

1 0

Enhancing the visibility 
and credibility of Mintek

Mintek promotion

# of technical articles in 
credible publications 50 53

# of conference 
presentations and posters 100 81

IP creation and transfer

# of Patents filed 4 4

# of IP license agreements 1 0

# of discoveries 
(IPR-PFRD Act) 18 11

Attained annual customer 
satisfaction target

% Annual Customer 
Satisfaction Rating Index ≥ 90 91

Enhanced media exposure Advertising Value Equivalent 
(AVE) in R million 25.0 27.2

Enhanced relations with 
oversight bodies

# of requests for technical 
assistance to the DMR 
(upon request)

1 1

# of presentations to 
Parliament on impact of 
Mintek's work and role

2 2

Timely submission of 
Shareholder’s Compact 1 1

Timely submission of quarterly 
reports on the attainment 
of targets in the scorecard 

4 4

Integration of staff exchange # of visits and # of instances 
of staff exchange 4 4

Mintek’s measures organisational performance using the 
balanced scorecard with a set of key performance indicators 
that measure the health of the organisation, focusing on its 
core business of research and development, its capacity and 

capabilities as a research organisation, as well as its financial 
sustainability. The ensuing tables provide a summary of 
outputs and outcomes that were achieved during 2019/20. 

11.1 Stakeholder Perspective
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STRATEGIC   
OBJECTIVE 2

Research and Develop Efficient Mineral Processing 
Technologies and Value added Products and 
Services

STRATEGIC PROGRAMMES 
PER OBJECTIVE 

(What elements constitute 
the Objective?)

ACTIVITY PER PROGRAMME
(What have we achieved by 31 March 2020)

PERFORMANCE 
INDICATOR
(What elements constitute 
the Objective?)

TARGET
2019/20

ACHIEVEMENT

Competitive technologies, 
products and services 
for optimal mineral 
resource utilisation

Develop analytical methods 
and supply of services

# of methods 6 0

Rand value (Rm) 15 13.87

Develop mineralogical methods 
and supply of services

# of methods 6 1

# of internal reports 15 5

# of external reports 28 43

Develop new technologies 
under state grant

# of internal reports 72 19

# of new technologies 4 1

# of prototypes 
evidenced by reports 2 0

Sales of products, plant 
and equipment

# of reports 16 8

Rand value of control 
system sales (Rm) 27 32.1

Rand value of Certified 
Reference Materials 
(CRM) sales (Rm)

3.0 2.1

Commercial investigations 
and feasibility studies # of external reports 100 85

Provision of Mineral Economics 
and Strategy advice # of internal reports 8 5

The publication of technical articles in credible journals and 
the creation of intellectual property (IP) are amongst the most 
important indicators of the organisation’s performance in 
relation to outputs and outcomes of the RDI programmes. 
Achievements for the year demonstrate that the interventions 
to reposition Mintek’s as a leading partner in innovative mineral 
solutions are already bearing fruit.

Strategic Objective 2:  Research and develop efficient 
mineral processing technologies and value added products 
and services.

With respect to Strategic Object 2, the levels of achievements 
are a reflection of the capacity challenges that emerged during 
the extensive diagnostic assessment that was conducted 
during the course of 2019/20. The ratio between SET and 
support staff was untenable. By the end of the financial year, 
Mintek’s staff complement was 43% SET and 57% support, 
which compromises delivery on expected outputs. The SET 
Human Capital Development Programme that was launched 
during the year will result in a significant improvement in the 
picture painted in the table below.
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STRATEGIC   
OBJECTIVE 2

Research and Develop Efficient Mineral Processing 
Technologies and Value added Products and 
Services

STRATEGIC PROGRAMMES 
PER OBJECTIVE

(What elements constitute 
the Objective?)

ACTIVITY PER PROGRAMME
(What have we achieved by 31 March 2020)

PERFORMANCE 
INDICATOR
(What elements constitute 
the Objective?)

TARGET
2019/20

ACHIEVEMENT

Beneficiation to value added 
products and services

Develop applications for precious-, 
ferrous- and base metals in the 
areas of:- Environment & Health (HIV, 
Water, Toxicology and Food Security)
- Catalysis (chemical processing, 
fuel cells, environmental)
- Nanotechnology (water, health)
- Physical metallurgy R&D and 
metallurgical industry support

# of internal reports 20 14

# of external reports 15 4

# of reports from the Metals 
Technology Centre (MTC) 160 109

Green technologies

Develop water efficient  processes 
and flow sheets to optimise water 
consumption and enable processing 
of ore bodies in water stricken areas

# of internal reports 13 2

# of external reports 5 4

Develop energy efficient processes, 
flow sheets and control technologies 
that minimise energy consumption 
and carbon emissions

# of internal reports 8 0

# of external reports 4 4

Develop waste management and 
recycling technologies for treating 
and recycling waste in order 
to extend mineral resources

# of internal reports 6 0

# of external reports 1 0

Rehabilitate derelict & 
ownerless mine sites

Number of sites 
rehabilitated 4 1
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STRATEGIC   
OBJECTIVE 3 Promote the Mineral-Based Economies of Rural and 

Marginalised Communities

STRATEGIC PROGRAMMES 
PER OBJECTIVE

(What elements constitute 
the Objective?)

ACTIVITY PER PROGRAMME
(What have we achieved by 31 March 2020)

PERFORMANCE 
INDICATOR
(What elements constitute 
the Objective?)

TARGET
2019/20

ACHIEVEMENT

Development of 
technologies and strategies 
relevant to rural and 
marginalised communities

Establish technologies and 
strategies relevant to small scale 
operators, for transfer to rural 
and marginalised communities

# of technologies 
adapted or developed 2 0

# of feasibility reports 12 0

Economically sustainable 
businesses created  in 
rural and marginalised 
communities

Develop and support 
economically sustainable rural 
and marginalised communities

# of new businesses 
created 5 0

# of jobs created from 
new businesses 50 0

% of businesses still in 
existence after 1 year 95 83

% of businesses still in 
existence after 2 years 73 7

Training and skills 
development interventions 
in rural and marginalised 
communities

Provide value-added beneficiation 
training relevant to rural and 
marginalised communities.

# of people trained 140 96

Maintain accreditation in 
jewellery manufacturing 
/ design and small scale 
mining as evidenced 
in certificate or report

Maintained Maintained

Strategic Objective 3:  Promote the mineral-based 
economies of rural and marginalised communities.

One of the most important aspects of Mintek’s mandate is 
the transfer of technologies developed to industry, which the 

organisation extends to small businesses that are established 
and operated by communities living in areas endowed with 
minerals. The intention is stimulate local economies by helping 
communities establish commercially viable businesses that will 
create jobs. 

As it can be noted in some of the KPIs, businesses that were 
created with Mintek’s support over the last few years were not 
viable, to the extent that only 7% of them were still in existence 

two years after they were established. In fact, not a single 
business was created during the year, which is indicative of a 
need to revise the approach and model of this initiative. 
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11.2 Financial & Internal Business Perspective

STRATEGIC   
OBJECTIVE 4 Uphold Good Governance Practices

STRATEGIC PROGRAMMES 
PER OBJECTIVE

(What elements constitute 
the Objective?)

ACTIVITY PER PROGRAMME
(What have we achieved 
by 31 March 2020)

PERFORMANCE 
INDICATOR
(What elements constitute 
the Objective?)

TARGET
2019/20

ACHIEVEMENT

Enhanced fiscal discipline 
and the effective 
management of resources

BEE procurement as a % of 
total discretionary spend

% BEE Spend of total 
discretionary spend 90 110

Strengthened Internal 
Financial Controls

Unqualified audit as 
evidenced in audit report Unqualified Unqualified

Sound Debtor Management

% Debtors write off of 
commercial revenue < 0.25 0

Average Debtors Days < 50 29

Total Income Rand Value (R’000) 577,354 561 754

Net Result (surplus) Rand Value (R’000) 5,666 -54 184

Optimal Yield on Investment  % Return on investment 5 6.9

Total Capital Expenditure Rand Value (Including 
Funding) (R’000) 48,865 53 598

Maintained balance between R&D 
and Commercial Revenue streams

Ratio of Research / Total 
Revenue expressed as a % ≥60 63%

Maintained balance between 
TCTC Salary Bill/Total Expenditure

Ratio of TCTC Salary 
Bill / Total Expenditure 
expressed as a %

58% 49%

Enhanced Liquidity Ratio Liquidity Ratio ≥ 1.5 1.7

Improved cash flows 
from operations

Improved cash flows 
from operations

Cash generated from 
operations after working 
capital (excluding 
movements in deferred 
income) (R’000)

   >2 000   8 152 

Strategic Objective 4: Uphold good governance practices

Measures of financial performance and good government 
practices reveal a picture of an organisation that has sound 
internal controls and we obtained yet another unqualified audit 

opinion from the Auditor-General. We generated revenues of 
R562 million as planned, although we missed the planned net 
surplus due to a change in accounting standards that led to 
increased depreciation and impairment losses of R54 million.
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STRATEGIC   
OBJECTIVE 4 Uphold Good Governance Practices

STRATEGIC PROGRAMMES 
PER OBJECTIVE (What elements 
constitute the Objective?)

ACTIVITY PER PROGRAMME
(What have we achieved 
by 31 March 2020)

PERFORMANCE 
INDICATOR
(What elements constitute 
the Objective?)

TARGET
2019/20

ACHIEVEMENT

Enhanced organisational 
efficiencies

Productivity Ratio Recoverability % 49 34

Energy Efficiency 

Power factor 
correction (target was 
changed to 0.9-1)

>0.9 0.9

Efficiency monitoring
Reduced 
energy 

utilisation 
= 5%

20.5

ICT Security Intrusions/virus 
breakouts on system <3 0

Monitoring of critical 
facility availability

Upside/ availability of 
ICT facilities (%) ≥98 99.9

Upside/ availability of 
critical facilities (%) ≥85 99.2

Compliance with national 
and international 
regulatory frameworks, 
and  applicable standards

Compliance with appropriate 
standards, regulations 
and legislation

% achievement of 
compliance checklist 100 100

Internal Audits conducted No. of audits 15 11

Review of applicable 
Audit Charters No. of reviews 2 1

Fraud Awareness Campaigns No. of campaigns 8 7

Enhanced Safety, Health, 
Environment and Quality

SHEQ standards maintained 
and enhanced

Maintain Mintek 
Accreditation status

Maintained Maintained

Achieved target for Fatalities 0 0

Achieved target for Lost 
Time Injury Frequency 
Rate (LTIFR)

<1 0
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11.3 Learning & Growth Perspective

STRATEGIC   
OBJECTIVE 5 Develop Human Capital and Organisational Skills 

to Build World Class R&D Excellence

STRATEGIC PROGRAMMES 
PER OBJECTIVE (What elements 
constitute the Objective?)

ACTIVITY PER PROGRAMME
(What have we achieved 
by 31 March 2020)

PERFORMANCE 
INDICATOR
(What elements constitute 
the Objective?)

TARGET
2019/20

ACHIEVEMENT

Training and Skills 
Development

Enhanced Skills Development 

WSP Compliance Report 1 1  

Total spend on 
training expressed 
as a % of payroll

2 1.1

Enhanced relationships with 
Institutions of Higher Education 
and other similar organisations.

Number of partnerships 
maintained 7 9

# of partnerships 
maintained with previously 
disadvantaged Higher 
Education Institutions

2 3

# of Graduate Recruitment 
Programmes and other 
Science Events

10 21

Science, Technology, 
Engineering, Maths and 
Innovation (STEMI) Promotion

Annual Minquiz 
competition 1 1

Effective Full-time 
Bursary Programme

# of under-graduate 
bursars 18 25

% Under-graduates 
Absorption Rate 100 100

# of post graduate bursars 9 18

% Postgraduate 
Absorption Rate 100 100

Effective Part–time 
Bursary Programme

# of under-graduate 
bursars 40 43

# of post-graduate bursars 17 54

Work-Integrated Learning, 
Studentships and 
Internship Programmes

# of Candidates enrolled 26 80

Strategic Objective 5: Develop human capital and 
organisational skills to build world class R&D excellence

The launch of the SET human capital development 
programme has started yielding the desired results based 
on the achievements recorded against the KPIs in the table 
below. At the start of the year, Mintek had planned to have 17 
employees enrolled for post graduate studies, but achieved 

three times the target. We also doubled the target for full time 
bursaries at post graduate level. In addition, the targets for the 
proportion of employees with Master’s and Doctoral degrees 
were exceeded by a significant margin. These are all indicative 
of a science council that is set on a path to attain science and 
research excellence through its most precious resources, the 
employees. 
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STRATEGIC   
OBJECTIVE 5 Develop Human Capital and Organisational Skills 

to Build World Class R&D Excellence

STRATEGIC PROGRAMMES 
PER OBJECTIVE (What elements 
constitute the Objective?)

ACTIVITY PER PROGRAMME
(What have we achieved 
by 31 March 2020)

PERFORMANCE 
INDICATOR
(What elements constitute 
the Objective?)

TARGET
2019/20

ACHIEVEMENT

Training and Skills 
Development

Artisan Learnership Programme

# of Persons enrolled 6 2

% Retention of internal 
and absorption of 
external learners

100 0

Development Programmes 
for recent graduate 
scientists & engineers 

Graduate Development 
Programme review report 1 0

Development Programme 
for researchers, scientists, 
engineers and technicians

An approved programme 0 1

Transformation of the 
Mintek Organisation

Report on compliance 
with DoL regulations 1 1

% of women at Mintek 
(towards achievement 
of Employment 
Equity targets)

46.0 42.1

% employees with 
disability (towards 
achievement 
of Employment 
Equity targets)

3 3

Interventions to 
increase women 
representation in Mintek

1 0

Overall % of 
designated groups 
(towards achievement 
of Employment 
Equity targets)

90 91

Structured mentorship 
programme to transfer skills 
and knowledge from specialists 
to mid-level professionals

% of employees 
participating  in structured 
interactions between 
specialists and mid-
level professionals

10 21

Performance contracts and assessments for all Divisions were conducted at Divisional and Management levels during 2019/20. 
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STRATEGIC   
OBJECTIVE 5 Develop Human Capital and Organisational Skills 

to Build World Class R&D Excellence

STRATEGIC PROGRAMMES 
PER OBJECTIVE (What elements 
constitute the Objective?)

ACTIVITY PER PROGRAMME
(What have we achieved 
by 31 March 2020)

PERFORMANCE 
INDICATOR
(What elements constitute 
the Objective?)

TARGET
2019/20

ACHIEVEMENT

Training and Skills 
Development

Compliance with Performance 
Management  Policy

% Performance 
Contracts and 
Assessment done 
and signed (for 
qualifying employees)

100 100

Organisational Development

Enhanced Experience 
Profile of Researchers

Average years of 
Mintek experience 
of researchers

6 9.8

Average age of 
researchers at Mintek 33 39

Proportion of Researchers 
to Total Staff 

Proportion 
expressed as a % 35 34

Proportion of staff with 
Master’s degree

Proportion of staff 
with Master’s degree 
expressed as a % 

10 15

Proportion of staff with 
Doctoral degree

Proportion of staff 
with Doctoral degree 
expressed as a %

5 7

Enhanced staff Retention 
& Succession

Staff Turnover rate 9 4

% Staff Turnover 
of Professionals in 
Mintek  core Divisions 

10 8

% of Core to Support 
employees 75 73

Effective Leadership 
Development Programme

# Leadership 
Development 
Programmes 

1 0

Employee Health and Wellness
Enhanced Employee Health 
and Wellness Programme

# of Employee 
Wellness Programme 
interventions

5 9

% of Working days 
lost to absenteeism 3.5 3.275
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STRATEGIC   
OBJECTIVE 5 Develop Human Capital and Organisational Skills 

to Build World Class R&D Excellence

STRATEGIC PROGRAMMES 
PER OBJECTIVE (What elements 
constitute the Objective?)

ACTIVITY PER PROGRAMME
(What have we achieved 
by 31 March 2020)

PERFORMANCE 
INDICATOR
(What elements constitute 
the Objective?)

TARGET
2019/20

ACHIEVEMENT

Employee Health and Wellness
Enhanced Employee Health 
and Wellness Programme

% compliance with 
obligatory annual 
medical assessment 

100 100

Effective human 
resource systems 

Enhanced administrative 
efficiency

Average time (in months) 
to fill vacancies 2.5 3

Vacancy rate 5 4
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12.1 Book Chapter

1. Ngqalakwezi A & Baloyi J. Hydrogen: An environmental 
remediation. Global Issues and Innovative Solutions in 
Healthcare, Culture, and the Environment, Chapter 9, IGI 
Publishing, ISBN13 Softcover: 9781799835776, ISBN13: 
9781799835783.

2. Van Staden P & Petersen J. Copper heap leaching: 
Process, principles and practical considerations. Chap. 3 
Copper heap leaching: Process, principles and practical 
considerations, pp. 52-78. In Copper Hydrometallurgy: 
Principles and Practice, B. Wassink & E. Asselin (Eds) 
METSOC, West Westmount, Québec, Canada, ISBN 
978-1-926872-45-2.

12.2 Journal Article

1. Baloyi J, Seadira T & Ntho T. Pillared interlayered clays 
as catalyst for wastewater treatment: Cost effective and 
sustainable materials. IOP Conference Series: Materials 
Science and Engineering, vol.655, no.1, p. 012048, 
October 2019.

2. Baloyi J, Ngqalakwezi A, Ntho T & Nkazi D. 
Investigation of graphene-based nanocomposite for 
hydrogen storage. IOP Conference Series Materials 
Science and Engineering, November 2019.

3. Carelse C, Manuel M, Chetty D & Corfleld A.  Au 
and Ag distribution in alloys produced from the smelting 
of printed circuit boards-an assessment of SEM-EDS, 
EPMA and LA-ICP-MS analysis. March edition of Journal 
of the Southern African Institute of Mining and Metallurgy, 
vol.120, no.3, p. 203-210.

4. Jones, R.Continuity and Change. Jones R.T., Continuity 
and Change, Journal of the SAIMM, Volume 119, Number 
8, August 2019, pp.57-58.

5. Makatsa TJ, Baloyi J, Ntho T & Masuku CM. Catalytic 
wet air oxidation of phenol: Review of the reaction 
mechanism, kinetics, and CFD modelling, Critical Reviews 
in Environmental Science and Technology, 11 June 2020.

6. Masia N, Fowler L, Cornish LA, Lesley H. Chown 
HE, Engqvist H, Norgren S & Öhman-Mägi C. 
Development of Antibacterial TiCux Alloys for Dental 
applications_Effects of Ageing for alloys with up to 
10wt%Cu. Materials, Volume 12, Issue 23 December 1 
2019.

7. Makatsa T, Baloyi J, Ntho T & Masuku CM. Kinetic 
study of phenol oxidation in a trickle bed reactor over Al/
Zr-pillared clay catalyst, IOP Conference Series: Materials 
Science and Engineering, November 2019.

8. Matinde E, Manchisi J, Neil A,  Marck R, Simmons 
JH, Geoffrey S, Simate GS, Ndlovu S & Mwewa 
B. Ironmaking and Steelmaking Slags as Sustainable 
Adsorbents for Industrial. Effluents and Wastewater 
Treatment: A Review of Properties, Performance and 
Opportunities. Sustainability 2020, 12, 2118.

9. Mohlala R, Coyanis M, Bode M  & Fernandes M. 
Synthesis of highly functionalised 5 membered ring fused 
pyrimidine derivatives using an isocyanide based one 
pot, three component reaction. Tetrahedron Letters 61, 
February 2020.

10. Munkombwe M, Ayinde WB, Gitari WM, Amidou S, & 
Smith JA. Green Synthesis of AgMgOnHaP nanoparticles 
supported on Chitosan matrix: defluoridation and 
antibacterial effects in groundwater. Journal of 
Environmental Chemical Engineering, 2020, vol.8, no.5.

11. Ntho T, Ngqalakwezi A, Nkazi D & Gotthard S. Effects 
of Reduction of Graphene Oxide on the Hydrogen Storage 
Capacities of Metal Graphene Nanocomposite, Catalysis 
Today, 2019.

12. Pattrick G, Modisha P, Gqogqa P, Garidzirai R, Ouma 
CNM &  Bessarabov D. Evaluation of catalyst activity for 
release of hydrogen from liquid organic hydrogen carriers. 
International journal of hydrogen energy, 44, 2019.

13. Ross V, Pillay K & Singh A. Improved flotation of PGM 
tailings with HSCD. Minerals Engineering. Vol. 137, 2019.

14. Reynolds Q, Bezuidenhout D, Erwee M & Zietsman J. 
Multiphase flow modelling of lancing of furnace tap-holes: 
validation of multiphase flow simulated in OpenFOAM. 
Journal of the Southern African Institute of Mining and 
Metallurgy, 119, pp 551-556. 
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15. Reynolds Q, Erwee M, Olsen JE & Oxtoby O. Phase 
effects in tap-hole flow - a computational modelling study. 
Journal of the Southern African Institute of Mining and 
Metallurgy, 119, pp 527-536. 

16. Reynolds Q & Olsen JE. Mathematical Modeling of 
Furnace Drainage While Tapping Slag and Metal through a 
Single Tap-Hole. Metallurgical and Materials Transactions 
B: 2020.

17. Reynolds Q, Attah-Kyei D, Akdogan G, Dorfling C, 
Zietsman J, Lindberg D & Tesfaye F. Investigation of 
waste PCB leach residue as a reducing agent in smelting 
processes. Minerals Engineering 156. 2020.

18. Rashamuse TJ, Njengele Z, Coyanis M, Sayed Y, 
Mosebi S & Bode M. Design, synthesis and biological 
evaluation of novel 2-(5-aryl-1H-imidazol-1-yl) derivatives 
as potential inhibitors of the HIV-1 Vpu and host BST-
2 protein interaction. European Journal of Medicinal 
Chemistry 190 (2020) 112111.

19. Rashamuse TJ, Coyanis M, Bode M, Mosebi S, 
Harrison A & Van Vuuren S. Design, Synthesis and 
Biological Evaluation of Imidazole and Oxazole Fragments 
as HIV-1 Integrase-LEDGF/p75 Disruptors and Inhibitors 
of Microbial Pathogens. Bioorganic & Medicinal Chemistry, 
January 2020, 28(1). 

20. Russel, AM. Online spiral grade control. The Southern 
African Institute of Mining and Metallurgy, vol120, no.2, 
p. 113-119.

21. Seadira T, Masuku C & Scurrell M. Solar photocatalytic 
glycerol reforming for hydrogen production over Ternary 
Cu/THS/graphene photocatalyst: Effect of Cu and 
graphene loading. 2020. Renewable Energy, vol.156(C), 
pages 84-97. 

22. Seadira T, Baloyi J, Masuku C, & Scurrell M. Solar 
photocatalytic hydrogen production from glycerol 
reforming using ternary Cu/THS/Graphene, IOP 
Conference Series Materials Science and Engineering, 
November 2019.

23. Sikhwivhilu K, Ndlwana L, Moutloali R & Ngila JC. 
Heterogeneous Functionalization of Polyethersulfone: 
A New Approach for pH Responsive Microfiltration 
Membranes with Enhanced Antifouling Properties. 
Journal of Membrane Science and Research, vol.6, no.2, 
p.178-187, Spring 2020. 

24. Steenkamp, J, Hayman, D & Bezuidenhout, PJA. 
Benchmark for Tap-Hole Lifecycle Management Practices 
in Silicomanganese Production When Submerged Arc 
Furnace Technology of Circular Design is Applied. JOM, 
vol.71, no.7, 2019.

25. Steenkamp J, Hayman D & Bezuidenhout D. 
Benchmark for Tap-Hole Lifecycle Management Practices 
in Silicomanganese Production When Submerged Arc 
Furnace Technology of Circular Design is Applied. JOM 
2019, The Minerals, Metals & Materials Society. 

26. Steenkamp J. Wear analysis of tap-holes at two 
ferrochromium production furnaces. Journal of the 
Southern African Institute of Mining and Metallurgy, 
Volume 119 No 6, Pages 537 – 544. 

27. Matinde E,  Manchisi J, Rowson NA, Simmons 
MJH, Simate GS, Ndlovu S & Mwewa B. Ironmaking 
and Steelmaking Slags as Sustainable Adsorbents 
for Industrial Effluents and Wastewater Treatment: A 
Review of Properties, Performance and Opportunities. 
Sustainability 2020, 12, 2118.

28. Taguta J, Ngobeni P & Teme KC. The role of gangue 
mineralogy on flowsheet development in fluorite 
processing. Minerals 2020, vol.10, no.3.

29. Van Rooyen M, Ross V & Van der Lingen E. Technology 
commercialization front end framework: Metallurgical 
industry. The Journal of the Southern African Institute of 
Mining and Metallurgy, Volume 120, Pages 269-276. April 
2020.

30. Van Staden P. Effect of scale of operation on heap 
leaching performance. PhD Thesis, University of Cape 
Town, 12 July 2019, p 338.

Top and bottom:  Dispensing of biomarkers on a 
membrane during rapid test production in the Cleanroom 

Manufacturing Facility.

1456 AIR Templates S12_v5_DTP Z.indd   2031456 AIR Templates S12_v5_DTP Z.indd   203 2020-11-17   10:25:262020-11-17   10:25:26



 Annual Integrated Report   |   2019/2020   |   RESEARCH OUTPUTS Annual Integrated Report   |   2019/2020   |   RESEARCH OUTPUTS204

R
es

ea
rc

h 
O

ut
p

ut
s

12.3 Conferences

11. Mabeba A & Siyasiya CW. The effect of soaking 
and tempering temperatures on high vanadium alloys 
for grinding media. Conference of the South African 
Advanced Materials Initiative (CoSAami-2019), October 
2019, Riverside Sun Resort, Vanderbijlpark, IOP Conf. 
Series: Materials Science and Engineering 655 (2019).

12. Mampuru L, Kapito A & Chown L. Selective carbide 
etching of 25 wt% Cr white cast iron for wear application. 
MSSA 2019, 1-5 December 2019, Langebaan, WC. 

13. Mavundla M & Spotose L. Microstructural Analysis 
of Ti-Ta-Cu-Nb-Zr. The 56th Annual Conference of the 
Microscopy Society of Southern Africa, Proceedings 
Volume 48, p30 (MSSA), 1-5 December 2019, Club 
Mykonos, Langebaan.

14. Masia N, Smit M, Mwamba A, Chown LH & Cornish 
LA. Microstructural Analysis of Ti-Cu Alloys for Dental 
Application. The 56th Annual Conference of the Microscopy 
Society of Southern Africa (MSSA), 1-5 December 2019, 
Club Mykonos, Langebaan, Proceedings Volume 48, p55.

15. Masia N, Smit M, Mwamba A & Moema J. Studying 
the effect of surface conditioning on the corrosion 
performance of titanium dental implants. Conference 
of the South African Advanced Materials Initiative 
(CoSAami 2019), October 2019, Riverside Sun Resort, 
Vanderbijlpark, IOP Conf. Series: Materials Science and 
Engineering 655. 

16. Masia N, K. Ukabhai K, Fowler L, Nape KT, Mavundla 
M, Spotose L, Magadla S, Klenam DEP, Hashe NG, 
Öhman-Mägi C, Norgren S, Chown LH, & Cornish LA. 
Effect of Different Copper Additions to Ti-10.1Ta-1.7Nb-
1.6Zr. The 56th Annual Conference of the Microscopy 
Society of Southern Africa (MSSA), 1-5 December 2019, 
Club Mykonos, Langebaan, Proceedings Volume 48, p37. 

17. Maumela M, Stumpf WE & Siyasiya CW. The effect of 
cast structures on texture and mechanical properties of 
AISI 433 Ferritic stainless steel. Conference of the South 
African Advanced Materials Initiative CoSAami 2019, 
October 2019, Riverside Sun Resort, Vanderbijlpark, IOP 
Conf. Series: Materials Science and Engineering 655 
(2019).

18. Moholwa S, Steenkamp J & Rutto HL. Method to 
Quantify the Effect of Temperature and Rotational Speed 
on the Decrepitation of South African Manganese Ores 
in a Rotary Kiln. 11th high Temperature Symposium, TMS 
2020, 23-27 February, 2020, San Diego. California, USA.

1. Bergmann C & Naude N. Particle based modelling of 
spirals. Physical Separation conference 2019, Falmouth 
England. 

2. Da Corte C, Singh A & Bergmann C. Exploring iron ore 
fines beneficiation in a South African Context. AusIMM 
Iron Ore Conference (Optimising Value), 22-24 July 2019, 
Perth Australia. Iron Ore 2019 Conference proceedings 
(ISBN 978 1 925100 86 0), pages 703-721.

3. Deenanath E & Robertson S. A Comparative Study 
of Chemical and Biological Leaching of Uranium Ores. 
IMPC-EURASIA Conference Proceedings 2019, Antalya, 
Turkey. 

4. Tsebe S, Sylwestrzak LA, Moses S & Demhir O. 
Overcoming the phosphorus issue at the Agbaja iron ore 
project in Nigeria. Proceedings of the Iron ore. 22–24 July 
2019. Pages 805–822, Perth, Australia.

5. Hockaday L. Solar Thermal Applications in Minerals 
Processing in South Africa. Proceedings of SASEC2019, 
6th Southern African Solar Energy Conference, 25-27 
November 2019, East London, South Africa, ISBN 978-
0-7972-1825-3.

6. Hockaday L, McKechnie T, Von Puttkamer MN & 
Lubkoll M. The Impact of Solar Resource Characterisitcs 
on Solar Thermal Pre-heating of Manganese Ores. 
TMS2020 Energy and CO2 management symposium, 24 
February 2020, San Diego, USA. 

7. Hockaday L, Reynolds Q & Harms FDT. The solar 
thermal treatment of manganese, Solar PACES 2018, 2-5 
October 2018, Cassablanca, Morocco, AIP Conference 
Proceedings 2126, Published Online: 26 July 2019.

8. Jones R & Pawlik C. Cobalt Recovery from Southern 
African Copper Smelters, 10th International Copper 
Conference 2019, 58th Annual Conference of Metallurgists, 
Vancouver Canada, 18-21 August 2019, Paper number 
592323, ISBN: 978-1-926872-44-5.

9. Kapito A, Mostert RJ, Stumpf WE & Siyasiya CW. 
Carbide-free bainitic steels for rail wheel applications. 
Conference of the South African Advanced Materials 
Initiative (CoSAami 2019), October 2019, Riverside 
Sun Resort, Vanderbijlpark, IOP Conf. Series: Materials 
Science and Engineering 655. 

10. Mabeba A & Siyasiya CW. The Evolution of 
Microstructure in High Vanadium Alloys. The 56th Annual 
Conference of the Microscopy Society of Southern Africa 
(MSSA), 1-5 December 2019, Club Mykonos, Langebaan, 
Proceedings Volume 48, p81.
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30. Steenkamp J & Ringdalen E. The PreMa project within 
the context of manganese ferroalloy production in South 
Africa. SAIMM webinar 23 April 2020.

31. Steenkamp J. FactSage-Based Design Calculations 
for the Production of High-Carbon Ferromanganese on 
Pilot-Scale. Proceedings of the 11th High Temperature 
Symposium, TMS 2020, pp 757 – 771, 23-27 February, 
2020, San Diego. California, USA.

32. Steenkamp J, Denton G & Pieters T. Upgrading 
Pilot-Scale Facility at MINTEK to Evaluate the Effect of 
Preheating on Smelter Operations. Proceedings of the 
11th High Temperature Symposium, TMS 2020, pp. 303 
– 317, 23-27 February, 2020, San Diego. California, USA.

33. Tshidavhu R, Knutsen RD & George SL. Microstructure 
development in AISI430 Ferritic stainless steel after hot 
rolling. The 56th Annual Conference of the Microscopy 
Society of Southern Africa, Proceedings, Volume 48 
(MSSA), 1-5 December 2019.

34. Masia N, Hashe NG, Fowler L, Goosen WE, Norgren 
S, Cornish LA,  Öhman-Mägi C, Chown LH, Magadla 
S, Nape TT, Mavundla M & Spotose L. Microstructural 
Analysis of Ti-Ta-Cu-Nb-Zr, The 56th Annual Conference 
of the Microscopy Society of Southern Africa (MSSA), 
1-5 December 2019, Club Mykonos, Langebaan, 
Proceedings Volume 48, p30.

35. Van Staden P & Petersen J. Differences between 
column and heap leaching and their implications for 
laboratory and operational practice. Conference of 
Metallurgists 2019, Vancouver 18-21 August 2019. 

36. Van Staden P. PANEL DISCUSSION: Remote Ops, 
Automation & Robotics: Future Processing challenges 
& opportunities. AMIRA/ALTA 24 hour Global Muster, 
on-line webinar, https://protect-za.mimecast.com/s/
a0kwCNxGm0S02mJEhm2gRR?domain=global.
gotowebinar.com

19. Mnculwane H, Bambo M & Majola S. Analytical 
evaluation and analysis of geological samples. Test & 
Measurement Conference, 16 - 18 September 2019, 
Muldesdrift, T&M 2019 Conference Proceedings.

20. Modiga A, Sosibo N, & Singh N. Preparation and 
characterization of glass-ceramic composites from South 
African coal fly ash. CoSAami 2019, 22-25 October 
2019, IOP Conference Series: Materials Science and 
Engineering, Volume 655, October 2019.

21. Russel, A. Online spiral grade control. The Eleventh 
International Heavy Minerals Conference, 5-6 August 
2019, The Vineyard, Cape Town, South Africa. 

22. Robertson S. Dual porosity modelling of a copper oxide 
heap leach bed.  Hydroprocess 2019 proceedings, 11th 

International Seminar on Process Hydrometallurgy, 19-21 
June 2019. Santiago, Chile.

23. Ross V. Flotation Of UG2 PGM Ore in a Pneumo-
Mechanical Flotation Cell, Flotation ’19, The Vineyard 
Hotel & Spa, Cape Town, 11-14 November 2019.

24. Ross V, Dlame M & Singh A. The Impact of a 
Hydrodynamic Cavitation Device on the Flotation of PGM 
Fines. Flotation ’19, The Vineyard Hotel & Spa, Cape 
Town, 11-14 November 2019.

25. Russel, A. Online spiral grade control. The Eleventh 
International Heavy Minerals Conference, 5-6 August 
2019, The Vineyard, Cape Town, South Africa. 

26. Sikhwivhilu K, Sikosana LM, Madyira DM & Moutloali 
RM. Municipal wastewater treatment technologies: A 
review. Procedia Manufacturing 35 (2019) 1018–1024. 

27. Shipman W & Coetzee L. Reinforcement Learning and 
Deep Neural Networks for PI Controller Tuning. IFAC 
Control, Optimisation and Automation in Mining, Mineral 
and Metal Processing (MMM) conference in Stellenbosch. 
28-30 August 2019. 

28. Sosibo N, Singh N & Mulaba-Bafubiandi AF. 
Junior mining and regulated artisanal mining and small 
scale processing of locally found commodities as 
entrepreneurial business ventures. Junior mining and 
regulated artisanal mining and small scale processing of 
locally found commodities as entrepreneurial business 
ventures, UNESCO 6th Engineering Week and 4th Africa 
Engineering Conference, Zambia, 15 - 21 September 
2019, pp. 104 - 111. 

29. Singh N, & Mulaba- Bafubiandi AF. Small Scale Mining 
and Beneficiation. Proceedings of the International 
Conference on Industrial Engineering and Operations 
Management. October 29 – November 1, 2018. Pages 
1892 to 1898, Centurion, Johannesburg, South Africa.
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12.4 Poster Presentation

manufacturing. CoSAami Conference, 22-25 October 
2019, Riverside Sun, Vanderbijilpark. 

8. Mphuthi N, Jijana A & Vilakazi S. Electrochemical 
Detection of Glucose from Whole blood. 70th Annual 
Meeting of the International Society of Electrochemistry. 
4 - 9 August 2019, Durban, South Africa. 

9. Muchindu M & Sikhwivhilu L. Carbon Nanomaterials 
Synthesized from Catalytic Coal Fly Ash. PPS Europe-
Africa 2019 Regional Conference (PPS2019). 

10. Nemadodzi L, Sikhwivhilu K, Bambo M, Jalama K, 
Siame J & Mutanga SS. Waternet 2019. 20th WaterNet/
WARFSA/GWPSA Symposium, 30 October -1 November 
2019.

11. Njengele Z, Rashamuse TJ, Coyanis M, Mosebi S 
& Sayed Y. Biophysical characterization of HVI-1 Vpu 
and identification of novel drug molecules. 9th SA AIDS 
Conference 2019 - Unprecedented Innovations and 
Technologies: HIV and change - 11-14 June 2019, 
International Convention Centre (ICC), Durban.

12. Ramokgopa S, Sikhwivhilu K, Moothi K & Moutloali 
R. Thin film nanocomposite (TFN) membrane for heavy 
metal rejection from Acid Mine Drainage (AMD). 20th 
WaterNet/WARFSA/GWP-SA Symposium Johannesburg, 
30 October-1 November 2019. 

13. Rashamuse TJ, Fish Q, Coyanis M, Van Vuuren S 
& Bode M. Synthesis of a series of novel N,5-aryl-1,3-
oxazole-4-carboxamide derivatives as HIV-1 integrase-
LEDGF/p75 disruptors and inhibitors of bacterial 
pathogens. Frank Warren Conference 2019 (Organic 
Chemistry) 7-11 July, Alpine Heath, Drakensberg, South 
Africa.

1. Baloyi J, Makatsa T, Ntho T & Govender M. 
Washcoating of cordierite monolith with novel Al/
Zrpillared. CoSAami; 22 - 25 Oct. 2019, Riverside Sun, 
Vanderbjlipark. 

2. Jijana A & Mphuthi N. Development of PANI/TMA-CuS 
based composite, towards the development of wearable 
non-enzymatic electrochemical sensor for D-glucose. 
PPS Europe-Africa 2019 Regional Conference, 18 Nov 
-21 Nov 2019, CSIR International Convention Centre, 
Pretoria, South Africa. 

3. Kayumba B, Sikhwivhilu K & Fester V. TEXTILE 
DYE WASTEWATER TREATMENT TEXTILE DYE 
WASTEWATER TREATMENT. Europe-Africa Regional 
Conference of the Polymer Processing Society 2019, 
CSIR ICC, Pretoria, 18-21 November 2019. 

4. Masia N, Smit M, Mwamba A, Cornish L & Chown L. 
Influence of copper on the corrosion properties of Grade 
4 titanium for biomedical applications. 29 August 2019, 
Richard ward, University of Witwatersrand.

5. Mampuru L, Kapito A, Moema J & Chown LH. 
The influence of vanadium and niobium addition on 
mechanical properties of 25 wt% chromium white cast 
iron. CoSAami 2019, 22-25 October 2019, Riverside 
Sun, Vanderbijlpark.

6. Mohlala R, Coyanis M & Bode M. Synthesis, 
Characterisation and Virtual Screening of 
Hexahydroquinoline Compounds as Potential Inhibitors of 
HIV IN-LEDGF/p75 Interactions. Frank Warren Conference 
2019 (Organic Chemistry) 7-11 July, Drakensberg, South 
Africa. 

7. Motswana V, Mwamba A & Chown L. Development 
and characterisation of metal powders for additive 
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12. Gericke M. E-waste: Horizon 2020 project experience. 
Circular Economy Symposium SA-EU Dialogue 19-20 
November 2019, National Research Foundation, Pretoria. 

13. Gericke M. Reflections on Mintek’s participation in 
the Miware project. SA-EU PARTNERSHIP FORUM, 3 
December 2019, CSIR, Pretoria.

14. Grewar T. A Sustainable Post-Mining Future: The Reuse 
Potential of AMD. 2nd Annual Wits Acid Mine Drainage 
Workshop, 28 November 2019, The Wits Club, The 
University of the Witwatersrand, Johannesburg.

15. Grewar T. The story of Mintek’s passive sulphate 
reduction process for treatment of water after mine 
closure. Part 1: Exploring the problem. SAIMM Webinar 
Series, 5 May 2020.

16. Hockaday L & Sithole A. Opportunities for Concentrating 
Solar Thermal Energy in Pb and Zn Flowsheets. TMS2020, 
149th Annual Meeting and Exhibition, 25 February 2020, 
San Diego Convention Center, San Diego, USA.

17. Hockaday L, McKechnie T, Von Puttkamer MN 
& Lubkoll M. The Impact of Solar Thermal Resource 
Characteristics on Solar Thermal Preheating of Manganese 
Ores. TMS2020, 149th Annual Meeting & Exhibition, 23-
27 February, San Diego Conference Center, San Diego, 
USA.

18. Hockaday L. Solar Thermal Applications in Minerals 
Processing in South Africa. SASEC2019, 6th Southern 
African Solar Energy Conference, 25-27 November, East 
London, South Africa. 

19. Jijana A & Mphuthi N. The square-wave anodic stripping 
analysis of arsenic (III) on L-cystein/lipoic acid capped gold 
nanoparticle modified on SPCEs. International Society of 
Electrochemistry 70th Annual Meeting, 4-9 August 2019. 

20. Kgomokaboya M, Fish Q, Mosebi S & Sayed Y. 
Geminivirus Replication-association Protein (Rep) as a 
Target for the Development of Small Molecule Inhibitors. 
Bronze medal for her outstanding MSc presentation at the 
Annual Molecular Biosciences Research Thrust (MBRT) 
PG Research Day, WITS Adler Museum, Faculty of Health 
Sciences Building, University of the Witwatersrand, 28 
November 2019.

21. Kgatle M, Sikhwivhilu K, Ndlovu G & Moloto N. Rapid 
degradation of Methyl Orange dye using Trimetallic Fe/
Cu/Ag Nanoparticles. PPS2019, 18-21 November 2019, 
CSIR, Pretoria, South Africa.

1. Baloyi J, Seadira T & Ntho T. Pillared interlayered clays 
as catalyst for wastewater treatment. CoSAami; 22-25 
October 2019, Riverside Sun, Vanderbjlipark.

2. Chetty D. The importance of mineralogy in gold projects. 
Gold Association Meeting, 22 October 2019, Mintek.

3. Chetty D. Acid Mine Drainage Prediction. Gold 
Association Meeting, 22 October 2019, Mintek.

4. Coyanis M, Rashamuse TJ & Fish Q. Inhibitors of 
Viral Proteins and Bio Organic Polymeric Materials. 2019 
AFOSR Biophysics Program Review, 6-10 May 2019, 
Basic Research Innovation and Collaboration Center 
(BRICC), Arlington (VA), USA.

5. Couperthwaite R, Arroyave R, Karaman I, Srivastava 
A & Allaire D. Thermodynamic Design of Dual Phase 
Steels Within an Information- FusionFramework. TMS 
2019 Conference, March 10-14, 2019, Henry B. González 
Convention Center, San Antonio, Texas USA, 148 TMS 
Annual Meeting.

6. Coetzee L &, Saffy M. Advanced Process Control and 
Optimisation of an Underground Mine Cooling System. 
SAIMM New Technologies Conference, 5-6 June 2019, 
The Canvas Riversands, Fourways, South Africa.

7. Da Corte C, Singh A & Bergmann C. Exploring iron ore 
fines beneficiation in a South African Context. AusIMM 
Iron Ore Conference (Optimising Value), 22-24 July 2019, 
Perth Australia. Iron Ore 2019 Conference proceedings 
(ISBN 978 1 925100 86 0), pages 703-721.

8. Deenanath E & Robertson S. A Comparative Study 
of Chemical and Biological Leaching of Uranium Ores. 
IMPC-EURASIA Conference Proceedings 2019, Antalya, 
Turkey. 

9. Du Preez K. The story of Mintek’s passive sulphate 
reduction process for treatment of water after mine 
closure. Part 2: Developing the solution. SAIMM Webinar 
Series, 8 May 2020.

10. Freemantle G. Mineralogy for the Future - New 
Technologies for Mineral Analysis at Mintek. Mine 
Metallurgy Managers Conference, 24 May 2019, Mintek.

11. Fish, Q. Biotechnology-based drug discovery Lecture for 
UJ Hons Students. Drug Discovery Honours Lecture (10 
Biotechnology students), Faculty of Science, Kingsway 
Campus, Auckland Park, University of Johannesburg, 16 
Oct 2019. 

12.5 Oral Presentation
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12.5 Oral Presentation (continued)

32. Muchindu M. Characterization and application of carbon 
based nanomaterials from coal fly ash. ISE 70th Annual 
Meeting of the International Society of Electrochemistry, 
4-9 August 2019, Durban ICC. 

33. Mzamo N. Fingerprinting of Rough Diamonds. Kimberley 
Process Plenary, November 2019.

34. Mzamo N. Beyond lithium-ion-based battery technology: 
new minerals and innovation. The Dubai Mining Show 
2019. 

35. Ngqalakwezi A. The synthesis of graphene using 
Improved Tours Method for energy storage applications 
in the automotive industry. defluoridation and antibacterial 
effects in groundwater.  International E-meeting on 
catalysis and energy, 11 May 2019.

36. Nkomo D & Mwamba A. The beneficiation opportunities 
for osmium: A review. CoSAami Conference, 22-25 
October 2019, Riverside Sun, Vanderbijilpark. 

37. Ntho T & Mhlanga N. Sandwich-based SERS probe 
for Malaria detection. 2019 AFOSR Biophysics Program 
Review 6 - 10 May 2019, Arlington, USA. 

38. Pillay S, Bazhko O, Bester J, Van der Venter J , 
Yahorava O & Kotze M. Positioning of IX within U. ALTA 
2019, Uranium and REE session.  23-25 May 2019, 
Perth, Australia.

39. Robertson S. Heap leach modelling. Hydroprocess 
2019 proceedings, 11th international seminar on process 
hydrometallurgy, 19-21 June 2019. Santiago, Chile, 
Sheraton Hotel.  

40. Robertson S. Dual porosity modelling of a copper oxide 
heap leach bed.  Hydroprocess 2019 proceedings, 11th 
International Seminar on Process Hydrometallurgy, 19-21 
June 2019. Santiago, Chile.  

 
41. Russell A. Online Spiral Grade Control. SAIMM Heavy 

Minerals Conference (HMC), 5-6 August 2019.Cape Town

42. Ramokgopa S, Sikhwivhilu K, Moothi K & Moutloali 
R. Thin Film Nanocomposite (TFN) membrane evaluation 
for Acid mine Drainage (AMD) treatment. Europe-Africa 
Regional Conference of the Polymer Processing Society 
2019, CSIR ICC, Pretoria, 18-21 November 2019. 

43. Reynolds Q. Some thoughts on open data repositories 
for (pyro) metallurgical engineering. OpenSim 2019, CSIR, 
Pretoria (South Africa), 25 October 2019.

22. Makatsa T, Baloyi J, Ntho T & Masuku CM. Kinetic 
study of phenol oxidation in a trickle bed reactor over 
Al/Zr-pillared clay Catalyst. CoSAami; 22– 25th October 
2019, Riverside Sun, Vanderbjlipark.

23. Makamu SX. Recent developments in the processing 
of South African Au dumps. SAIMM Tailing Storage 
Conference 2020, 12-13 February 2020, Johannesburg, 
South Africa.

24. Mampuru L, Kapito A & Chown L. Selective carbide 
etching of 25 wt% Cr white cast iron for wear application. 
MSSA 2019, 1-5 December 2019, Langebaan, WC.

25. Matshetshe K, Sikhwivhilu K, Ndlovu G,  Moloto N 
& Tetana Z. Chemically modified-graphene oxide based 
polyamide thin film composite membranes for water 
treatment. Europe-Africa Regional Conference of the 
Polymer Processing Society, 18-21 November 2019, 
Pretoria, South Africa, CSIR International Convention 
Centre. 

26. Masia N, Smit M, Mwamba A, Chown LH & Cornish 
LA. Microstructural Analysis Of Ti-Cu Alloys For Dental 
Applications. MSSA Conference, 1 – 5 December 2019, 
Club Mykonos, Western Cape. 

27. Masia N, Smit M, Mwamba A, Chown LH & Cornish 
LA. Influence of copper on the corrosion and mechanical 
properties of Grade 4 titanium for biomedical applications 
presentation. STINT Workshop, 9 – 11 December 2019, 
WITS, Johannesburg. 

28. Masia N, Smit M, Mwamba A & Moema J. Studying 
the Effect of Surface Conditioning on the Corrosion 
Performance of Titanium Dental Implants. CoSAami 
Conference, 22-25 October 2019, Riverside Sun, 
Vanderbijlpark. 

29. Maumela M, Siyasiya CW & Stumpf WE. The Effect 
of Cast Structures on Texture and Mechanical Properties 
of AISI 433 Ferritic Stainless Steel.  CoSAami 2019 
Conference, Riverside Sun Hotel, VanderbijlPark, 22-25 
October 2019.

30. Moholwa S. Method to quantify the effect of temperature 
and rotational speed on the decrepitation of South African 
manganese ores in a rotary kiln. 11th High Temperature 
Symposium TMS2020, 23-27 February, 2020, San Diego. 
California, USA.

31. Modiga A.  Preparation and characterization of glass-
ceramic composites from South African coal fly ash. 
CoSAami 2019, 22-25 October 2019, Riverside sun, 
Vanderbijlpark, South Africa. 
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55. Shipman W & Coetzee L. Reinforcement Learning and 
Deep Neural Networks for PI Controller Tuning.18th IFAC 
Symposium on Control, Optimization and Automation 
in Mining, Mineral and Metal Processing, MMM 2019, 
hosted by the South African Council for Automation 
and Control (SACAC). 28-30 August 2019 Stellenbosch 
South Africa.

56. Steenkamp J, Hockaday L & Sitefane M. Introduction 
to Prema (MMMA) Conference Presentation. The Mine 
Metallurgical Managers Association Conference, 24 May 
2019, Mintek.

57. Steenkamp J. Upgrading Pilot-Scale Facility at MINTEK 
to Evaluate the Effect of Preheating on Smelter Operations. 
11th High Temperature Symposium, TMS 2020, 23-27 
February, 2020, San Diego. California, USA.

58. Steenkamp J. FactSage-Based Design Calculations for 
the Production of High-Carbon Ferromanganese on Pilot-
Scale. 11th high Temperature Symposium, TMS 2020. , 
23-27 February, 2020, San Diego. California, USA. 

59. Steenkamp J & Ringdalen E. The PreMa project within 
the context of manganese ferroalloy production in South 
Africa, SAIMM webinar, 23 April 2020.

60. Van Rooyen M. Sulphate Removal Technologies for the 
Treatment of Mine-Impacted Water. Amira-ALTA2020 24-
hour Global Muster: Future Processing, held as 24-hour 
continuous webinar on 27 May 2020.

61. Van Staden P & Petersen J. Differences between 
column and heap leaching and their implications for 
laboratory and operational practice. Conference of 
Metallurgists 2019, 18-21 August, Vancouver, Canada.

62. Van der Walt H, Skepu A & Sikhwivhilu L. 
Determining nanomaterial risk with the aid of real-time 
with electronic cell substrate Impedance sensing (ECIS), 
TechConnectWorld2019, 17-19 June 2019. Boston MA, 
USA.

44. Reynolds Q. From 3.0 to 4.0: Using traditional CFD 
tools in integrated virtual prototyping systems for furnace 
tapping problems. OpenSim 2019, CSIR, Pretoria (South 
Africa), 25 October 2019. 

45. Reynolds Q. Advancing the understanding of interactions 
between plasma arcs and power electronics with high 
performance computing. CHPC National Conference, 
Johannesburg, 2-4 December 2019.

46. Reynolds Q. The State of the Arc: Adventures in Plasma 
Arc Modelling. SAIMM Online Webinar Series, April 2020.

47. Ross V. Improved PGM – Chromite Selectivity in 
a Pneumo-Mechanical Flotation Cell. Flotation ‘19 
Conference, Vineyard Hotel, Cape Town, South Africa, 
11-14 November, 2019.

48. Ross V & Singh A. The Impact of a Hydrodynamic 
Cavitation Device on the Flotation of PGM Fines. Flotation 
19 Conference, Vineyard Hotel, Cape Town, South Africa, 
11-14 November, 2019.

49. Saffy M & Mashakane T. Control and Optimisation of a 
Gold Milling and Flotation Circuit. World Gold 2019, 11-
13 September 2019, Perth Australia.

50. Sikhwivhilu K. Research and Development of 
Water Treatment Technologies at the DST/MINTEK 
Nanotechnology Innovation Centre. New frontiers in 
separation processes & membranes development, 17-19 
July 2019, University of Johannesburg. 

51. Sikhwivhilu K. Towards improving accessibility to clean 
water for sustainable and healthy growing township 
communities in African cities. Innovation Bridge/Science 
Forum South Africa 2019, 04-06 December 2019, CSIR 
ICC, Pretoria.

52. Sikhwivhilu K, Mutanga S & Siame J. Water-energy 
nexus strategies for sustainable clean water supply in 
African cites: Understanding the Water-Energy-Health 
nexus in urban contexts in Africa. Water-Energy Nexus 
in Africa Seminar, 03 March 2020, Human Science 
Research Council, Pretoria. 

53. Sikhwivhilu K, Nemadodzi L, Siame J, & Mutanga S. 
Addressing the Water-Energy Nexus In African Cities for 
Improving Access to Clean Water for Urban Communities- 
Case Studies of Chambishi (Zambia) and Diepsloot (South 
Africa). 20th WaterNet/WARFSA/GWP-SA Symposium 
Johannesburg, 30 October-1 November 2019. 

54. Sitefane M & Geldenhuys I. Fluxing of South African 
ores with Colemanite. International Symposium on Boron 
17-19 April 2019, Nevsehir, Turkey.  

Nanotechnology Water Research. 

Bottom: Ferit, solupta temporem fugia qui volute aut hilitatur 
magnissi dolo mos alibus eum imodi sequaecu.
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12.6 Glossary

AEMFC African Exploration Mining and 
Finance Corporation

ALF Advanced Leach Facility

AMD Advanced Materials Division

AMI Advanced Metals Initiative

ARC Audit and Risk Committee

ASSM Artisanal and Small Scale Mining

AVE Advertising Value Equivalent

BEE Black Economic Empowerment

CANSA Cancer Association of South Africa

CEO Chief Executive Officer

CoEW Cobalt Electrowinning

CRM Certified Reference Materials

CSFR Client Satisfaction Frequency Rate

CSR Corporate Social Responsibility

DMR Department of Mineral Resources

DRC Democratic Republic of Congo

DST Department of Science and Technology

DTI Department of Trade and Industry

e-Waste Electronic Waste

EAP Employee Assistance Programme

EI Environmental Incidents

EWIT E-waste Implementation Toolkit

GAAP Generally Accepted Accounting Practice

GDP Graduate Development Programme

HIFR Health Incidence Frequency Rate

HMD Hydrometallurgy Division

HRC Human Resources Committee

HRD Human Resources Division

HSS High Speed Steel

HySA Hydrogen and Fuel Cells Programme

IA Internal Audit

IMS iNgcaphephe Metallurgical Services

IP Intellectual Property

ICT Information and Communications Technology

KPIs Key Performance Indicators

LTIFR Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate

MaC Measurement and Control

MESU Mineral Economics and Strategy Unit

METF Minerals Education Trust Fund

MHP Mixed Hydroxide Product

MoU Memorandum of Understanding

MQA Mining Qualifications Authority

MTC Metals Technology Centre

MTEF Medium Term Expenditure Framework

NIC Nanotechnology Innovation Centre

NIM National Institute for Metallurgy

NRF National Research Foundation

PCB Printed Circuit Boards

PDFR Public Dissatisfaction Frequency Rate

PDP Professional Development Programme

PFMA Public Finance Management Act

PGMs Platinum Group Metals

PLP Preform Line Products

PMDN Precious Metals Development Network

R&D Research and Development

REE Rare Earth Elements
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RMC Risk Management Committee

RSC Risk Steering Committee

SACREF South African Centralised Refinery

SADC Southern African Development Community

SAF Submerged-arc furnace

SAQA South African Qualifications Authority

SASSETA Safety and Security SETA

SEDA Small Enterprise Development Agency

SETA Sector Education and Training Authority

SHEQ Safety, Health, Environment and Quality

SMMEs Small, Medium and Micro Enterprises

SPEs Screen Printed Electrodes

SPPIA Standards for the Professional 
Practice of Internal Auditing

SSMB Small Scale Mining and Beneficiation

STEM Science, Technology, Engineering 
and Mathematics

TC Technical Committee

TCTC Total Cost to Company

ToR Terms of Reference 

UCT University of Cape Town

WIL Work Integrated Learning

XRT X-ray Transmission
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